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This book is unique – one of the ultimate study and reference guides for European financiers from students

to CFOs. The French-language versions of the Vernimmen have been for me some of the most helpful and

trusted companions throughout my professional career.
Dan Arendt, Corporate Finance partner at Deloitte in Luxembourg

This book is particularly useful for those people who look for the bridge between strategic, operational and investment

decisions on one hand, and financial accounts on the other. The authors’ approach, which consists of guiding the reader

from financial accounting to most complex deals that have strategic implications for firms, is new and very useful. I would

recommend this book to those who want to succeed in both the in-house and the external consulting world, as well as in

the area of Corporate Finance.

Stephan Dertnig, Vice President, Moscow Office, The Boston Consulting Group

I’m glad to hear that Vernimmen’s unique book on finance is now available for English-speaking readers. I have known

this excellent book for many years, which all professionals can easily use when they need to go back to the basics of

modern Corporate Finance. Smartly written, thorough, lively, and regularly updated. I strongly recommend it to everyone –

from the debutant in finance to high-level experts. Learning with Vernimmen is a real pleasure.

Antoine Giscard d’Estaing, CFO of Danone

Vernimmen’s Corporate Finance, long overdue in English, is an outstandingly clear and complete manual, a wonderful

merger of practice and theory. Its coverage of the market aspects of Corporate Finance and of European practices

distinguishes its content, but its treatment of all the material makes it essential reading for the student, financier or

industrialist.

Howard Jones, Fellow in Finance at the Saı̈d Business School, Oxford University, UK

This book was the first finance book I read as a student in my twenties. I read it again in my thirties to review some of the

key finance challenges I was facing in my professional life. Now, in my forties, I am reviewing it once more to compare the

reality I have to face now in Asia, with the most advanced financial concepts. I have never been disappointed and have

always been able to find the appropriate answer to my questions, as well as food for thought. I am sure my children will

read it when I am in my fifties, as Vernimmen is not just another book on finance: this is finance as a life experiment.

I strongly recommend this book to all the corporate managers facing new questions or challenges in their professional

lives, especially in an international multi-currency context. You do not need to be a finance expert to enjoy reading it, as

it’s really easy to understand, with enough explanations, concrete examples . . . and humour, to help you jump successfully

into the most sophisticated theories. But, if you are an expert, you will also find food for thought, as its methodological

bases are strong enough to satisfy the most demanding CFO.

Jean-Michel Moutin, CFO, Louis Vuitton Asia Pacific-Japan

Understanding Corporate Finance is key to successful company management. From a banker’s point of view, a good

understanding of Corporate Finance is crucial to assist a company. The Vernimmen, written for Europeans by Europeans is

a most useful reference for the student as well as the practitioner. The style of the book is concise, yet every conceivable

aspect of Corporate Finance is covered. Complemented by an exhaustive website containing summaries of key concepts, of

formulae, and of financial statements from a wide range of companies, the Vernimmen is a must.

Michael Rockinger, Professor of Finance, Director of the Institute of Banking and Finance,

HEC & FAME, University of Lausanne, Switzerland

This book efficiently bridges financial theory and practice, and encapsulates everything a Corporate Finance banker will

ever need to know and understand. It is obvious that the authors are passionate about finance, and their enthusiasm is

contagious. Written in an easy and accessible style, this book deserves to become a reference work.

Jan Zarzycki, Director, Equity Capital Markets, Deutsche Bank
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Foreword by Richard Roll

Thirty years ago, when I lived and worked in Europe, only a handful of financial
scholars resided on that continent and no finance texts had a European focus. How
things have changed! This book is a wonderful example of the progress that has
been made. Pierre Vernimmen became an important catalyst for change when he
published (in French) one of the first European-oriented corporate finance texts in
the 1970s. It is now available in English, updated, expanded and rendered
invaluable not only to students but also to practising financial managers.

The book itself covers all the important techniques that a financial manager
must have in his repertoire of tools. Its scope is breathtaking: from the basics of
financial analysis through accounting, capital markets, risk, arbitrage, portfolio
analysis, options, agency and signalling concepts, to the ultimate goal of corporate
finance, decision making about equity issuance, leverage, mergers, bankruptcy and
other important financial events. The exposition is clear and concise and, most
importantly, relies on commonsense reasoning throughout. This is not a book
with obscure formulae, yet is still rigorous and at the same time a model of clarity.

Two noteworthy attributes of the book are, first, its association with an
excellent website and, second, the commitment of the authors to issue a monthly
newsletter with updated research information about topical issues. In the December
2004 newsletter, for example, we find a tabulation of corporate income tax rates
compared across countries and traced over time. There are also fascinating articles
about forming a European-wide company, on how joining or leaving an index
affects an individual firm’s stock price and on whether it makes sense for European
firms to list their stock on an American exchange (in general, it doesn’t).

The website is even better. It provides lots of data to those who feel a burning
need to perform a few statistical calculations. It has an extensive glossary and a
comprehensive research bibliography about every important topic in finance.
It even has quizzes to test your financial acumen, cross-referenced against chapters
in Corporate Finance where the answers, given briefly on the Web, are explained in
detail. I enjoyed going through these quizzes even though getting a few wrong
answers was humbling.

It seems to me that the European focus of this book is entirely appropriate for
European financial managers and for students who wish to pursue careers in
finance. There are enough international differences in legal systems, accounting
methods and management practices to make a focused text invaluable. Of
course, the basic principals of finance are universal, but examples, case studies,
problem sets and quizzes are much more transparent when they involve a familiar
and realistic setting. In summary, if I were teaching corporate finance in Europe or



consulting with a financial team at a European company, I would strongly urge
everyone, from students up through the CFO, to possess this book. It contains the
answers to most questions that financial managers ask every day and, most
importantly, the answers are easy to find.

Richard Roll
Japan Alumni Chair in International Finance at the UCLA Anderson School

xviiForeword by Richard Roll



Preface

This book aims to cover the full scope of corporate finance as it is practised today
in Europe.

A way of thinking about finance

There are four key features that distinguish this book from the many other
corporate finance textbooks available on the market today:

. Our strong belief that financial analysis is part of corporate finance. Pierre
Vernimmen, who was the mentor and partner in the practice of corporate
finance of some of us, understood very early on that a good financial manager
must first be able to analyse a company’s economic, financial and strategic
situation, and then value it, while at the same time mastering the conceptual
underpinnings of all financial decisions.

. Corporate Finance is neither a theoretical textbook nor a practical workbook.
It is a book in which theory and practice are constantly set off against each
other, in the same way as we do in our daily practice of corporate finance, as
investment bankers at BNP Paribas, DGPA, Mediobanca, as board members
of several listed and unlisted companies, and as teachers at the Bocconi and
HEC business schools.

. Emphasis is placed on concepts intended to give you an understanding of
situations, rather than on techniques, which tend to shift and change over
time. We confess to believing that the former will still be valid in 20 years
time, whereas the latter will for the most part be long forgotten!

. Financial concepts are international, but they are much easier to grasp when
they are set in a familiar context. Written by Europeans for Europeans,
Corporate Finance explains how finance works on European markets, such
as London, Frankfurt and Madrid.

The four sections

This book starts with an introductory chapter reiterating the idea that corporate
financiers are the bridge between the economy and the realm of finance.
Increasingly, they must play the role of marketing manager and negotiator.
Their products are financial securities that represent rights to the firm’s cash
flows. Their customers are bankers and investors. A good financial manager listens



to customers and sells them good products at high prices. A good financial manager
always thinks in terms of value rather than costs or earnings.

Section I goes over the basics of financial analysis – i.e., understanding the
company based on a detailed analysis of its accounts. We are amazed at the extent
to which large numbers of investors neglected this approach during the latest
stockmarket euphoria. When share prices everywhere are rising, why stick to a
rigorous approach? For one thing, to avoid being caught in the crash that
inevitably follows. How many investors took the trouble to read Enron’s annual
report? Those who did found that it spoke volumes!

We are convinced that a return to reason will also return financial analysis to
its rightful place as a cornerstone of economic decision making. To perform
financial analysis, you must first understand the firm’s basic financial mechanics
(Chapters 2–5), master the basic techniques of accounting, including accounting
principles, consolidation techniques, and certain complexities (Chapters 6–7), based
on international (IAS) standards, now mandatory for listed European companies.
In order to make things easier for the newcomer to finance, we have structured the
presentation of financial analysis itself around its guiding principle: in the long run,
a company can survive only if it is solvent and creates value for its shareholders.
To do so, it must create value (Chapters 9 and 10), invest (Chapter 11), finance
its investments (Chapter 12) and generate a sufficient return (Chapter 13). The
illustrative financial analysis of Ericsson will guide you throughout this section
of the book.

Section II reviews the basic theoretical knowledge you will need to make an
assessment of the value of the firm. Here again, the emphasis is on reasoning, which
in many cases will become automatic (Chapters 15–24): efficient capital markets,
the time value of money, the price of risk, volatility, arbitrage, return, portfolio
theory, present value and future value, market risk, beta, etc.

In Section III, ‘‘Corporate financial policies’’, we review the major types of
financial securities: equity, debt and options, for the purposes of valuation, along
with the techniques for issuing and placing them (Chapters 25–31). Then, we
analyse each financial decision in terms of:

. value in the context of the theory of efficient capital markets;

. balance of power between owners and managers, shareholders and debtholders
(agency theory);

. communication (signal theory).

Such decisions include choosing a capital structure, investment decisions, cost of
capital, dividend policy, share repurchases, capital increases, hybrid security issues,
etc.

In the course of this section, we call your attention to today’s obsession with
earnings per share, return on equity and other measures whose underlying basis we
have a tendency to forget and which may, in some cases, be only distantly related to
value creation. We have devoted considerable space to the use of options (as a
technique or a type of reasoning) in each financial decision (Chapters 32–39).

When you start reading Section IV, ‘‘Financial management’’, you will be
ready to examine and take the remaining decisions: how to organise a company’s
equity capital, buying and selling companies, mergers, demergers, LBOs, bank-
ruptcy and restructuring (Chapters 40–45). Lastly, this section presents cash flow
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management, asset-based financing and management of the firm’s financial risks
(Chapters 46–48).

Instructions to the reader

To make sure that you get the most out of your book, each chapter ends with a
summary, a series of problems and questions (a total of 746) (solutions provided).
The appendix contains a 75-entry glossary, with a further 1,300 terms defined on
the site www.vernimmen.com. We’ve used the last page of the book to provide a
cribsheet (nearly 1,000 pages of this book summarised on one page!). For those
interested in exploring the topics discussed in greater depth, there is an end-of-
chapter bibliography giving suggestions for further reading, covering fundamental
research papers, articles in the press and published books. A large number of
graphs and tables (over 100!) have been included in the body of the text which
can be used for comparative analyses. Finally, the index is fully comprehensive.

An Internet site with huge and diversified content

www.vernimmen.com provides free access to tools (formulas, tables, statistics,
lexicons, glossaries), resources that supplement the book (articles, prospectuses
of financial transactions, financial figures for more than 10,000 European and
North American listed companies, thesis topics, thematic links, a list of must-
have books for your bookshelf, an Excel file providing detailed solutions to all
of the problems set in the book), problems, case studies, quizzes for testing and
improving your knowledge. There is a letterbox for your questions to the authors
(we aim to reply within 72 hours, unless of course you manage to stump us!). There
are questions and answers and much more. New services are put onto the site,
which has its own internal search engine, on a regular basis.

A free monthly newsletter on corporate finance

Since (unfortunately) we can’t bring out a new edition of the Vernimmen every
month, we have set up the Vernimmen.com Newsletter, which is sent out free of
charge to subscribers by means of the Internet. It contains:

. A conceptual look at a topical corporate finance problem (e.g., the European
company: a new tool to facilitate cross-border mergers, EU anti-concentration
regulations, the value of synergies).

. Statistics or tables that you are likely to find useful in the day-to-day practice
of corporate finance (e.g., worldwide corporate income tax rates, yield curves,
IPOs since 1987).

. A critical review of a financial research paper with a concrete dimension (e.g.,
conglomerates and diversification, new ideas on financial structure, leasing vs.
bank loans).
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. A question left on the vernimmen.com site by a visitor plus a response
(e.g., What are the advantages and drawbacks of spinning off a division? Does
writedown of goodwill impact on values? What is dilution? )

Subscribe on www.vernimmen.com and become one of the many readers of the
Vernimmen.com Newsletter.

Many thanks

. To Eric Briys, Didier Kunstlinger and Renaud Lefebvre for their seminal,
friendly and efficient support.

. To Richard Roll for the many kind words included in the foreword.

. To Sebastian Cardarelli, Benoı̂t de Courcelles, Evgueni Madorski, Ryan
McGovern, and the other students of HEC and Bocconi MBA programmes
for their help in improving the manuscript.

. To Vincent Jacques, the vernimmen.com webmaster.

. To Isabelle Marié-Sall for her help in transforming our scribblings into a
proper manuscript.

. And last but not least to our relatives and our many friends who have had to
endure our endless absences over the last two and a half years, and of course
Catherine Vernimmen and her children for their everlasting and kind support.

We hope that you will gain as much enjoyment from your Vernimmen, whether you
are a new student of corporate finance or whether you are using it to revise and
hone your financial skills, as we have had in editing this edition and in expanding
the services and products that go with the book.

We wish you well in your studies!

Milan and Paris, May 2005

Pascal Quiry Maurizio Dallocchio

Yann Le Fur Antonio Salvi
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Frequently used symbols

AN
k Annuity factor for N years and an interest rate of k

ABCP Asset Backed Commercial Paper

ACES Advanced Computerised Execution System

ADR American Depositary Receipt

APT Arbitrage Pricing Theory

APV Adjusted Present Value

ARR Accounting Rate of Return

BIMBO Buy In Management Buy Out

BV Book Value

Capex Capital Expenditures

CAPM Capital Asset Pricing Model

CAR Cumulative Abnormal Return

CB Convertible Bond

CD Certificate of Deposit

CDO Collateralised Debt Obligation

CE Capital Employed

CFROI Cash Flow Return On Investment

COV Covariance

CVR Contingent Value Right

D Debt, net financial and banking debt

d Payout ratio

DCF Discounted Cash Flows

DDM Dividend Discount Model

DECS Debt Exchangeable for Common Stock; Dividend Enhanced Convertible Securities

DFL Degree of Financial Leverage

Div Dividend

DJ Dow Jones

DOL Degree of Operating Leverage

DPS Dividend Per Share

DR Depositary Receipt

EAT Earnings After Tax

EBIT Earnings Before Interest and Taxes

EBITDA Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortisation

EBRD European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

ECAI External Credit Assessment Institution

ECP European Commercial Paper

EGM Extraordinary General Meeting

EMTN European Medium Term Note

ENPV Expanded Net Present Value

EONIA European Over Night Index Average

EPS Earnings Per Share

EðrÞ Expected return

ESOP Employee Stock Ownership Programme

EURIBOR EURopean Inter Bank Offer Rate

EV Enterprise Value



EVA Economic Value Added

EVCA European Private Equity and Venture Capital Association

f Forward rate

F Cash flow

FA Fixed Assets

FASB Financial Accounting Standards Board

FC Fixed Costs

FCF Free Cash Flow

FCFF Free Cash Flow to Firm

FCFE Free Cash Flow to Equity

FE Financial Expenses

FIFO First In, First Out

FRA Forward Rate Agreement

g Growth rate

GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

GCE Gross Capital Employed

GCF Gross Cash Flow

GDP Global Depositary Receipt

i After-tax cost of debt

IASB International Accounting Standards Board

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standard

IPO Initial Public Offering

IRR Internal Rate of Return

IRS Interest Rate Swap

IT Income Taxes

k Cost of capital, discount rate

kD Cost of debt

kE Cost of equity

K Option strike price

KPI Key Performance Indicator

LBO Leveraged Buy Out

LBU Leveraged Build Up

L/C Letter of Credit

LIBOR London Inter Bank Offer Rate

LIFO Last In, First Out

LMBO Leveraged Management Buy Out

ln Naperian logarithm

LOI Letter Of Intent

LSP Liquid Share Partnership

LYON Liquid Yield Option Note

m Contribution margin

MM Modigliani–Miller

MOU Memorandum Of Understanding

MTN Medium Term Notes

MVA Market Value Added

n Years, periods

N Number of years

NðdÞ Cumulative standard normal distribution

NASDAQ National Association of Securities Dealers Automatic Quotation system

NAV Net Asset Value

NM Not Meaningful

NMS National Market System

NOPAT Net Operating Profit After Tax

NPV Net Present Value

NYSE New York Stock Exchange

OGM Ordinary General Meeting

OTC Over The Counter
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P price

PBO Projected Benefit Obligation

PBR Price to Book Ratio

PBT Profit Before Tax

P/E ratio Price Earnings ratio

PERCS Preferred Equity Redemption Cumulative Stock

PEPs Personal Equity Plans

POW Path Of Wealth

PRIDES Preferred Redeemable Increased Dividend Equity Security

PSR Price to Sales Ratio

P to P Public to Private

PV Present Value

PVI Present Value Index

QIB Qualified Institutional Buyer

r Rate of return, interest rate

rf Risk-free rate

rm Expected return of the market

RNAV Restated Net Asset Value

ROA Return On Assets

ROCE Return On Capital Employed

ROE Return On Equity

ROI Return On Investment

RWA Risk Weighted Assessment

S Sales

SA Standardised Approach

SEC Securities Exchange Commission

SEO Seasoned Equity Offering

SPV Special Purpose Vehicle

STEP Short Term European Paper

SV Salvage Value

t Interest rate, discount rate

T Time remaining until maturity

Tc Corporate tax rate

TCN Titres de Créances Negociables

TMT Technology, Media, Telecommunications

TSR Total Shareholders Return

V Value

VAT Value Added Tax

VC Variable Cost

VD Value of Debt

VE Value of Equity

VðrÞ Variance of return

WACC Weighted Average Cost of Capital

WC Working Capital

y Yield to maturity

YTM Yield to Maturity

Z Scoring function

ZBA Zero Balance Account

� or �E Beta coefficient for a share or an equity instrument

�A Beta coefficient for an asset or unlevered beta

�D Beta coefficient of a debt instrument

�ðrÞ Standard deviation of return

�A;B Correlation coefficient of return between shares A and B
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Chapter 1
What is corporate finance?

To whet your appetite . . .

The primary role of the financial manager is to ensure that his company has a
sufficient supply of capital.

The financial manager is at the crossroads of the real economy, with its
industries and services, and the world of finance, with its various financial markets
and structures.

There are two ways of looking at the financial manager’s role:

. a buyer of capital who seeks to minimise its cost, i.e., the traditional view;

. a seller of financial securities who tries to maximise their value. This is the view
we will develop throughout this book. It corresponds, to a greater or lesser
extent, to the situation that exists in a capital market economy, as opposed to a
credit-based economy.

At the risk of oversimplifying, we will use the following terminology in this book:

. The financial manager or Chief Financial Officer (CFO) is responsible for financ-
ing the enterprise and acts as an intermediary between the financial system’s
institutions and markets, on the one hand, and the enterprise, on the other.

. The business manager invests in plant and equipment, undertakes research,
hires staff and sells the firm’s products, whether the firm is a manufacturer, a
retailer or a service company.

. The financial investor invests in financial securities. More generally, the
financial investor provides the enterprise with financial resources, and may
be either an equity investor or a lender.

Section 1.1

The financial manager is first and foremost

a salesman . . .

1/The financial manager’s job is not only to ‘‘buy’’

financial resources . . .

The financial manager is traditionally perceived as a buyer of capital. He negotiates
with a variety of investors – bankers, shareholders, long-term lenders – to obtain
funds at the lowest possible cost.



Transactions that take place on the capital markets are made up of the follow-
ing elements:

. a commodity: money;

. a price: the interest rate in the case of debt, dividends and/or capital gains in
the case of equities.

In the traditional view the financial manager is responsible for the company’s
financial procurement. His job is to minimise the price of the commodity to be
purchased, i.e., the cost of the funds he raises.

We have no intention of contesting this view of the world. It is obvious and is
confirmed everyday, in particular in the following types of negotiations:

. between corporate treasurers and bankers, regarding interest rates and value
dates applied to bank balances (see Chapter 46);

. between chief financial officers and financial market intermediaries, where
negotiation focuses on the commissions paid to arrangers of financial transac-
tions (see Chapter 31).

2/ . . . but also to sell financial securities

This said, let’s now take a look at the financial manager’s job from a different
angle:

. he is not a buyer but a seller;

. his aim is not to reduce the cost of the raw material he buys but to maximise a

selling price;
. he practises his art not on the capital markets, but on the market for financial

instruments, be they loans, bonds, shares, etc.

We are not changing the world here; we are merely looking at the same market
from another point of view:

. the supply of financial securities corresponds to the demand for capital;

. the demand for financial securities corresponds to the supply of capital;

. the price, the point at which the supply and demand for financial securities are
in equilibrium, is therefore the value of security. In contrast, the equilibrium
price in the traditional view is considered to be the interest rate, or the cost of
capital.

We can summarise these two ways of looking at the same capital market in the
following table:

Analysis/Approach Financial Traditional

Market Securities Capital

Supply Issuer Investor

Demand Investor Issuer

Price Value of security Interest rate

Corporate finance2



Depending on your point of view – i.e., traditional or financial – supply and
demand are reversed, as follows:

. when the cost of money – the interest rate, for example – rises, demand for
funds is greater than supply. In other words, the supply of financial securities is
greater than the demand for financial securities, and the value of the securities

falls;
. conversely, when the cost of money falls, the supply of funds is greater than

demand. In other words, the demand for financial instruments is greater than
their supply and the value of the securities rises.

The cost of capital and the value of the securities vary in opposite directions.
We can summarise with the following theorem, fundamental to this entire book:

Minimising financing cost is synonymous with maximising the value of the under-
lying securities.

For two practical reasons, one minor and one major, we prefer to present the
financial manager as a seller of financial securities.

The minor reason is that viewing the financial manager as a salesman trying to
sell his products at the highest price casts his role in a different light. As the
merchant does not want to sell low-quality products but products that respond
to the needs of his customers, so the financial manager must understand his capital
suppliers and satisfy their needs without putting the company or its other capital
suppliers at a disadvantage. He must sell high-quality products at high prices. We
cannot emphasise this enough.

The more important reason is that when a financial manager applies the
traditional approach of minimising the cost of the company’s financing too strictly,
erroneous decisions may easily follow. The traditional approach can make the
financial manager short-sighted, tempting him to take decisions that emphasise
the short term to the detriment of the long term.

For instance, choosing between a capital increase, a bank loan and a bond
issue with lowest cost as the only criterion reflects flawed reasoning. Why? Because
suppliers of capital (i.e., the buyers of the corresponding instruments) do not all
face the same level of risk.

The investor’s risk must be taken into account in evaluating the cost of a source of
financing.

The cost of two sources of financing can be compared only when the suppliers of
the funds incur the same level of risk.

All too often we have seen corporate leaders or treasurers assume excessive risk
when choosing a source of financing because they have based their decision on a
single criterion: the respective cost of the different sources of funds.

For example:

. increasing short-term debt on the pretext that short-term interest rates are
lower than long-term rates can be a serious mistake;
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. granting a mortgage in return for a slight decrease in the interest rate on a loan
can be very harmful for the future;

. increasing debt systematically on the sole pretext that debt costs less than
equity capital jeopardises the company’s prospects for long-term survival.

We will develop this theme further throughout in Section III of this book, but we
would like to warn you now of the pitfalls of faulty financial reasoning. The most

dangerous thing a financial manager can say is, ‘‘It doesn’t cost anything.’’ This

sentence should be banished and replaced with the following question: ‘‘What is the

impact of this action on value?’’

Section 1.2

. . . of financial securities . . .

Let’s now take a look at the overall concept of a financial security, the product
created by the financial manager.

1/ Issuance or creation of securities

There is a great variety of financial instruments, each of which has the following
characteristics:

. it is a contract;

. the contract is executed over time;

. its value derives solely from the series of cash flows it represents.

Indeed, from a mathematical and more theoretical viewpoint, a financial instru-
ment is defined as a schedule of future cash flows.

Holding a financial security is the same as holding the right to receive the cash
flows, as defined in the terms and conditions of the issue that gave rise to the
financial instrument. Conversely, for the issuer, creating a financial instrument is
the same as committing to paying out a series of cash flows. In return for this right
to receive cash flows or for taking on this commitment, the company will issue a
security at a certain price, enabling it to raise the funds needed to run its business.

A financial security is a contract . . .

You’ve undoubtedly heard people say that the financial manager’s stock-in-trade is
‘‘paper’’. Computerisation has now turned financial instruments from paper docu-
ments into intangible book entries, reducing them to the information they contain;
i.e., the contract. The essence of finance is and will always be negotiation between
an issuer seeking new funds and the investors interested in buying the instruments
that represent the underlying obligations. And negotiation means markets, be they
credit markets, bond markets, stock markets, etc.

. . . executed over time . . .
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Time, or the term of the financial security, introduces the notion of risk. A debt
instrument that promises cash flows over time, for example, entails risk, even if the
borrower is very creditworthy. This seems strange to many people who consider
that ‘‘a deal is a deal’’ or ‘‘a man’s word is his bond’’. Yet, experience has shown
that a wide variety of risks can affect the payment of those cash flows, including
political risk, strikes, natural disasters and other events.

. . . and materialised by cash flows.

Further on in this book you will see that financial logic is used to analyse and
choose among an enterprise’s investment options. The financial manager trans-
forms flows of goods and services, deriving from the company’s industrial and
other business assets, into cash flows. You will soon understand that the world
of finance is one of managing rights, on the one hand, and commitments, on the other,

both expressed in terms of cash flows.
In a market for financial instruments, it is not the actual flows that are sold, but

the rights associated with them. The investor – i.e., the buyer of the security –
acquires the rights granted by the instrument. The issuing company assumes
contractual obligations deriving from the instrument, regardless of who the
owner of the instrument is.

For example, commodity futures markets make it possible to perform purely
financial transactions. You can buy sugar ‘‘forward’’, via financial instruments
called futures contracts, knowing full well that you will never take delivery of
the sugar into your warehouse. Instead, you will close out the position prior to
maturity. The financial manager thus trades on a market for real goods (sugar),
using contracts that can be unwound prior to or at maturity.

A property investor acts similarly. After acquiring real property, whose value
fluctuates, he can lease it or resell it. Viewed this way, real property is as fungible as
any other property and is akin to a financial asset.

Clearly, these assets exhibit different degrees of ‘‘financiality’’. To take the
argument one step further, you turn a painting into a financial instrument when
you put it in your safe in the hope of realising a gain when you sell it.

The distinction between a real asset and a financial asset is therefore subtle but
fundamental. It lies either in the nature of the contract or in the investor’s motiva-
tion, as in the example of the painting.

Lastly, the purchase of a financial security, with certain exceptions such as life
estates, differs from the purchase of a durable good in that the financial security is
undifferentiated. A large number of investors can buy the same financial security.
In contrast, acquiring a specific office building or building an industrial plant is a
very specific, unique investment.

In conclusion, every financial instrument represents a series of cash flows to be
received according to a set timetable. Mathematically, it can be expressed as a
series of future cash flows F1; F2; F3; F4; . . . ; Fn over n periods.
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2/Types of financial securities

(a) Debt instruments (Chapters 26 and 27)

The simplest financial instrument is undoubtedly the contract that ties a lender
(investor) to a borrower (the company). It represents a very strong commitment,
not only to repay, but to repay with interest. Loans become financial securities
when they are made negotiable on a secondary market (see p. 7) and ‘‘listed’’.
Bonds and commercial paper fall into this category.

A bond is negotiable debt security representing a fraction of a borrowing
contracted by an industrial company, a financial institution or a sovereign state
(Gilts in the UK, Bunds in Germany, etc.).

Commercial paper is a negotiable debt security representing a fraction of a
short-term borrowing (generally between 1 day and 2 years) contracted by a com-
pany. If the company is a bank, the security will be called a certificate of deposit.
Short-term sovereign debt instruments go by different names depending on the
country; in Spain, for example, they are called Bonos del Estado.

Strictly speaking, these investors do not assume any industrial risk. Their return

is set contractually and may be fixed or variable. If it is variable, it will be indexed
on an interest rate and not on the results of the company.

We will see in Chapter 14 that the lender nevertheless assumes certain risks,
namely the failure of the borrower to honour the debt contract.

(b) Equity securities (Chapter 28)

Equity represents the capital injected into a company by an investor who bears the
full risk of the company’s industrial undertakings in return for a share of the
profits.

If the company is organised under a limited liability structure, the equity is
divided into shares. The risk borne by the shareholders is limited to the amount
they contribute to the enterprise. Unless otherwise noted, we will be dealing in this
book with finance as it relates to the various forms of ‘‘limited companies’’.

Shareholders’ equity is a source of financing for the enterprise, but the related
financial security, the share, guarantees the investor neither a fixed level of income
nor repayment. The shareholder can ‘‘cash in’’ his investment only by selling it to
someone else. The investor obtains certain corporate rights, however: a claim on
the company’s earnings and – via his voting rights – management oversight.

(c) Other securities (Chapters 29 and 30)

As you will discover in Chapter 30, financial engineering specialists have invented
hybrid securities that combine the characteristics of the two categories discussed
above. Some securities have the look and feel of equity from the point of view of
the company, but the corresponding cash flows are fixed, at least partially. Other
instruments have yields that are dependent on the performance of the company, but
are considered loans, not equity capital. Financial imagination knows no bounds.
Keep in mind that these instruments are peripheral to our primary focus in this
book. As such, we won’t burden you with them until Chapter 30!

Corporate finance6



There is a specific type of financial instrument, however, the option, whose
associated cash flows are actually less ‘‘important’’ to the investor than the rights
the options conveys. This instrument grants the right, but not the obligation, to do
something. Options either grant this right at any time (‘‘American’’ options) or at
maturity (‘‘European’’ options).

In sum, financial instruments carry a wide spectrum of characteristics, which,
from the investor’s point of view, range from rights to obligations.

Section 1.3

. . . valued continuously in the financial markets

Our view of finance can take shape only in the context of well-developed financial
markets. But before examining the technical characteristics of markets (Section II
of this book), let’s spend a moment on definitions.

1/From the primary market to the secondary market

Once launched by its issuer, a financial security lives a life of its own. It is sold from
one investor to another, and it serves as support for other transactions. The instru-
ment itself evolves, but the terms of the contract under which it was issued do not.

The life of a financial security is intimately connected with the fact that it can be
bought or sold at any moment. For example, shares issued or created when a
company is founded can later be floated on a stock exchange, just as long-term
bonds may be used by speculators for short-term strategies.

The new issues market (i.e., creation of securities) is called the primary market.
Subsequent transactions involving these securities take place on the secondary

market. Both markets, like any market, are defined by two basic elements: the
product (the security) and the price (its value).

From the point of view of the company, the distinction between the primary
and secondary markets is fundamental. The primary market is the market for ‘‘new’’

financial products, from equity issues to bond issues and everything in-between. It is
the market for newly minted financial securities.

Conversely, the secondary market is the market for ‘‘used’’ financial products.
Securities bought and sold on this market have already been created and are now
simply changing hands, without any new securities being created.

The primary market enables companies, financial institutions, governments
and local authorities to obtain financial resources by issuing securities. These
securities are then listed and traded on secondary markets. The job of the second-
ary market is to ensure that securities are properly priced and traded. This is the
essence of liquidity: facilitating the purchase or sale of a security.

The distinction between primary and secondary markets is conceptual only.
The two markets are not separated from each other. A given financial investor can
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buy either existing shares or new shares issued during a capital increase, for
example.

If there is often more emphasis placed on the primary market, it is because the
function of the financial markets is first and foremost to ensure equilibrium
between financing needs and the sources of finance. Secondary markets, where
securities can change hands, constitute a kind of financial ‘‘innovation’’.

2/The function of the secondary market

Financial investors do not intend to remain invested in a particular asset in-
definitely. From the moment they buy a security, they begin thinking about how
they will exit. As a result, they are constantly evaluating whether they should buy
or sell such and such asset.

Exiting is relatively easy when the security is a short-term one. All the investor
has to do is wait until maturity.1 The need for an exit strategy grows with the
maturity of the investment and is greatest for equity investments whose maturity is
unlimited. The only way a shareholder can exit his investment is to sell his shares to
someone else.

Similarly, the successful businessman who floats his company on the stock
exchange, thereby bringing in new shareholders, diversifies his own portfolio,
which before flotation was essentially concentrated in one investment.

The secondary market makes the investor’s investments liquid.

Liquidity refers to the ability to convert an instrument into cash quickly and with-
out loss of value. It affords the opportunity to trade a financial instrument at a
‘‘listed’’ price and in large quantities without disrupting the market. An investment
is liquid when an investor can buy or sell it in large quantities without causing a
change in its market price.

The secondary market is therefore a zero-sum game between investors, because
what one investor buys another investor sells. In principle, the secondary market
operates completely independently from the issuer of the securities.

A company that issues a bond today knows that a certain amount of funds will
remain available in each future year. This knowledge is based on the bond’s
amortisation schedule. During that time, however, the investors holding the
bonds will have changed.

Secondary market transactions do not show up in macroeconomic statistics on
capital formation, earning them the scorn of some observers, who claim that the
secondary market does nothing to further economic development, but only bails
out the initial investors.

We believe this thinking is misguided and reflects great ignorance about the
function of secondary markets in the economy. Remember that a financial investor
is constantly comparing the primary and secondary markets. He cares little whether
he is buying a ‘‘new’’ or a ‘‘used’’ security, so long as they have the same
characteristics.

Corporate finance8
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The secondary market plays the fundamental role of valuing securities.

In fact, the quality of a primary market for a security depends greatly on the quality
of its secondary market. Think about it: who would want to buy a financial security
on the primary market, knowing that it will be difficult to sell it on the secondary
market?

Consequently, it makes no economic sense to grant tax advantages, for ex-
ample, to investments in the primary market without offering the same advantages
to investments in the secondary market. Otherwise, investors quickly realise that
the advantage is fictitious, because they will lose out when they try to sell the
investment in the secondary market.

The secondary market determines the price at which the company can issue its
securities on the primary market, because investors are constantly deciding between
existing investments and proposed new investments.

We have seen that it would be a mistake to think that a financial manager takes
no interest in the secondary market for the securities issued by his company. Much
to the contrary, it is on the secondary market that his company’s financial ‘‘raw
material’’ is priced every day. When the raw material is equities, there is another
reason the company cannot afford to turn its back on the secondary market: this is
where investors trade the right to vote in the company’s affairs and, by extension,
to control the company.

3/Derivative markets: futures and options

Over the last 30 years, fluctuations in interest rates, currencies and the prices of raw
materials have become so great that financial risks have become as important as
industrial risks. Consider a Swiss company that buys copper in the world market,
then processes it and sells it in Switzerland and abroad.

Its performance depends not only on the price of copper but also on the
exchange rate of the US dollar vs. the Swiss franc, because it uses the dollar to
make purchases abroad and receives payment in dollars for international sales.
Lastly, interest-rate fluctuations have an impact on the company’s financial
flows. A multi-headed dragon!

The company must manage its specific interest-rate and exchange-rate risks,
because doing nothing can also have serious consequences. As the bumper sticker
says, ‘‘if you think education is expensive, try ignorance!’’

Take an example of an economy with no derivative markets. A corporate
treasurer anticipating a decline in long-term interest rates and whose company
has long-term debt has no choice but to borrow short-term, invest the proceeds
long-term, wait for interest rates to decline, pay off the short-term loans and
borrow again. You will have no trouble understanding that this strategy has its
limits. The balance sheet becomes inflated, intermediation costs rise and so on.
Derivative markets enable him to manage this long-term interest-rate risk without
touching his company’s balance sheet.
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Derivatives are instruments for taking positions on other instruments, or ‘‘con-
tracts’’ on ‘‘contracts’’. They let you take significant short or long positions on
other assets with a limited outlay of funds.

Derivative instruments are tailored especially to the management of these types of
financial risk. By using derivatives, the financial manager chooses a price –
expressed as an interest rate, an exchange rate or the price of a raw material –
that is independent of the company’s financing or investment term. Derivatives are
also highly liquid. The financial manager can change his mind at any time at a
minimal cost.

Similarly, options enable the investor to take advantage of leverage with a
limited outlay of funds, but entail higher risks.

Section 1.4

Most importantly, he is a negotiator . . .

Let’s return to our financial manager who has just created a financial security.
Because the security is traded on a secondary market, he doesn’t know who
holds the securities. Nor does he know who has sold it, especially as, via the futures
market, investors can sell the security without ever having bought it.

But what exactly is our financial manager selling? Or put another way: how can
the value of the financial security be determined?

From a practical standpoint, the financial manager ‘‘sells’’ management’s
reputation for integrity, its expertise, the quality of the company’s assets, its overall
financial health, its ability to generate a certain level of profitability over a given
period and its commitment to more or less restrictive legal terms. Note that the
quality of assets will be particularly important in the case of a loan tied to and often
secured by specific assets, while the overall financial health will dominate when
financing is not tied to specific assets.

Theoretically, the financial manager sells expected future cash flows that can
derive only from the company’s business operations.

A company cannot distribute more cash flow to its providers of capital than its
business generates. A money-losing company pays its creditors only at the expense
of its shareholders. When a company with sub-par profitability pays a dividend, it
jeopardises its financial health.

The financial manager’s role is to transform the company’s commercial and
industrial business assets and commitments into financial assets and commitments.

In so doing, he spreads the expected cash flows among many different investor
groups: banks, financial investors, family shareholders, individual investors, etc.

Far from building castles in the sky, the corporate financial manager trans-
forms the company’s economic activity into cash flows that he offers to financial
investors.

Financial investors then turn these flows into negotiable instruments traded on
an open market, which value the instruments in relation to other opportunities
available on the market.
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Underlying the securities is the market’s evaluation of the company. A com-
pany considered to be poorly managed will see investors vote with their feet. Yields
on the company’s securities will rise to prohibitive levels and prices on them will
fall. Financial difficulties, if not already present, will soon follow. The financial
manager must therefore keep the market convinced at all times of the quality of his
company, because that is what is backing up the securities it issues!

Diverse financial partners hold a portion of the value of the company. This
diversity gives rise to yet another job for the financial manager: he must adroitly

steer the company through the distribution of the overall value of the company.
Like any dealmaker, he has something to sell, but he must also:

. assess his company’s overall financial situation;

. understand the motivations of the various participants; and

. analyse the relative powers of the parties involved.

Section 1.5

. . . and he remembers to do an occasional

reality check!

The financial investors who buy the company’s securities do so not out of altruism,
but because they hope to realise a certain rate of return on their investment, in the
form of interest, dividends or capital gains. In other words, in return for entrusting
the company with their money via their purchase of the company’s securities, they
require a minimum return on their investment.

Consequently, the financial manager must make sure that, over the medium
term, the company makes investments whose returns are by and large at least equal
to the rate of return expected by the company’s providers of capital. If so, all is
well. If not and if the company is consistently falling short of this goal, it will
destroy value, turning what was worth 100 into 90, or 80. This is corporate
purgatory. On the other hand, if the profitability of its investments consistently
exceeds investor demands, transforming 100 into 120 or more, the company
deserves the kudos it will get. But it should also remain humble. With technological
progress and deregulation advancing apace, repeat performances are becoming
more and more challenging.

The financial manager must therefore analyse proposed investment projects
and explain to his colleagues that some should not be undertaken because they
are not profitable enough. In short, he sometimes has to be a ‘‘party-pooper’’. He is
indirectly the spokesman of the financial investment community.

The financial manager must ensure that the company creates value, that the
assets it has assembled will generate a rate of return into the medium term that is at
least equal to the rate required by the investors whose capital has enabled the
company to build those assets.

How’s that appetite?
We’re going to leave you with these appetizers in the hope that you are now

hungry for more. But beware of taking the principles briefly presented here and
skipping directly to Section III of the book. If you are looking for high-finance and
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get-rich-quick schemes, this book might not be for you. The menu we propose is as
follows:

. First, an understanding of the firm, i.e., the source of all the cash flows that are
the subject of our analysis (Section I: A financial assessment of the firm).

. Then an appreciation of markets, because it is they who are constantly valuing
the firm (Section II: Investors and financial markets).

. To be followed by the major financial decisions of the firm, viewed in the light
of both market theory and organisational theory (Section III: Value and

financial strategy).

Finally, if you persevere through the foregoing, you will get to taste the dessert, as
Section IV presents several practical, current topics in financial management.

The financial manager has two roles:

. Ensure the company has enough funds to finance its expansion and meet its
obligations.

To do this, the company issues securities (equity and debt) and the financial
manager tries to sell them to financial investors at the highest possible price. In
today’s capital market economy, the role of the financial manager is less a buyer of
capital, with an objective to minimise cost, but more a seller of financial securities. By
emphasising the financial security, we focus on its value, which combines the notions
of return and risk. We thereby de-emphasise the importance of minimising the cost of
financial resources, because this approach ignores the risk factor. Casting the
financial manager in the role of salesman also underlines the marketing aspect of
his job, which is far from theoretical. He has customers (investors) that he must
persuade to buy the securities his company issues. The better he understands
their needs, the more successful he will be.

. Ensure that over the long run the company uses the resources investors put at its
disposal to generate a rate of return at least equal to the rate of return the investors
require. If it does, the company creates value. If it does not, it destroys value. If it
continues to destroy value, investors will turn their backs on the company and the
value of its securities will decline. Ultimately, the company will have to change its
senior managers, or face bankruptcy.

In his first role, the financial manager transforms the company’s real assets into financial
assets. He must maximise the value of these financial assets, while selling them to the
various categories of investors.

His second role is a thankless one. He must be a ‘‘party-pooper’’, a ‘‘Mr No’’ who
examines every proposed investment project under the microscope of expected returns
and advises on whether to reject those that fall below the cost of funds available to the
company.

1/Should the unexpected announcement of a rise in interest rates automatically result
in a drop in the stock market index?

2/Would your answer be the same if the announcement had been anticipated by the
market? So what is the most important factor when valuing securities?

Corporate finance12
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3/Other than the word ‘‘market’’, what in your view is the key word in corporate
finance?

4/How is it possible to sell something without actually having bought anything?

5/You are offered a loan at 7.5% over 10 years without guarantee, and a loan at 7%
over 10 years with guarantee. You need the loan. How should you go about deciding
which loan to take out?

6/Can you define a financial security?

7/Is a financial security a financial asset or a financial liability? Why?

8/Provide an example of something that was assumed to be a financial asset, but which
proved on analysis to be a financial liability.

9/How important is it to think in terms of an offer of and a demand for securities, and
not in terms of an offer of and a demand for capital, for:

e shares;
e bonds;
e medium-term international loan;
e domestic bank loans.

Why?

10/What other financial term should immediately spring to mind when you hear the word
‘‘returns’’?

11/ In your view, are more securities issued on the primary market than exchanged on
the secondary market?

12/What other financial term should immediately spring to mind when you hear the word
‘‘risk’’?

13/Which instrument carries the greater risk – shares or bonds? Why?

14/Explain how the poor performance of the secondary market can impact the primary
market.

15/What are the two biggest flaws of a bad financial manager?

1/As an automatic reaction, yes.
2/No, the answer in this case would be no. The most important factor in valuing

securities is anticipation.
3/Value.
4/On the futures market.
5/ Is it worth providing a guarantee for a gain of 0.5%?
6/A financial instrument represents a series of cash flows to be received according to a

set timetable.
7/A financial asset if the present value of future flows is positive (which it is for the

investor), and a liability if not (which is the case for the issuer).
8/The inheritance of an estate, the debts of which exceed the value of the assets.
9/ In order – 1 ¼ very important; 2 ¼ of moderate importance; 3 ¼ unimportant: 1–2–2–3,

because they are more easily traded.
10/Risk.
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11/No, far fewer securities are issued on the primary market than exchanged on the
secondary market. In 2004, on the London Stock Exchange, listed companies issued
C¼22bn worth of new shares, whereas the value of shares exchanged was C¼6,700bn.

12/Returns, the two are inextricably linked.
13/Shares, as returns are not guaranteed for the investor, and creditors are paid out

before shareholders.
14/ If the value of shares continues to decline long-term, market pessimism descends,

and investors become reluctant to subscribe shares on the primary market, as they
are convinced that the value of such shares will fall once issued.

15/Short-sightedness and poor marketing skills.
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Section I
Financial analysis





Part One

Fundamental concepts in

financial analysis

The following six chapters provide a gradual introduction to the foundations of
financial analysis. They examine the concepts of cash flow, earnings, capital
employed and invested capital, and look at the ways in which these concepts are
linked.





Chapter 2
Cash flows

Let’s work from A to Z (unless it turns out to be Z to A!)

In the introduction, we emphasised the importance of cash flows as the basic
building block of securities. Likewise, we need to start our study of corporate
finance by analysing company cash flows.

Classifying company cash flows

Let’s consider, for example, the monthly account statement that individual
customers receive from their bank. It is presented as a series of lines showing the
various inflows and outflows of money on precise dates and in some cases the type
of transaction (deposit of cheques, for instance).

Our first step is to trace the rationale for each of the entries on the statement,
which could be everyday purchases, payment of a salary, automatic transfers, loan
repayments or the receipt of bond coupons, to cite but a few examples.

The corresponding task for a financial manager is to reclassify company cash
flows by category to draw up a cash flow document that can be used to:

. analyse past trends in cash flow (generally known as a cash flow statement
1); or

. project future trends in cash flow, over a shorter or longer period (known as a
cash flow budget or plan).

With this goal in mind, we will now demonstrate that cash flows can be classified as
one of the following processes:

. Activities that form part of the industrial and commercial life of a company:

e operating cycle;
e investment cycle.

. Financing activities to fund these cycles:

e the debt cycle;
e the equity cycle.

1 Or sometimes
as statement of
changes in
financial position



Section 2.1

Operating and investment cycles

1/The importance of the operating cycle

Let’s take the example of a greengrocer, who is ‘‘cashing up’’ one evening. What
does he find? First, he sees how much he spent in cash at the wholesale market in
the morning and then the cash proceeds from fruit and vegetable sales during the
day. If we assume that the greengrocer sold all the produce he bought in the
morning at a mark-up, the balance of receipts and payments for the day will deliver
a cash surplus.

Unfortunately, things are usually more complicated in practice. Rarely is all
the produce bought in the morning sold by the evening, especially in the case of a
manufacturing business.

A company processes raw materials as part of an operating cycle, the length of
which varies tremendously, from a day in the newspaper sector to 7 years in the
cognac sector. There is thus a time lag between purchases of raw materials and the
sale of the corresponding finished goods.

And this time lag is not the only complicating factor. It is unusual for
companies to buy and sell in cash. Usually, their suppliers grant them extended
payment periods, and they in turn grant their customers extended payment periods.
The money received during the day does not necessarily come from sales made on
the same day.

As a result of customer credit,2 supplier credit3 and the time it takes to
manufacture and sell products or services, the operating cycle of each and every
company spans a certain period, leading to timing differences between operating

outflows and the corresponding operating inflows.
Each business has its own operating cycle of a certain length that, from a cash

flow standpoint, may lead to positive or negative cash flows at different times.
Operating outflows and inflows from different cycles are analysed by period, e.g.,
by month or by year. The balance of these flows is called operating cash flow.
Operating cash flow reflects the cash flows generated by operations during a
given period.

In concrete terms, operating cash flow represents the cash flow generated by
the company’s day-to-day operations. Returning to our initial example of an
individual looking at his bank statement, it represents the difference between the
receipts and normal outgoings, such as on food, electricity and car maintenance
costs.

Naturally, unless there is a major timing difference caused by some unusual
circumstances (start-up period of a business, very strong growth, very strong
seasonal fluctuations), the balance of operating receipts and payments should be
positive.

Readers with accounting knowledge will note that operating cash flow is
independent of any accounting policies, which makes sense since it relates only
to cash flows. More specifically:

. neither the company’s depreciation and provisioning policy;
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. nor its inventory valuation method;

. nor the techniques used to defer costs over several periods

have any impact on the figure.
However, the concept is affected by decisions about how to classify payments

between investment and operating outlays, as we will now examine more closely.

2/ Investment and operating outflows

Let’s return to the example of our greengrocer, who now decides to add frozen food
to his business.

The operating cycle will no longer be the same. The greengrocer may, for
instance, begin receiving deliveries once a week only and will therefore have to
run much larger inventories. Admittedly, the impact of the longer operating cycle
due to much larger inventories may be offset by larger credit from his suppliers. The
key point here is to recognise that the operating cycle will change.

The operating cycle is different for each business and, generally speaking, the
more sophisticated the end product, the longer the operating cycle.

But, most importantly, before he can start up this new activity, our greengrocer
needs to invest in a freezer chest.

What difference is there from solely a cash flow standpoint between this
investment and operating outlays?

The outlay on the freezer chest seems to be a prerequisite. It forms the basis for
a new activity, the success of which is unknown. It appears to carry higher risks and
will be beneficial only if overall operating cash flow generated by the greengrocer
increases. Lastly, investments are carried out from a long-term perspective and have a

longer life than that of the operating cycle. Indeed, they last for several operating
cycles, even if they do not last for ever given the fast pace of technological progress.

This justifies the distinction, from a cash flow perspective, between operating
and investment outflows.

Normal outflows, from an individual’s perspective, differ from an investment
outflow in that they afford enjoyment, whereas investment represents abstinence.
As we will see, this type of decision represents one of the vital underpinnings of
finance. Only the very puritan-minded would take more pleasure from buying a
microwave oven than from spending the same amount of money at a restaurant!
One of these choices can only be an investment and the other an ordinary outflow.
So what purpose do investments serve? Investment is worthwhile only if the
decision to forgo normal spending, which gives instant pleasure, will subsequently
lead to greater gratification.

From a cash flow standpoint, an investment is an outlay that is subsequently
expected to increase operating cash flow such that overall the individual will be
happy to have forsaken instant gratification.

This is the definition of the return on investment (be it industrial or financial) from a
cash flow standpoint. We will use this definition throughout this book.

Chapter 2 Cash flows 21



Like the operating cycle, the investment cycle is characterised by a series of
inflows and outflows. But the length of the investment cycle is far larger than the
length of the operating cycle.

The purpose of investment outlays (also frequently called capital expenditures) is
to alter the operating cycle; e.g., to boost or enhance the cash flows that it
generates.

The impact of investment outlays is spread over several operating cycles. Finan-
cially, capital expenditures are worthwhile only if inflows generated thanks to these
expenditures exceed the required outflows by an amount yielding at least the return
on investment expected by the investor.

Note also that a company may sell some assets in which it has invested in the
past. For instance, our greengrocer may decide after several years to trade in his
freezer for a larger model. The proceeds would also be part of the investment cycle.

3/Free cash flow

Before-tax free cash flow is defined as the difference between operating cash flow
and capital expenditure net of fixed assets disposals.

As we will see in Sections II and III of this book, free cash flow can be
calculated before or after tax. It also forms the basis for the most important
valuation technique. Operating cash flow is a concept that depends on how
expenditure is classified between operating and investment outlays. Since this
distinction is not always clearcut, operating cash flow is not widely used in
practice, with free cash flow being far more popular. If free cash flow turns
negative, additional financial resources will have to be raised to cover the
company’s cash flow requirements.

Section 2.2

Financial resources

The operating and investment cycles give rise to a timing difference in cash flows.
Employees and suppliers have to be paid before customers settle up. Likewise,
investments have to be completed before they generate any receipts. Naturally,
this cash flow deficit needs to be filled. This is the role of financial resources.

The purpose of financial resources is simple: they must cover the shortfalls
resulting from these timing differences by providing the company with sufficient
funds to balance its cash flow.

These financial resources are provided by investors: shareholders, debtholders,
lenders, etc. These financial resources are not provided ‘‘no strings attached’’. In
return for providing the funds, investors expect to be subsequently ‘‘rewarded’’ by
receiving dividends or interest payments, registering capital gains, etc. This can
happen only if the operating and investment cycles generate positive cash flows.
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To the extent that the financial investors have made the investment and operat-
ing activities possible, they expect to receive, in various different forms, their fair
share of the surplus cash flows generated by these cycles.

The financing cycle is therefore the ‘‘flip side’’ of the investment and operating
cycles.

At its most basic, the principle would be to finance these shortfalls solely using
capital that incurs the risk of the business. Such capital is known as shareholders’

equity. This type of financial resource forms the cornerstone of the entire financial
system. Its importance is such that shareholders providing it are granted decision-
making powers and control over the business in various different ways. From a
cash flow standpoint, the equity cycle comprises inflows from capital increases and
outflows in the form of dividend payments to the shareholders.

Without casting any doubt on their managerial capabilities, all our readers
have probably had to cope with cash flow shortfalls, if only as part of their personal
financial affairs. The usual approach in such circumstances is to talk to a banker.
Your banker will only give you a loan if he believes that you will be able to repay
the loan with interest. Bank loans may be short-term (overdraft facilities) or long-
term (e.g., a loan to buy an apartment).

Like individuals, a business may decide to ask lenders rather than shareholders
to help it cover a cash flow shortage. Bankers will lend funds only after they have
carefully analysed the company’s financial health. They want to be nearly certain of
being repaid and do not want exposure to the company’s business risk. These cash
flow shortages may be short-term, long-term or even permanent, but lenders do not
want to take on business risk. The capital they provide represents the company’s
debt capital.

The debt cycle is the following: the business arranges borrowings in return for a
commitment to repay the capital and make interest payments regardless of trends
in its operating and investment cycles. These undertakings represent firm commit-
ments ensuring that the lender is certain of recovering its funds provided that the
commitments are met. This definition applies to both:

. financing for the investment cycle, with the increase in future net receipts set to
cover capital repayments and interest payments on borrowings; and

. financing for the operating cycle, with credit making it possible to bring
forward certain inflows or to defer certain outflows.

From a cash flow standpoint, the life of a business comprises an operating and an
investment cycle, leading to a positive or negative free cash flow. If free cash flow is
negative, the financing cycle covers the funding shortfall.

As the future is unknown, a distinction has to be drawn between:

. equity, where the only commitment is to enable the shareholders to benefit
fully from the success of the venture;

. debt capital, where the only commitment is to meet the capital repayments and
interest payments regardless of the success or failure of the venture.
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The risk incurred by the lender is that this commitment will not be met. Theoret-
ically speaking, debt may be regarded as an advance on future cash flows generated
by the investments made and guaranteed by the company’s shareholders’ equity.

Although a business needs to raise funds to finance investments, it may also
find at a given point in time that it has a cash surplus, i.e., the funds available
exceed cash requirements.

These surplus funds are then invested in short-term investments and marketable
securities that generate revenue, called financial income.

Although at first sight short-term financial investments (marketable securities) may
be regarded as investments since they generate a rate of return, we advise readers to
consider them instead as the opposite of debt. As we will see, company treasurers
often have to raise additional debt just to reinvest those funds in short-term
investments without speculating in any way.

These investments are generally realised with a view to ensuring the possibility
of a very quick exit without any risk of losses.

Debt and short-term financial investments or marketable securities should not
be considered independently of each other, but as inextricably linked. We suggest
that readers reason in terms of debt net of short-term financial investments and
financial expense net of financial income.

Putting all the individual pieces together, we arrive at the following simplified
cash flow statement, with the balance reflecting the net decrease in the company’s
debt during a given period:

SIMPLIFIED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

2005 2006 2007

Operating receipts
� Operating payments

¼ Operating cash flow

� Capital expenditure
þ Fixed asset disposals

¼ Free cash flow before tax

� Financial expense net of financial income
� Corporate income tax
þ Proceeds from share issue
� Dividends paid

¼ Net decrease in debt

With:

Repayments of borrowings
� New bank and other borrowings
þ Change in marketable securities
þ Change in cash and cash equivalents

¼ Net decrease in debt
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The cash flows of a company can be divided into four categories, i.e., operating and
investment flows, which are generated as part of its business activities, and debt and
equity flows, which finance these activities.

The operating cycle is characterised by a time lag between the positive and negative cash
flows deriving from the length of the production process (which varies from business to
business) and the commercial policy (customer and supplier credit).

Operating cash flow, the balance of funds generated by the various operating cycles in
progress, comprises the cash flows generated by a company’s operations during a given
period. It represents the (usually positive) difference between operating receipts and
payments.

From a cash flow standpoint, capital expenditures must alter the operating cycle in such a
way as to generate higher operating inflows going forward than would otherwise have
been the case. Capital expenditures are intended to enhance the operating cycle by
enabling it to achieve a higher level of profitability in the long term. This profitability
can be measured only over several operating cycles, unlike operating payments, which
belong to a single cycle. As a result, investors forgo immediate use of their funds in return
for higher cash flows over several operating cycles.

Free cash flow (before tax) can be defined as operating cash flow less capital expenditure
(investment outlays).

When a company’s free cash flow is negative, it covers its funding shortfall through its
financing cycle by raising equity and debt capital.

Since shareholders’ equity is exposed to business risk, the returns paid on it are
unpredictable and depend on the success of the venture. Where a business rounds out
its financing with debt capital, it undertakes to make capital repayments and interest
payments (financial expense) to its lenders regardless of the success of the venture.
Accordingly, debt represents an advance on the operating receipts generated by the
investment that is guaranteed by the company’s shareholders’ equity.

Short-term financial investment, the rationale for which differs from investment, and cash
should be considered in conjunction with debt. We will always reason in terms of net debt
(i.e., net of cash and of marketable securities, which are short-term financial investments)
and net financial expense (i.e., net of financial income).

1/What are the four basic cycles of a company?

2/Why do we say that financial flows are the flip side of investment and operating
flows?

3/Define operating cash flow. Should the company be able to spend this surplus as it
likes?

4/Is operating cash flow an accounting profit?

5/Why do we say that, as a general rule, operating cash flow should be positive?
Provide a simple example that demonstrates that operating cash flow can be nega-
tive during periods of strong growth, start-up periods and in the event of strong
seasonal fluctuations.
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6/When a cash flow budget is drawn up for the purposes of assessing an investment,
can free cash flows be negative? If so, is it more likely that this will be the case at the
beginning or at the end of the business plan period? Why?

7/Among the following different flows, which will be appropriated by both shareholders
and lenders: operating receipts, operating cash flow, free cash flows? Who has
priority, shareholders or lenders? Why?

8/A feature of a supermarket chain such as Tesco or Ahold is the very fast rotation of
food stocks (6 days), cash payments by customers, long supplier credit periods (60
days) and very low administrative costs. Will the operating cycle generate cash
requirements or a cash surplus?

9/From a cash flow standpoint, should the costs of launching a new perfume be
considered as an operating outlay or an investment outlay?

10/How is an investment decision analysed from a cash standpoint?

11/After reading this chapter, are you able to define bankruptcy?

12/Is debt capital risk-free for the lender? Can you analyse what the risk is? Why do
some borrowers default on loans?

1/Boomwichers NV, a Dutch company financed by shareholders’ equity only, decides
during the course of 2005 to finance an investment project worth C¼200m using
shareholders’ equity (50%) and debt (50%). The loan it takes out (C¼100m) will be
paid off in full in n þ 5 years, and the company will pay 5% interest per year over the
period. At the end of the period, you are asked to complete the following simplified
table (no further investments were made):

Period 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Operating inflows 165 200 240 280 320 360
Operating outflows 165 175 180 185 180 190

Operating cash flows

Investments �200

Free cash flows

Flows . . .

. . . to creditors

. . . to shareholders

What do you conclude from the above?

2/Ellingham plc opens a Spanish subsidiary, which starts operating on 2 January 2005.
On 2 January 2005 it has to buy a machine costing C¼30m, partly financed by a C¼20m
bank loan repayable in instalments of C¼2m every 15 July and 15 January over 5 years.
Financial expenses, payable on a half-yearly basis, are as follows:
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2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Jun Dec Jun Dec Jun Dec Jun Dec Jun Dec

1 0.9 0.8 0.7 0.6 0.5 0.4 0.3 0.2 0.1

Profits are tax-free. Sales will be C¼12m per month. A month’s inventory of finished
products will have to be built up. Customers pay at 90 days.

The company is keen to have a month’s worth of advance purchases and, accord-
ingly, plans to buy 2 months’ worth of supplies in January 2005. Requirements in a
normal month amount to C¼4m.

The supplier grants the company a 90-day payment period. Other costs are:

e personnel costs of C¼4m per month;
e shipping, packaging and other costs, amounting to C¼2m per month and paid at

30 days. These costs are incurred from 1 January 2005.

Draw up a monthly and an annual cash flow plan.

How much cash will the subsidiary need at the end of each month over the first year?
And if operations are identical, how much will it need each month over 2006? What is
the change in the cash position over 2006 (no additional investments are planned)?

Questions

1/Operating, investment, debt and equity cycles.
2/Because negative free cash flows generated by operating and investment cycles must

be compensated by resources from the financial cycle. When free cash flows are
positive, they are entirely absorbed by the financial cycle (debts are repaid, dividends
are paid, etc.).

3/ It is the balance of the operating cycle. No, as it has to repay banking debts when
they are due, for example.

4/No, it is a cash flow, not an accounting profit.
5/ It measures flows generated by the company’s operations (i.e., its business or

‘‘raison d’être’’. If it is not positive in the long term, the company will be in
trouble. Major shortfall due to operating cycle, large inventories, operating losses
on start-up, heavy swings in operating cycle.

6/Yes. At the beginning, an investment may need time to run at full speed.
7/Free cash flows, since all operating or investment outlays have been paid. The

lenders because of contractual agreement.
8/A cash surplus, as customer receipts come in before suppliers are paid.
9/ Investment outlays, from which the company will benefit over several financial years

as the product is being put onto the market.
10/Expenditure should generate inflows over several financial periods.
11/The inability to find additional resources to meet the company’s financial

obligations.
12/No. The risk is the borrower’s failure to honour contracts either because of inability

to repay due to poor business conditions or because of bad faith.
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Exercises

1/Boomwichers NV
Period 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Operating inflows 165 200 240 280 320 360
Operating outflows 165 175 180 185 180 190

Operating cash flows 0 25 60 95 140 170

Investments �200 0 0 0 0 0
Free cash flows �200 25 60 95 140 170

Flows . . .

. . . to creditors �100 5 5 5 5 105

. . . to shareholders �100 20 55 90 135 65

The investment makes it possible to repay creditors and leave cash for shareholders.

2/Ellingham plc exercise, see p. 69.

To learn more about the notion of flows:

K. Checkley, Strategic Cash Flow Management, Capstone Express, 2002.

E. Helfert, Techniques of Financial Analysis, Irwin, 11th edn, 2002.
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Chapter 3
Earnings

Time to put our accounting hat on!

Following our analysis of company cash flows, it is time to consider the issue of
how a company creates wealth. In this chapter, we are going to study the income
statement to show how the various cycles of a company create wealth.

Section 3.1

Additions to wealth and deductions to wealth

What would your spontaneous answer be to the following questions?

. Does purchasing an apartment make you richer or poorer?

. Would your answer change if you were to buy the apartment on credit?

There can be no doubt as to the correct answer. Provided that you pay the going
rate for the apartment, your wealth is not affected whether or not you buy it on
credit. Our experience as university lecturers has shown us that students often
confuse cash and wealth.

Cash and wealth are two of the fundamental concepts of corporate finance. It is vital
to be able to juggle them around and thus to be able to differentiate between them
confidently.

Consequently, we advise readers to train their minds by analysing the impact of all
transactions in terms of cash flows and wealth impacts.

For instance, when you buy an apartment, you become neither richer, nor
poorer, but your cash decreases. Arranging a loan makes you no richer or
poorer than you were before (you owe the money), but your cash has increased.
In this respect, the proverb ‘‘He who pays his debts gets richer’’ is nonsense from a
financial viewpoint. If a fire destroys your house and it was not insured, you are
worse off, but your cash position has not changed, since you have not spent any
money.

Raising debt is tantamount to increasing your financial resources and commit-
ments at the same time. As a result, it has no impact on your net worth. Buying an
apartment for cash results in a change in your assets (reduction in cash, increase in



property assets) without any change in net worth. The possible examples are
endless. Spending money does not necessarily make you poorer. Likewise, receiving

money does not necessarily make you richer.
The job of listing all the cash flows that positively or negatively affect a

company’s wealth is performed by the income statement,1 which shows all the
additions to wealth (revenues) and all the deductions to wealth (charges or expenses

or costs). The fundamental aim of all businesses is to increase wealth. Additions to
wealth cannot be achieved without some deductions to wealth. In sum, earnings
represent the difference between additions and deductions to wealth:

Revenues Gross additions to wealth
� Charges � Gross deductions from wealth
¼ Earnings ¼ Net additions to wealth (deduction from)

Earnings represent the difference between revenues and charges, leading to a
change in net worth during a given period. Earnings are positive when wealth is
created or negative when wealth is destroyed.

Since the rationale behind the income statement is not the same as for a cash flow
statement, some cash flows do not appear on the income statement (those that
neither generate nor destroy wealth). Likewise, some revenues and charges are
not shown on the cash flow statement (because they have no impact on the
company’s cash position).

1/The distinction between operating charges and fixed assets

Although we were easily able to define investment from a cash flow perspective, we
recognise that our approach went against the grain of the traditional presentation,
especially as far as those familiar with accounting are concerned:

. whatever is consumed as part of the operating cycle to create something new
belongs to the operating cycle. Without wishing to philosophise, we note that
the act of creation always entails some form of destruction;

. whatever is used without being destroyed directly and thus retaining its value
belongs to the investment cycle. This represents an immutable asset or, in
accounting terms, a fixed asset.

For instance, to make bread, a baker uses flour, salt and water, all of which form
part of the end product. The process also entails labour, which has a value only in
so far as it transforms the raw material into the end product. At the same time, the
baker also needs a bread oven, which is absolutely essential for the production
process, but is not destroyed by it. Though this oven may experience wear and tear
it will be used many times over.

This is the major distinction that can be drawn between operating charges and
fixed assets. It may look deceptively straightforward, but in practice is no clearer
than the distinction between investment and operating outlays. For instance, does
an advertising campaign represent a charge linked solely to one period with no
impact on any other? Or does it represent the creation of an asset (e.g., a brand)?
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2/Earnings and the operating cycle

The operating cycle forms the basis of the company’s wealth. It consists in both:

. additions to wealth (products and services sold, i.e. products and services
whose worth is recognised in the market);

. deductions from wealth (consumption of raw materials or goods for resale, use
of labour, use of external services, such as transportation, taxes and other
duties).

The very essence of a business is to increase wealth by means of its operating cycle:

Additions to wealth Operating revenues
Deductions from wealth � Cash operating charges

= EBITDA2

Put another way, the result of the operating cycle is the balance of operating
revenues and cash operating charges incurred to obtain these revenues. We will
refer to it as gross operating profit or EBITDA.

It may be described as gross insofar as it covers just the operating cycle and is
calculated before noncash expenses such as depreciation and amortisation, and
before interest and taxes.

3/Earnings and the investing cycle

(a) Principles

Investing activities do not appear directly on the income statement. In a wealth-
oriented approach, an investment represents a use of funds that retains some value.

To invest is to forgo liquid funds: an asset is purchased but no wealth is destroyed.
As a result, investments never appear directly on the income statement.

This said, the value of investments may change during a financial year:

. it may decrease if they suffer wear and tear or become obsolete;

. it may increase if the market value of certain assets rises.

Even so, by virtue of the principle of prudence, increases in value are recorded only
if realised through the disposal of the asset.

(b) Accounting for loss in the value of fixed assets

The loss in value of a fixed asset due to its use by the company is accounted for by
means of depreciation and amortisation.3

Impairment losses or write-downs on fixed assets recognise the loss in value of an
asset not related to its day-to-day use; i.e., the unforeseen diminution in the value
of:
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. an intangible asset (goodwill, patents, etc.);

. a tangible asset (property, plant, and equipment);

. an investment in a subsidiary.

Depreciation and amortisation on fixed assets are so-called "noncash" charges in
so far as they merely reflect arbitrary accounting assessments of the loss in value.

As we will see, there are other types of noncash charges, such as impairment losses
on fixed assets, write-downs on current assets (which are included in operating
charges) and provisions for liabilities and charges.

4/The company’s operating profit

From EBITDA, which is linked to the operating cycle, we deduct noncash charges,
which comprises depreciation and amortisation and impairment losses or write-
downs on fixed assets.

This gives us operating income or operating profit or EBIT (Earnings Before
Interest and Taxes), which reflects the increase in wealth generated by the
company’s industrial and commercial activities.

Operating profit or EBIT represents the earnings generated by investment and
operating cycles for a given period.

The term ‘‘operating’’ contrasts with the term ‘‘financial’’, reflecting the distinction
between the real world and the realms of finance. Indeed, operating income is the
product of the company’s industrial and commercial activities before its financing
operations are taken into account. Operating profit or EBIT may also be called
operating income, trading profit, or operating result.

5/Earnings and the financing cycle

(a) Debt capital

Repayments of borrowings do not constitute costs, but as their name suggests,
merely repayments.

Just as common sense tells us that securing a loan does not increase wealth,
neither does repaying a borrowing represent a charge.

The income statement shows only charges related to borrowings. It never shows
the repayments of borrowings, which are deducted from the debt recorded on the
balance sheet.

We emphasise this point because our experience tells us that many mistakes are
made in this area.

Conversely, we should note that the interest payments made on borrowings
lead to a decrease in the wealth of the company and thus represent an expense for
the company. As a result, they are shown on the income statement.
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The difference between financial income and financial expense is called net

financial expense/(income).
The difference between operating profit and financial expense net of financial

income is called profit before tax and nonrecurring items.4

(b) Shareholders’ equity

From a cash flow standpoint, shareholders’ equity is formed through issuance of
shares less outflows in the form of dividends or share buybacks. These cash inflows
give rise to ownership rights over the company. Dividends are a way of apportion-
ing earnings voted on at the general meeting of the shareholders once the
company’s accounts have been approved. For technical, tax and legal reasons,
most of the time they are not shown on the income statement, except in the
United Kingdom.

‘‘Retained earnings’’ is the term frequently used to designate the portion of
earnings not distributed as a dividend. This said, if we take a step back, we see that
dividends and financial interest are based on the same principle of distributing the
wealth created by the company.5 Likewise, income tax represents earnings paid to
the State in spite of the fact that it does not contribute any funds to the company.

6/Recurrent and nonrecurrent items: extraordinary and

exceptional items, discontinuing operations

We have now considered all the operations of a business that may be allocated to
the operating, investing and financing cycles of a company. This said, it is not hard
to imagine the difficulties involved in classifying the financial consequences of
certain extraordinary events, such as losses incurred as a result of earthquakes,
other natural disasters or the expropriation of assets by a government.

They are not expected to recur frequently or regularly and are beyond the
control of a company’s management. Hence the idea of creating a separate
catch-all category for precisely such extraordinary items.

Among the many different types of exceptional events, we will briefly focus on
asset disposals. Investing forms an integral part of the industrial and commercial
activities of businesses. But it would be foolhardy to believe that investment is a
one-way process. The best-laid plans may fail, while others may lead down a
strategic impasse.

Put another way, disinvesting is also a key part of an entrepreneur’s activities.
It generates exceptional ‘‘asset disposal’’ inflows on the cash flow statement and
capital gains and losses on the income statement, which usually appear under
exceptional items.

Lastly, when a company disposes of some segments of its activity or entire
sections of a business, the corresponding gains or losses are recorded under
discontinuing operations.

One of the main puzzles for the financial analyst is to identify whether an extra-
ordinary or exceptional item can be described as recurrent or nonrecurrent. If it is
recurrent, it will occur again and again in the future. If it is not recurrent, it is simply
a one-off item.
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Without any doubt extraordinary items and results for discontinuing operations
are nonrecurrent items.

Exceptional items are much more tricky to analyse. For large groups, closure
of plants, provisions for restructuring, etc. tend to happen every year in different
divisions or countries. In some sectors, exceptional items are an intrinsic part of
the business. A car rental company renews its fleet of cars every 9 months and
regularly registers capital gains. Exceptional items should then be analysed as
recurrent items and as such be included in the operating profit. For smaller
companies, exceptional items tend to be one-off items and as such should be seen
as nonrecurrent items.

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has decided to
include extraordinary and exceptional items within operating charges without
identifying them as such. We think it is unwise and hope that, one day or another,
accountants will switch to the more relevant recurrent vs. nonrecurrent items
classification.

By definition, it is easier to analyse and forecast profit before tax and non-
recurrent items than net income or net profit, which is calculated after the impact of
nonrecurrent items and tax.

Section 3.2

Different income statement formats

Two main formats of income statement are frequently used, which differ in the way
they present revenues and expenses related to the operating and investment cycles.
They may be presented either:

. by function;6 i.e., according to the way revenues and charges are used in
the operating and investing cycle. This shows the cost of goods sold,
selling and marketing costs, research and development costs and general and
administrative costs; or

. by nature;7 i.e., by type of expenditure or revenue which shows the change
in inventories of finished goods and in work in progress (closing less
opening inventory), purchases of and changes in inventories (closing less
opening inventory) of goods for resale and raw materials, other external
charges, personnel expense, taxes and other duties, depreciation and
amortisation.

Thankfully, operating profit works out to be the same, irrespective of the format
used!

The two different income statement formats can be summarised as shown in the
diagram at the top of the next page.
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The by-nature presentation predominates to a great extent in Italy, Spain and
Belgium. In the US, the by-function presentation is used almost to the exclusion
of any other format.8

France Germany Italy Japan Nether- Poland Russia Spain Scandi- Switzer- UK US

lands navia land

By nature 28% 7% 87% 7% 51% 10% 25% 97% 24% 34% 29% 3%

By function 56% 86% 13% 80% 49% 90% 55% 0% 73% 66% 68% 84%

Other 16% 7% 0% 13% 0% 0% 20% 3% 3% 0% 3% 13%

Source: 2003 annual reports from the top 30 listed nonfinancial groups in each country.

Whereas in the past France, Germany, the Netherlands, Switzerland and the UK
tended to use systematically the by-nature or by-function format, the current situa-
tion is less clear-cut. Moreover, a new presentation is making some headway, it is
mainly a by-function format but depreciation and amortisation are not included in
the cost of goods sold, or in selling and marketing costs, or in research development
costs, but are isolated on a separate line.9
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1/The by-function income statement format

This presentation is based on a management accounting approach, in which costs
are allocated to the main corporate functions:

Function Corresponding cost

Production Cost of sales
Commercial Selling and marketing costs
Research and development Research and development costs
Administration General and administrative costs

As a result, personnel expense is allocated to each of these four categories (or three
where selling, general and administrative costs are pooled into a single category)
depending on whether an individual employee works in production, sales, research
or administration. Likewise, depreciation expense for a tangible fixed asset is
allocated to production if it relates to production machinery, to selling and market-
ing costs if it concerns a car used by the sales team, to research and development
costs if it relates to laboratory equipment, or to general and administrative costs in
the case of the accounting department’s computers, for example.

The underlying principle is very simple indeed. This format shows very clearly
that operating profit is the difference between sales and the cost of sales irrespective
of their nature (i.e., production, sales, research and development, administration).

On the other hand, it does not differentiate between the operating and
investment processes since depreciation and amortisation is not shown directly
on the income statement (it is split up between the four main corporate functions),
obliging analysts to track down the information in the cash flow statement or in the
notes to the accounts.

2/The by-nature income statement format

This is the traditional presentation of income statements in many Continental
European countries, even if some groups are dropping it in favour of the by-
function format in their consolidated accounts.

The by-nature format is simple to apply, even for small companies, because no
allocation of expenses is required. It offers a more detailed breakdown of costs.

Naturally, operating profit is still, as in the previous approach, the difference
between sales and the cost of sales.

In this format, charges are recognised as they are incurred rather than when the
corresponding items are used. Showing on the income statement all purchases made
and all invoices sent to customers during the same period would not be comparing
like with like.

A business may transfer to the inventory some of the purchases made during a
given year. The transfer of these purchases to the inventory does not destroy any
wealth. Instead, it represents the formation of an asset, albeit probably a temporary
one, but one that has real value at a given point in time. Secondly, some of the end
products produced by the company may not be sold during the year and yet the
corresponding charges appear on the income statement.
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To compare like with like, it is necessary to:

. eliminate changes in inventories of raw materials and goods for resale from
purchases to get raw materials and goods for resale used rather than simply
purchased;

. add changes in the inventory of finished products and work in progress back to
sales. As a result, the income statement shows production rather than just sales.

The by-nature format shows the amount spent on production for the period and
not the total expenses under the accruals convention. It has the logical disadvan-
tage that it seems to imply that changes in inventory are a revenue or an expense in
their own right, which they are not. They are only an adjustment to purchases to
obtain relevant costs.

Exercise 1 will help readers get to grips with the concept of changes in
inventories of finished goods and work in progress.

To sum up, there are two different income statement formats:

. the by-nature format which is focused on production in which all the charges
incurred during a given period are recorded. This amount then needs to be
adjusted (for changes in inventories) so that it may be compared with products
sold during the period;

. the by-function format which reasons directly in terms of the cost price of goods
or services sold.

Either way, it is worth noting that EBITDA depends heavily on the inventory
valuation methods used by the business. This emphasises the appeal of the by-
nature format, which shows inventory changes on a separate line of the income
statement and thus clearly indicates their order of magnitude.

Like operating cash flow, EBITDA is not influenced by the valuation methods
applied to tangible and intangible fixed assets or the taxation system.

A distinction needs to be made between cash and wealth. Spending money does not
necessarily make you poorer and neither does receiving money necessarily make you any
richer. Additions to wealth or deductions to wealth by a company is measured on the
income statement. It is the difference between revenues and charges that increases a
company’s net worth during a given period.

From an accounting standpoint, operating charges reflect what is used up immediately in
the operating cycle and somehow forms part of the end product. On the contrary, fixed
assets are not destroyed directly during the production process and retain some of their
value.

EBITDA shows the profit generated by the operating cycle (operating revenues � operat-
ing charges).

As part of the operating cycle, a business naturally builds up inventories, which are
assets. These represent deferred charges, the impact of which needs to be eliminated
in the calculation of EBITDA. In the by-nature format, this adjustment is made to operating
revenues (by adding back changes in finished goods inventories) and to operating
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charges (by subtracting changes in inventories of raw materials and goods for resale from
purchases). The by-function income statement merely shows sales and the cost of goods
sold requiring no adjustment.

Capital expenditures never appear directly on the income statement, but they lead to
an increase in the amount of fixed assets held. This said, an accounting assessment
of impairment in the value of these investments leads to noncash expenses, which
are shown on the income statement (depreciation, amortisation and impairment
losses on fixed assets).

EBIT shows the profit generated by the operating and investment cycles. In concrete
terms, it represents the profit generated by the industrial and commercial activities of
a business. It is allocated to:

. financial expense: only charges related to borrowings appear on the income state-
ment, since capital repayments do not represent a destruction of wealth;

. corporate income tax;

. net income that is distributed to shareholders as dividends or transferred to the
reserves (as retained earnings).

1/A company raises C¼500m in shareholders’ equity for an R&D project. Has it become
richer or poorer? By how much? What is your answer if the company spends half of
the funds in the first 2 years, and the project does not produce results? In the 3rd
year, the company uses the remaining funds to acquire a competitor that is over-
valued by 25%. But, thanks to synergies with this new subsidiary, it is able to
improve its earnings by C¼75m. Has it become richer or poorer? By how much?

2/What are the accounting items corresponding to additions to wealth for share-
holders, lenders and the State?

3/In concrete terms, based on the diagram on p. 35, by how much does a company
create wealth over a given financial period? Why?

4/Comment on the following two statements: ‘‘This year, we’re going to have to go into
debt to cover our losses’’ and ‘‘We’ll be able to buy out our main competitor, thanks
to the profits we made this year’’.

5/In 2005, a company’s free cash flow turns negative. Has the company created or
destroyed wealth?

6/Does EBITDA always flow directly into a company’s bank account?

7/Is it correct to say that a company’s wealth is increased each year by the amount of
EBITDA?

8/According to the terminology used in Chapter 2, is depreciation a cash expense or a
noncash charge? What is the difference between these two concepts?

9/Analyse the similarities of and the differences between cash and wealth, looking at,
for example, investment in real estate and investment in research.

10/Will repayment of a loan always be recorded on the income statement? Will it always
be recorded under a cash item?
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11/Does the inflation-related increase in the nominal value of an asset appear on the
income statement?

12/Why is the increase in inventories of raw materials deducted from purchases in the
by-nature income statement format?

13/Why is change in finished goods’ inventories recorded under income in the by-nature
income statement format?

14/Should the sale of a fixed asset be classified as part of the ‘‘ordinary course of
business’’ of a company? How is it recorded on the income statement? Why under
this heading?

15/Provide several examples illustrating the difference between cash receipts and
revenues, cash expenses and charges.

16/Is there a substantial difference between the income statement and the cash flow
statement?

17/What is a noncash expense? What is a deferred charge? Describe their similarities
and the differences between them.

1/Starjö AB

You are asked by a Swedish company that assembles computers to draw up a by-
nature and by-function income statement for year n. You are provided with the
following information: Retail price of a PC: C¼1,500.

Cost of various components:

Parts Price Opening inventory Closing inventory

Case 50 5 13
Mother board 200 8 2
Processor 300 4 11
Memory 100 6 4
Graphics card 50 1 13
Hard disk 150 5 10
Screen 200 3 3
CD-ROM reader 50 7 19

Over the financial period, the company paid out C¼60,000 in salaries and social
security contributions of 50% of that amount. The company produced 240 PCs.
Closing stock of finished products was 27 units and opening stock 14 units.

At the end of the financial period, the manager of the company sells the premises
that he had bought for C¼200,000 3 years ago (which was depreciated over 40 years)
for C¼230,000, rents other premises for C¼1,000 per month, and pays off a C¼12,000
loan on which the company was paying interest at 5%. What impact do these
transactions have on EBITDA, operating profits and net incomes? Tax is levied at a
rate of 35%.

Over the course of the financial period, by how much did the company/the lenders/
the company manager (who owns 50% of the shares) get richer/poorer?
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2/Ellingham plc

Draw up the income statement for 2005 in both the by-nature and by-function
formats. Depreciation and amortisation come to C¼6m.

3/Carvalho SA

Consider a Portuguese business that sells oak barrels to vineyards. At the start of the
year, its inventory of finished products was zero. It sold 800 of the 900 barrels it had
produced, leaving the closing inventory at 100 barrels. Each barrel sells for C¼100. To
produce one barrel, the company spends C¼50 on oak purchases and incurs C¼20 in
labour costs. In addition, the sales force generates costs of C¼4,500 per year and the
fully outsourced administrative department incurs costs of C¼4,000 p.a. Annual
depreciation expense related to the production facilities comes to C¼3,000. The
opening inventory of raw materials was C¼4,000 and the closing inventory C¼5,000.
In sum, the business spent C¼46,000 on raw materials.

Produce the by-nature income statement.

Assuming that depreciation breaks down into C¼2,000 for the production machinery,
C¼700 for the sales facilities and C¼300 for the administrative facilities, produce the
by-function income statement. Are you surprised that both formats give the same
EBIT? Why? What do you think about Carvalho’s EBIT margin?

Questions

1/Neither. Zero, poorer by C¼250m. Richer by C¼25m: 75 � 250 � ½25%=ð1 þ 25%Þ�.
2/Net income, financial expenses, corporate income tax.
3/EBIT (Operating profit) þ Non-recurring items � Corporate income tax. The wealth

created is the wealth to be divided up between lenders (financial expenses), the
State (corporate income tax) and shareholders (the balance).

4/Confusion between additions to and deductions from wealth (which is an accounting
issue) and cash: in the former, new borrowings do not add wealth to cover the
losses; in the latter, profit is not the means used to finance an investment as it
does not translate 100% in cash.

5/There is nothing that tells us whether wealth has been destroyed or created as we do
not know what net income for 2005 is.

6/No, because income and charges may not necessarily correspond to immediate cash
receipts or expenses.

7/No, because a company takes on costs that are deductible from EBITDA to form net
income depreciation, financial costs, etc.

8/ It is a noncash charge, not a cash expense, i.e., a cost that is recorded, but which
does not have to be cashed out.

9/From a cash standpoint, an investment in real estate is a cash expense which will
only generate income on the day it is sold. From a wealth standpoint, real estate is an
attractive asset. For investments in R&D, returns must be quicker from a cash
standpoint. In terms of wealth, however, the disposal value of R&D is nil.

10/No, only financial interest is recorded in the income statement. Yes, because debts
are repaid in cash.

11/No, because of the prudence principle.
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12/ In order to obtain a figure for purchases consumed in the business in the current
year.

13/ In order to counterbalance charges recorded in the income statement which should
not affect this year net income as they are related to unsold products.

14/No, except if the company is in the business of regularly selling fixed assets, like a car
rental company, for example. Capital gains or losses on the sale of a fixed asset will
be recorded as exceptional gains/losses.

15/Sales (revenues) and customer payments (cash receipts). Depreciation and amortisa-
tion (charges without cash expenses). Purchase of a machine (cash expense but not a
charge).

16/Yes. See flow chart in Chapter 5 (p. 59).
17/A noncash expense is a charge which does not reflect a specific expense, but an

accounting valuation of how much wealth has been destroyed. A deferred charge is
one that is carried over to the next financial period. Common point: both are based
on an accounting decision, resulting in a dilemma for the financial manager: Have
they been properly measured?

Exercises

1/Starjö AB
Production sold 340,500 Sales 340,500

Change in finished goods and
in-progress inventory 19,175

Purchases of raw materials and
goods for resale 267,050

Change in raw materials and goods
for resale 3,050

Personnel costs, including payroll
taxes 90,000

Other purchases and external charges,
including lease payments 0

EBITDA 5,675

Depreciation and amortisation 5,000 Cost of goods sold 339,825

Operating income 675

Net interest and other financial
charges 600

Exceptional gains 45,000

Tax 15,776
Net earnings 29,299

Sale of premises: capital gain of C¼45,000 booked as an exceptional gain. Rental of
premises: extra C¼12,000 in operating charges (recorded under ‘‘Other purchases
and external charges’’, and disappearance of depreciation and amortisation the
following year. Repayment of the loan: disappearance of C¼600 in interest expenses
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the following financial year. Over the course of the financial year, and after booking these transactions,
the company became richer by C¼29,299 (after tax), the creditors by C¼600 and the company manager by
C¼14,649.

2/Ellingham plc: see Chapter 5 (p. 69).

3/Carvalho SA

By-nature income statement:

Net sales 800 � C¼100 ¼ 80,000

þ Closing inventory of finished products 100 � ð50 þ 70Þ ¼ þ7; 000 þ Changes in
� Opening inventory and work in �0 inventories of

progress finished goods and
work in progress

¼ Production for the year 87,000

� Purchases of raw materials and goods �46,000
for resale �4,000

� Opening inventory of raw materials þ5,000 ¼ Raw materials and
and goods for resale goods for resale

consumed
þ Closing inventory of raw materials

and goods for resale

¼ Gross profit on raw materials and 42,000
goods for resale used

� Personnel expenses 900 � C¼20 þ C¼4; 500 ¼ �22; 500
� Services (other operating expenses) �4,000
� Depreciation and amortisation �3,000

¼ EBIT (operating profit) 12,500

By-function income statement:

Sales (products) 800 units � 100 ¼ C¼80,000
Cost of sales 2,000 þ 800 units � 70 ¼ C¼58,000
Selling and marketing costs 700 þ 4,500 ¼ C¼5,200
General and administrative costs 300 þ 4,000 ¼ C¼4,300

EBIT (operating profit) C¼12,500

This corresponds exactly to the gross margin per unit of C¼30 multiplied by the 800 units sold less fixed
costs of C¼4,500 (sales force), C¼4,000 (administration) and C¼3,000 (depreciation).

As by-nature and by-function formats differ only by presentation and not substance it is quite logical that
the different formats do not lead to a difference in reported EBIT!

Achieving an EBIT of C¼12,500 out of a turnover of C¼80,000 is a very nice margin (15.6%). Most industrial
groups do not achieve this kind of margin. This may be due to the fact that in most small companies,
owners prefer to be paid a low wage and receive higher dividends which are generally taxed at a lower
rate than ordinary salaries.
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For the basics of income statements:

F. Plewa, G. Friedlob, Understanding Income Statements, John Wiley & Sons, 1995.

For a thorough explanation of the structure of the income statement:

C.R. Baker, Y. Ding, H. Stolowy, The statement of intermediate balance: A tool for international

financial statement analysis based on income statement ‘by nature’, an application to the

airline industry, Advances in International Accounting, 18, 2005.

H. Stolowy, M. Lebas, Corporate Financial Reporting: A Global Perspective, Thomson, 2002.
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Chapter 4
Capital employed and invested capital

The end-of-period snapshot

So far in our analysis we have looked at inflows and outflows, or revenues and costs
during a given period. We will now temporarily set aside this dynamic approach
and place ourselves at the end of the period (rather than considering changes over a
given period) and analyse the balances outstanding.

For instance, in addition to changes in net debt over a period we also need to
analyse net debt at a given point in time. Likewise, we will study here the wealth
that has been accumulated up to a given point in time, rather than that generated
over a period.

The balance represents a snapshot of the cumulative inflows and outflows
previously generated by the business

To summarise, we can make the following connections:

. an inflow or outflow represents a change in ‘‘stock’’; i.e., in the balance
outstanding;

. a ‘‘stock’’ is the arithmetic sum of inflows and outflows since a given date
(when the business started up) through to a given point in time. For instance,
at any moment shareholders’ equity is equal to the sum of capital increases by
shareholders and annual net income for past years not distributed in the form
of dividends plus the original share capital.



Section 4.1

The balance sheet: definitions and concepts

The purpose of a balance sheet is to list all the assets of a business and all of its
financial resources at a given point in time.

1/Main items on a balance sheet

Assets on the balance sheet comprise:

. fixed assets; i.e., everything required for the operating cycle that is not
destroyed as part of it. These items retain some value (any loss in their value
is accounted for through depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses). A
distinction is drawn between tangible fixed assets (land, buildings, machinery,
etc.1), intangible fixed assets (brands, patents, goodwill, etc.) and investments.
When a business holds shares in another company (in the long term), they are
accounted for under investments;

. inventories and trade receivables; i.e., temporary assets created as part of the
operating cycle;

. lastly, marketable securities and cash that belong to the company and are thus
assets.

Inventories, receivables,2 marketable securities and cash represent the current

assets, a term reflecting the fact that these assets tend to ‘‘turn over’’ during the
operating cycle.

Resources on the balance sheet comprise:

. capital provided by shareholders, plus retained earnings, known as share-

holders’ equity;
. borrowings of any kind that the business may have arranged – e.g., bank loans,

supplier credits, etc. – known as liabilities.

By definition, a company’s assets and resources must be exactly equal. This is the
fundamental principle of double-entry accounting. When an item is purchased, it is
either capitalised or expensed. If it is capitalised, it will appear on the asset side of
the balance sheet, and, if expensed, it will lead to a reduction in earnings and thus
shareholders’ equity. The double-entry for this purchase is either a reduction in
cash (i.e., a decrease in an asset) or a commitment (i.e., a liability) to the vendor
(i.e., an increase in a liability). According to the algebra of accounting, assets and
resources (equity and liabilities) always carry the opposite sign, so the equilibrium
of the balance sheet is always maintained.

It is European practice to classify assets starting with fixed assets and to end
with cash,3 whereas it is North American and Japanese practice to start with cash.
The same is true for the equity and liabilities side of the balance sheet: Europeans
start with equity, whereas North Americans and the Japanese end with it.
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A ‘‘horizontal’’ format is common in Continental Europe with assets on the left
and resources on the right. In the United Kingdom, the more common format is a
‘‘vertical’’ one, starting from fixed assets plus current assets and deducting liabilities
to end up with equity.

THE BALANCE SHEET

FIXED ASSETS
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

LIABILITIES
CURRENT ASSETS

2/Two ways of analysing the balance sheet

A balance sheet can be analysed either from a capital-employed perspective or from
a solvency-and-liquidity perspective.

In the capital-employed analysis, the balance sheet shows all the uses of
funds for the company’s operating cycle and analyses the origin of its sources of
funds.

A capital-employed analysis of the balance sheet serves three main purposes:

. to understand how a company finances its operating assets (see Chapter 12);

. to compute the rate of return either on capital employed or on equity
(see Chapter 13); and

. as a first step to valuing the equity of a company as a going concern
(see Chapter 40).

In a solvency-and-liquidity analysis, a business is regarded as a set of assets and
liabilities, the difference between them representing the book value of the equity
provided by shareholders. From this perspective, the balance sheet lists everything
that a company owns and everything that it owes.

A solvency-and-liquidity analysis of the balance sheet serves three purposes:

. to measure the solvency of a company (see Chapter 14);

. to measure the liquidity of a company (see Chapter 12); and

. as a first step to valuing its equity in a bankruptcy scenario.
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CAPITAL-EMPLOYED ANALYSIS OF THE SOLVENCY-AND-LIQUIDITY ANALYSIS
BALANCE SHEET OF THE BALANCE SHEET

SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY

All USES OF Origin of SOURCES List of all ASSETS
FUNDS OF FUNDS

List of all
LIABILITIES

Section 4.2

The capital-employed analysis of the balance sheet

To gain a firm understanding of the capital-employed analysis of the balance sheet,
we believe it is best approached in the same way as the analysis in the previous
chapter, except that here we will be considering ‘‘stocks’’ rather than inflows and
outflows.

The purpose of a capital-employed analysis of the balance sheet is to analyse the
capital employed in the operating cycle and how this capital is financed.

More specifically, in a capital-employed analysis a balance sheet is divided into the
following main headings:

1/Fixed assets

These represent all the investments carried out by the business, based on our
financial and accounting definition.

It is helpful to distinguish wherever possible between operating and non-
operating assets that have nothing to do with the company’s business activities;
e.g., land, buildings and subsidiaries active in significantly different or noncore
businesses. Nonoperating assets can thus be excluded from the company’s capital
employed. By isolating nonoperating assets, we can assess the resources the
company may be able to call upon in hard times (i.e., through the disposal of
nonoperating assets).

The difference between operating and nonoperating assets can be subtle in
certain circumstances. For instance, how should a company’s head office on
Bond Street or on the Champs-Elysées be classified? Probably under operating
assets for a fashion house or a car manufacturer, but under nonoperating assets
for an engineering or construction group which has no business reason to be on
Bond Street, unlike Burberry or Jaguar.
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2/Working capital

Uses of funds comprise all the operating costs incurred but not yet used or sold
(i.e., inventories) and all sales that have not yet been paid for (trade receivables).

Sources of funds comprise all charges incurred but not yet paid for (trade
payables, social security and tax payables), as well as operating revenues from
products that have not yet been delivered (advance payments on orders).

The net balance of operating uses and sources of funds is called the working

capital.
If uses of funds exceed sources of funds, the balance is positive and working

capital needs to be financed. This is the most frequent case. If negative, it represents
a source of funds generated by the operating cycle. This is a nice but rare situation!

It is described as ‘‘working capital’’ because the figure reflects the cash required
to cover financing shortfalls arising from day-to-day operations.

Sometimes working capital is defined as current assets less current liabilities.
This definition corresponds to our working capital definition þ marketable
securities and net cash � short-term borrowings. We think that this is an improper
definition of working capital as it mixes items from the operating cycle (inventories,
receivables, payables) and items from the financing cycle (marketable securities, net
cash and short-term bank and financial borrowings). You may also find in some
documents expressions such as ‘‘working capital needs’’ or ‘‘requirements in
working capital’’. They are synonyms for working capital.

Working capital can be divided between operating working capital and
nonoperating working capital.

3/Operating working capital

Operating working capital comprises the following accounting entries:

Inventories Raw materials, goods for resale, products and work in
progress, finished products

þ Trade receivables Amounts owed by customers, prepayments to suppliers
and other trade receivables

� Trade payables Amounts owed to trade suppliers, social security and tax
payables, prepayments by customers and other trade
payables

¼ Operating working capital

Only the normal amount of operating sources of funds is included in calculations of
operating working capital. Unusually long payment periods granted by suppliers
should not be included as a component of normal operating working capital.

Where it is permanent, the abnormal portion should be treated as a source of

cash, with the suppliers thus being considered as playing the role of the company’s

banker.

Inventories of raw materials and goods for resale should be included only at
their normal amount. Under no circumstances should an unusually large figure for
inventories of raw materials and goods for resale be included in the calculation of
operating working capital.
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Where appropriate, the excess portion of inventories or the amount considered
as inventory held for speculative purposes can be treated as a high-risk short-term
investment.

Working capital is totally independent of the methods used to value fixed
assets, depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses on fixed assets. However,
it is influenced by:

. inventory valuation methods;

. deferred income and cost (over one or more years);

. the company’s provisioning policy for current assets and operating liabilities
and costs.

As we will see in Chapter 5, working capital represents a key principle of financial
analysis.

The amount of working capital depends on the accounting methods used to
determine earnings, as well as the operating cycle.

Theoretically, working capital is independent of the accounting methods used by a
company since working capital is nothing but the difference at a given moment
between operating inflows and outflows. Nevertheless, working capital is dependent
on the accounting methods used to value inventories and trade receivables when it
is calculated from these balance sheet items.

4/Nonoperating working capital

Although we have considered in sufficient detail the timing differences between
inflows and outflows that arise during the operating cycle, we have until now
always assumed that capital expenditures were paid for when purchased and that
nonrecurring costs are paid for when they are recognised in the income statement.
Naturally, there may be timing differences here, too, giving rise to what is known as
nonoperating working capital.

Nonoperating working capital, which is not a very robust concept from a
theoretical perspective, is hard to predict and to analyse, because it depends on
individual transactions, unlike operating working capital which is recurring.

In practice, nonoperating working capital is a catch-all category for items that
cannot be classified anywhere else. It includes amounts due on fixed assets,
dividends to be paid, extraordinary items, etc.

5/Capital employed

Capital employed is the sum of a company’s fixed assets and its working capital
(i.e., operating and nonoperating working capital). It is, therefore, equal to the sum
of the net amounts devoted by a business to both the operating and investing
cycles. It is also known as operating assets.

Capital employed is financed by two main types of funds, shareholders’ equity
and net debt, sometimes grouped together under the heading of invested capital.
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6/Shareholders’ equity

Shareholders’ equity comprises capital provided by shareholders when the company
is initially formed and at subsequent capital increases, as well as capital left at the
company’s disposal in the form of earnings transferred to the reserves.

7/Net debt

The company’s gross debt comprises debt financing, irrespective of its maturity;
i.e., medium- and long-term (various borrowings due in more than 1 year that have
not yet been repaid) and short-term bank or financial borrowings (portion of long-
term borrowings due in less than 1 year, discounted notes, bank overdrafts, etc.).
A company’s net debt goes further by taking into account cash and equivalents
(e.g., petty cash and bank accounts) and marketable securities.

All things considered, the equation is as follows:

Medium- and long-term bank and other borrowings (bond issues, commitment under
finance lease, etc.)

þ Short-term bank or financial borrowings (discounted notes, bank overdrafts, etc.)
� Marketable securities (marketable securities)
� Cash and equivalents (petty cash and bank accounts)
¼ Net debt

A company’s net debt can either be positive or negative. If it is negative, the
company is said to have net cash.

The balance of provisions for liabilities and charges not treated as equity or net
debt (see p. 111) is included in the calculation of the working capital.

From a capital-employed standpoint, a company balance sheet can be analysed
as follows:

2005 2006 2007

Fixed assets (A)

Inventories
þ Accounts receivables
� Accounts payables
¼ Operating working capital
þ Nonoperating working capital

¼ Working capital (B)

Capital employed (A þ B)

Shareholders’ equity (C)

Short-, medium- and long-term bank and other borrowings
� Marketable securities
� Cash and equivalents

¼ Net debt (D)

Invested capital (C þ D) ¼ Capital employed (A þ B)
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Section 4.3

A solvency-and-liquidity analysis of the balance sheet

The solvency-and-liquidity analysis of the balance sheet, which presents a state-
ment of what is owned and what is owed by the company at the end of the year, can
be used:

. by shareholders to list everything that the company owns and owes, bearing in
mind that these amounts may need to be revalued;

. by creditors looking to assess the risk associated with loans granted to the
company. In a capitalist system, shareholders’ equity is the ultimate guarantee
in the event of liquidation since the claims of creditors are met before those of
shareholders.

Hence the importance attached to a solvency-and-liquidity analysis of the balance
sheet in traditional financial analysis. As we will see in detail in Chapters 12 and 14,
it may be analysed from either a liquidity or solvency perspective.

1/Balance sheet liquidity

A classification of the balance sheet items needs to be carried out prior to the
liquidity analysis. Liabilities are classified in the order in which they fall due for
repayment. Since balance sheets are published annually, a distinction between the
short term and long term turns on whether a liability is due in less than or more
than 1 year. Accordingly, liabilities are classified into those due in the short term
(less than 1 year), in the medium and long term (i.e., in more than 1 year) and those
that are not due for repayment.

Likewise, what the company owns can also be classified by duration as follows:

. assets that will have disappeared from the balance sheet by the following year,
which comprise current assets in the vast majority of cases;

. assets that will still appear on the balance sheet the following year, which
comprise fixed assets in the vast majority of cases.

Consequently, from a liquidity perspective we classify liabilities by their due date,
investments by their maturity date and assets as follows:

Assets are regarded as liquid where, as part of the normal operating cycle, they will
be monetised in the same year.

Thus, they comprise (unless the operating cycle is unusually long) inventories and
trade receivables.

Assets that, regardless of their nature (head office, plant, etc.), are not intended for
sale during the normal course of business are regarded as fixed and not liquid.

Balance sheet liquidity, therefore, derives from the fact that the turnover of assets
(i.e., the speed at which they are monetised within the operating cycle) is faster than
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the turnover of liabilities (i.e., when they fall due). The maturity schedule of
liabilities is known in advance because it is defined contractually. However, the
liquidity of current assets is unpredictable (risk of sales flops or inventory write-
downs, etc.). Consequently, the clearly defined maturity structure of company’s

liabilities contrasts with the unpredictable liquidity of its assets.

Therefore, short-term creditors will take into account differences between a
company’s asset liquidity and its liability structure. They will require the company
to maintain current assets at a level exceeding that of short-term liabilities to
provide a margin of safety. Hence the sacrosanct rule in finance that each and
every company must have assets due to be monetised in less than 1 year at least
equal to its liabilities falling due within 1 year.

2/Solvency

Solvency reflects the ability of a company to honour its commitments in the event of
liquidation; i.e., if its operations are wound up and are put up for sale.

A company may be regarded as insolvent once its shareholders’ equity turns
negative. This means that it owes more than it owns.

3/Net asset value or the book value of shareholders’ equity

This is a solvency-oriented concept that attempts to compute the funds invested by
shareholders by valuing the company’s various assets under deduction of liabilities.
Net asset value is an accounting and, in some instances, tax-related term, rather
than a financial one.

The book value of shareholders’ equity is equal to everything a company owns
less everything it already owes or may owe. Financiers often talk about net asset
value, which leads to confusion among nonspecialists, who can understand them as
total assets net of depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses.

Book value of equity is thus equal to the sum of:

Fixed assets
þ Current assets
� All borrowings of any kind.

When a company is sold, the buyer will be keen to adopt an even stricter approach:

. by factoring in contingent liabilities (which do not appear on the balance
sheet);

. by excluding worthless assets; i.e., of zero value. This very often applies to most
intangible assets owing to the complexity of the way in which they are ac-
counted for (see Chapter 7).
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Section 4.4

A detailed example of a capital-employed

balance sheet

On the following page, our reader will find the capital-employed balance sheet of
the Swedish group Ericsson. This balance sheet will be used in future chapters.

Items specific to consolidated accounts are highlighted in blue and will be
described in detail in Chapter 6.

The balance sheet shows a snapshot of cumulative inflows and outflows from the
company classified into assets and resources (liabilities and shareholders’ equity).

Assets comprise fixed assets (intangible and tangible fixed assets and long-term invest-
ments) and current assets (inventories, accounts receivable, marketable securities and
cash and equivalents). Resources comprise shareholders’ equity and bank and financial
borrowings, plus trade payables.

A capital-employed analysis of the balance sheet shows all the uses of funds by a
company as part of the operating cycle and analyses the origin of the sources of a
company’s funds at a given point in time.

On the asset side, the capital-employed balance sheet has the following main headings:

. fixed assets; i.e., investments made by the company;

. 0perating working capital (inventories and trade receivables under deduction of trade
payables). The size of the operating working capital depends on the operating cycle
and the accounting methods used to determine earnings;

. nonoperating working capital, a catch-all category for the rest.

The sum of fixed assets and working capital is called capital employed.

Capital employed is financed by capital invested; i.e., shareholders’ equity and net debt.

Net debt is defined as bank and financial borrowings, be they short, medium or long term,
less marketable securities (short-term investments) and cash and equivalents.

A solvency-and-liquidity analysis lists everything the company owns and everything that it
owes, the balance being the book value of shareholders’ equity or net asset value. It can
be analysed from either a solvency or liquidity perspective.

Solvency measures the company’s ability to honour its commitments in the event of
liquidation, whereas liquidity measures its ability to meet its commitments up to a
certain date by monetising assets in the ordinary course of business.
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BALANCE SHEET FOR ERICSSON (C¼m)

Date 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Goodwill 1,039 1,297 1,319 939 627
þ Other intangible fixed assets 112 104 108 437 597
þ Tangible fixed assets 2,666 2,404 1,688 1,088 580
þ Fixed assets held under finance lease 32 39 129 0 130
þ Equity in associated companies 296 305 342 200 324
þ Long-term investments 191 271 339 245 47

¼ FIXED ASSETS (FA) 4,336 4,420 3,924 2,909 2,305

Inventories of goods for resale
þ Inventories of raw materials and other suppliers 1,455 2,173 1,003 475 473
þ Work in progress 1,662 2,347 1,624 1,156 1,039
þ Finished goods inventories 215 491 625 326 30
þ Trade receivables 5,713 7,223 5,191 3,205 2,776
þ Other operating receivables 3,036 4,093 3,040 2,544 1,388
� Trade payables 2,360 3,292 2,130 1,361 971
� Tax and social security liabilities 262 555 203 68 212
� Other operating payables 4,509 5,279 4,978 3,661 3,287

¼ OPERATING WORKING CAPITAL (1) 4,950 7,201 4,172 2,616 1,236

Nonoperating receivables 1,460 1,232 2,374 1,757 584
� Nonoperating payables 1,412 1,665 2,273 2,167 3,013
¼ NONOPERATING WORKING CAPITAL (2) 48 �433 101 �409 �2,429

¼ WORKING CAPITAL (1 þ 2) 4,999 6,768 4,273 2,207 1,193

CAPITAL EMPLOYED ¼ FIXED ASSET þ WORKING CAPITAL 9,336 11,188 8,197 5,116 1,113

Share capital 534 864 881 1,744 1,761
þ Retained earnings 2,133 3,292 5,698 4,006 1,626
þ Net income for the year 1,281 2,184 �3,815 �2,949 �1,526
þ Revaluation and consolidation reserves
þ Others 3,365 3,292 2,660 2,556 1,831
þ Investment grants
þ Other equity (shareholders’ advances, mandatory

convertible bonds, etc.)

¼ SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY, GROUP SHARE 7,313 9,632 5,423 5,357 3,691

þ Minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries 238 302 399 270 251

¼ TOTAL GROUP EQUITY 7,551 9,934 5,822 5,627 3,942

Medium- and long-term borrowings and liabilities 3,641 3,451 7,095 5,247 4,124
þ Commitments under finance leases
þ Bank overdrafts and short-term borrowings 1,311 1,690 2,805 1,471 1,038
� Marketable securities (short-term investments) 1,465 2,050 3,935 5,268 6,181
� Cash and equivalents 1,702 1,837 3,589 1,961 1,811

¼ NET DEBT 1,785 1,254 2,375 �510 �2,830

INVESTED CAPITAL = (GROUP EQUITY þ NET DEBT)
¼ CAPITAL EMPLOYED 9,336 11,188 8,197 5,116 1,113



1/When do we use a capital-employed analysis of the balance sheet? And when do we
use a solvency-and-liquidity analysis of the balance sheet?

2/Which approach to the balance sheet should you adopt:

e when warranting a company’s balance sheet when it is being sold?
e when forecasting a company’s working capital?

3/Do liabilities that arise during the operating cycle always have a maturity of less than
1 year?

4/Classify the following as ‘‘stocks’’, in/outflows or change in in/outflows: sales, trade
receivables, change in trade receivables, increase in dividends, financial expense,
increase in sales, EBITDA.

5/A company’s sales clearly represent a source of funds. However, they do not appear
on the balance sheet. Why?

6/Classify the following balance sheet items under fixed assets, working capital, share-
holders’ equity or net debt: overdraft, retained earnings, brands, taxes payable,
finished goods inventories, bonds.

7/Is a company that is currently unable to pay its debts always insolvent?

8/Assess the liquidity of the following assets: plant, unlisted securities, listed secur-
ities, head office building located in the centre of a large city, ships and aircraft,
commercial papers, raw materials inventories, work-in-progress inventories.

9/Provide examples of items classified under nonoperating working capital.

10/Give a synonym for net assets.

11/What is another way of describing a difference in ‘‘stocks’’?

12/What is the difference between liabilities and sources of funds?

13/What is another way of describing a cumulative inflow or outflow?

14/The main manufacturers of telephony equipment (Ericsson, Nokia, etc.) provided
telecom operators (Deutsche Telekom, Swisscom, etc.) with substantial supplier
credit lines, in order to assist them in financing the construction of their UMTS
networks. State your views.

Ellingham plc exercise

Draw up the balance sheet showing capital-employed and invested capital (1 January
2005, end 2005, 2006) assuming that the company has equity of C¼40m.
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Questions

1/Capital-employed analysis of the balance sheet: for understanding the company’s
use of funds and how they were financed. Solvency-and-liability analysis of the
balance sheet: for listing all assets and liabilities.

2/The solvency-and-liquidity analysis, the capital-employed analysis.
3/No, in some industries, there is a long period between the invoice date and customer

payment (e.g., movie rights).
4/ Inflow, ‘‘stocks’’, inflow, change in outflow, outflow, change in inflow, inflow.
5/The balance resulting from the activity is what appears on the balance sheet – i.e.,

the profit or loss – not the activity itself measured by sales.
6/ In order of listing: net debt, shareholders’ equity, fixed assets, working capital,

working capital, net debt.
7/ In theory no, as the company may be facing a temporary credit crunch, but most of

the time yes because it will have to dispose of assets quickly or stop its activities
which will result in a big reduction in equity, and then in its solvency.

8/ In order of decreasing liquidity: listed securities, commercial paper, raw materials
inventories, head office, unlisted securities, ships and aircraft, work-in-progress
inventories, plant.

9/Credit from machine supplier, insurance payout not yet received for burnt-out factory,
payment from purchaser of a subsidiary.

10/Shareholders’ equity.
11/An inflow or outflow.
12/Sources of funds include shareholders’equity (which does not have to be repaid and

is consequently not a liability) and liabilities (which sooner or later have to be
repaid).

13/A ‘‘stock’’.
14/These are in fact merely financial loans, and not operating loans, granted to enable

the telecoms operator to buy the equipment made by the manufacturer. Those loans
should be treated as fixed assets on the manufacturer’s balance sheet and as
financial debts on the telecom operator’s balance sheet.

Ellingham plc case – see Chapter 5

For a thorough explanation of the balance sheet:

G. Friedlob, F. Plewa, Understanding Balance Sheets, John Wiley and Sons, 1996.

For more advanced topics on balance sheets:

H. Stolowy, M. Lebas, Corporate Financial Reporting: A Global Perspective, Thomson, 2002.
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Chapter 5
Walking through from earnings to

cash flow

Or how to move mountains together!

Chapter 2 showed the structure of the cash flow statement, which brings together
all the receipts and payments recorded during a given period and determines the
change in net debt position.

Chapter 3 covered the structure of the income statement, which summarises all
the revenues and charges during a period.

It may appear that these two radically different approaches have nothing in
common. But common sense tells us that a rich woman will sooner or later have
cash in her pocket, while a poor woman is likely to be strapped for cash – unless she
should make her fortune along the way.

Although the complex workings of a business lead to differences between
profits and cash, they converge at some point or another.

The aim of this chapter is to reconcile the cash flow and earnings approaches.

First of all, we will examine revenues and charges from a cash flow standpoint.
Based on this analysis, we will establish a link between changes in wealth and the
change in net debt that bridges the two approaches.

We recommend that readers get to grips with this chapter because understand-
ing the transition from earnings to the change in net debt represents a key step in
comprehending the financial workings of a business.

Section 5.1

Analysis of earnings from a cash flow perspective

This section is included merely for explanatory and conceptual purposes. Even so,
it is vital for an understanding of the basic financial workings of a company.



1/Operating revenues

Operating receipts should correspond to sales for the same period, but they differ
because customers may be granted a payment period or payments of invoices from
the previous period may be received during the current period. As a result, operat-
ing receipts are equal to sales only if sales are immediately paid in cash. Otherwise,
they generate a change in trade receivables.

� Increase in trade receivables
Sales for the period or ¼ Operating receipts

þ Reduction in trade receivables

2/Changes in inventories of finished goods and work

in progress

As we have already seen in by-nature income statements, the difference between
production and sales is adjusted for through changes in inventories of finished
goods and work in progress.1 But this is merely an accounting entry to deduct
from operating costs costs that do not correspond to products sold. It has no
impact from a cash standpoint.2 As a result, changes in inventories need to be
reversed in a cash flow analysis.

3/Operating costs

Operating costs differ from operating payments in the same way that operating
revenues differ from operating receipts. Operating payments are the same as
operating costs for a given period only when adjusted for:

. timing differences arising from the company’s payment terms (credit granted
by its suppliers, etc.);

. the fact that some purchases are not used during the same period. The differ-
ence between purchases made and purchases used is adjusted for through
change in inventories of raw materials.

These timing differences give rise to:

. changes in trade payables in the first case;

. discrepancy between raw materials used and purchases made, which is equal to
change in inventories of raw materials and goods for resale.

þ reduction in supplier credit
or

Operating payments � increase in supplier credit
¼

operating costs except
depreciation, amortisation
and impairment losses {þ increase in inventories of raw materials and good for resale

or
� Reduction in inventories of raw materials and good for resale
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The only differences between operating revenues and receipts and between operat-
ing charges and payments are timing differences deriving from deferred payments
(payment terms) and deferred charges (changes in inventories).

The total amount of the timing differences between operating revenues and charges
and between operating receipts and payments can thus be summarised as follows
for by-nature and by-function income statements:

BY-NATURE INCOME STATEMENT DIFFERENCE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Net sales � Change in trade receivables ¼ Operating receipts
(deferred payment)

þ Changes in inventories of finished � Changes in inventories of
goods and work in progress finished goods and work in

progress (deferred charges)

� Operating costs except þ Change in trade payables
depreciation, amortisation and (deferred payments)
impairment losses � Change in inventories of raw

materials and goods for resale
(deferred charges) ¼ � Operating payments

¼ EBITDA � Change in operating working ¼ Operating cash flows
capital

BY-FUNCTION INCOME STATEMENT DIFFERENCE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Net sales � Change in trade receivables ¼ Operating receipts
(deferred payment)

� Operating costs except þ Change in trade payables
depreciation, amortisation and (deferred payments)
impairment losses � Change in inventories of

finished goods, work in
progress, raw materials and
goods for resale (deferred
changes) ¼ � Operating payments

¼ EBITDA � Change in operating working ¼ Operating cash flows
capital

Astute readers will have noticed that the items in the central column of the above
table are the components of the change in operating working capital between two
periods, as defined in Chapter 4.

Over a given period, the change in operating working capital represents a need
for or a source of financing that must be added to or subtracted from the other
financing requirements or resources.
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The change in operating working capital accounts for the difference between
EBITDA and operating cash flow.

If positive, it represents a financing requirement, and we refer to an increase in

operating working capital. If negative, it represents a source of funds, and we refer to

a reduction in operating working capital.

The change in working capital merely represents a straightforward timing
difference between the balance of operating cash flows (operating cash flow) and
the wealth created by the operating cycle (EBITDA). As we will see, it is important
to remember that timing differences may not necessarily be small, of limited im-
portance, short or negligible in any way.

An analysis of changes in working capital is one of the key pillars of financial
analysis.

4/Capital expenditure

Capital expenditures3 lead to a change in what the company owns without any
immediate increase or decrease in its wealth. Consequently, they are not shown
directly on the income statement. Conversely, capital expenditures have a direct
impact on the cash flow statement.

From a capital expenditure perspective, there is a fundamental gulf separating the
income statement and the cash flow statement. The income statement spreads the
capital expenditure charge over the entire life of the asset (through depreciation),
while the cash flow statement records it only in the period in which it is purchased.

A company’s capital expenditure process leads to both cash outflows that do not
diminish its wealth at all and the accounting recognition of impairment in the
purchased assets through depreciation and amortisation that do not reflect any
cash outflows.

Accordingly, there is no direct link between cash flow and net income for the
capital expenditure process, as we knew already.

5/Financing

Financing is by its very nature a cycle that is specific to inflows and outflows.
Sources of financing (new borrowings, capital increases, etc.) do not appear on
the income statement, which shows only the remuneration paid on some of these
resources; i.e., interest on borrowings but not dividend on equity.4

Outflows representing a return on sources of financing may be analysed as
either charges (i.e., interest) or a distribution of wealth created by the company
among its equity capital providers (i.e., dividends).
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The distinction between capital and interest payments is not of paramount impor-
tance in the cash flow statement, but is essential in the income statement.

Assuming, to keep things simple, that there are no timing differences between the
recognition of a cost and the corresponding cash outflow, a distinction needs to be
drawn between:

. interest payments on debt financing (financial expense) and income tax, which
affect the company’s cash position and its earnings;

. the remuneration paid to equity capital providers (dividends), which affects the
company’s cash position and earnings transferred to reserves;

. new borrowings and repayment of borrowings, capital increases and share
buybacks,5 which affect its cash position, but have no impact on earnings.

Lastly, corporate income tax represents a charge that appears on the income
statement and a cash payment to the State, which, though it may not provide
any financing to the company, provides it with a range of free services and entitle-
ments – e.g., police, education, roads, etc.

We can now finish off our table and walk through from earnings to decrease in
net debt:

FROM THE INCOME STATEMENT . . . TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

INCOME STATEMENT DIFFERENCE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

EBITDA � Change in operating working ¼ Operating cash flow
capital

� Capital expenditure ¼ � Capital expenditure
þ Disposals ¼ þ Disposals

� Depreciation, amortisation and þ Depreciation, amortisation and ¼
impairment losses on fixed assets impairment losses on fixed

assets (noncash charges)

¼ EBIT (operating profit) ¼ Free cash flow before tax
� Financial expense net of financial ¼ � Financial expense net of

income financial income
� Corporate income tax ¼ � Corporate income tax

þ Proceeds from share issues ¼ � Proceeds from share issues
� Share buybacks � Share buybacks
� Dividends paid ¼ � Dividends paid

¼ Net income (net earnings) þ Column total ¼ Decrease in net debt

Section 5.2

Cash flow statement

The same table enables us to move in the opposite direction and, thus, account for
the decrease in net debt based on the income statement. To do so, we simply need to
add back all the movements shown in the central column to net profit.
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Net income
þ Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses on fixed assets
� Change in operating working capital
� Capital expenditure net of asset disposals
þ Disposals
þ Proceeds from share issue
� Share buybacks
� Dividends paid
¼ Decrease in net debt

The following reasoning may help our attempt to classify the various line items that
enable us to make the transition from net income to decrease in net debt.

Net income should normally turn up in ‘‘cash at hand’’. This said, we also need
to add back certain noncash charges (depreciation, amortisation and impairment
losses on fixed assets), which were deducted on the way down the income statement
but have no cash impact, to arrive at what is known as cash flow.

Cash flow will appear in ‘‘cash at hand’’ only once the timing differences
related to the operating cycle as measured by change in operating working capital
have been taken into account.

Lastly, the investing and financing cycles give rise to uses and sources of funds
that have no immediate impact on net income.

1/From net income to cash flow

As we have just seen, depreciation, amortisation, impairment losses on fixed assets
and provisions for liabilities and charges are noncash charges that have no impact
on a company’s cash position. From a cash flow standpoint, they are no different to
net income.

Consequently, they are added back to net income to show the total financing
generated internally by the company.

These two items form the company’s cash flow, which accountants allocate between
net income, on the one hand, and depreciation, amortisation and impairment
losses, on the other hand, according to the relevant accounting and tax legislation.

Cash flow can therefore be calculated by adding certain noncash charges net of
writebacks to net income.

The simplicity of the cash flow statement shown in Chapter 2 was probably evident
to our readers, but it would not fail to shock traditional accountants, who would
find it hard to accept that financial expense should be placed on a par with
repayments of borrowings. Raising debt to pay financial expense is not the same
as replacing one debt with another. The former makes the company poorer,
whereas the latter constitutes liability management.

As a result, traditionalists have managed to establish the concept of cash flow.
We need to point out that we would advise computing cash flow before any capital
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gains (or losses) on asset disposals and before extraordinary items, which do not
affect it.

Cash flow is not as pure a concept as EBITDA. This said, a direct link may be
established between these two concepts by deriving cash flow from the income
statement using the top-down method:

EBITDA
� Financial expense net of financial income
� Corporate income tax
¼ Cash flow

or the bottom-up method:

Net income
þ Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses
þ=�Capital losses/gains on asset disposal
þ=�Extraordinary losses/gains
¼ Cash flow

Cash flow is influenced by the same accounting policies as EBITDA. Likewise, it is
not affected by the accounting policies applied to tangible and intangible fixed
assets.

Note that the calculation method differs slightly for consolidated accounts6

since the contribution to consolidated net profit made by equity-accounted income
is replaced by the dividend payment received. This is attributable to the fact that
the parent company does not actually receive the earnings of an associate
company,5 since it does not control it but merely receives a dividend.

Furthermore, cash flow is calculated at group level without taking into account
minority interests. This seems logical since the parent company has control of and
allocates the cash flows of its fully consolidated subsidiaries.6 In the cash flow
statement, minority interests6 in the controlled subsidiaries are reflected only
through the dividend payments that they receive.

Lastly, readers should beware of cash flow as there are nearly as many
definitions of cash flow as there are companies in the world!

The upper definition is widely used but, frequently, free cash flows, cash flow
from operating activities, operating cash flow are simply called ‘‘cash flow’’ by
some professionals. So it is safest to check which cash flow they are talking about.

2/From cash flow to cash flow from operating activities

We introduced in Chapter 2 the concept of cash flow from operating activities,
which is not the same as cash flow.

To go from cash flow to cash flow from operating activities, we need to adjust
for the timing differences in cash flows linked to the operating cycle.

This gives us the following equation:
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Cash flow from operating activities ¼ Cash flow � Change in operating working
capital.

Note that the term ‘‘operating activities’’ is used here in a fairly broad sense, since it
includes financial expense and corporate income tax.

3/Other movements in cash

We have now isolated the movements in cash deriving from the operating cycle, so
we can proceed to allocate the other movements to the investment and financing
cycles.

The investment cycle includes:

. capital expenditures (acquisitions of tangible and intangible assets);

. disposals of fixed assets; i.e., the price at which fixed assets are sold and not any
capital gains or losses (which do not represent cash flows);

. changes in long-term investments (i.e., financial assets).

Where appropriate, we may also factor in the impact of timing differences in cash
flows generated by this cycle, notably nonoperating working capital.

The financing cycle includes:

. capital increases in cash, the payment of dividends (i.e., payment out of the
previous year’s net profit) and share buybacks;

. change in net debt resulting from the repayment of (short-, medium- and long-
term) borrowings, new borrowings, changes in marketable securities (short-
term investments) and changes in cash and equivalents.

This brings us back to the cash flow statement in Chapter 2, but using the indirect
method, which starts with net income and classifies cash flows by cycle (i.e., operat-
ing, investing or financing activities; see p. 65).

Items specific to consolidated accounts are highlighted in blue and will be
described in detail in Chapter 6.

This format calls for the following comments:

(a) Even though the order used in cash flow statements indicates the pre-eminence
of operating activities, it is important to recognise that operating activities are
to some extent a catch-all category containing all the items not allocated to
investing or financing activities. Indeed, the scope of operating activities is in
most cases different to the operating cycle in the strict sense of the term, as
described in Chapter 2. Aside from the items falling within a narrower
definition of the operating cycle, operating activities include financial expense
and income tax which, logic dictates, should appear under financing activities
or be split among the three cycles.

Readers may legitimately ask whether the best indicator of the company’s operat-
ing performance is:
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. operating cash flow less theoretical tax on operating profit; or

. cash flow less the change in working capital, which is cash flow from operating
activities.

First of all, we note that the difference between these two indicators is attributable
primarily to financial expense after tax, which is generally modest in a low-interest-
rate environment.

In our view, operating cash flow less theoretical tax on operating profit is the
more useful because it is a key factor influencing both investment decisions
(Chapter 18) and valuations (Chapter 40). However, most if not all cash flow
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR ERICSSON (C=m)

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

OPERATING ACTIVITES

Net income 1,281 2,184 �3,815 �2,949 1,526
þ Minority interest in net income 44 68 101 37 22
þ Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses on fixed assets 806 1,203 855 714 916
� Capital gains + capital losses on asset disposals �153 �2,760 �669 79 �101
þ Other noncash items �6 171 �296 �566 192
¼ Cash flow 1,972 867 �3,825 �2,685 �679
� Change in working capital 556 1,769 �2,495 �2,067 3,400

¼ CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (A) 1,416 �902 �1,330 �618 2,720

INVESTING ACTIVITES

Capital expenditure 992 1,380 953 299 455
� Disposal of fixed assets 68 700 1,109 325 165
þ=�Change in investments 803 �2,392 �521 �389 89

¼ CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (B) 1,726 �1,712 �677 �415 379

¼ FREE CASH FLOW AFTER FINANCIAL EXPENSE (A � B) �310 810 �653 �204 2,341

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from share issues (C) 0 178 0 3,160 1
Dividends paid (D) 438 456 469 70 22

A � B þ C � D ¼ DECREASE/(INCREASE) IN NET DEBT �748 532 �1,122 2,886 2,319

Decrease in net debt can be broken down as follows :

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Repayment of short-, medium- and long-term borrowings �703 1,032 756 3,240 1,559
� New short-, medium- and long-term borrowings 1,221 1,221 5,514 59 3
þ Change in marketable securities (short-term investments) 771 586 1,885 1,333 914
þ Change in cash and equivalents 406 135 1,752 �1,628 �150

¼ DECREASE IN NET DEBT �748 532 �1,122 2,886 2,319



statements define cash flow from operating activities as cash flow less the change in
working capital.

Cash flow is a fairly mongrel concept because it is calculated before the return
(dividends) paid on certain funds (i.e., shareholders’ equity) but after that (financial
expense) paid on other funds (i.e., debt).

(b) Investing activities are shown as a financing requirement (or a surplus in rare
cases), which is calculated as the difference between capital expenditure and
disposals.

(c) In practice, most companies publish a cash flow statement that starts with net
income and moves down to changes in ‘‘cash and equivalents’’ or change in
‘‘cash’’, a poorly defined concept since certain companies include marketable
securities while others deduct bank overdrafts and short-term borrowings.

Furthermore, net debt reflects the level of indebtedness of a company much better
than cash and cash equivalents or than cash and cash equivalents less short-term
borrowings, since the latter two are only a portion of the debt position of a com-
pany. On one hand, one can infer relevant comments from changes in the net debt
position of a company. On the other hand, changes in cash and cash equivalents are
rarely relevant as it is so easy to increase cash in the balance sheet at the closing
date: simply get into long-term debt and put the proceeds in a bank account! Cash
on the balance sheet has increased but net debt is still the same.

As we will see in Chapter 27 net debt is managed globally, and looking at only
one side (cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities) is, therefore, of little
interest.

The first step in the process of moving from the income statement to a cash flow
perspective is to recreate operating cash flows. The only differences between operating
receipts and operating revenues and between operating costs and operating payments
are timing differences related to payment terms (deferred payments) and changes in
inventories (deferred charges).

The change in operating working capital accounts for the difference between operating
cash flow and the generation of wealth within the operating cycle (EBITDA).

For capital expenditures, there is no direct link between cash flow and net income, since
the former records capital expenditures as they are paid and the latter spreads the cost of
capital expenditures over their whole useful life.

From a financing standpoint, the cash flow statement does not distinguish between
capital and remuneration related to sources of financing, while the income statement
shows only returns on debt financing (interest expenses) and corporate income tax.

Net income should normally appear in ‘‘cash at hand’’, along with certain noncash charges
that together form cash flow. Cash flow may be translated into an inflow or outflow of
cash only once adjusted for the change in operating working capital to arrive at cash flow
from operating activities in a broad sense of the term.

Lastly, factoring in the investment cycle, which gives rise to outflows sometimes offset by
fixed asset disposals, and the equity financing cycle, we arrive at the decrease in net debt.
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1/Do inventories valuation methods influence:

e The company’s net income?
e The company’s cash position?

2/Same question for the following:

(a) depreciation and amortisation;
(b) corporate income tax;
(c) capital increase through cash contribution;
(d) cash purchase of fixed assets;
(e) recognition and payment of salaries;
(f ) disposal for cash of an asset at its book value;
(g) sale of goods on credit;
(h) payment for these goods;
(i) repayment of medium-term loan;
( j) financial expenses.

3/What differences are there between cash flow from operating activities and operating
cash flow?

4/What noncash charges must be factored back into calculations of cash flow?

5/Is cash flow a measure of an increase in wealth? Or an increase in cash?

6/Why is the difference between EBITDA and operating cash flows equal to a change in
working capital?

7/What difference is there between sales in a financial year and operating receipts over
the same period?

8/What is the difference between cash flow and cash flow from operating activities?

9/Why is decrease in net debt more relevant than change in cash position or market-
able securities?

10/Make use of the cash flow statement to show how impairment losses on current
assets have no impact on cash.

11/Will a capital increase by way of incorporation of reserves appear on the cash flow
statement?

12/Pearson plc is in the process of revaluing all of its tangible assets. How will this
impact on the cash flow statement?

Ellingham plc exercise

Draw up a cash flow statement for Ellingham for 2005 and 2006. If you so wish, create a
cash–earnings link at each level. What is your interpretation of these figures?
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Questions

1/Yes, the lower inventories are valued, the lower net income for the current year. No,
except for corporate income tax.

2/ (a) Yes, as depreciation and amortisation are expenses; no, as depreciation and
amortisation are noncash expenses. (b) Yes, yes, as corporate income tax is a cash
expense. (c) No, yes, as a source of financing is neither a revenue nor an expense. (d)
No, yes, as the cash purchase of a fixed asset is not an expense but a cash payment.
(e) Yes, yes, as salaries paid are a cash expense. ( f ) No, yes, as no capital gain is
registered. (g) Yes, no, as a revenue is registered but the cash receipt has still to be
received (goods sold on credit). (h) No, yes, as the cash receipt is now received but
the revenue has already been registered. (i ) No, yes, as repayment of a loan does not
modify the wealth of the company but its cash position. ( j ) Yes, yes, as financial
expenses reduce the wealth of the company and its cash position.

3/Unlike operating cash flow, cash flow from operating activities encompasses not only
operations but also financial expense, tax and some exceptional items.

4/Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses on fixed assets and provisions for
liabilities and charges.

5/No, cash flow is not a measure of increase in wealth because it does not take into
account depreciation, which reflects the wear and tear of fixed assets and, thus, a
source of wealth destruction. No, because customers do not pay cash and suppliers
are not paid in cash.

6/The difference between EBITDA and operating cash flow is nothing but new invoices
received or sent but not yet paid either by the company or its customers, or variation
in inventories; i.e., increase in working capital.

7/Change in trade receivables.
8/Changes in working capital.
9/Because it is easier to modify the cash position of a company at year end than the net

debt position which reflects its true level of indebtedness.
10/ Impairment losses reduce earnings, but also bring down working capital: they cancel

each other out at the level of the cash flow from operating activities.
11/No, it will not impact on the company’s cash flow as it is a pure accounting entry.
12/ It will have no impact as it is a noncash operation.
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Ellingham plc exercise

Cash forecast Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 2005 2006 2007

2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005

Operating inflows

Sales 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 96 144 144

Operating outflows

� Purchases 8 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 40 48 48

� Personnel costs 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 48 48 48

� Shipping 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 22 24 24

� Interest expense 1 0.9 1.9 1.5 1.1

� Capital expenditure 30 30

þ New borrowings 20 20

� Repayment of 2 2 4 4 4

borrowings

Change in cash �16 �6 �6 �14 2 1 0 2 2 2 2 1.1 �29.9 18.5 18.9

Cumulated balance �16 �22 �28 �42 �40 �39 �39 �37 �35 �33 �31 �29.9

(N.B.: No sales in January 2005 in order to build up initial stock of finished goods.)
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Income statement (by nature) 2005 2006 2007

Sales 132 144 144

þ Change in finished goods and in�progress inventory1 10 0 0

¼ Production for period 142 144 144

� Raw materials used in the business2 48 48 48

� Payroll costs 48 48 48

� Shipping 24 24 24

¼ EBITDA 22 24 24

� Depreciation and amortisation 6 6 6

¼ Operating income 16 18 18

� Interest expense 1.9 1.5 1.1

¼ Net earnings 14.1 16.5 16.9

1 Change in finished goods and in�progress inventory: C=4m in raw materials þ C=4m in
payroll costs þ C=2m in shipping costs ¼ C=10m.
2 Breakdown of raw materials used in the business in year 1: C=52m (purchases) � C=4m
(increase in raw materials inventories) ¼ C=48m.

Income statement (by function) 2005 2006 2007

Sales 132 144 144

� Cost of sales 116 126 126

¼ Operating income 16 18 18

� Interest expense 1.9 1.5 1.1

¼ Net income 14.1 16.5 16.9
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Cash flow statement – Format 1 2005 2006 2007

EBITDA 22 24 24

� Change in working capital 36 0 0

¼ Operating cash flows �14 24 24

� Capital expenditure 30 0 0

� Interest expense 1.9 1.5 1.1

¼ Net decrease in debt �45.9 22.5 22.9

New borrowings 20 0 0

� Debt repayments 4 4 4

� Change in cash and equivalents �29.9 18.5 18.9

Cash flow statement – Format 2 2005 2006 2007

Net income 14.1 16.5 16.9

þ Depreciation and amortisation 6 6 6

¼ Cash flow 20.1 22.5 22.9

� Change in working capital 36 0 0

¼ Cash flow from operating activities �15.9 22.5 22.9

� Capital expenditure 30 0 0

¼ Net decrease in debt �45.9 22.5 22.9

New borrowings 20 0 0

� Debt repayments 4 4 4

� Change in cash and equivalents �29.9 18.5 18.9
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Balance sheet Date 0 End 2005 End 2006

Fixed assets, net (A) 0 24 18

Inventories 0 14 14
þ Trade receivables 0 36 36
� Trade payables and other debts 0 14 14

¼ Working capital (B) 0 36 36

¼ Capital employed (AþB) 0 60 54

Shareholders’ equity (C) 40 54.1 70.6

Bank and financial debts 0 16 12
� Marketable securities 0 0 0
� Cash and equivalents 40 10.1 28.6

¼ Net debt (D) �40 5.9 �16.6

¼ Invested capital (CþD) 0 60 54

The creation of their Spanish subsidiary is a clever move. This outfit is profitable the first
year, capital expenditure and increase in working capital (30 þ 36) are nearly entirely paid
back at end-2007 after only 3 years of activity. It is almost too good to be true!

For more on the topics covered in this chapter:

K. Checkley, Strategic Cash Flow management, Capstone Express, 2002.

J. Kinnunen, M. Koskela, Do cash flows reported by firms articulate with their income statements

and balance sheets? Descriptive evidence from Finland, European Accounting Review, 8, 631–

654, 1999.

O. Whitfield Broome, Statement of cash flows: Time for change!, Financial Analysts Journal, 16–22,

March–April 2004.
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Chapter 6
Getting to grips with

consolidated accounts

A group-building exercise

The purpose of consolidated accounts is to present the financial situation of a
group of companies as if they formed one single entity. This chapter deals with
the basic aspects of consolidation that anyone interested in corporate finance
should fully master.

An analysis of the accounting documents of each individual company belong-
ing to a group does not serve as a very accurate or useful guide to the economic
health of the whole group. The accounts of a company reflect the other companies
that it controls only through the cost of its shareholdings (revalued or written
down, where appropriate) and the size of the dividends that it receives.

Consolidation is intended to remedy these deficiencies.

The purpose of consolidated accounts is to present the financial situation of a group
of companies as if they formed one single entity.

The goal of this chapter is to familiarise readers with the problems arising from
consolidation. Consequently, we present an example-based guide to the main
aspects of consolidation to facilitate analysis of consolidated accounts.

In some cases, consolidated accounts take some time to come out or do not
even exist.1 That said, for various reasons financial analysts may need to know,
albeit only approximately, some of the key consolidated figures, such as earnings
and shareholders’ equity.

The aggregation of accounts may give analysts this overview provided that they
roughly apply the various preconsolidation adjustments explained in this chapter.

Section 6.1

Consolidation methods

Any firm that controls other companies exclusively or that exercises significant
influence over them should prepare consolidated accounts and a management
report for the group.2

1 For example, it
took 9 months
for Dutch
supermarket group
Ahold to produce
its 2002
consolidated
accounts after it
had discovered
accounting frauds
in its US
subsidiary.

2 Unless the
parent is itself a
wholly owned
subsidiary or is
virtually wholly
owned.



Consolidated accounts must be certified by the statutory auditors and made
available, together with the group’s management report, to shareholders, debt-
holders and all interested parties.

Listed European companies will be required to use IAS/IFR3 rules for their
consolidated financial statements from 2005.4 Accounts for 2005 will be published
with 2004 accounts restated to fully comply with IAS/IFRS5 rules to allow for
meaningful comparisons.

The companies to be included in the preparation of consolidated accounts form
what is known as the scope of consolidation. Scope of consolidation comprises:

. the parent company;

. the companies in which the parent company holds directly or indirectly at least
20% of the voting rights.

However, a subsidiary should be excluded from consolidation when its parent loses
the power to govern its financial and operating policies – for example, when the
subsidiary becomes subject to the control of a government, a court or an admin-
istrator. Such subsidiaries should be accounted for at fair market value.

The basic principle behind consolidation consists in replacing the historical cost of
the parent’s investment in the company being consolidated with its assets,
liabilities and equity.

For instance, let us consider a company with a subsidiary that appears on its
balance sheet with an amount of 20. Consolidation entails replacing the historical
cost of 20 with all or some of the assets, liabilities and equity of the company being
consolidated.

There are three methods of consolidation that are used, depending on the
strength of the parent company’s control or influence over its subsidiary:

Type of relationship Type of company Consolidation method

Control Subsidiary Full consolidation6

Joint control Joint venture Proportionate consolidation
Significant influence Associate Equity method

We will now examine each of these three methods in terms of its impact on sales,
net profit and shareholders’ equity.

1/Full consolidation

The accounts of a subsidiary are fully consolidated if it is controlled by its parent.
Control is presumed to exist when the parent company:

. holds, directly or indirectly, over 50% of the voting rights in its subsidiary;

. holds, directly or indirectly, less than 50% of the voting rights but has power
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over more than 50% of the voting rights by virtue of an agreement with other
investors;

. has power to govern the financial and operating policies of the subsidiary
under a statute or an agreement;

. has power to cast the majority of votes at meetings of the board of directors; or

. has power to appoint or remove the majority of the members of the board.

The criterion of exclusive control is the key factor under IAS. Under US GAAP,
the determining factor is whether or not the parent company holds the majority of
voting rights. This requirement is currently being revised by the FASB7 and the
IASB. They want to introduce a broader definition of control, such as the power to
make decisions regarding the company’s strategy and management with a view to
increase its own profits or limiting its losses.

As its name suggests, full consolidation consists in transferring all the sub-
sidiary’s assets, liabilities and equity to the parent company’s balance sheet and
all the revenues and costs to the parent company’s income statement.

The assets, liabilities and equity thus replace the investments held by the parent
company, which therefore disappear from its balance sheet.

That said, when the subsidiary is not controlled exclusively by the parent
company, the claims of the other ‘‘minority’’ shareholders on the subsidiary’s
equity and net income also need to be shown on the consolidated balance sheet
and income statement of the group.

Assuming there is no difference between the book value of the parent’s
investment in the subsidiary and the book value of the subsidiary’s equity,8 full
consolidation works as follows:

. On the balance sheet:

e the subsidiary’s assets and liabilities are added item by item to the parent
company’s balance sheet;

e the historical cost amount of the shares in the consolidated subsidiary held
by the parent is eliminated from the parent company’s balance sheet and the
same amount is deducted from the parent company’s reserves;

e the subsidiary’s equity (including net income) is added to the parent com-
pany’s equity and then allocated between the interests of the parent
company (added to its reserves) and those of minority investors, which is
added to a special minority interests line below the line item showing the
parent company’s shareholders’ equity.

. On the income statement, all the subsidiary’s revenues and charges are added
item by item to the parent company’s income statement. The parent company’s
net income is then broken down into:

e the portion attributable to the parent company, which is added to the parent
company’s net income on both the income statement and the balance sheet;

e the portion attributable to third-party investors, which is shown on a sep-
arate line of the income statement under the heading ‘‘minority interests’’.

Minority interests represent the share attributable to minority shareholders in the
shareholders’ equity and net income of fully consolidated subsidiaries.
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From a solvency standpoint, minority interests certainly represent shareholders’
equity. But from a valuation standpoint, they add no value to the group since
minority interests represent shareholders’ equity and net profit attributable to
third parties and not to shareholders of the parent company.

Right up until the penultimate line of the income statement, financial analysis
assumes that the parent company owns 100% of the subsidiary’s assets and
liabilities and, implicitly, that all the liabilities finance all the assets. This is true
from an economic, but not from a legal perspective.

To illustrate the full consolidation method, consider the following example
assuming that the parent company owns 75% of the subsidiary company.

The original balance sheets are as follows:

Parent company’s balance sheet Subsidiary’s balance sheet

Investment in the 15 Shareholders’ 70 Assets 28 Shareholders’ 20
subsidiary9 equity equity

Other assets 57 Liabilities 2 Liabilities 8

In this scenario, the consolidated balance sheet would be as follows:

Consolidated balance sheet

Investment in the subsidiary (15 � 15) 0 Shareholder’ equity (70 þ 20 � 15) 75
Assets (57 þ 28) 85 Liabilities (2 þ 8) 10

Or in a more detailed form:

Consolidated balance sheet

Assets 85 Shareholder’ equity group share (75 � 5) 70
Minority interests (20 � 25%) 5
Liabilities 10

The original income statements are as follows:

Parent company’s income statement Subsidiary’s income statement

Charges 80 Net sales 100 Charges 30 Net sales 38
Net income 20 Net income 8

In this scenario, the consolidated income statement would be as follows:

Consolidated income statement

Charges (80 þ 30) 110 Net sales (100 þ 38) 138
Net income (20 þ 8) 28
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Or in a more detailed form:

Consolidated income statement

Charges 110 Net sales 138
Net income:

Group share 26
Minority interest (8 � 25%) 2

2/Proportionate consolidation

When the parent company exercises joint control with a limited number of partners
over another company, this company is accounted for using the proportionate

consolidation method. The key factors determining joint control are: (i) a limited
number of partners sharing control (without any partner able to claim exclusive
control), and (ii) a contractual arrangement outlining and defining how this joint
control is to be exercised.

Proportionate consolidation is used to consolidate the accounts of companies
controlled jointly with a limited number of partners. Such companies are known as
joint ventures. Similar to full consolidation, proportionate consolidation leads to
the replacement of the investment held in the joint venture with the assets, liabilities
and equity of the joint venture. As its name suggests, the key difference with respect
to full consolidation is that assets and liabilities are transferred to the parent
company’s balance sheet only in proportion to the parent company’s interest in the

joint venture. Likewise, the joint venture’s revenues and charges are added to those
of the parent company on the consolidated income statement only in proportion to
its participation in the joint venture.

From a technical standpoint, proportionate consolidation is carried out as
follows:

. the joint venture’s assets and liabilities are added to the parent company’s
assets and liabilities in proportion to the latter’s interest in the joint venture;

. the carrying amount of the shares in the joint venture held by the parent
company is subtracted from long-term investments and from reserves in the
balance sheet;

. the parent company’s share in the shareholders’ equity of the joint venture
excluding the latter’s net income is added to the parent company’s reserves;

. all the joint venture’s revenues and charges are added in proportion to the level
of the parent company’s shareholding to the corresponding line items of the
parent company’s income statement;

. the portion of the joint venture’s net income attributable to the parent com-
pany is added to its net income on the balance sheet and income statement.

To illustrate the proportionate consolidation method, let us analyse the following
example assuming that the parent company owns 33% of the joint venture:

The original balance sheets are as follows:
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Parent company’s balance sheet Joint venture’s balance sheet

Investment in the 6 Shareholders’ 62 Assets 30 Shareholders’ 18
joint venture equity equity

Other assets 58 Liabilities 2 Liabilities 12

In this scenario, the consolidated balance sheet would be as follows:

Consolidated balance sheet

Investment in the joint venture (6 � 6) 0 Shareholder’ equity (62 � 6 þ 18 � 33%) 62
Assets (58 þ 30 � 33%) 68 Liabilities (2 þ 12 � 33%) 6

The original income statements are as follows:

Parent company’s income statement Joint venture’s income statement

Charges 80 Net sales 100 Charges 30 Net sales 36
Net income 20 Net income 6

In this scenario, the consolidated income statement would be as follows:

Consolidated income statement

Charges (80 þ 30 � 33%) 90 Net sales (100 þ 36 � 33%) 112
Net income (20 þ 6 � 33%) 22

Proportionate consolidation does not give rise to any minority interests.
One shortcoming of proportionate consolidation is that it appears to exag-

gerate the group’s power since a portion of the turnover, cash flow, equity, fixed
assets, etc. of joint ventures is included in the parent company’s financial state-
ments even if the group does not have exclusive control over those joint ventures.

3/Equity method of accounting

Finally, when the parent company exercises significant influence over the operating
and financial policy of its associate, the latter is accounted for under the equity
method. Significant influence over the operating and financial policy of a company
is assumed when the parent holds, directly or indirectly, at least 20% of the voting
rights. Significant influence may be reflected by participation on the executive and
supervisory bodies, participation in strategic decisions, the existence of major inter-
company links, exchanges of management personnel and a relationship of
dependence from a technical standpoint.

Equity accounting consists in replacing the carrying amount of the shares held
in an associate (also known as an equity affiliate or associated undertaking) with the
corresponding portion of the associate’s shareholders’ equity (including net
income).

This method is purely financial. Both the group’s investments and aggregate
profit are thus reassessed on an annual basis. Accordingly, the IASB regards equity
accounting as being more of a valuation method than a method of consolidation.
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From a technical standpoint, equity accounting takes place as follows:

. the historical cost amount of shares held in the associate is subtracted from the
parent company’s investments and replaced by the share attributable to the
parent company in the associate’s shareholders’ equity including net income for
the year;

. the carrying value of the associate’s shares is subtracted from the parent
company’s reserves, to which is added the share in the associate’s shareholders’
equity, excluding the associate’s income attributable to the parent company;

. the portion of the associate’s net income attributable to the parent company is
added to its net income on the balance sheet and the income statement.

Investments in associates represent the share attributable to the parent company in
associates shareholders’ equity attributable to the parent company.

The equity method of accounting therefore leads to an increase each year in the
carrying amount of the shareholding on the consolidated balance sheet, by an
amount equal to the net income transferred to reserves by the associate.

However, from a solvency standpoint, this method does not provide any clues
to the group’s risk exposure and liabilities vis-à-vis its associate. The implication is
that the group’s risk exposure is restricted to the value of its shareholding.

The equity method of accounting is more a method used to revalue certain
participating interests than a genuine form of consolidation.

To illustrate the equity method of accounting, let us consider the following example
based on the assumption that the parent company owns 20% of its associate.

The original balance sheets are as follows:

Parent company’s balance sheet Associate’s balance sheet

Investment in the 5 Shareholders’ 60 Assets 35 Shareholders’ 25
associate equity equity

Other assets 57 Liabilities 2 Liabilities 10

In this scenario, the consolidated balance sheet would be as follows:

Consolidated balance sheet

Investment in the associate (20% � 25) 5 Shareholder’ equity (60 þ 5 � 5) 60
Other assets 57 Liabilities 2

The original income statements are as follows:

Parent company’s income statement Associate’s income statement

Charges 80 Net sales 100 Charges 30 Net sales 35
Net income 20 Net income 5
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In this scenario, the consolidated income statement would be as follows:

Consolidated income statement

Charges 80 Net sales 100
Net income (20 þ 5 � 20%) 21 Income from associates (5 � 20%) 1

Section 6.2

Consolidation-related issues

1/Scope of consolidation

The scope of consolidation – i.e., the companies to be consolidated – is determined
using the rules we presented in Section 6.1. To determine the scope of consolida-
tion, one needs to establish the level of control exercised by the parent company
over each of the companies in which it owns shares.

(a) Level of control and ownership level

The level of control
10 measures the strength of direct or indirect dependence that

exists between the parent company and its subsidiaries, joint venture or associates.
This level reflects the percentage of voting rights held by the parent company in
these companies.

To calculate the level of control, the percentage of voting rights held by all
group companies in the subsidiary, the joint venture or the associates are added
together, provided that the group companies are controlled directly or indirectly by
the parent company. Control is assumed when the percentage of voting rights held
is 50% or higher or when a situation of de facto control exists at each link in the
chain.

It is important not to confuse the level of control with the level of ownership.
Generally speaking, these two concepts are different. The ownership level

11 is used
to calculate the parent company’s claims on its subsidiaries, joint ventures or
associates. It reflects the proportion of their capital held directly or indirectly by
the parent company. It is a financial concept, unlike the level of control, which is a
power-related concept.

The ownership level is the sum of the product of the direct and indirect
percentage stakes held by the parent company in a given company. The ownership
level differs from the level of control which is calculated by adding together the
investments made by all group companies in another company, provided that these
group companies are controlled directly or indirectly by the parent company.

Consider the following example:

A controls 60% of B, B controls 70% of D, so A controls 70% of D. D and B are

80 Fundamental concepts in financial analysis

10 Or percentage
control.

11 Or percentage
interest.



therefore fully consolidated by A. But A owns not 70%, but 42% of D
(i.e., 60% � 70%). The ownership level of A over D is then 42%: only 42% of
D’s net income is attributable to A.

Since C owns just 10% of E, C will not consolidate E. But since A controls
25% of C, A will account for C under the equity method and will show 25% of C’s
net income in its income statement.

How the ownership level is used varies from one consolidation method to
another:

. with full consolidation, the ownership level is used only to allocate the sub-
sidiary’s reserves and net income between the parent company and minority
interests in the subsidiary;

. with proportionate consolidation, all the joint venture’s balance sheet and
income statement items are added in proportion to the ownership level to the
balance sheet and income statement items of the parent company;

. with the equity method of accounting, the ownership level is used to determine
the portion of the subsidiary’s shareholders’ equity and net income attributable
to the parent company.

(b) Changes in the scope of consolidation

It is important to analyse the scope of consolidation, especially with regard to what
has changed and what is excluded. A decision not to consolidate a company means:

. neither its losses nor its shareholders’ equity will appear on the balance sheet12

of the group;
. its liabilities will not appear on the balance sheet of the group.

The equity method of accounting also means that not all the group’s liabilities are
shown on the balance sheet as readers will see with the example of Coca-Cola in
Chapter 13.

Changes in the scope of consolidation require the preparation of pro forma

financial statements. Pro forma statements enable analysts to compare the
company’s performances on a consistent basis. In these pro forma statements,
the company may either:

. restate past accounts to make them comparable with the current scope of
consolidation; or

. remove from the current scope of consolidation any items that were not present
in the previous period to maintain its previous configuration. The latter option
is, however, less interesting for financial analysts.

Finally, as we will see in Chapter 47, certain techniques can be used to remove
subsidiaries still controlled by the parent company from the scope of consolidation.
These techniques have been developed to make certain consolidated accounts look
more attractive and they frequently involve a Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV). The
SPV is a separate legal entity created specially to handle a venture on behalf of a
company. In many cases the SPV belongs from a legal standpoint to banks or to
investors rather than to the company. This said, the IASB has stipulated that the
company should consolidate the SPV if:

81Chapter 6 Getting to grips with consolidated accounts

12 Unless the
losses are such
that the portion of
the subsidiary’s
shareholders’
equity attributable
to the parent
company is lower
than the net book
value of the shares
in the subsidiary
held by the
parent. In which
case, an
impairment loss is
recognised on the
shareholding.



. it enjoys the majority of the benefits; or

. if it incurs the residual risks arising from the SPV even if it does not own a
single share of the SPV.

2/Goodwill

It is very unusual for one company to acquire another for exactly its book value.
Generally speaking, there is a difference between the acquisition price, which

may be paid in cash or in shares, and the portion of the target company’s share-
holders’ equity attributable to the parent company. In most cases, this difference is
positive as the price paid exceeds the target’s book value.

(a) What does this difference represent?

In other words, why should a company agree to pay out more for another company
than its book value? There are several possible explanations:

. the assets recorded on the acquired company’s balance sheet are worth more
than their historical cost. This situation may result from the prudence
principle, which means that unrealised capital losses have to be taken into
account, but not unrealised capital gains;

. it is perfectly conceivable that assets, such as patents, licences and market
share, that the company has accumulated over the years without wishing to
or even being able to account for them, may not appear on the balance sheet.
This situation is especially true if the company is highly profitable;

. the merger between the two companies may create synergies, either in the form
of cost reductions and/or revenue enhancement. The buyer is likely to partly
reflect them in the price offered to the seller;

. the buyer may be ready to pay a high price for a target just to prevent a new
player from buying it, entering the market and putting the current level of the
buyer’s profitability under pressure;

. finally, the buyer may quite simply have overpaid for the deal.

(b) How is goodwill accounted for?

Goodwill is shown under intangible fixed assets of the new group’s balance sheet at
an amount equal to the difference between the acquisition price and the share of the
new subsidiary’s equity adjusted for unrealised capital gains net of unrealised
capital losses on assets and liabilities. Assets, liabilities and equity of the new
subsidiary are transferred to the group’s balance sheet at their estimated value
rather than their book value. In this case, the intangible assets acquired are
recorded on the group’s balance sheet even if they did not originally appear on
the acquired company’s balance sheet; i.e., brands, patents, licences, landing slots,
data bases, etc.

The difference between the purchase cost and the fair market value of the assets
and liabilities acquired with a company is called goodwill.

82 Fundamental concepts in financial analysis



Goodwill is assessed each year to verify whether its value is at least equal to its net
book value as shown on the group’s balance sheet. This assessment is done by
means of impairment tests. If the market value of goodwill is below its book
value, goodwill is written down to its fair market value and a corresponding
impairment loss is recorded in the income statement.

This method is known as the purchase method. This is the method prescribed by
US GAAP since December 2001 and IAS from 1 January 2006.13 The pooling of

interest method was abolished by the US authorities in December 2001 and will be
abolished by the IASB from 2006. It allowed the assets and liabilities of the newly
acquired company to be included in the group’s accounts at their book value
without any goodwill being recorded.14

To illustrate the purchase method, let’s analyse now how Pfizer, the US
pharmaceutical group, accounted for the acquisition of its rival, Pharmacia.

Prior to the acquisition, the Pfizer balance sheet (in $bn) can be summarised as
follows:

Goodwill 1.2 Shareholders’ equity 20.0
Other fixed assets 21.6
Working capital �1.7 Net debt 1.1

While Pharmacia’s balance sheet was as follows:

Goodwill 1.5 Shareholders’ equity 8.0
Other fixed assets 6.0
Working capital 1.4 Net debt 0.9

During 2003, Pfizer acquired 100% of Pharmacia for $56bn paid in Pfizer shares.
Since Pharmacia’s equity stood at $8bn, this transaction gave rise to $48bn in
goodwill.

Pharmacia’s assets and liabilities were revalued by $27.6bn:

. intangible assets (technology rights, brands): þ$37.2bn;

. current research and development: þ$5.1bn, which was nonetheless fully
charged off against income for 2003, in accordance with US accounting
standards;

. inventories: þ$1.6bn;

. deferred tax: þ$13.5bn (increase in liabilities); and

. sundry other items: C¼2.8bn (increase in liabilities).

Consequently, the amount of goodwill created was reduced to $20.4bn The simpli-
fied balance sheet of the combined entity was therefore as follows:

Goodwill 23.115 Shareholders’ equity 76.016

Other fixed assets 69.917

Working capital 1.3 Deferred taxes and other 16.3
Net debt 2.0
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It is worth noting that the combined entity’s capital employed would have been
$28.5bn18 under the pooling of interests method compared with $94.3bn under the
purchase method – i.e., a difference of 230% for the same operating assets! Like-
wise, return on equity would be calculated on shareholders’ equity of $28bn19

under the pooling of interests method and $76bn under the purchase method. It
is therefore easy to see why the abandonment of the pooling of interests method has
made accounts more rigorous.

Finally, transactions may give rise to negative goodwill under certain circum-
stances. Under IAS, negative goodwill is immediately recognised as a profit in the
income statement of the new groups.

All in all, the difference between the purchase price and the share in equity is
broken down into two portions. One reflects unrealised capital gains on the
assets of the target company and is factored into the valuation of the consolidated
assets. The other one, the residual portion, is called goodwill, and is not accounted
for by unrealised capital gains.

The consolidated company’s assets and liabilities are therefore revalued upon its
first-time consolidation. Its accounts are adjusted to bring them into line with the
accounting policies applied by its new parent company.

(c) How financial analysts should treat goodwill?

From a financial standpoint, it is sensible to regard goodwill as an asset like any
other that may suffer sudden falls in value that need to be recognised by means of
an impairment charge.

Can it be argued that goodwill impairment losses do not reflect any decrease in
the company’s wealth because there is no outflow of cash? We do not think so.

Granted, goodwill impairment losses are a noncash item, but it would be
wrong to say that only decisions giving rise to cash flows affect a company’s
value. For instance, setting a maximum limit on voting rights or attributing ten
voting rights to certain categories of share does not have any cash impact, but
definitely reduces the value of shareholders’ equity.

Recognising the impairment of goodwill related to a past acquisition is tant-
amount to admitting that the price paid was too high. But what if the acquisition
was paid for in shares? This makes no difference whatsoever, irrespective of
whether the buyer’s shares were overvalued at the same time.

Had the company carried out a share issue rather than overpaying for an
acquisition, it would have been able to capitalise on its lofty share price to the
great benefit of existing shareholders. The cash raised through the share issue
would have been used to make acquisitions at much more reasonable prices once
the wave of euphoria had subsided. This is precisely the strategy adopted by
Bouygues. It raised C¼1.5bn of new equity in March 2000 at a very high share
price, refused to participate in the UMTS auctions and used its cash pile only in
2002 to buy out minority interests in its telecom subsidiary at a far lower level than
the rumoured price in 2000.

It is essential to remember that shareholders in a company that pays for a deal
in shares suffer dilution in their interest. They accept this dilution because they take
the view that the size of the cake will grow at a faster rate (e.g., by 30%) than the
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number of guests invited to the party (e.g., by over 25%). Should it transpire that
the cake grows at merely 10% rather than the expected 30% because the purchased
assets prove to be worth less than anticipated, the number of guests at the party will
unfortunately stay the same. Accordingly, the size of each guest’s slice of the cake
falls by 12% (110/125 � 1), so shareholders’ wealth has certainly diminished.

Finally, testing each year whether the capital employed of each company segment
is greater than its book value so as to determine whether the purchased goodwill
needs to be written down is implicitly tantamount to recording internally generated
goodwill that gradually replaces the purchased goodwill. As we know, goodwill has
a limited lifespan in view of the competition prevailing in the business world.

(d) How financial analysts should treat ‘‘adjusted income’’

Following the acquisition of Phamarcia, Pfizer was the first group to publish an
‘‘adjusted income’’ to neutralise the P&L impact of the revaluation of assets and
liabilities of its newly acquired subsidiary.

Note that, by virtue of the revaluation of Pharmacia’s inventories to their
market value, the normal process of selling the inventories will generate no
profit. So how relevant will the P&L be in the first year after the merger?
Say somebody took over Rémy Cointreau. Since cognac inventories would have
an average lifespan of 7 years, that would mean several lacklustre years for the
P&L!

As a result, Pfizer decided to report on the basis of ‘‘adjusted income’’, which
fully neutralised the P&L impact of purchase accounting. It was as if the entire
difference between the acquisition price and book value was booked under good-
will. Naturally, a P&L account is drawn up under normal standards, but it carries
an audited table showing the impact of the switch to adjusted income.

For 2003, Pfizer reported net attributable profit of $3.9bn, down 57% from the
$9.1bn figure of 1 year earlier. On an adjusted basis, net profit rose 42% to $10.5bn.
Not exactly in the same ballpark, is it? The adjustments reflect the reversal of the
100% depreciation of the cost of acquired R&D, the reversal of Pharmacia’s
depreciations, which were revalued at the acquisition, and the reversal of the
reappraisal of Pharmacia’s inventories, net of tax impact.

To the extent that Pfizer is one of the biggest US market caps ($190bn in
March 2005), its practice is likely to be copied. Already, all analysts who cover
Pfizer go on the adjusted figures, not the accounting data. We believe they are right
to do so.

Section 6.3

Technical aspects of consolidation

1/Harmonising accounting data

Since consolidation consists of aggregating accounts, give or take some adjust-
ments, it is important to ensure that the accounting data used are consistent;
i.e., based on the same principles.
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Usually, the valuation methods used in individual company accounts are
determined by accounting or tax issues specific to each subsidiary, especially
when some of them are located outside the group’s home country. This is particu-
larly true for provisions, depreciation and amortisation, fixed assets, inventories
and work in progress, deferred charges and shareholders’ equity.

These differences need to be eliminated upon consolidation. This process is
facilitated by the fact that most of the time consolidated accounts are not prepared
to calculate taxable income, so groups may disregard the prevailing tax regulations.

2/Eliminating intra-group transactions

Consolidation entails more than the mere aggregation of accounts. Before the
consolidation process as such can begin, intra-group transactions and their
impact on net income have to be eliminated from the accounts of both the
parent company and of its consolidated companies.

Assume, for instance, that the parent company has sold to subsidiaries prod-
ucts at cost plus a margin. An entirely fictitious gain would show up in the group’s
accounts if the relevant products were merely held in stock by the subsidiaries
rather than being sold on to third parties. Naturally, this fictitious gain, which
would be a distortion of reality, needs to be eliminated.

Intra-group transactions to be eliminated upon consolidation can be broken
down into two categories:

. Those that are very significant because they affect consolidated net income. It is
therefore vital for such transactions to be reversed. The goal is to avoid
showing two profits or showing the same profit twice. The reversal of these
transactions upon consolidation leads primarily to the elimination of:

e intra-group profits included in inventories;
e capital gains arising on the transfer or contribution of investments;
e dividends received from consolidated companies;
e impairment losses on intra-group loans or investments; and
e tax on intra-group profits.

. Those that are not fundamental because they have no impact on consolidated
net income or those affecting the assets or liabilities of the consolidated entities.
These transactions are eliminated through netting, so as to show the real level
of the group’s debt. They include:

e parent-to-subsidiary loans (advances to the subsidiary) and vice versa;
e interest paid by the parent company to the consolidated companies

(financial income of the latter) and vice versa.

3/Translating the accounts of foreign subsidiaries

(a) The problem

The translation of the accounts of foreign companies is a thorny issue because of
exchange rate fluctuations and the difference between inflation rates, which may
distort the picture provided by company accounts.
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For instance, a parent company located in the euro zone may own a subsidiary
in a country with a soft currency.20

Using year-end exchange rates to convert the assets of its subsidiary into the
parent company’s currency understates their value. From an economic standpoint,
all the assets do not suffer depreciation proportional to that of the subsidiary’s
home currency.

On one hand, fixed assets are protected to some extent. Inflation means that it
would cost more in the subsidiary’s local currency to replace them after the
devaluation in the currency than before. All in all, the inflation and devaluation
phenomena may actually offset each other, so the value of the subsidiary’s fixed
assets in the parent company’s currency is roughly stable. On the other hand,
inventories, receivables and liabilities (irrespective of their maturity) denominated
in the devalued currency all depreciate in tandem with the currency.

If the subsidiary is located in a country with a hard currency (i.e., a stronger
one than that of the parent company), the situation is similar, but the implications
are reversed.

To present an accurate image of developments in the foreign subsidiary’s
situation, it is necessary to take into account:

. the impact on the consolidated accounts of the translation of the subsidiary’s
currency into the parent company’s currency;

. the adjustment that would stem from translation of the foreign subsidiary’s
fixed assets into the local currency.

(b) Methods

Several methods may be used at the same time to translate different items in the
balance sheet and income statement of foreign subsidiaries giving rise to currency
translation differences:

. if the subsidiary is economically and financially independent of its parent
company, which is the most common situation, the closing rate method is used;

. if the subsidiary is not independent of its parent company, because its opera-
tions are an integral part of another company, the temporal method

21 is used;
. finally, if the subsidiary is based in a country with high inflation, a special

method is used.

Under the closing rate method, all assets and liabilities are translated at the closing
rate which is the rate of exchange at the balance sheet date.22 IAS recommends
using the exchange rate prevailing on the transaction date to translate revenues and
charges on the income statement or, failing this, the average exchange rate for the
period, which is what most companies do. Currency translation differences are
recorded under shareholders’ equity, with a distinction being made between the
group’s share and that attributable to minority investors. This translation method
is relatively comparable with the US standard.

The temporal method consists of translating:

. monetary items (i.e., cash and sums receivable or payable denominated in the
foreign company’s currency and determined in advance) at the closing rate;

. nonmonetary items (fixed assets and the corresponding depreciation and
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amortisation,23 goodwill, inventories, prepayments, shareholders’ equity,
investments, etc.) at the exchange rate at the date to which the historical cost
or valuation pertains;

. revenues and charges on the income statement theoretically at the exchange
rate prevailing on the transaction date. In practice, however, they are usually
translated at an average exchange rate for the period.

Under the temporal method, the difference between the net income on the balance
sheet and that on the income statement is recorded on the income statement under
foreign exchange gains and losses.

(c) Translating the accounts of subsidiaries located in
hyperinflationary countries

A hyperinflationary country is one where inflation is both chronic and out of
control. In such circumstances, the previous methods are not suitable for trans-
lating the effects of inflation into the accounts.

Hence the use of a specific method based on restatements made by applying a
general price index. Items such as monetary items that are already stated at the
measuring unit at the balance sheet date are not restated. Other items are restated
based on the change in the general price index between the date those items were
acquired or incurred and the balance sheet consolidation. A gain or loss on the net
monetary position is included in net income.

The temporal method is prescribed in the US.

Consolidation aims to present the financial position of a group of companies as if they
formed one single entity. It is an obligation for companies that exclusively control other
companies or exercise significant influence over them. The scope of consolidation en-
compasses the parent company and the companies in which the parent company holds at
least 20% of the voting rights. The basic principle of consolidation is to replace the book
value of investments on the parent company’s balance sheet with the assets, liabilities
and equity of the consolidated subsidiaries.

Full consolidation, which is generally applied when the parent company holds more than
50% of voting rights in its subsidiary, consists of replacing the investments on the parent
company’s balance sheet with all the subsidiary’s assets, liabilities and equity, as well as
adding all the revenues and charges from its income statement. This method gives rise to
minority interests in the subsidiary’s net income and shareholders’ equity.

Proportionate consolidation is used where the parent company shares control over a joint
venture with a limited number of partners. The approach is the same as for full consolid-
ation, but assets, liabilities, equity, revenues and charges are transferred only in propor-
tion to the stake of the parent company in the joint venture.

Where the parent company exercises significant influence (usually by holding over 20% of
the voting rights) over another company called an associate, the equity method of
accounting is used. The book value of investments is replaced by the parent company’s
share in the associate’s equity (including net income). This method is actually equivalent
to an annual revaluation of these investments.
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From a financial standpoint, the ownership level, which represents the percentage of the
capital held directly or indirectly by the parent company, is not equal to the level of
control, which reflects the proportion of voting rights held. The level of control is used
to determine which consolidation method is applied. The ownership level is used to
separate groups’ interests from minorities’ interests in equity and net income.

A group often acquires a company by paying more than the book value of the company’s
equity. The difference is recorded as goodwill under intangible assets, less any unrealised
capital gains or losses on the acquired company’s assets and liabilities. This goodwill
arising on consolidation is compared each year with its estimated value and written down
to fair market value, where appropriate.

When analysing a group, it is essential to ensure that the basic accounting data are
consistent from one company to another. Likewise, intra-group transactions, especially
those affecting consolidated net income (intra-group profits, dividends received from
subsidiaries, etc.), must be eliminated upon consolidation.

Two methods are used to translate the accounts of foreign subsidiaries: the closing rate
and the temporal method for currency exchange rate translations. In addition, specific
currency translation methods are used for companies in hyperinflationary countries.

1/Describe the three methods used for consolidating accounts.

2/What criticism can be made of the equity method of accounting?

3/What criticism can be made of proportionate consolidation?

4/What is the difference between the proportion of voting rights held and the owner-
ship level?

5/On the consolidated income statement, what is the ‘‘share of earnings in companies
accounted for under the equity method’’ similar to?

6/In what circumstances should the group’s share be separated from that attributable
to minority investors?

7/Will opening up the capital of a subsidiary to shareholders outside the group have an
impact on the group’s earnings? Is this a paradox? Explain.

8/Why do dividends paid by subsidiaries have to be restated when consolidated
accounts are drawn up?

9/What is goodwill and how is it stated?

10/What is the most frequently used method of consolidation? Why?

11/In France, the UK or Italy, does the rate at which goodwill is written down have an
impact on the amount of tax paid by the group?

12/What is the pooling of interests method?

13/Is an impairment loss in the amount of goodwill a recurrent or a nonrecurrent item?
Explain why, nevertheless, it has a negative impact on the share price.
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14/Why has the phasing out of the pooling of interests method made accounts more
rigorous?

15/What is the logic behind the temporal method of translating fixed assets at the
historical exchange rate?

The financial statements of company M and its subsidiary S are shown here (in C¼m).

Balance sheet

Assets M S Equity and liabilities M S

Tangible and intangible fixed assets 100 30 Equity and share capital 40 10
Investment in subsidiary S 16 — Reserves 80 10
Other investments 5 — Net earnings 10 5
Current assets 200 70 Debt 191 75

Total 321 100 Total 321 100

Income statement
M S

Sales 200 90
� Purchases of raw materials 100 50
� Change in inventories — 2
� Other external services 25 20
� Personnel costs 40 8
� Interest and other financial charges 10 1
þ Interest, dividends and other financial income 3 —
� Exceptional costs 9 —
þ Exceptional income 2 —
� Corporate income tax 11 4

¼ Net income 10 5

Draw up the consolidated accounts for the group M þ S in the following circumstances:

(a) M has an 80% stake in S (full consolidation).

(b) M has a 50% stake in S (proportional consolidation).

(c) M has a 20% stake in S (equity method consolidation).

(N.B.: It is assumed that there are no flows between M and S.)

Questions

1/See chapter.
2/ It is not a consolidation method but a method for revaluing assets.
3/ It is misleading in the sense that, if you own a third of the joint venture, you do not

own a third of the assets and are not liable for a third of liabilities.
4/See chapter.
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5/Financial income on long-term investments.
6/When valuing shares of the group because shareholders of the group have no claim

whatsoever on stakes owned by minority interests in subsidiaries.
7/Yes, it results in minority interests. This is a paradox since the group registers a profit

or a loss without receiving cash. This is because of the increase or reduction in the
group’s share in shareholders’ equity.

8/Because they are internal flows.
9/Goodwill is the difference between the price paid for the subsidiary minus the

estimated value of its assets and liabilities. Goodwill is an intangible asset whose
value will be tested every year and impaired if need be.

10/Full consolidation. because groups tend to prefer exclusive control over joint control
or significant influence.

11/No, it is a consolidated accounting entry; and corporate income taxes are not com-
puted on consolidated accounts but in individual accounts in France, the UK and
Italy.

12/See chapter.
13/ It should normally be a nonrecurrent item, if not the future of the company is

doomed! Because it is a clear indication that the future profitability of the
company will be lower than initially anticipated.

14/Because it is no longer possible to reduce capital employed and capital invested by
writing off goodwill against equity, artificially boosting return on equity or return on
capital employed.

15/The temporal method is only used for subsidiaries that are dependent on the parent
company. It is considered that their fixed assets are accordingly the property of the
parent company but that they just happen to be abroad. Consequently, their value
appears on the balance sheet of the groups as if those fixed assets had been bought
by the parent company at a price translated on the purchase date at the then
exchange rate.
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Exercise

M þ S balance sheet (C¼m) 80% 50% 20%

Assets

Tangible and intangible fixed assets 130 115 100

Equity in associated companies 5

Investments 5 5 5

Current assets 270 235 200

Total 405 355 310

Equity and liabilities

Share capital 40 40 40

Reserves 80* 74 68

Minority interests in equity 4

Net earnings (group share) 14 12.5 11

Minority interests in net earnings 1

Debt 266 228.5 191

Total 405 355 310

* Group share
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M þ S income statement (C¼m) 80% 50% 20%

Sales 290 245 200

� Purchases of raw materials 150 125 100

� Change in inventories 2 1

� Other external services 45 35 25

� Personnel costs 48 44 40

� Interest and other finance charges 11 10.5 10

þ Interest, dividends and other
financial income 3 3 3

� Exceptional costs 9 9 9

þ Exceptional income 2 2 2

� Corporate income tax 15 13 11

þ Income from associates 1

¼ Net earnings 15 12.5 11

� Minority interests 1

¼ Net earnings, group share 14

For more about consolidation techniques:

D. Alexander, C. Nobes, Financial Accounting, Prentice Hall, 2001.

H. Stolowy, M. Lebas, Corporate Financial Reporting: A Global Perspective, Thomson, 2002.

To get the latest version of US and International GAAPs:

B. Epstein, A.A. Mirza, Interpretation and Application of International Accounting Standards, John

Wiley & Sons, published every year.

www.fasb.org, the website of the US Accounting Standards Board.

www.iasb.org.uk, the website of the International Accounting Standards Board.

www.iasplus.com, the website of Deloitte about IAS rules.

www.pwcglobal.com/Extweb/service.nsf/docid/981951434174C5ED80256C7E004BBC97, clearly the

best website to help you solve complex accounting issues, but an incredibly complex name

to remember!

To understand how financial markets react to impairment losses in goodwill:

M. Hirschey, V. Richardson, Investor underreaction to goodwill write-offs, Financial Analysts Journal,

75–84, November/December 2003.
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Chapter 7
How to cope with the most complex

points in financial accounts

Everything you always wanted to know but never dared to ask!

This chapter is rather different from the others. It is not intended to be read from
start to finish, but consulted from time to time, whenever readers experience
problems interpreting, analysing or processing a particular accounting item.

Each of these complex points will be analysed from these angles:

. from an economic standpoint so that readers gain a thorough understanding of
its real substance;

. from an accounting standpoint to help readers understand the accounting
treatment applied and how this treatment affects the published accounts;

. from a financial standpoint to draw a conclusion as to how it is best to deal with
this problem.

Our experience tells us that this is the best way of getting to grips with and solving
problems. The key point to note in this chapter is the method we use to deal with
complex issues, since we cannot look at every single point here. When faced with a
different problem, readers will have to come up with their own solutions using our
methodology – unless they contact us through the vernimmen.com website.

The following bullet list shows, in alphabetical order, the main line items and
principal problems that readers are likely to experience:

. accruals in the income statement;

. construction contracts;

. convertible bonds or loans;

. currency translation adjustments;

. deferred tax assets and liabilities;

. dilution profits or losses;

. exchangeable bonds;

. goodwill;

. intangible fixed assets;

. inventories;

. leases;

. mandatory convertible bonds;

. off-balance-sheet commitments;

. preference shares;

. perpetual subordinated loans or
notes;

. provisions;

. stock options;

. tangible fixed assets;

. treasury shares.



Section 7.1

Accruals

1/What are accruals?

Accruals are used to recognise revenues and costs booked in one period but relating
to another period.

2/How are they accounted for?

The main categories of accruals are:

. prepaid costs; i.e., charges relating to goods or services to be supplied later. For
instance, three-quarters of a rental charge payable in advance for a 12-month
period on 1 October each year will be recorded under prepaid costs on the asset
side of the balance sheet at 31 December;1

. prepaid income; i.e., income accounted for before the corresponding goods
or services have been delivered or carried out. For instance, a cable
company records three-quarters of the annual subscription payments it receives
on 1 October under prepaid income on the liabilities side of its balance sheet at
31 December.1

We should also cite accrued income and cost, which work in the same way as
prepaid income and cost, only in reverse.

3/How should financial analysts treat them?

Prepaid income and cost form part of operating working capital.

Section 7.2

Construction contracts

1/What are construction contracts?

In some cases, it may take more than a year for a company to complete a project.
For instance, a group that builds dams or ships may work for several years on a
single project.

2/How are they accounted for?

Construction contracts are accounted for using the percentage of completion
method, which consists in recognising at the end of each financial year the sales
and profit/loss anticipated on the project in proportion to the percentage of the
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work completed at that time. US accounting rules recognise both the percentage of
completion method and the completed contract method where revenue recognition
is deferred until completion of the contract.2

3/How should financial analysts treat them?

In order to assess the earnings quality of a company, analysts need to check
whether or not a change in method has occurred recently.

Construction projects in progress are part of the operating working capital.
The percentage of completion method results in less volatile profits, as they are
spread over several fiscal years, even if the completed contract method may seem
more prudent. Analysts should beware of changes in accounting methods for
construction contracts (which are not possible under IAS) as such change may
indicate an attempt to improve artificially the published net income for a given
year.

Section 7.3

Convertible bonds and loans

1/What are convertible bonds and loans?

Convertible bonds are bonds that may be converted at the request of their holders
into shares in the issuing company. Conversion is thus initiated by the investor.

2/How are they accounted for?

When they are issued, convertible bonds and loans are allocated between debt and
equity accounts since they are analysed under International Accounting Standards
(IAS) as compound financial instruments made up of a straight bond and a call
option (see Chapter 30).

3/How should financial analysts treat them?

Some analysts take the view that convertible bonds lie halfway between equity and
debt, so treat them as 50% shareholders’ equity and 50% debt. We believe this to
be a totally arbitrary and unjustified approach. The approach we recommend is to
examine the conditions governing conversion of the bonds and to make the equity/
debt classification based on the results of this analysis. For instance, if the share
price already lies well above the conversion price, the bonds are very likely indeed
to be converted, so the issue should be treated as equity. For valuation purposes,
the related interest expense net of tax should be reversed out of the income state-
ment, leading to an increase in net income. The number of shares should also be
increased by those to be issued through the conversion of the convertible bonds.
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On the other hand, if the share price is below the conversion price, convertible
bonds should be treated as conventional bonds and stay classified as borrowings.

Section 7.4

Currency translation adjustments

See Chapter 6.

Section 7.5

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

1/What are deferred tax assets and liabilities?

Deferred taxation giving rise to deferred tax assets or liabilities. It stems:

. either from differences in periods in which the income or cost is recognised for
tax and accounting purposes;

. or from differences between the taxable and book values of assets and
liabilities.

On the income statement, certain revenues and charges are recognised in
different periods for the purpose of calculating pre-tax accounting profit and tax-
able profit.

In some cases, the difference may be temporary due to the method used to
derive taxable profit from pre-tax accounting profit. For instance, a charge has
been recognised in the accounts, but is not yet deductible for tax purposes (e.g.,
employee profit-sharing in some countries); or vice versa. The same may apply to
certain types of revenue. Such differences are known as timing differences.

In other circumstances, the differences may be definitive or permanent; i.e., for
revenue or charges that will never be taken into account in the computation of
taxable profit (e.g., tax penalties or fines that are not deductible for tax purposes).
Consequently, there is no deferred tax recognition.

On the balance sheet, the historical cost of an asset or liability may not be the
same as its tax base, which creates a temporary difference. Depending on the
situation, temporary differences may give rise to a future tax charge and thus
deferred tax liabilities, while others may lead to future tax deductions and thus
deferred tax assets. For instance, deferred tax liabilities may arise from:

. assets that give rise to tax deductions that are lower than their book value when
sold or used. The most common example of this derives from the revaluation of
assets upon the first-time consolidation of a subsidiary. Their value on the
consolidated balance sheet is higher than the tax base used to calculate
depreciation and amortisation or capital gains and losses;

. capitalised financial costs that are deductible immediately for tax purposes, but
that are accounted for on the income statement over several years or deferred;
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. revenues, the taxation of which is deferred, such as accrued financial income
that becomes taxable only once it has been actually received.

Deferred tax assets may arise in various situations including charges that are
expensed in the accounts but are deductible for tax purposes in later years only,
such as:

. provisions that are deductible only when the stated risk or liability materialises
(for retirement indemnities in certain countries);

. certain tax losses that may be offset against tax expense in the future (i.e., tax
loss carryforwards, long-term capital losses).

Finally, if the company were to take certain decisions, it would have to pay
additional tax. These taxes represent contingent tax liabilities; e.g., stemming from
the distribution of reserves on which tax has not been paid at the standard rate.

2/How are they accounted for?

It is mandatory for companies to recognise all their deferred tax liabilities in
consolidated accounts. Deferred tax assets arising from tax losses should be
recognised when it is probable that the deferred tax asset can be used to reduce
tax to be paid.

Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised on goodwill where goodwill deprecia-
tion is not deductible for tax purposes, as is the case in the UK, Italy or France.
Likewise, they are not recorded in respect of tax payable by the consolidating
company on distributions (e.g., dividend-withholding tax) since they are taken
directly to shareholders’ equity.

In some more unusual circumstances, the temporary difference relates to a
transaction that directly affects shareholders’ equity (e.g., a change in accounting
method), in which case the temporary difference will also be set off against the
company’s shareholders’ equity.

IAS do not permit the discounting of deferred tax assets and liabilities to net
present value.

Deferred tax is not the same as contingent taxation, which reflects the tax
payable by the company if it takes certain decisions. For instance, tax charges
payable if certain reserves are distributed (i.e., dividend-withholding tax), or if
assets are sold and a capital gain is registered, revenues qualifying for a lower
rate of tax provided they are not distributed to shareholders (long-term capital
gains in some countries, etc.). The principle governing contingent taxation is
straightforward: it is not recorded on the balance sheet and no charge appears
on the income statement.

3/How should financial analysts treat them?

It is important to recognise that deferred taxation does not represent an amount of
tax currently due to or from the tax authorities, but consists of accounting entries
with, most of the time, no economic underpinnings and with no corresponding cash
flows.
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Deferred taxation is the product of accounting entries triggered by differences
between accounting values and tax bases (on the balance sheet) or between
accounting and tax treatments (on the income statement). The corresponding
double entry is made either on the income statement or to shareholders’ equity.

For instance, a company that posts a loss for a given period owing to
exceptional circumstances will recognise a deferred tax asset in its consolidated
accounts, the double entry to which will be a tax benefit that reduces the amount
of the after-tax reported loss. Please note that the deferred tax asset does not
represent an amount due from the State, but only a future tax saving assuming
positive net income in the near future.

Accordingly, we would advise treating deferred tax assets due to past losses as
an intangible asset or to deduct it from shareholders’ equity to arrive back at the
original amount of the nonrecurrent loss for the year.

For deferred tax assets linked to provisions that are not tax-deductible, we
would advise deducting the related deferred tax asset from the provision (which will
appear after tax on the balance sheet) or deducting it from shareholders’ equity.

We recommend adding the deferred tax assets linked to assets with a different
tax and accounting base (a frequent case after an acquisition booked under
purchase accounting3) to goodwill (as goodwill was initially reduced by accounting
for their deferred tax assets which has no real value). We advise adding deferred tax
liabilities created by differences between tax and accounting base to shareholders’
equity.

Lastly, contingent tax liabilities, which do not appear in company accounts, are
of interest only for the computation of the net asset value of the company (see
Chapter 40).

Section 7.6

Dilution profit and losses

1/What are dilution profit and losses?

Where a parent company does not subscribe either at all or only partially to a
capital increase by one of its subsidiaries, which takes place above the subsidiary’s
book value, the parent company records a dilution profit.

Likewise, if the valuation of the subsidiary for the purpose of the capital
increase is less than its book value, the parent company records a dilution loss.

2/How are they accounted for?

For instance, let us consider the case of a parent company that has paid 200 for a
50% shareholding in a subsidiary with shareholders’ equity of 100. A capital
increase of 80 then takes place valuing the subsidiary at a total of 400. Since the
parent company does not take up its allocation, its shareholding is diluted from
50% to 41.67%.
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The parent company’s share of the subsidiary’s equity decreases from
50% � 100 ¼ 50 to 41.67% � (100 þ 80) ¼ 75, which generates a nonrecurrent
gain of 75 � 50 ¼ 25. This profit of 25 corresponds exactly to the profit that the
parent company would have made by selling an interest of 50% � 41.67% ¼ 8.33%
based on a valuation of 400 and a cost price of 100 for 100%, since
25 ¼ 8.33% � (400 � 100).

3/How should financial analysts treat them?

Dilution gains and losses generate an accounting profit, whereas the parent com-
pany has not received any cash payments. They are by their very nature non-
recurring. Otherwise, the group would soon have no subsidiaries left. Naturally,
they do not form part of a company’s normal earnings power and so they should be
totally disregarded.

Section 7.7

Exchangeable bonds

1/What are exchangeable bonds?

Exchangeable bonds are bonds issued by a company that may be redeemed at the
request of their holders into shares of a company other than the issuer of the bonds
or in cash.

2/How are they accounted for?

Exchangeable bonds are accounted for as financial debt.

3/How should financial analysts treat them?

Financial analysts must treat exchangeable bonds as financial debt as they will be
redeemed either in cash or in shares of a company other than the issuer, and never
in shares of the issuer. They have no equity component at all.

Section 7.8

Goodwill

See Chapter 6.
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Section 7.9

Intangible fixed assets

These primarily encompass startup costs, capitalised development costs, patents,
licences, concessions and similar rights, leasehold rights, brands, market share,
software and goodwill arising on acquisitions (see Chapter 6).

Under IAS, a company is required to recognise an intangible asset (at cost) if
and only if:

. it is probable that the future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset
will flow to the company; and if

. the cost of the asset can be reliably measured.

Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists
should not be recognized as intangible assets. Internally generated goodwill is
expensed as incurred. Costs on starting up a business, on training, on advertising,
on relocating or reorganizing a company receive the same treatment.

This line item requires special attention since companies have some degree of
latitude in treating these items that now represent a significant portion of
companies’ balance sheets.

1/Startup costs

(a) What are startup costs?

Startup costs are costs incurred in relation to the creation and the development of a
company, such as incorporation, customer canvassing and advertising costs
incurred when the business first starts operating, together with capital increase,
merger and conversion fees.

(b) How are they accounted for?

Startup costs are to be expensed as incurred under IAS. In the US, pre-operating
costs may be included in ‘‘Other noncurrent assets’’ and are generally amortised
over 3–5 years.

(c) How should financial analysts treat them?

It is easy to analyse such costs from a financial perspective. They have no value and
should thus be deducted from the company’s shareholders’ equity.

2/Research and development costs

(a) What are research and development costs?

These costs are those incurred by a company on research and development for its
own benefit.
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(b) How are they accounted for?

Under IAS, research costs are expensed as incurred in line with the conservatism
principle governing the unpredictable nature of such activities.

Development costs should be capitalised on the balance sheet if the following
conditions are met:

. the project or product is clearly identifiable and its costs measurable;

. the product’s feasibility can be demonstrated;

. the company intends to produce, market or use the product or project;

. the existence of a market for the project or product can be demonstrated;

. the utility of the product for the company, where it is intended for internal use,
can be demonstrated;

. the company has or will have the resources to see the project through to
completion and use or market the end product.

The recommended amortisation period is not longer than 20 years and shorter if
the useful economic life is known.

Under US GAAP, research and development costs cannot be capitalised.

(c) Financial analysis

We recommend leaving development costs in intangible fixed assets, while
monitoring closely any increases in this category, since those could represent an
attempt to hide losses.

3/Brands and market share

(a) What are brands and market share?

These are brands or market share purchased from third parties and valued upon
their first-time consolidation by their new parent company.

(b) How are they accounted for?

Brands are not valued in the accounts unless they have been acquired. This gives
rise to an accounting deficiency, which is especially critical in the mass consumer
(e.g., food, textiles, automotive sectors) and luxury goods industries, particularly
from a valuation standpoint. Brands have considerable value, so it makes no sense
whatsoever not to take them into account in a company valuation. As we saw in
Chapter 6, the allocation of goodwill on first-time consolidation to brands and
market share leads to an accumulation of such assets on groups’ balance sheets.
For instance, LVMH carries brands for C¼4bn on its balance sheet, which thus
account for one-quarter of its capital employed. Since the amortisation of brands
is not tax-deductible in most countries, it has become common practice not to
amortise such assets, all the more so as they have an indefinite life. Brands are at
most written down, where appropriate.
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Under IAS, market share cannot be carried on the balance sheet unless the
company has protection enabling it to protect or control its customer relationships
(which is difficult to get and demonstrate).

(c) How financial analysts should treat them?

Some analysts, especially those working for banks, regard brands as having nil
value from a financial standpoint. Such a view leads to deducting these items
peremptorily from shareholders’ equity. We beg to differ.

These items usually add considerably to a company’s valuation, even though
they may be intangible. For instance, what value would a top fashion house or a
consumer goods company have without its brands?

4/Conclusion

To sum up, our approach to intangible fixed items is as follows: the higher the book

value of intangibles, the lower their market value is likely to be; and the lower their

book value, the more valuable they are likely to be. This situation is attributable to
the accounting and financial policy of a profitable company that seeks to minimise
as much as possible its tax expense by expensing every possible cost. Conversely, an
ailing company or one that has made a very large acquisition may seek to maximise
its intangible assets in order to keep its net profit and shareholders’ equity in
positive territory.

From a financial standpoint, intangible fixed assets form a key part of a company’s
value. This said, we believe that their book value is purely formal and has little to
do with financial reality.

Readers familiar with traditional accounting must understand that no difference is
now made between:

. intangible fixed assets that are by nature immune to wear and tear and, thus,
not subject to amortisation, aside from writedowns in the event of a crisis; and

. tangible fixed assets that are depreciated.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over their useful life. The
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) also requires that the relevant
intangible assets undergo an impairment test each year to verify that their net book
value is consistent with the recoverable value of the corresponding assets. The
recoverable value is defined as the highest of:

. the value in use – i.e., the present value of the cash flows expected to be realised
from the asset;

. the net selling price – i.e., the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an
arm’s length transaction, less the costs of disposal.

From this standpoint, it would be sufficient for one of these two amounts to be
higher than an asset’s book value for the asset not to be written down. But if the
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result of the impairment review is negative, the intangible asset has to be written
down by recognising an impairment loss.

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortised but they are assessed
for impairment at least every year.

US rules are very similar to the IASB’s.

Depreciation and amortisation indicate a desire to reflect the turnover in fixed
assets, be they tangible or intangible, and thus recognise the ephemeral nature
of all assets.

Section 7.10

Inventories

1/What are inventories?

Inventories include items used as part of the company’s operating cycle. More
specifically, they are:

. used up in the production process (inventories of raw materials and goods for
resale);

. sold as they are (inventories of finished goods) or sold at the end of a
transformation process that is either underway or will take place in the
future (work in progress).

2/How are they accounted for?

(a) Costs that should be included in inventories

The way inventories are valued varies according to their nature: supplies of raw
materials and goods for resale or finished products and work in progress. Supplies
are valued at acquisition cost, including the purchase price before taxes, customs
duties and related purchase costs. Finished products and work in progress are
valued at production cost, which includes the acquisition cost of raw materials
used, plus direct and indirect production costs insofar as the latter may reasonably
be allocated to the production of an item.

Costs must be calculated based on normal levels of activity, since allocating the
costs of below-par business levels would be equivalent to deferring losses to future
periods and artificially inflating profit for the current year. In practice, this
calculation is not always properly performed, so we would advise readers to closely
follow the cost allocation.

Financial charges, research and development costs and general and adminis-
trative costs are not usually included in the valuation of inventories unless specific
operating conditions justify such a decision. Interim interest payments4 may be
included in the cost of inventories where the production cycle is very long.
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In all sectors of activity where inventories account for a significant proportion of the
assets, we would strongly urge readers to study closely the impact of inventory
valuation methods on the company’s net income.

(b) Valuation methods

Under IAS, there are three main methods for valuing inventories:

. the weighted average cost method;

. the FIFO (First In, First Out) method;

. the identified purchase cost method.

Weighted average cost consists in valuing items withdrawn from the inventory at
their weighted average cost, which is equal to the total purchase cost divided by
quantities purchased.

The FIFO method values inventory withdrawals at the cost of the item that has
been held in inventory for the longest.

The identified purchase cost is used for noninterchangeable items and goods or
services produced and assigned to specific projects.

For items that are interchangeable, the IASB allows the weighted average cost
and FIFO methods but no longer accepts the LIFO method (Last In, First Out)
that values inventory withdrawals at the cost of the most recent addition to the
inventory. US GAAPs permit all methods (including LIFO) but the identified cost
method.

During periods of inflation, the FIFO method enables a company to post a
higher profit than under the LIFO method. The FIFO method values items
withdrawn from the inventory at the purchase cost of the items that were held
for longest and thus at the lowest cost, hence a high net income. The LIFO method
produces a smaller net income as it values items withdrawn from the inventory at
the most recent and, thus, the highest purchase cost. The net income figure gener-
ated by the weighted average cost method lies midway between these two figures.

Analysts need to be particularly careful when a company changes its inventory
valuation method. These changes, which must be disclosed and justified in the notes
to the accounts, make it harder to carry out comparisons between periods and may
artificially inflate net profit or help to curb a loss.

Finally, where the market value of an inventory item is less than its calculated
carrying amount, the company is obliged to recognise an impairment loss for the
difference (i.e., an impairment loss on current assets).

3/How should financial analysts treat them?

First, let us reiterate the importance of inventories from a financial standpoint.
Inventories are assets booked by recognising deferred costs. Assuming quantities
remain unchanged, the higher the carrying amount of inventories, the lower future
profits will be. Put more precisely, assuming inventory volumes remain constant
in real terms, valuation methods do not affect net profit for a given period. But,
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depending on the method used, inventory receives a higher or lower valuation,
making shareholders’ equity higher or lower accordingly.

When inventories are being built up, the higher the carrying amount of inventories,
the faster profits will appear. The reverse is true when inventories are decreasing.
Overvalued inventories that are being run down generate a fall in net income.

Hence the reticence of certain managers to scale down their production even when
demand contracts. Finally, we note that, tax-related effects apart, inventory
valuation methods have no impact on a company’s cash position.

From a financial standpoint, it is true to say that the higher the level of
inventories, the greater the vulnerability and uncertainty affecting net income for
the given period. We recommend adopting a cash-oriented approach if, in addition,
there is no market serving as a point of reference for valuing inventories, such as in
the building and public infrastructure sectors. In such circumstances, cash
generated by operating activities is a much more reliable indicator than net
income, which is much too heavily influenced by the application of inventory
valuation methods.

Inventories are merely accruals (deferred costs), which are always slightly
speculative and arbitrary in nature, even when accounting rules are applied bona
fide.

Consequently, during inflationary periods, inventories carry unrealised capital gains
that are larger when inventories are moving slower. In the accounts, these gains will
appear only as these inventories are being sold, even though these gains are there
already. When prices are falling, inventories carry real losses that will appear only
gradually in the accounts, unless the company writes down inventories.

The only financial approach that makes sense would be to work on a replacement

cost basis and, thus, to recognise gains and losses incurred on inventories each year. In
some sectors of activity where inventories move very slowly, this approach seems
particularly important. In 1993, champagne houses carried inventories at prices
that were well above their replacement cost. We firmly believe that had inventories
been written down to their replacement cost, the ensuing crisis in the sector would
have been less severe. The companies would have recognised losses in one year and
then posted decent profits the next instead of resorting to all kinds of creative
solutions to defer losses. The same can be argued regarding the loan portfolios
carried by the Japanese banks in the early 2000s.

Section 7.11

Leases

1/What are leases?

Leases allow a company to use some of its operating fixed assets (i.e., buildings,
plant and other fixed assets) under a rental system. In certain cases, the company
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may purchase the asset at the end of the contract for a predetermined and usually
very low amount (see p. 959).

Leases pose two relatively complicated problems for external financial analysts:

. First, leases are used by companies to finance the assets. Even if those items are
not shown on the balance sheet, they may represent a considerable part of a
company’s assets.

. Second, they represent a commitment whose extent varies depending on the
type of contract:

e equipment leasing may be treated as similar to debt, depending on the length
of the period during which the agreement may not be terminated;

e real estate leasing for buildings may not be treated as actual debt in view of
the termination clause contained in the contract. Nonetheless, the utility of
the leased property usually leads the company to see out the initially
determined length of the lease, and the termination of a lease may then be
treated as the early repayment of a borrowing (financed by the sale of the
relevant asset).

2/How are they accounted for?

A lease is either a finance lease or an operating lease.
A finance lease5 according to the IASB is ‘‘a lease that transfers substantially

all the risk and rewards incident to ownership of an asset. Title may or may not
eventually be transferred.’’6

An operating lease is a lease that is not a finance lease.
Under IAS, finance leases are capitalised, which means they are recorded under

fixed assets and a corresponding amount is booked under financial debt.
The lease payments to the lessor are treated partly as a reduction in financial

debt and partly as financial expense. The capitalised asset under a finance lease is
depreciated over its life. Accordingly, no rental costs are recorded on the income
statement, merely financial and depreciation costs.

Operating leases are not capitalised and are treated as rentals.
Sale and leaseback transactions, where an asset is sold only to be taken back

immediately under a lease (see Chapter 47), are restated as follows: any capital gain
on the disposal is deferred and recognised in income over the duration of the lease
for finance leases or immediately for operating leases.

3/How should financial analysts treat them?

As the reader can see, the distinction between a finance lease and an operating lease
is fairly vague; it remains nonetheless a vital one for analysing the real level of a
group’s indebtedness.

US GAAP contain precise criteria (see p. 959) used in Europe. But they may be
too precise, as companies wanting to avoid capitalising leases in their balance sheet
may artificially structure leases in a way to avoid being qualified as a finance lease,
so as not to show additional liabilities.
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Eventually, accountants may decide that all leases are financial leases. Such a
decision is not as dramatic as it seems at first sight since, when a lessee signs a
contract with a lessor and pays it a rent, this commitment gives rise to a liability, at
least from a financial point of view.

So the reader should beware of a company with large operating leases. They
add fixed costs to its income statement and raise its breakeven point.

Section 7.12

Mandatory convertible bonds

1/What are mandatory convertible bonds?

Mandatory convertible bonds are bonds that initially pay a rate of interest not
linked to the company’s earnings performance and are redeemed in shares of the
issuing company. For further details, please refer to Chapter 30 on hybrid
securities.

2/How are they accounted for?

Proceeds from the issue of mandatory convertible bonds are allocated between debt
(present value of coupons) and equity (present value of shares to be issued to
redeem the bonds). Such treatment is due to IASB seeing mandatory convertible
bonds as compound financial instruments made up of a straight bond and a
deferred issue of shares.

3/How should financial analysts treat them?

We treat mandatory convertible bonds as equity, since this is what they are certain
to become. For valuation purposes, interest payments net of tax should be reversed.
This boosts net profit and increases the number of shares outstanding to reflect
those to be issued upon redemption of the bonds.

Section 7.13

Off-balance-sheet commitments

1/What are off-balance-sheet commitments?

The balance sheet shows all the items resulting from transactions that were realised.
But it is hard to show in company accounts transactions that have not yet been
realised (e.g., the remaining payments due under an operating lease, orders placed
but not yet recorded or paid for because the goods have not yet been delivered).
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And yet such items may have a significant impact on a company’s financial
position.

2/How are they accounted for?

These commitments may have:

. either a positive impact – they are not recorded on the balance sheet, but are
stated in the notes to the accounts, hence the term ‘‘off-balance-sheet’’. These
are known as contingent assets;

. or a negative impact that causes a provision to be set aside if likely to be
realised, or gives rise to a note to the accounts if it remains a possibility
only. These are called contingent liabilities.

3/How financial analysts should treat them?

Analysts should always be concerned that a company may show some items as
off-balance entries while they should actually appear on the balance sheet. It is
therefore very important to analyse off-balance-sheet items because they reflect:

. the degree of accounting ingenuity used by the company, this judgement
provides the basis for an opinion about the quality of the published accounts;

. the subsequent arrival on the balance sheet of the effects of the commitments
(purchase of fixed assets or purchase commitment that will have to be financed
with debt, guarantees given to a failed third party that will lead to losses and
payments with nothing received in return).

The key points to watch for are as follows:

Item Comments

Financial Sureties and guarantees granted
commitments (including representations and

warranties, product warranties).
Analyse the situation of the relevant

Commitments given as partners, entity to estimate the size of the
whether unlimited or not, put commitment.
options written on assets. }
Claw-back commitments.

Same as above.

Liabilities Debts backed by tangible collateral. Reflects bankers’ confidence in the
company.

Other Orders to suppliers of fixed assets These will alter the balance sheet in
and other purchase commitments. the short term.

Transactions involving interest rate, To be assessed with regard to the
currency or commodities futures company’s financial strength.
and options (forwards, swaps,
options).
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Under IAS, companies must disclose information about instruments used to
manage interest rate and currency risks,7 whether or not they are shown in the
accounts. Consequently, future cash flows and their probability of occurrence may
be assessed.

For each type of financial instrument, a company must specify its nature and
how it is accounted for. There has been a very lively debate between the standard-
setting bodies over how the financial instruments market value should be computed
(i.e., marked to market) or even included on the balance sheet.

When companies are sold, the seller usually gives the buyer representations and
warranties (see Chapter 42), which are included in off-balance-sheet items.

Section 7.14

Preference shares
8

1/What are preference shares?

Preference shares combine characteristics of shares and bonds. They may have a
fixed dividend (bonds pay interest), a redemption price (bonds), a redemption date
(bonds). If the company were to be liquidated, the preference shareholders would
be paid a given amount before the common shareholders would have a right to
receive any of the proceeds. Sometimes the holders of preference shares may
participate in earnings beyond the ordinary dividend rate; have a cumulative
feature allowing their dividends in arrears, if any, to be paid in full before
shareholders can get a dividend, etc.

Most of the time, in exchange for these financial advantages, the preference
shares have no voting rights. They are known as actions à dividende prioritaire
(ADP) in France, Vorzugsaktien in Germany, azioni risparmio in Italy, preferred
stock in the US, etc.9

2/How are they accounted for?

Under IAS, preference shares are accounted either as equity or financial debt,
depending on the results of a ‘‘substance over form’’ analysis. If the preference
share:

. provides for mandatory redemption by the issuer at a fixed10 date in the future,
or

. if the holder has the right to put the preference share to the issuer in the future,
or

. if the preference share pays a fixed dividend regardless of the net income of the
company,

it is a financial debt.
Under US GAAP, preference shares are treated as equity.
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3/How should financial analysts treat them?

Let’s call a spade a spade: if the preference share meets all our criteria for
consideration as equity:

. returns linked solely to the company’s earnings,

. no repayment commitment,

. claims on the company ranking last in the event of liquidation,

then it is equity. If not, it is a financial debt.

Section 7.15

Perpetual subordinated loans and notes

1/What are perpetual subordinated loans and notes?

As their name suggests, these instruments are never redeemable and thus continue
to pay interest as long as the borrower remains solvent.

They have no duration because there is no contractual undertaking for
repayment, which may take place when the issuer so wishes. If the issuer is

liquidated, note holders rank for repayment after other creditors (as they are
subordinated loans) but before shareholders.

2/How are they accounted for?

Perpetuals are booked under financial debt.

3/How should financial analysts treat them?

We regard perpetual subordinated notes as financial debt. They do not meet one of
the three criteria needed to be ranked as equity: their returns are not linked to the
company’s earnings.

Section 7.16

Provisions

1/General principles

The term ‘‘provision’’ covers a wide range of different items:

. impairment losses
11 that recognise a diminution in a company’s wealth owing

to impairment in the value of an asset or the likely loss on an asset due, for
example, to the risk of uncollectibility;
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. provisions that reflect an increase in the company’s liabilities in the shorter or
longer term relating to a charge that has not yet been incurred by the financial
year-end, but is likely to arise and is connected with operations carried out
during the year. Provisions may cover restructuring, warranty, environmental,
litigation, pension costs, etc., which can be reliably estimated;

. tax-regulated provisions that stem from tax concessions and have nothing to do
with future losses or liabilities (strictly speaking they are not provisions).

Aside from tax-regulated provisions, provisions are set aside in anticipation of a
charge. Additions to provisions reduce net income in the year they are set aside and
not in the year the corresponding charge will actually be incurred. Provisions will
actually be written back the year the corresponding charge will be incurred, thereby
neutralising the impact of recognising the charges in the income statement.
Additions to provisions are therefore equivalent to an anticipation of costs.

2/ Impairment losses

(a) What are impairment losses?

Impairment losses are set aside to cover capital losses or those that may be
reasonably anticipated on assets. They cover mainly depreciation for doubtful
receivables, inventories or goodwill and other intangible assets.

(b) How are they accounted for?

These provisions are netted off against the value of the corresponding assets.
Impairment must relate to a specific and individual asset, be permanent in nature
and be borne during the period in which it is recognised. Groups tend to be discreet
about impairment in their consolidated tangible fixed assets, and analysts will be
very lucky to find any detailed explanations in the notes to the accounts.

(c) How should financial analysts treat them?

Impairment losses are netted off directly against assets and, provided that these
losses are justified, there is no need for any restatements. We consider impairment
losses on current assets as lost profit,which should thus come to reduce EBITDA.12

Conversely, we regard impairment losses on tangible fixed assets as nonrecurrent
items.

As discussed on p. 167, we consider impairment losses on intangible fixed assets
(including goodwill) as nonoperating items to be excluded from EBITDA and
EBIT.13

3/Restructuring provisions

(a) What are restructuring provisions?

Restructuring charges consist in taking a heavy upfront charge against earnings in a
given year to cover a restructuring programme (site closures, redundancies, etc.).
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The future costs of this restructuring programme are eliminated through the grad-
ual writeback of the provision, thereby smoothing future earnings performance.

(b) How are they accounted for?

Restructuring costs represent a liability if they derive from an obligation for a
company vis-à-vis third parties or members of its workforce. This liability must
arise from a decision by the relevant authority and be confirmed prior to the end of
the accounting period by the announcement of this decision to third parties and the
affected members of the workforce. The company must not anticipate anything
more from those third parties or members of its workforce. Conversely, a
relocation leading to profits further ahead in the future should not give rise to
such a provision.

(c) How should financial analysts treat them?

The whole crux of the matter boils down to whether restructuring provisions
should be recorded under operating or nonoperating items: the former are
recurrent in nature, unlike the latter. Some groups consider productivity-enhancing
restructuring charges as operating items and business shutdowns as nonrecurrent
items. This may be acceptable when the external analyst is able to verify the
breakdown between these two categories. Other companies tend to treat the
entire restructuring charge as nonrecurrent items.

Our view is that in today’s world of rapid technological change and endless
restructuring in one division or another, restructuring charges are usually structural
in nature, which means they should be charged against operating profit. The
situation may be different for SMEs,14 where those charges are more likely to be
of a nonoperating nature.

On the liability side of the balance sheet, we treat these restructuring provisions
as comparable to financial debt.

4/Provisions for employee benefits and pensions

(a) What are provisions for employee benefits and pensions?

Pension and related commitments include severance payments, early retirement
and related payments, special retirement plans, top-up plans providing guaranteed
resources and healthcare benefits, life insurance and similar entitlements that, in
some cases, are granted under employment contracts and collective labour
agreements.

A distinction is made between:

. defined benefit plans, where the employer commits to the amount or guarantees
the level of benefits defined by the agreement. This is a commitment to a certain
level of performance, usually according to the final salary and length of service
of the retiring employee. These plans may be managed internally or externally;

. defined contribution plans, where the employer commits to making regular
payments to an external organisation. Those payments are paid back to
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employees when they retire in the form of pensions together with the
corresponding investment revenue. The size of the pension payments depends
on the investment performance of the external organisation managing the plan.
The employer does not guarantee the level of the pension paid (a resource-
related obligation). This applies to most national social security systems.

(b) How are they accounted for?

Only defined benefit plans require specific information disclosures in accounts.
Contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed each year as incurred.
A defined benefit plan gives rise to a liability corresponding to the actuarial present

value of all the pension payments due at the balance sheet closing date (Projected
Benefit Obligation – PBO).

In countries where independent pension funds handle the company’s
commitments to its workforce, the market value of the pension fund’s assets are
set off against the actuarial value of the liability. The method used to assess the
actuarial value is the projected unit credit method that models the benefits vested
with the entire workforce of the company at the assessment date. It is based on
certain demographic and staff turnover assumptions (resignations, redundancies,
mortality rates, etc.).

Each year, changes in actuarial assumptions (especially the discount rate) and
changes to retirement benefit plans give rise to adjustments in the calculation of
pension liabilities. These adjustments may be recognised immediately in the income
statement. They may be amortised on a straight-line basis over the service life of
employees for amounts exceeding 10% of the provision for retirement benefit
plans.

In a move that has broadened the debate, the IASB has stipulated that all
benefits payable to employees – i.e., retirement savings, pensions, insurance and
healthcare cover and severance payments – should be accounted for. These
standards state in detail how the employee liabilities deriving from these benefits
should be calculated. US accounting standards also provide for the inclusion of
retirement benefits and commitments other than just pension obligations; i.e.,
mainly the reimbursement of medical costs by companies during the active service
life of employees.

Consequently, the net pension costs in the income statement for a given year
are mainly composed of:

. a service cost, which represents the present value of benefits earned by
employees during the year;

. an interest cost, which represents increase in the present value of the pensions
payments due at the balance sheet closing date since last year due to the
passage of time;

. an expected return on assets, which represents what management expects to
earn on the pension plan assets;

. an amortisation of unrecognised profit or loss on the pension plan assets if they
exceed 10% of the projected benefit obligation or the fair value of plan assets,
whichever is greater.

114 Fundamental concepts in financial analysis



(c) How should financial analysts treat them?

How then should we treat provisions for employees’ benefits and pensions that may
in some cases reach very high levels, as is often the case with German companies?

Our view is that provisions for retirement benefit plans are very similar to a
financial liability vis-à-vis employees. This liability is adjusted each year to reflect
the actuarial (and automatic) increase in employees’ accrued benefits, just like a
zero-coupon bond,15 where the company recognises an annual financial charge that
is not paid until the bond is redeemed. Consequently, we suggest treating such
provisions minus the market value of the pension fund’s assets as a financial debt.

In the income statement, we regard only pension service costs as operating
costs and the balance of net pension costs (interest costs, notional return on
pension assets, amortisation of various types, etc.) as financial charges. Conse-
quently the balance of net pension costs must be deducted from EBITDA and
EBIT and added to financial charges unless the company has already applied
this rule in its accounts, as it happens sometimes.

Where defined benefit plans are contracted out to a third-party company, the
charge is booked under insurance premiums and no provisions appear on the
liabilities side of the balance sheet. Hence, there is no need for restatements. This
said, the involvement of the third party does not free the company from all future
liabilities, because this third party is obliged to do its best rather than to guarantee
the results.

5/Provisions for deferred taxation

See deferred taxation.

Section 7.17

Stock options

1/What are stock options?

Stock options are options to buy existing or to subscribe to new shares at a fixed
price. Their maturity is generally between 3 and 10 years after their issuance. They
are granted free of charge to company employees, usually senior executives. Their
purpose is to motivate executives to manage the company as efficiently as possible,
thereby increasing its value and delivering them a financial gain when they exercise
the stock options. As we will see in Chapter 32, they represent one of the ways of
aligning the interests of managers with those of shareholders.

2/How are they accounted for?

Under IAS, the issuance of fully vested stock options is presumed to relate to past
service, requiring the full amount of the grant date fair value to be expensed
immediately. The issuance of stock options to employees with, say, a 4-year vesting
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period16 is considered to relate to services over the vesting period. Therefore, the
fair value of the share-based payment, determined at the grant date, should be
expensed on the income statement over the vesting period. The corresponding
entry is an increase in equity for the same amount.

Stock options are usually valued using standard option-pricing models17 with
some alterations or discounts to take into account cancellations of stock options
during the vesting period (some holders may resign), conditions which may be
attached to their exercise such as the share price reaching a minimum threshold
or outperforming an index.

3/How financial analysts should treat them

We are not in favour of expensing stock options as:

. the issuance of stock options means that existing shareholders potentially
transfer some of their ownership interests to employees without any
impoverishment for the company;

. there is no cost for the company itself, because stock option flows do not
require the company to sacrifice any cash or other assets at any point in time;

. cost recognition is inconsistent with the definition of a cost. If services are
received in a stock option payment, there is no transaction or event that
meets the definition of a cost: there is no outflow of assets and no liability is
incurred.

If the company has expensed stock options and if the amounts are material, we
recommend reversing the relevant entries.18

Section 7.18

Tangible fixed assets

1/What are tangible fixed assets?

Tangible fixed assets (property, plant and equipment19 in US accounting) comprise
land, buildings, technical assets, industrial equipment and tools, other tangible fixed

assets and tangible fixed assets in process.

Together with intangible assets, tangible fixed assets form the backbone of a
company, namely its industrial and commercial base.

2/How are they accounted for?

Tangible assets are booked at acquisition costs and depreciated over time (except
for land). IAS allow them to be revalued at fair value, but this option is not widely
used by companies except following an acquisition where it is requisite for the
tangible assets of the purchased company.20
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Some tangible fixed assets may be very substantial; they may have increased in
value (e.g., a head office, a store, a plant located in an urban centre) and thus
become much more valuable than their historical costs suggests. Conversely,
some tangible assets have virtually no value outside the company’s operations.
Though it may be an exaggeration, we can say that they have no more value
than certain startup costs.

It is clear that showing assets at historical cost, in line with the historical cost
principle, does not have any benefits for the analyst from a financial standpoint.

Note that certain companies also include interim financial expense into internally
produced fixed assets (provided that this cost is clearly identified). IAS provide for
the possibility of including borrowing costs related to the acquisition cost or the
production of fixed assets when it is likely that they will give rise to future economic
benefits for the company and that their cost be may reliably assessed. Under US
GAAP, these financial costs must be included in the cost of fixed assets.

3/How should financial analysts treat them?

The accounting policies applied with respect to fixed assets may have a significant
impact on various parameters, including the company’s or group’s net income and
apparent solvency level.

For instance, a decision to capitalise a charge by recording it as an asset
increases net income in the corresponding year, but depresses earnings performance

in subsequent periods because it leads to higher depreciation charges.
The way tangible fixed assets are accounted for:

. is formal in a capital-employed analysis of the balance sheet;

. is partial in an analysis seeking to establish the company’s value or its solvency.

Accordingly, financial analysts need to take a much closer look at changes in fixed
assets rather than fixed assets at a given point in time. The advantage of movements
is that they are shown at their current value.

Section 7.19

Treasury shares

1/What are treasury shares?

Treasury shares are shares that a company or its subsidiaries own in the company
after buying them either for the purpose:

. of stabilising the share price (i.e., for listed companies); or

. of being granted to employees – i.e., as part of a stock option plan; or

. of being remitted to holders of convertible bonds if they request conversion of
their bonds into shares; or

. simply because they were considered at a given moment to be a good
investment.
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We will examine in more detail how such situations arise in Chapter 38.

2/How are they accounted for?

Under IAS, treasury shares are systematically deducted from shareholders’ equity.

3/How should financial analysts treat them?

Whatever their original purpose, we recommend deducting treasury shares from
assets and from shareholders’ equity if this has not yet been done by accountants.
From a financial standpoint, we believe that share repurchases are equivalent to a
capital reduction, regardless of the legal treatment. Likewise, if the company sells
the shares, we recommend that these sales be analysed as a capital increase.

Treasury shares must thus be subtracted from the number of shares out-
standing when calculating earnings per share or valuing the equity.

B. Lev, Intangibles at a crossroads: What’s next? Financial Executive, 34–39, March/April 2002.

To better understand accounting rules:

International Financial Reporting Standards, a yearly publication from the IASB.

B. Epstein, A. Mirza, Interpretation and Application of International Accounting Standards,

published every year by John Wiley & Sons.

www.fasb.org, the US accounting setter website.

www.iasb.org.uk, the IASB website.

www.iasplus.com, the Deloitte website dedicated to IFRS.
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APPENDIX: MAIN DIFFERENCES BETWEEN INTERNATIONAL AND US ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

IAS US GAAP

Capitalisation of Research costs must be expensed. All R&D costs without exception must be
R&D costs Development costs may be treated as expensed as incurred.

intangible fixed assets provided that a whole
series of conditions are met related to:
f the technical feasibility of the project such

that the final asset may be used or sold;
f the intention of completing the project;
f the ability to sell or use the asset;
f the way in which the asset will generate

future profits;
f the ability to measure cost related to the

project’s development.

Consolidation Control (look to governance and risk and Majority voting rights.
policy for rewards).
subsidiaries

Construction The percentage of completion method is The percentage of completion method is the
contracts the only method accepted. recommended method. The completed

contract method may also be used.

Convertible debt Split the convertible debt into its debt and Classified as a debt.
equity components at issuance.

Extraordinary Prohibited. Permitted but restricted to infrequent,
items unusual and rare items that affect profit and

loss.

Foreign currency Currency futures belong to the group of Identical to IAS rules except for the fact that
hedging instruments subject to IAS 39 and must thus fair value hedges include firm commitments

be marked to market (with capital gains and (e.g., a signed order).
losses included in the income statement). This
rule may be overridden in certain cases when
the instrument is clearly identified as a hedge.
There are three clearly identified categories
of hedge:
f fair value hedges for an instrument

denominated in a foreign currency;
f cash flow hedges;
f investment hedges.

Impairment loss Required if certain criteria are met, except for Prohibited.
subsequent goodwill.
reversal

Intangible assets Permitted if the intangible assets trades in Prohibited.
reevaluation an active market.



120 Fundamental concepts in financial analysis

Interim financial Could be included in the cost of fixed assets. Must be included in the cost of fixed assets.
expenses on
internally
produced fixed
assets

Investment Either at cost or fair value but not equity At cost or equity value.
accounting in method.
parent company
financial
statements

Inventory cost LIFO is prohibited. LIFO is permitted.

Joint ventures Consolidated with the equity method or the Generally the equity method is used.
proportionate consolidation.

Negative Recognised immediately as a gain. Allocated on a pro-rata basis against the
goodwill carrying amounts of certain acquired

nonfinancial assets with any excess
recognised as extraordinary gain.

Preference A ‘‘substance-over-form’’ analysis is carried Rank as equity.
shares out before deciding whether to include them

in equity or financial debt.

Provisions Best estimate to settle the obligation. Low end of the range of possible amounts.

Special purpose Consolidated if controlled. Consolidated if certain criteria for qualifying
entity (SPE) SPE are not met, depends on whether the

SPE has sufficient level of equity at risk.

Startup costs The costs arising in the period following an All startup costs are expensed as incurred.
acquisition/receipt of an asset (e.g., a plant),
until the asset enters service may be
capitalised.

Stock options Expensed in the P&L based on fair value. Likely the move towards IAS.

Tangible assets Valued at historical costs or fair value. Valued at historical costs.

Adapted from ‘‘Key differences between IFS and US GAAP’’, June 2004, Deloitte.

IAS US GAAP



Part Two

Financial analysis and forecasting

In this part, we will gradually introduce more aspects of financial analysis,
including how to analyse wealth creation, investments either in working capital
or capital expenditure and their profitability. But we first need to look at how to
carry out an economic and strategic analysis of a company.





Chapter 8
How to perform a financial analysis

Opening up the toolbox

Before embarking on an examination of a company’s accounts, readers should take
the time to:

. carry out a strategic and economic assessment, with particular attention paid
to the characteristics of the sector in which the company operates, the quality
of its positions and how well its production model, distribution network and
ownership structure fit with its business strategy;

. carefully read and critically analyse the auditors’ report and the accounting
rules and principles adopted by the company to prepare its accounts. These
documents describe how the company’s economic and financial situation is
translated by means of a code (i.e., accounting) into tables of figures
(accounts).

Since the aim of financial analysis is to portray a company’s economic reality by
going beyond just the figures, it is vital to think about what this reality is and how
well it is reflected by the figures before embarking on an analysis of the accounts.
Otherwise, the resulting analysis may be sterile, highly descriptive and contain very
little insight. It would not identify problems until they have shown up in the
numbers – i.e., after they have occurred and when it is too late for investors to
sell their shares or reduce their credit exposure.

Once this preliminary task has been completed, readers can embark on the
standard type of financial analysis that we suggest and use more sophisticated
tools, such as credit scoring and ratings.

But, first and foremost, we need to deal with the issue of what financial analysis
actually is.

Section 8.1

What is financial analysis?

1/ What is financial analysis for?

Financial analysis is a tool used by existing and potential shareholders of a
company, as well as lenders or rating agencies. For shareholders, financial analysis
assesses whether the company is able to create value. It usually involves an analysis



of the value of the share and ends with the formulation of a buy or a sell recom-
mendation on the share. For lenders, financial analysis assesses the solvency and
liquidity of a company – i.e., its ability to honour its commitments and to repay its
debts on time.

We should emphasise, however, that there are not two different sets of
processes depending on whether an assessment is being carried out for shareholders
or lenders. Even though the purposes are different, the techniques used are the
same, for the very simple reason that a value-creating company will be solvent
and a value-destroying company will sooner or later face solvency problems.
Nowadays, both lenders and shareholders look very carefully at a company’s
cash flow statement because it shows the company’s ability to repay debts to
lenders and to generate free cash flows, the key value driver for shareholders.

2/Financial analysis is more of a practice than a theory

The purpose of financial analysis, which primarily involves dealing with economic
and accounting data, is to provide insight into the reality of a company’s situation
on the basis of figures. Naturally, knowledge of an economic sector and a company
and, more simply, some common sense may easily replace some of the techniques of
financial analysis. Very precise conclusions may be made without sophisticated
analytical techniques.

Financial analysis should be regarded as a rigorous approach to the issues facing

a business that helps rationalise the study of economic and accounting data.

3/ It represents a resolutely global vision of the company

It is worth noting that, although financial analysis carried out internally within a
company and externally by an outside observer is based on different information,
the logic behind it is the same in both cases. Financial analysis is intended to
provide a global assessment of the company’s current and future position.

Whether carrying out an internal or external analysis, an analyst should
endeavour to study the company primarily from the standpoint of an outsider
looking to achieve a comprehensive assessment of abstract data, such as the

company’s policies and earnings. Fundamentally speaking, financial analysis is
thus a method that helps to describe the company in broad terms on the basis of
a few key points.

From a practical standpoint, the analyst has to piece together the policies
adopted by the company and its real situation. Therefore, analysts’ effectiveness
are not measured by their use of sophisticated techniques, but by their ability to
uncover evidence of the inaccurateness of the accounting data or of serious
problems being concealed. As an example, a company’s earnings power may be
maintained artificially through a revaluation or through asset disposals, while the
company is experiencing serious cash flow problems. In such circumstances,
competent analysts will cast doubt on the company’s earnings power and track
down the root cause of the deterioration in profitability.
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We frequently see that external analysts are able to piece together the global
economic model of a company and place it in the context of its main competitors.
By analysing a company’s economic model over the medium term, analysts are able
to detect chronic weaknesses and to separate them from temporary glitches. For
instance, an isolated incident may be attributable to a precise and nonrecurring
factor, whereas a string of several incidents caused by different factors will prompt
an external analyst to look for more fundamental problems likely to affect the
company as a whole.

Naturally, it is impossible to appreciate the finer points of financial analysis
without grasping the fact that a set of accounts represents a compromise between
different concerns. Let’s consider, for instance, a company that is highly profitable
because it has a very efficient operating structure, but also posts a nonrecurrent
profit that was ‘‘unavoidable’’. As a result, we see a slight deterioration in its
operating ratios. In our view, it is important not to rush into making what may
be overhasty judgements. The company probably attempted to adjust the size of the
exceptional gain by being very strict in the way that it accounts for operating
revenues and charges.

Section 8.2

Economic analysis of companies

An economic analysis of a company does not require cutting edge expertise in
industrial economics or encyclopaedic knowledge of economic sectors. Instead, it
entails straightforward reasoning and a good deal of common sense, with an
emphasis on:

. analysing the company’s market;

. understanding the company’s position within its market;

. studying its production model;

. analysing its distribution networks; and

. lastly, identifying what motivates the company’s key people.

1/Analysis of the company’s market

Understanding the company’s market also generally leads analysts to arrive at
conclusions that are important for the analysis of the company as a whole.

(a) What is a market?

First of all, a market is not an economic sector, as statistical institutes, central
banks or professional associations would define it. Markets and economic sectors
are two completely separate concepts.

What is the market for pay TV operators such as BSkyB, Premiere, Telepiù or
Canalþ? It is the entertainment market and not just the TV market. Competition
comes from cinema multiplexes, DVDs, live sporting events rather than from ITV,
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RTL TV, Rai Uno or TF1 that mainly sell advertising slots to advertisers seeking
to target the legendary housewife below 50 years of age.

So, what is a market? A market is defined by consistent behaviour – e.g., a
product satisfying similar needs, purchased through a similar distribution network
by the same customers.

A market is therefore not the same as an economic sector. Rather, it is a niche or
space in which a business has some industrial, commercial or service-oriented
expertise. It is the arena in which it competes.

Once a market has been defined, it can then be segmented using geographical (i.e.,
local, regional, national, European, worldwide market) and sociological (luxury,
mid-range, entry level products) variables. This is also an obvious tactic by
companies seeking to gain protection from their rivals. If such a tactic succeeds,
a company will create its own market in which it reigns supreme, as does Club
Méditerranée, which is neither a tour operator nor a hotel group, nor a travel
agency, but sells a unique product. But, before readers get carried away and rush
off to create their very own markets arenas, it is well to remember that a market
always comes under threat, sooner or later.

Segmenting markets is never a problem for analysts, but it is vital to get the
segmentation right! To say that a manufacturer of tennis rackets has a 30% share
of the German racket market may be correct from a statistical standpoint, but is
totally irrelevant from an economic standpoint because this is a worldwide market
with global brands backed by marketing campaigns featuring international
champions. Conversely, a 40% share of the northern Italian cement market is a
meaningful number, because cement is a heavy product with a low unit value that
cannot be stored for long and is not usually transported more than 150–200 km
from the cement plants.

(b) Market growth

Once a financial analyst has studied and defined a market, his or her natural reflex
is then to attempt to assess the growth opportunities and identify the risk factors.
The simplest form of growth is organic volume growth – i.e., selling more and more
products.

This said, it is worth noting that volume growth is not always as easy as it may
sound in developed countries, given the weak demographic growth (0.2% p.a. in
Europe). Booming markets do exist (such as DVDs), but others are rapidly
contracting (nuclear power stations, daily newspapers, etc.) or are cyclical
(transportation, paper production, etc.).

At the end of the day, the most important type of growth is value growth. Let’s
imagine that we sell a staple product satisfying a basic need, such as bread. Demand
does not grow much and, if anything, appears to be on the wane. So we attempt to
move upmarket by means of either marketing or packaging, or by innovating. As a
result, we decide to switch from selling bread to a whole range of speciality
products, such as baguettes, rye bread and farmhouse loaves, and we start charging
C¼0.90, C¼1.10 or even C¼1.30, rather than C¼0.70 per item. The risk of pursuing
this strategy is that our rivals may react by focusing on a narrow range of
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straightforward, unembellished products that sell for less than ours; e.g., a small
shop that bakes pre-prepared dough in its ovens or the in-store bakeries at food
superstores.

Once we have analysed the type of growth, we need to attempt to predict its
duration, and this is no easy task. The famous 17th century letter writer Mme de
Sévigné once forecast that coffee was just a fad and would not last for more than a
week . . . At the other end of the spectrum, it is not uncommon to hear entre-
preneurs claiming that their products will revolutionise consumers’ lifestyles and
even outlast the wheel!

Growth drivers in a developed economy are often highly complex. They may
include:

. technological advances, new products (e.g., high-speed Internet connection,
etc.);

. changes in the economic situation (e.g., expansion of air travel with the rise in
living standards);

. changes in consumer lifestyles (e.g., eating out, etc.);

. changing fashions (e.g., blogs);

. demographic trends (e.g., the popularity of cruises owing to the ageing of the
population);

. delayed uptake of a product (e.g., Internet access in France owing to the
success of the previous generation Minitel videotext information system).

In its early days, the market is in a constant state of flux, as products are still poorly
geared to consumers’ needs. During the growth phase, the technological risk has
disappeared, the market has become established and expands rapidly, being fairly
insensitive to fluctuations in the economy at large. As the market reaches maturity,
sales become sensitive to ups and downs in general economic conditions. And, as
the market ages and goes into decline, price competition increases and certain
market participants fall by the wayside. Those that remain may be able to post
very attractive margins, and no more investment is required.

Lastly, readers should note that an expanding sector is not necessarily an
attractive sector from a financial standpoint. Where future growth has been over-
estimated, supply exceeds demand, even when growth is strong, and all market
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participants lose money. For instance, after a false start in the 1980s (when the
leading player Atari went bankrupt), the video games sector have experienced
growth rates of well over 20%, but returns on capital employed of most companies
are at best poor. Conversely, tobacco, which is one of the most mature markets in
existence, generates a very high level of return on capital employed for the last few
remaining companies operating in the sector.

(c) Market risk

Market risk varies according to whether the product in question is original
equipment or a replacement item. A product sold as original equipment will also
seem more compelling in the eyes of consumers who do not already possess it. And
it is the role of advertising to make sure this is how they feel. Conversely, should
consumers already own a product, they will always be tempted to delay replacing it
until their conditions improve and, thus, to spend their limited funds on another
new product. Needs come first! Put another way, replacement products are much
more sensitive to general economic conditions than original equipment. For
instance, sales in the European motor industry beat all existing records in 2000,
when the economy was in excellent shape, but sales slumped to new lows in 2004
when the economic conditions were poorer.

As a result, it is vital for an analyst to establish whether a company’s products
are acquired as original equipment or as part of a replacement cycle because this
directly affects its sensitivity to general economic conditions.

All too often we have heard analysts claim that a particular sector, such as the
food industry, does not carry any risk (because we will always need to eat!). These
analysts either cannot see the risks or disregard them. Granted, we will always need
to eat and drink, but not necessarily in the same way. For instance, eating out is on
the increase, while wine consumption is declining, and fresh fruit juice is growing
fast, while the average length of mealtimes is on the decline.

Risk also depends on the nature of barriers to entry to the company’s market
and whether or not alternative products exist. Nowadays, barriers to entry tend to
weaken constantly owing to:

. a powerful worldwide trend towards deregulation (there are fewer and fewer
legally enshrined monopolies – e.g., in railways or postal services);

. technological advances (e.g., the Internet);

. a strong trend towards internationalisation.

All these factors have increased the number of potential competitors and made the
barriers to entry erected by existing players far less sturdy.

For instance, the five record industry majors, Sony, Bertelsmann, Universal,
Warner and EMI, had achieved worldwide domination of their market, with a
combined market share of 85%. They have nevertheless seen their grip loosened
by the development of the Internet and artists’ ability to sell their products directly
to consumers through music downloads, without even mentioning the impact of
piracy!
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(d) Market share

The position held by a company in its market is reflected by its market share, which
indicates the share of business in the market (in volume or value terms) achieved by
the company.

A company with substantial market share has the advantage of:

. some degree of loyalty among its customers, who regularly make purchases
from the company. As a result, the company reduces the volatility of its
business;

. a position of strength vis-à-vis its customers and suppliers. Mass retailers are a
perfect example of this;

. an attractive position, which means that any small producer wishing to put
itself up for sale, any inventor of a new product or new technique or any
talented new graduate will usually come to see this market leader first, because
a company with large market share is a force to be reckoned with in its market.

This said, just because market share is quantifiable does not mean that the numbers
are always relevant. For instance, market share is meaningless in the construction
and public works market (and indeed is never calculated). Customers in this sector
do not renew their purchases on a regular basis (e.g., town halls, swimming pools
and roads have a long useful life). Even if they do, contracts are awarded through a
bidding process, meaning that there is no special link between customers and
suppliers. Likewise, building up market share by slashing prices without being
able to hold onto the market share accumulated after prices are raised again is
pointless. This inability demonstrates the second limit on the importance of market
share: the acquisition of market share must create value, otherwise it serves no
purpose.

Lastly, market share is not the same as size. For instance, a large share of a
small market is far more valuable than middling sales in a vast market.

(e) The competition

If the market is expanding, it is better to have smaller rivals than several large ones
with the financial and marketing clout to cream off all the market’s expansion.
Where possible, it is best not to try to compete against the likes of Microsoft.
Conversely, if the market has reached maturity, it is better for the few remaining
companies that have specialised in particular niches to have large rivals that will
not take the risk of attacking them because the potential gains would be too small.
Conversely, a stable market with a large number of small rivals frequently
degenerates into a price war that drives some players out of business.

But since a company cannot choose its rivals, it is important to understand
what drives them. Some rivals may be pursuing power or scale-related targets
(e.g., biggest turnover in the industry) that are frequently far removed from
profitability targets. Consequently, it is very hard for groups pursuing profitability
targets to grow in such conditions. So, how can a company achieve profitability
when its main rivals – e.g., farming cooperatives in the canned vegetables sector –
are not profit-driven? It is very hard indeed because it will struggle to develop since
it will generate weak profits and thus have few resources at its disposal.
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(f ) How does competition work?

Roughly speaking, competition is driven either by prices or by products:

. where competition is price-driven, pricing is the main, if not the only factor,
that clinches a purchase. Consequently, costs need to be kept under tight
control so that products are manufactured as cheaply as possible, product
lines need to be pared down to maximise economies of scale and the production
process needs to be automated as far as possible, etc. As a result, market share
is a key success factor since higher sales volumes help keep down unit costs (see
BCG’s famous experience curve which showed that unit costs fall by 20% when
total production volumes double in size). This is where engineers and financial
controllers are most at home! It applies to markets, such as petrol, milk, phone
calls, etc.;

. where competition is product-driven, customers make purchases based on
after-sales service, quality, image, etc., that are not necessarily pricing-related.
Therefore, companies attempt to set themselves apart from their rivals and pay
close attention to their sales and customer loyalty techniques. This is where the
marketing specialists are in demand! Think about Bang and Olufsen’s image,
Harrod’s atmosphere or the after-sales service of Volvo.

The real world is never quite as simple, and competition is rarely only price- or
product-driven, but is usually dominated by one or the other or may even be a
combination of both – e.g., lead-free petrol, vitamin-enhanced milk, caller display
services for phone calls, etc.

2/Production

(a) Value chain

A value chain comprises all the companies involved in the manufacturing process,
from the raw materials to the end product. Depending on the exact circumstances,
a value chain may encompass the processing of raw materials, R&D, secondary
processing, trading activities, a third or fourth processing process, further trading
and, lastly, the end distributor. Increasingly in our service-oriented society, grey
matter is the raw material, and processing is replaced by a series of services
involving some degree of added value, with distribution retaining its role.

The point of analysing a value chain is to understand the role played by the
market participants, as well as their respective strengths and weaknesses. Naturally,
in times of crisis, all participants in the value chain come under pressure. But some
of them will fare worse than others, and some may even disappear altogether
because they are structurally in a weak position within the value chain. Analysts
need to determine where the structural weaknesses lie. They must be able to look
beyond good performance when times are good because it may conceal such
weaknesses. Analysts’ ultimate goals are to identify where not to invest or not to
lend within the value chain.

Let’s consider the example of the film industry. The main players are:

. the production company, which plays both an artistic and a financial role. The
producer writes or adapts the screenplay and brings together a director and
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actors. In addition, the production company finances the film using its own
funds and by arranging contributions from third parties, such as co-producers
and television companies, which secure the right to broadcast the film, as well
as by earning advances from film distribution companies (guaranteed
minimum payment);

. the distributor, which also has a dual role assuming responsibility for logistics
and financial aspects. It distributes the film reels to dozens, if not hundreds, of
cinemas and promotes the film. In addition, it helps finance the film by
guaranteeing the producer minimum income from cinema operators, regardless
of the actual level of box office receipts generated by the film;

. lastly, the cinema operator that owns or leases its cinemas, organises the
screenings and collects the box office receipts.

Going beyond a review of a particular value chain, additional insight can be gained
into the balance of power by modelling the effects of a crisis and assessing the
impact on the different players. During the 1980s, the number of box office
admissions fell right across Europe owing to the advent of new TV channels and
video cassettes.

Which category of player was worst affected and has now generally lost its
independence?

Cinema operators? Granted, the fall in box office admissions led to a contrac-
tion in their sales. Some had to shut down cinemas, but since their properties were
located in town and city centres, cinema operators that owned the premises had no
trouble in finding buyers, such as banks and shops, that were prepared to pay a
decent price for these properties. The others modernised their theatres, built up
their sales of confectionery that carry very high margins and have capitalised on the
renewed growth in cinema audiences across Europe over the past 10 years.

What about the production companies? Obviously, lower audiences meant
lower box office receipts but, at the same time, other media outlets developed for
films (television channels, video cassettes), generating new sources of revenue for
film producers.

All things considered, film distribution companies were the worst hit. Some
went bankrupt, while others were snapped up by film producers or cinema opera-
tors. Film distribution companies had only one source of revenue: box office
receipts. Unlike cinema operators, they had no bricks-and-mortar assets which
could be redeveloped. Unlike film production companies, they had no access to
the alternative sources of income (royalties from pay TV or video cassettes) which
caused the slump in the number of tickets sold. They had agreed to pay a guaran-
teed minimum to film production companies based on estimated box office receipts
but, given the steady decline in admissions, these estimates systematically proved
overoptimistic. As a result, distributors failed to cover the guaranteed minimum
and were doomed to failure.

When studying a value chain, analysts need to identify weaknesses where a
particular category of player has no or very little room for manoeuvre (scope for
developing new activities, for selling operating assets with value independent of
their current use, etc.).
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(b) Production models

In a service-dominated economy, the production models used by an industrial
company are rarely analysed, even though we believe this is a very worthwhile
exercise.

The first step is to establish whether the company assumes responsibility for or
subcontracts the production function, whether production takes place in Europe or
whether it has been transferred to low-labour-cost countries and whether the
labour force is made up of permanent or temporary staff, etc. This step allows
the analyst to measure the flexibility of the income statement in the event of a
recession or strong growth in the market.

In doing so, the analyst can detect any inconsistencies between the product and
the industrial organisation adopted to produce it. As indicated in the following
diagram, there are four different types of industrial organisation:

Products: Unique, Multiple, Diversified, but Unique, complex,
custom-made, differentiated, made up of very high
designed for the not stand- standardised volumes
user ardised, components,

produced on high volumes
Processes: demand

Project: Pyramids in Egypt
Specific and temporary Cathedrals
organisation comprising experts Hubble telescope

Workshop: Aerospace
Flexibility through overcapacity, Catering
not very specialised equipment, Machine tools
multi-skilled workforce

Mass production: Customer appliances
Flexibility through semi-finished Shoes
inventories, not very qualified Textiles
or multi-skilled workforce

Process-specific: Automotive
Total lack of flexibility, but no Energy
semi-finished inventories, Sugar production
advanced automatisation, small Chemicals
and highly technical workforce

Source: adapted from J.C. Tarondeau.

The project-type organisation falls outside the scope of financial analysts. Although
it exists, its economic impact is very modest indeed.

The workshop model may be adopted by craftsmen, in the luxury goods sector
or for research purposes, but, as soon as a product starts to develop, the workshop
should be discarded as soon as possible.

Mass production is suitable for products with a low unit cost, but gives rise to
very high working capital owing to the inventories of semi-finished goods that
provide its flexibility. With this type of organisation, barriers to entry are low
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because, as soon as a process designer develops an innovative method, it can be
sold to all the market players. This type of production is frequently relocated to
emerging markets.

Process-oriented production is a type of industrial organisation that took shape
in the late 1970s and revolutionised production methods. It has led to a major
decline in working capital because inventories of semi-finished goods have almost
disappeared. It is a continuous production process from the raw material to the end
product, which requires the suppliers, subcontractors and producers to be located
close to each other and to work on a just-in-time basis. This type of production is
hard to relocate to countries with low labour costs owing to its complexity (fine-
tuning) and it does not provide any flexibility given the elimination of the
inventories of semi-finished goods. A strike affecting a supplier or subcontractor
may bring the entire group to a standstill.

EVOLUTION IN THE MOTOR INDUSTRY’S PRODUCTION MODEL

But readers should not allow themselves to get carried away with the details of
these industrial processes. Instead, readers should examine the pros and cons of
each process and consider how well the company’s business strategy fits with its
selected production model. Workshops will never be able to deliver the same
volumes as mass production!

(c) Capital expenditure

A company should not invest too early in the production process. When a new
product is launched on the market, there is an initial phase during which the
product must show that it is well suited to consumers’ needs. Then, the product
will evolve, more minor new features will be built in and its sales will increase.

From then on, the priority is to lower costs; all attention and attempts at
innovation will then gradually shift from the product to the production model.

INNOVATION IN PRODUCTS AND PRODUCTION SYSTEMS

Source: Utterback and Abernathy (1975).
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Investing too early in the production process is a mistake for two reasons. First,
money should not be invested in production facilities that are not yet stable and
might even have to be abandoned. Second, it is preferable to use the same funds to
anchor the product more firmly in its market through technical innovation and
marketing campaigns. Consequently, it may be wiser to outsource the production
process and not incur production-related risks on top of the product risk. Con-
versely, once the production process has stabilised, it is in the company’s best
interests to invest in securing a tighter grip over the production process and
unlocking productivity gains that will lead it to lower costs.

More and more, companies are looking to outsource their manufacturing or
service operations, thereby reducing their core expertise to project design and
management. Roughly speaking, companies in the past were geared mainly to
production and had a vertical organisation structure because value was concen-
trated in the production function. Nowadays, in a large number of sectors
(telecoms equipment, computer production, etc.), value lies primarily in the
research, innovation and marketing functions.

Companies therefore have to be able to organise and coordinate production
carried out externally. This outsourcing trend has given rise to companies such as
Solectron, Flextronics and Celestica, whose sole expertise is industrial manufactur-
ing and which are able to secure low costs and prices by leveraging economies of
scale because they produce items on behalf of several competing groups.

3/Distribution systems

A distribution system usually plays three roles:

. logistics: displaying, delivering and storing products;

. advice and services: providing details about and promoting the product, provid-
ing after-sales service and circulating information between the producer and
consumers, and vice versa;

. financing: making firm purchases of the product – i.e., assuming the risk of
poor sales.

These three roles are vital and, where the distribution system does not fulfil them or
does so only partially, the producer will find itself in a very difficult position and
will struggle to expand.

Let’s consider the example of the furniture retail sector. It does not perform the
financing role because it does not carry any inventories aside from a few demon-
stration items. The logistics side merely entails displaying items, and advice is
limited to say the least. As a result, the role of furniture producers is merely that
of piece workers that are unable to build their own brand (a proof of their
weakness), the only well-known brands being private-label brands, such as Ikea
and Habitat.

It is easy to say that producers and distributors have diverging interests, but
this is not true. Their overriding goal is the same: i.e., that consumers buy the
product. Inevitably, producers and distributors squabble over their respective
share of the selling price, but that is a secondary issue. A producer will never be
efficient if the distribution network is inefficient.
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The risk of a distribution network is that it does not perform its role properly and
that it restricts the flow of information between the producer and consumers, and
vice versa.

So, what type of distribution system should a company choose? This is naturally a
key decision for companies. The closer they can get to their end-customers, possibly
even handling the distribution role themselves, the faster and more accurately they
will find out what their customers want (i.e., pricing, product ranges, innovation,
etc.). And the earlier they become aware of fluctuations in trading conditions, the
sooner they will be able to adjust their output. But such choice requires special
human skills, as well as investment in logistics and sales facilities, and substantial
working capital.

This approach makes more sense where the key factor motivating customer
purchases is not pricing but the product’s image, after-sales service and quality,
which must be tightly controlled by the company itself rather than an external
player. For instance, following the Gucci Group’s decision to take control of
Yves Saint-Laurent, its first decision was to call a halt to the distribution of its
products through department stores and to concentrate it in Yves Saint-Laurent
stores.1

Being far from end-customers brings the opposite pros and cons. The requisite
investment is minimal, but the company is less aware of its customers’ preferences
and the risks associated with cyclical ups and downs are amplified. If end-
customers slow down their purchases, it may take some time before the end-retailer
becomes aware of the trend and reduces its purchases from the wholesaler. The
wholesaler will in turn suffer from an inertia effect before scaling down its
purchases from the producer, which will not therefore have been made aware of
the slowdown until several weeks or even months after it started. And, when con-
ditions pick up again, it is not unusual for distributors to run out of stock even
though the producer still has vast inventories.

Where price competition predominates, it is better for the producer to focus its
investment on production facilities to lower its costs, rather than to spread it thinly
across a distribution network that requires different expertise from the production
side.

4/The company and its people

All too often, we have heard it said that a company’s human resources are what
really count. In certain cases, this is used to justify all kinds of strange decisions.
There may be some truth to it in smaller companies, which do not have strategic
positions and survive thanks to the personal qualities and charisma of their top
managers. Such a situation represents a major source of uncertainty for lenders and
shareholders. To say that the men and women employed by a company are
important may well be true, but management will still have to establish strategic
positions and build up economic rents that give some value to the company aside
from its founder or manager.
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(a) Shareholders

From a purely financial standpoint, the most important men and women of a
company are its shareholders. They appoint its executives and determine its
strategy. It is important to know who they are and what their aims are, as we
will see in Chapter 41. There are two types of shareholder: inside and outside
shareholders.

Inside shareholders are shareholders who also perform a role within the
company, usually with management responsibilities. This fosters strong attachment
to the company and sometimes leads to the pursuit of scale-, power- and prestige-
related objectives that may have very little to do with financial targets. Outside

shareholders do not work within the company and behave in a purely financial
manner.

What sets inside shareholders apart is that they assume substantial personal
risks because both their assets and income are dependent on the same source: i.e.,
the company. Consequently, inside shareholders usually pay closer attention than a
manager who is not a shareholder and whose wealth is only partly tied up in the
company. Nonetheless, the danger is that inside shareholders may not take the
right decisions – e.g., to shut down a unit, dispose of a business or discontinue
an unsuccessful diversification venture – owing to emotional ties or out of obsti-
nacy. The Kirch Group would probably have fared better during the early 2000s
had the Group’s founder not clung on to his position as CEO well into retirement
age and had he groomed a successor.

Outside shareholders have a natural advantage. Because their behaviour is
guided purely by financial criteria, they will serve as a very useful pointer for the
group’s strategy and financial policy. This said, if the company runs into problems,
they may act very passively and show a lack of resolve that will not help managers
very much.

Lastly, analysts should watch out for conflicts among shareholders that may
paralyse the normal life of the company. As an example, disputes among the
founding family members almost ruined Gucci.

(b) Managers

It is important to understand managers’ objectives and attitudes vis-à-vis share-
holders. The reader needs to bear in mind that the widespread development of
share-option-based incentive systems in particular has aligned the managers’ finan-
cial interests with those of shareholders. We will examine this topic in greater depth
in Chapter 32.

We would advise readers to be very wary where incentive systems have been
extended to include the majority of a company’s employees. First, stock options
cannot yet be used to buy staple products and, so, salaries must remain the main
source of income for unskilled employees. Second, should a company’s position
start to deteriorate, its top talent will be fairly quick to jump ship after having
exercised their stock options before they become worthless. Those that remain on
board may fail to grasp what is happening until it is too late, thereby losing
precious time. This is what happened to so-called new economy companies,
which distributed stock options as a standard form of remuneration. It is an
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ideal system when everything is going well, but highly dangerous in the event of a
crisis because it exacerbates the company’s difficulties.

(c) Corporate culture

Corporate culture is probably very difficult for an outside observer to assess.
Nonetheless, it represents a key factor, particularly when a company embarks on
acquisitions or diversification ventures. A monolithic and highly centralised
company with specific expertise in a limited number of products will struggle to
diversify its businesses because it will probably seek to apply the same methods to
its target, thereby disrupting the latter’s impetus.

For instance, Matsushita of Japan acquired US film producer Universal, but
the deal never really worked because Matsushita’s engineering culture was far
removed from the artistic culture prevailing in Hollywood studios.

Conversely, Danone has turned itself from a European glass producer into a
worldwide food giant because its chairman fully grasped that he needed marketing
specialists rather than engineers to manage this diversification, which has now
become the group’s sole business. So, he hired staff from Procter & Gamble,
Unilever, etc.

Section 8.3

An assessment of a company’s accounting policy

We cannot overemphasise the importance of analysing the auditors’ report and
considering the accounting principles adopted, before embarking on a financial
analysis of a group’s accounts based on the guide that we will present in Section 8.4.

If a company’s accounting principles are in line with practices, readers will be
able to study the accounts with a fairly high level of assurance about their
relevance – i.e., their ability to provide a decent reflection of the company’s
economic reality.

Conversely, if readers detect anomalies or accounting practices that depart
from the norm, there is no need to examine the accounts, because they provide a
distorted picture of the company’s economic reality. In such circumstances, we can
only advise the lender not to lend or to dispose of its loans as soon as possible and
the shareholder not to buy shares or to sell any held already as soon as possible. A
company that adopts accounting principles that deviate from the usual standards
does not do so by chance. In all likelihood the company will be seeking to window-
dress a fairly grim reality. We refer readers to Chapter 7, which deals with this
issue.

To facilitate this task, the appendix to this chapter includes tables showing the
main creative accounting techniques used to distort earnings, the shape of the
income statement or the balance sheet.
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Section 8.4

Standard financial analysis plan

Experience has taught us that novices are often disconcerted when faced with the
task of carrying out their first financial analysis because they do not know where to
start and what to aim for. They risk producing a collection of mainly descriptive
comments, without connecting them or verifying their internal consistency;
i.e., without establishing any causal links.

A financial analysis is an investigation that must be carried out in a logical
order. It comprises parts that are interlinked and should not therefore be carried
out in isolation. Financial analysts are detectives, constantly on the lookout for
clues, seeking to establish a logical sequence, as well as any disruptive factors that
may be a prelude to problems in the future. The questions they most often need to
ask are: ‘‘Is this logical? Is this consistent with what I have already found? If so,
why? If not, why not?’’

We suggest that readers remember the following sentence, which can be used as
the basis for all types of financial analysis:

Wealth creation requires investments that must be financed and provide sufficient
return.

Let us analyse this sentence in more depth. A company will be able to remain viable
and ultimately survive only if it manages to find customers ready to buy its goods
or services in the long term at a price that enables it to post a sufficient operating
profit. This forms the base for everything else. Consequently, it is important to look
first at the structure of the company’s earnings. But the company needs to make
capital expenditures to start operations: acquire equipment, buildings, patents,
subsidiaries, etc. (which are fixed assets) and set aside amounts to cover working
capital. Fixed assets and working capital jointly form its capital employed.
Naturally, these outlays will have to be financed either through equity or bank
loans and other borrowings.

Once these three factors (margins, capital employed and financing) have been
examined, the company’s profitability – i.e., its efficiency – can be calculated, in
terms of either its Return On Capital Employed (ROCE) or its Return On Equity
(ROE). This marks the end of the analyst’s task and provides the answers to the
original questions: Is the company able to honour the commitments it has made to
its creditors? Is it able to create value for its shareholders?

Consequently, we have to study the company’s:

? wealth creation, by focusing on:

e trends in the company’s sales, including an analysis of both prices and
volumes. This is a key variable that sets the backdrop for a financial
analysis. An expanding company does not face the same problems as a
company in decline, in a recession, pursuing a recovery plan or experiencing
exponential growth;
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e the impact of business trends, the strength of the cycle and its implications in
terms of volumes and prices (gap vs. those seen at the top or bottom of the
cycle);

e trends in margins and particularly the EBITDA2 margin;
e an examination of the scissors effect (see Chapter 9) and the operating

leverage (see Chapter 10), without which the analysis is not very robust
from a conceptual standpoint.

? capital-employed policy; i.e., capital expenditure and working capital (see
Chapter 11);

? financing policy. This involves examining how the company has financed
capital expenditure and working capital either by means of debt, equity or
internally generated cash flow. The best way of doing so is to look at the
cash flow statement for a dynamic analysis and the balance sheet for a
snapshot of the situation at the company’s year-end (see Chapter 12).

? profitability by:

e analysing its ROCE and ROE, leverage effect and associated risk (see
Chapter 13;

e comparing actual profitability with the required rate of return (on capital
employed or shareholders’ equity) to determine whether the company is
creating value and whether the company is solvent (see Chapter 14).

In the following chapters we use the case of the Ericsson Group as an example of
how to carry out a financial analysis.

Ericsson is one of the world’s largest telecom equipment suppliers. It offers
wireless and wireline networking equipment, wireless handsets and related platform
technologies as well as some defence-related solutions.

Net sales in 2003 were C¼12.9bn in three main lines of products: systems, phones
and other (mainly defence-related) operations. It generates 48% of its sales in
Europe, the Middle East and Africa, 26% in Asia and the Pacific, 18% in North
America and 8% in Latin America.

Annual reports of Ericsson from 1999 through 2003 are now available at
www.vernimmen.com

Let’s now see the various techniques that can be used in financial analysis.

Section 8.5

The various techniques of financial analysis

1/Trend analysis or the study of the same company over

several periods

Financial analysis always takes into account trends over several years because its
role is to look at the past to assess the present situation and to forecast the future. It
may also be applied to projected financial statements prepared by the company.
The only way of teasing out trends is to look at performance over several years
(usually three where the information is available).
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Analysts need to bring to light any possible deterioration so that they can seize
on any warning signals pointing to major problems facing the company. All too
often we have seen lazy analysts look at the key profit indicators without bothering
to take a step back and analyse trends. Nonetheless, this approach has two
important drawbacks:

. trend analysis only makes sense where the data are roughly comparable from
one year to the next. This is not the case if the company’s business activities,
business model (e.g., massive use of outsourcing), or scope of consolidation
change partially or entirely, not to mention any changes in the accounting rules
used to translate its economic reality;

. accounting information is always published with a delay. Broadly speaking, the
accounts for a financial year are published between 2 and 5 months after the
year-end, and they may no longer bear any relation to the company’s present
situation. In this respect, external analysts stand at a disadvantage to their
internal counterparts who are able to obtain data much more rapidly if the
company has an efficient information system.

2/Comparative analysis or comparing similar companies

Comparative analysis consists of evaluating a company’s key profit indicators and
ratios so that they can be compared with the typical indicators and ratios of com-
panies operating in the same sector of activity. The basic idea is that one should not
get up to any more nonsense than one’s neighbours, particularly when it comes to a
company’s balance sheet. Why is that? Simply because during a recession most of
the lame ducks will be eliminated and only healthy companies will be left standing.
A company is not viable or unviable in absolute terms. It is merely more or less viable

than others.

The comparative method is often used by financial analysts to compare the
financial performance of companies operating in the same sector, by certain
companies to set customer payment periods, by banks to assess the abnormal
nature of certain payment periods and of certain inventory turnover rates and by
those examining a company’s financial structure. It may be used systematically by
drawing on the research published by organisations (such as central banks,
Datastream, Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s) that compile the financial information
supplied by a large number of companies. They publish the main financial
characteristics in a standardised format of companies operating in different sectors
of activity, as well as the norm (average) for each indicator or ratio in each sector.
This is the realm of benchmarking.

This approach has two drawbacks:

. The concept of sector is a vague one and depends on the level of detail applied.
For this approach, which analyses a company based on rival firms, to be of any
value, the information compiled from the various companies in the sector must
be consistent and the sample must be sufficiently representative.

. There may be cases of mass delusions, leading all the stocks in a particular
sector to be temporarily overvalued. Financial investors should then withdraw
from the sector.
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3/Normative analysis and financial rules of thumb

Normative analysis represents an extension of comparative analysis. It is based on
a comparison of certain company ratios or indicators with rules or standards
derived from a vast sample of companies.

For instance, there are norms specific to certain industries:

. in the hotel sector, the bed–night cost must be at least 1/1,000 of the cost of
building the room, or the sales generated after 3 years should be at least one-
third of the investment cost;

. the level of work in progress relative to the company’s shareholders’ equity in
the construction sector;

. the level of sales generated per m2 in supermarkets, etc.

There are also some financial rules of thumb applicable to all companies regardless
of the sector in which they operate and relating to their balance sheet structure:

. fixed assets should be financed by stable sources of funds;

. net debt should be no greater than around four times EBITDA;

. etc.

Readers should be careful not to set too much store by these norms that are often
not very robust from a conceptual standpoint because they are determined from
statistical studies. These ratios are hard to interpret, except perhaps where capital
structure is concerned. After all, profitable companies can afford to do what they
want, and some may indeed appear to be acting rather whimsically, but profit-
ability is what really matters. Likewise, we will illustrate in Section III of this book
that there is no such thing as an ideal capital structure.

Section 8.6

Ratings

Credit ratings are the result of a continuous assessment of a borrower’s solvency by
a specialised agency (Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s, Fitch, etc.), by banks for
internal purposes to ensure that they meet prudential ratios and by credit insurers
(e.g., Coface, Hermes, etc.). As we will see in Chapter 26, this assessment leads to
the award of a rating reflecting an opinion about the risk of a borrowing. The
financial risk derives both from:

. the borrower’s ability to honour the stipulated payments; and

. the specific characteristics of the borrowing, notably its guarantees and legal
characteristics.

The rating is awarded at the end of a fairly lengthy process. Rating agencies assess
the company’s strategic risks by analysing its market position within the sector
(market share, industrial efficiency, size, quality of management, etc.) and by
conducting a financial analysis.

The main aspects considered include trends in the operating margin, trends and
sustainability of return on capital employed, analysis of capital structure (and
notably coverage of financial expense by operating profit and coverage of net
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debt by cash generated by operations or cash flow). We will deal with these ratios in
more depth in Chapters 9–14.

Let us now deal with what may be described as ‘‘automated’’ financial analysis
techniques, to which we will not return.

Section 8.7

Scoring techniques

1/The principles of credit scoring

Credit scoring is an analytical technique intended to carry out a pre-emptive
checkup of a company.

The basic idea is to prepare ratios from companies’ accounts that are leading
indicators (i.e., 2 or 3 years ahead) of potential difficulties. Once the ratios have
been established, they merely have to be calculated for a given company and cross-
checked against the values obtained for companies that are known to have run into
problems or have failed. Comparisons are not made ratio by ratio, but globally.
The ratios are combined in a function known as the Z-score that yields a score for
each company. The equation for calculating Z-scores is as follows:

Z ¼ a þ
Xn

i¼1

�i � Ri

where a is a constant, Ri the ratios, �i the relative weighting applied to ratio Ri and
n the number of ratios used.

Depending on whether a given company’s Z-score is close to or a long way off
from normative values based on a set of companies that ran into trouble, the
company in question is said to have a certain probability of experiencing trouble
or remaining healthy over the following 2- or 3-year period. Originally developed in
the US during the late 1960s by Edward Altman, the family of Z-scores has been
highly popular, the latest version of the Z 00 equation being:

Z00 ¼ 6:56X1 þ 3:26X2 þ 6:72X3 þ 1:05X4

where X1 is working capital/total assets, X2 is retained earnings/total assets, X3 is
operating profit/total assets and X4 is shareholders’ equity/net debt.

If Z 00 is less than 1.1, the probability of corporate failure is high, and if Z 00 is
higher than 2.6, the probability of corporate failure is low, the grey area being
values of between 1.1 and 2.6. The Z 00-score has not yet been replaced by the Zeta
Score, which introduces into the equation the criteria of earnings stability, debt
servicing and balance sheet liquidity.

2/Benefits and drawbacks of scoring techniques

Scoring techniques represent an enhancement of traditional ratio analysis, which is
based on the isolated use of certain ratios. With scoring techniques, the problem of
the relative importance to be attached to each ratio has been solved because each is
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weighted according to its ability to pick out the ‘‘bad’’ companies from the ‘‘good’’
ones.

This said, scoring techniques still have a number of drawbacks.
Some weaknesses derive from the statistical underpinnings of the scoring

equation. The sample needs to be sufficiently large, the database accurate and
consistent and the period considered sufficiently long to reveal trends in the
behaviour of companies and to measure its impact.

The scoring equation has to be based on historical data from the fairly recent
past and, thus, needs to be updated over time. Can the same equation be used
several years later when the economic and financial environment in which
companies operate may have changed considerably? It is thus vital for scoring
equations to be kept up to date.

The design of scoring equations is heavily influenced by their designers’ top
priority; i.e., to measure the risk of failure for small- and medium-sized enterprises.
They are not well suited for any other purpose (e.g., predicting in advance which
companies will be highly profitable) or for measuring the risk of failure for large
groups. Scoring equations should thus be used only for companies whose business
activities and size is on a par with those in the original sample.

Scoring techniques, which are a straightforward and rapid way of synthesising
figures, have considerable appeal. Their development may even have perverse self-
fulfilling effects. Prior awareness of the risk of failure (which scoring techniques aim
to provide) may lead some of the companies’ business partners to adopt behaviour
that hastens their demise. Suppliers may refuse to provide credit, banks may call in
their loans, customers may be harder to come by because they are worried about
not receiving delivery of the goods they buy or not being able to rely on after-sales
service, etc.

Section 8.8

Expert systems

Expert systems comprise software developed to carry out financial analysis using a
knowledge base consisting of rules of financial analysis, enriched with the result of
each analysis performed. The goal of expert systems is to develop lines of reasoning
akin to those used by human analysts. This is the realm of artificial intelligence.

To begin with, the company’s latest financial statements and certain market
and social indicators are entered and serve as the basis for the expert system’s
analysis. It then poses certain questions about the company, its environment and
its business activities to enrich the database. It proceeds on a step-by-step basis by
activating the rules contained in its database.

Third, the expert system produces a financial report that may comprise an
assessment of the company, plus recommendations about certain measures that
need to be considered.

The goal is to develop a tool providing early warnings of corporate failures,
which can, for instance, be used by financial institutions.
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APPENDIX 8A: ACCOUNTING PROCEDURES WITH AN IMPACT ON EARNINGS

Main items affected Mechanism used Impact on the accounts Drawbacks

Fixed assets and
financial expense

Financial expense included in the
cost of fixed assets produced
internally by the company

. Increase in earnings in the
year when the charges are
transferred

. Decrease in earnings in the
year of the transfer and
following years through
depreciation of the fixed asset
produced

Procedure often regarded as
exceptional in practice

Development costs Development costs capitalised on
the balance sheet

. Increase in earnings in the
year the development costs
are capitalised

. Decrease in earnings in the
year of the transfer and
following years through
amortisation of the fixed asset
produced

. Impact of the date chosen to
start amortisation

. Conditions relating to
individualised projects,
technical feasibility and
commercial profitability must
be satisfied

. Risk of a boomerang effect
whereby development
research costs may have to be
capitalised artificially to offset
the impact of amortising past
expenditure

Fixed assets Sale and leaseback; i.e., the sale
of a fixed asset, which is then
leased back by the company

. A leaseback gain may be
recorded on the sale

. Leasing costs are recorded for
the duration of the lease

. Artificial increase in earnings
because the company
undertakes to pay leasing
costs for a certain period

. Hence it is recommended that
the capital gain should be
spread over the relevant
period

Depreciation and
amortisation

When a depreciation schedule is
drawn up, a company has
numerous options:
. Determine the likely useful life
. Fix a residual value
. Take into account the rate of

use
. Use physical working units,

etc.

Depending on the option
selected, the size of depreciation
and amortisation allowances may
change, leading to a change in
the profile of depreciation and
amortisation over time

. Need for a depreciation
schedule

. Methods to be applied
consistently

Depreciation and
fixed assets

Revise the depreciation schedule,
e.g. by increasing (or decreasing)
the residual depreciation period

Decrease (or increase) in future
allowances over a longer
(shorter) period

Change in accounting method:
disclosures required in the notes
to the accounts

Depreciation and
intangible assets or
investment

Understatement (overstatement)
of impairment losses on
investment or intangible assets
(goodwill), notably made
possible by the existence of
various different valuation
methods

. Increase (or decrease) in
earnings when the impairment
losses are recognised;

. Opposite effect when the
impairment losses are
reversed

. Prudence principle;

. Boomerang effect when the
impairment losses are
reversed

Inventories Financial expense included in the
production cost of inventories

. Increase in earnings in the
year when the charges are
transferred;

. Decrease in earnings when the
inventory is eliminated

Justification and amount of the
relevant expenses must be
disclosed in the notes to the
accounts
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APPENDIX 8A: ACCOUNTING PROCEDURES WITH AN IMPACT ON EARNINGS (cont.)

Main items affected Mechanism used Impact on the accounts Drawbacks

Inventories Change in inventory valuation
method

Earnings modified as a result of
the change

Change in accounting method:
disclosures must be disclosed in
the notes to the accounts

Inventories Incorporation of costs related to
below-normal activity in the
valuation of items held in
inventory

. Transfer of the loss arising
from below-normal activity to
the following year

. Increase in earnings for the
current year

. Decrease in earnings for the
following year

. IASB states that the cost of
below-normal activity should
not be taken into account in
inventory valuations

. It is hard to determine the
normal level of production

Impairment losses
and current assets

. Understatement/
(overstatement) of impairment
losses on doubtful receivables

. Understatement/
(overstatement) of impairment
losses on inventories

. Increase (or decrease) in
earnings when the impairment
losses are recognised

. Opposite effect when the
impairment losses are
reversed

. Conservatism principle

. Boomerang effect when the
impairment losses are
reversed

Deferred costs and
start-up costs
(especially pre-
opening and
research costs)

Change in accounting method:
. Deferral of charges through

amortisation whereas the
charges were previously
recorded in an earlier year

. or vice versa

. Deferral of charges

. Or, on the contrary,
recognition of changes in a
single period

. Consistency principle
undermined

. Disclosures required in the
notes to the accounts

Costs related to the
acquisition of fixed
assets

Acquisition-related costs (which
cannot be included in acquisition
costs) – e.g., professional fees,
commission payments,
registration fees left under costs
or deferred costs

. Immediate decrease in
earnings if left under costs

. Deferral of costs if transferred
to assets

Consistency principle (type of
costs, amortisation period)

Grants and
subsidies

. Investment subsidy added to
shareholders’ equity

. Several possibilities for its
inclusion on the income
statement

. Affects return on invested
capital calculations

Consistency principle

Provisions for
liabilities and
charges

Provisions for restructuring.
Several problems exist:
. What is the decision date?
. Degree of precision and

impact on the valuation;
. Recognition of potential capital

gains in the assessment of the
provision

. Impact on earnings depends
on the size of the provision

. Opposite effect when reversed

. Consistency principle

. Checked by auditors

Financial income Artificial sale of securities – i.e.,
sale followed by repurchase

Unrealised capital gain turned
into a real capital gain

. Transaction expenses

. Neutral impact on cash

Financial income Securities sold with a repurchase
option at a fixed price (i.e., less
accrued interest) for a certain
period

. Unrealised capital gain turned
into a real capital gain

. Shape of balance sheet
improves: financing
guaranteed by securities with
no increase in debt

. Payment of accrued interest
and decrease in earnings in
the year the option is
exercised

. Where the parties intend to
return the securities sold
within the given period, the
capital gain arising on the sale
is eliminated and a provision
set aside for the accrued
interest



147Chapter 8 How to perform a financial analysis

APPENDIX 8A: ACCOUNTING PROCEDURES WITH AN IMPACT ON EARNINGS (cont.)

Main items affected Mechanism used Impact on the accounts Drawbacks

Goodwill Goodwill allocated to
nondepreciable items (i.e.,
brands, etc.) with no revaluation
of depreciable items (i.e., fixed
assets)

No reduction in consolidated
earnings in future years

. Hard to establish the value of
brands

. Closely watched by auditors

. Requires an annual
impairment review and
possibly recognition of
impairment losses

Scope of
consolidation

Change in scope of consolidation
to include profitable subsidiaries.
Use of the following options:
. Concept of nonmaterial

subsidiaries
. Fully consolidated when less

than 50%-owned

Change in earnings dependent
on the change in the scope of
consolidation

. Consistency principle

. Disclosure of details adjusted
for the change in scope of
consolidation

Deferred taxation Recognition of deferred tax
assets

Increase in consolidated earnings . Conservatism principle
. Restrictive conditions to be

checked (in particular, it must
be probable that the company
will return to profit). Hence
the need for verifiable
budgeted statements based on
conservative and coherent
assumptions

Accounting year-end Change in the year-end date The company may hope to
increase its earnings during the
additional months

Numerous drawbacks:
organisation of accounting,
consolidation and tax
arrangements

Earnings generated
by subsidiaries

Accelerate the transfer of
subsidiaries’ earnings
Profitable subsidiaries:
. Interim dividends
. Difference in year-end dates
. Partnership status
Loss-making subsidiaries:
. Subsidies or debt waivers
. Impairment losses proportional

to the change in shareholders’
equity

. Partnership status

Positive or negative impact on
earnings depending on the entry

Works for unconsolidated
accounts

Excerpt adapted from H. Stolowy, Comptabilité Creative, Encyclopédie de Comptabilité, Contrôle de Gestion et Audit, pp. 157–178,
Economica 2000.
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APPENDIX 8B: ACCOUNTING PROCEDURES WITH AN IMPACT ON THE SHAPE OF THE BALANCE SHEET

Main items affected Mechanism used Impact on the accounts Drawbacks

Fixed assets Sale and leaseback;1 i.e., the
sale of a fixed asset, which is
then leased back by the
company

Reduction in debt . Artificial improvement in
financial situation

. Restatement of the lease
shows the real level of debt

Fixed assets and
shareholders’
equity

Revaluation of tangible fixed
assets

. Increase in assets

. Increase in shareholders’
equity (an attractive way of
building capital back up for
thinly capitalised companies)

Revaluation gains may be liable
to tax

Trade receivables Discounting of a bill of exchange
or promissory note

Accounting view:
. Reduction in working capital
. Reduction in debt

After restatement:
. No reduction in working

capital
. No reduction in debt

Trade receivables Securitisation: sale of receivables
to a mutual fund in return for
cash

Reduction in working capital and
debt

Need to be restated in financial
analysis

Shareholders’
equity

Issue of hybrid securities that
are hard to classify between debt
and equity

Change in gearing and return on
equity

Minority interests Inclusion in shareholders’ equity,
with debt apportioned
separately, or other solutions

Change in gearing and return on
equity

Borrowings Use of sale and operating
leaseback

Operating lease-related debt
does not appear on the balance
sheet

More likely than not to be
restated in a financial analysis

Minority interests Inclusion in shareholders’ equity,
with debt apportioned
separately, or other solutions

Change in gearing and return on
equity

1 This mechanism also serves to alter the level of earnings (see Appendix 8A).



The aim of financial analysis is to explain how a company can create value in the medium
term (shareholders’ viewpoint) or to determine whether it is solvent (lenders’ standpoint).
Either way, the techniques applied in financial analysis are the same.

First of all, financial analysis involves a detailed examination of the company’s economics;
i.e., the market in which it operates, its position within this market and the suitability of
its production, distribution and human ressources management systems to its strategy.
Next, it entails a detailed analysis of the company’s accounting principles to ensure that
they reflect and not distort the company’s economic reality. Otherwise, there is no need to
study the accounts, since they are not worth bothering with, and the company should be
avoided like the plague, as far as shareholders, lenders and employees are concerned.

A standard financial analysis can be broken down into four stages:

. Wealth creation (sales trends, margin analysis) . . .

. . . . requires capital employed (fixed assets, working capital) . . .

. . . . that must be financed (by internal financing, shareholders’ equity or bank loans
and borrowings) . . .

. . . . and be sufficiently profitable (return on capital employed, return on equity,
leverage effect).

Only then can the analyst come to a conclusion about the solvency of the company and its
ability to create value.

Analysts may use trend analysis, which uses past trends to assess the present and predict
the future; comparative analysis, which uses comparisons with similar companies
operating in the same sector as a point of reference; and normative analysis, which is
based on financial rules of thumb.

Ratings represent an evaluation of a borrower’s ability to repay its borrowings. Ratings
are produced through a comprehensive financial analysis of groups, part of whose debt is
traded on a market. The process is greatly facilitated by the use of scoring techniques by
credit insurers and banks for their internal purposes.

Scoring techniques are underpinned by a statistical analysis of the accounts of
companies, which are compared with accounts of companies that have experienced
problems, including bankruptcy in some cases. This automated process yields a
probability of corporate failure. Scoring is primarily used for small- and medium-sized
companies.

1/Do shareholders and lenders carry out financial analysis in the same way?

2/What are the two prerequisites for financial analysis?

3/Is a market an economic sector? Why?

4/Why is there less risk on an original equipment market than on a replacement
product market?

5/When a new product is launched, should the company invest in the production
process or in the product itself? Why?

6/What is a standard financial analysis plan?
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7/What standard ratios are applicable to all companies?

8/When is it possible to compare the EBIT of two companies?

9/What criticism can be directed at scoring techniques?

10/Why does the financial expense/EBITDA ratio play such a fundamental role in scoring
techniques?

11/What are the strengths of a trends analysis?

12/Why start a financial analysis with a study of wealth creation?

13/Is financial analysis always doomed to be too late to be useful?

14/What is your view of the Italian proverb traduttore, traditore (to translate is to
betray)?

15/Why will vertical integration be dismissed as being of little value after an analysis of
the value chain?

16/What assumptions are made in a comparative financial analysis, especially on an
international scale?

1/Carry out an analysis of the frozen chicken value chain and decide which participants
in the value chain are in a structurally weak position. The main participants in the
chicken value chain are:

e research: genetic selection of the best laying hens;
e breeding of laying hens: a laying hen lays eggs for 18 months nonstop, after

which it is sold to the pet food industry;
e hatcheries: the eggs are placed in incubators stacked in batteries for an 18-day

incubation period followed by a 3-day hatching period, and kept at the appro-
priate temperature and level of humidity;

e rearing: chickens are reared for around 40 days, until they reach a weight of
1.8 kg. This function provides additional income for a couple who, thanks to
computerised equipment, only need to spend 2–3 hours/day attending to the
chickens;

e feed: produced by animal feed groups, which develop subtle blends of wheat,
maize and soya or rape seed proteins;

e slaughterhouses: 20,000 chickens are anaesthetised, decapitated, processed,
and frozen per hour, then exported mainly to the Middle East.
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2/Guizzardi is one of the main Italian producers of synthetic raincoats. It sells two
product ranges – the fashion and the classic raincoat – through supermarkets.
Most of the Guizzardi workforce is paid the minimum wage.

Key figures (C¼m):
2001 2002 2003

Sales 256 326 422

Raw materials used 78 104 143

Personnel cost 102 139 190

Operating income 41 52 59

Net income 23 27 30

Shareholders’ equity 119 129 152

Net bank borrowings 42 125 150

(a) What is your view on the financial health of Guizzardi?
(b) Would you be of the same opinion if you had carried out an analysis beforehand

of the company’s value chain and simulated the impact of a crisis in 2004 (11%
increase in labour costs due to introduction of a shorter working week with no
reduction in wages, 40% rise in cost of raw materials due to the drop in the
value of the euro against the dollar and the 2004 hike in the price of oil), with a
17% drop in the price of cotton in 2003?
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3/The table below appears on p. 2 of the annual report of the Norne group:

Key financials (unaudited, in millions of $, excluding earnings per share and
dividends):

1996 1997 1998 1999 2000

Sales 13,289 20,273 31,260 40,112 100,789

Net income:
EBIT 493 515 698 957 1,266
Items impacting comparability 91 �410 5 �64 �287

Total 584 105 703 893 979

Diluted earnings per share:
EBIT 0.91 0.87 1.00 1.18 1.47
Items impacting comparability 0.17 �0.71 0.01 �0.08 �0.35

Total 1.08 0.16 1.01 1.10 1.12

Dividend per share 0.43 0.46 0.48 0.50 0.50

Total assets 16,137 22,552 29,350 33,381 65,503

Cash from operating activities 742 276 1,873 2,228 3,010
(excluding change in working capital)
Capital expenditures 1,483 2,092 3,564 3,085 3,314

Share price at 31 Dec 22 21 29 44 83

State your views.

Questions

1/Yes, because a company that creates value (for shareholders) will be solvent (for
lenders).

2/An understanding of the company’s ‘‘economics’’ (market, competitive position,
production and distribution system, staff ) and the accounting principles used.

3/No, a market is defined by consistent behaviour of customers who buy products in
order to meet similar needs.

4/The replacement products market is far more sensitive to general economic con-
ditions because, when consumers already own a product, they can postpone replac-
ing it until the economy picks up.

5/When a product is launched, it is better to invest in the product and the marketing
thereof than in the production facilities or process that could change in the future.

6/Wealth creation requires investments that must be financed and be sufficiently profit-
able.

7/None.
8/When the companies operate in the same sector.
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9/To be effective, a sample must be sufficiently large and scores need to be updated
regularly. Priority is to measure the risk of failure, which may have perverse self-
fulfilling effects.

10/Because it reveals both high levels of debt (substantial financial expense) and low
returns (low EBITDA).

11/ It helps in understanding the company’s strategy.
12/Because this is the very reason the company exists.
13/ In theory, yes, if the analyst merely studies the company’s financial statements. In

practice, no, if the analyst has factored in the ‘‘economics’’ of the company.
14/This saying demonstrates why it is important to take a close look at the accounting

principles used by the company.
15/Because, in a value chain, there are positions of structural weakness, where it is

better to let others invest, even if it means handling them through supply contracts.
16/Comparable accounting principles.

Exercises

1/Position of structural weakness: (a) breeding of laying hens – in times of crisis, all of
the hens (which are unable to stop laying) have to be slaughtered and sold at a
knockdown price to pet food manufacturers (the couple thus lose their asset and
their source of income); (b) the hatchery and chicken rearing – no special skills or
technology required. Position of strength: (a) research and animal feed – many
opportunities outside the chicken segment; (b) the slaughterhouse – control over
the whole of the chain upstream, through supply contracts and sales to the finished
product.

2/ (a) Very good financial health, with a 20% return on equity in 2003 and 12% ROCE
with sales growing briskly. (b) Guizzardi is in a position of structural weakness which
is hidden by the good performance of the very volatile fashion range. It has no
control over 92% of its costs (labour, oil, dollar). Its customers – supermarkets –
would be reluctant to increase sales prices given that the competition (manufacturers
of cotton raincoats) is not facing the same problems (drop in the price of cotton, rise
in the price of oil). It is too small a business to expect any help from its suppliers (the
big petrochemical groups).

3/Why have these figures not been audited? Are the negative items impacting compar-
ability really nonrecurring (3 out of 5 years)? Should the presentation of the results
not be improved? Why talk about cash flow from operating activities excluding
changes in working capital – change in working capital is a natural constituent of
cash flow from operating activities. The share is very highly valued (adjusted P/E of
56 (74 nonadjusted). All of the above should set alarm bells ringing. These are in fact
the financial statements for Enron, which went bankrupt with a big bang in 2001.
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Chapter 9
Margin analysis: Structure

If financial analysis were a puppet, company strategy would be pulling
its strings

An analysis of a company’s margins is the first step in any financial analysis. It is a
key stage because a company that does not manage to sell its products or services
for more than the corresponding production costs is clearly doomed to fail. But, as
we will see, positive margins are not sufficient on their own to create value or to
escape bankruptcy.

Net income is what is left after all the revenues and charges shown on the
income statement have been taken into account. Readers will not therefore be very
surprised to learn that we will not spend too much time on analysing net income as
such. A company’s performance depends primarily on its operating performance,
which explains why operating profit is the focus of analysts’ attention. Financial
and nonrecurrent items are regarded as being almost ‘‘inevitable’’ or ‘‘automatic’’
and are thus less interesting, particularly when it comes to forecasting a company’s
future prospects.

For the purposes of this chapter, we will assume that the analyst has drawn up
an income statement as shown on pp. 173 and 174, which will serve as a point of
reference. What’s more, we will assume that additional information, such as aver-
age headcount, sales and production volumes, as well as industry data, such as
prices in the sector and rivals’ market share, is also available.

The first step in margin analysis is to examine the accounting practices used by
the company to draw up its income statement. We dealt with this subject in Chapter
8 and will not restate it here, except to stress how important it is. Given the
emphasis placed by analysts on studying operating profit (or EBIT1), there is a
big temptation for companies to boost their operating profit by transferring
operating charges to financial or nonrecurring items.

The next stage involves a trend analysis based on an examination of the
revenues and charges that determined the company’s operating performance.
This is useful only insofar as it sheds light on the past to help predict the
future. Therefore, it is based on historical data and should cover several
financial years. Naturally, this exercise is based on the assumption that the
company’s business activities have not altered significantly during the period
under consideration.

1 Earnings Before
Interest and
Taxes.



The main aim here is to calculate the rate of change in the main sources of revenue
and the main costs, to examine their respective trends and, thus, to account for the
relative change in the margins posted by the company over the period.

The main potential pitfall in this exercise is to adopt a purely descriptive approach,
without much or any analytical input; e.g., statements such as ‘‘personnel cost
increased by 10%, rising from 100 to 110 . . .’’.

Margin trends are a reflection of a company’s:

. strategic position, which may be stronger or weaker depending on the scissors
effect; and

. risk profile, which may be stronger or weaker depending on the breakeven
effect that we will examine in Chapter 10.

All too often the strategic aspects are neglected, with the lion’s share of the study
being devoted to figures and no assessment being made of what these figures tell
us about a company’s strategic position.

As we saw in Chapter 8, analysing a company’s operating profit involves assessing
what these figures tell us about its strategic position, which directly influences the
size of its margins and its profitability:

. a company lacking any strategic power will sooner or later post a poor, if not a
negative operating performance;

. a company with strategic power will be more profitable than the other
companies in its business sector.

In our income statement analysis, our approach therefore needs to be far more
qualitative than quantitative.

Section 9.1

How operating profit is formed

By-nature format income statements (raw material purchases, personnel cost, etc.),
which predominate in continental Europe, provide a more in-depth analysis than
the by-function format that developed in the Anglo-Saxon tradition of accounting
(cost of sales, selling and marketing costs, research and development costs, etc.).
Granted, analysts only have to page through the notes to the accounts for the more
detailed information that they need to get to grips with the following questions. In
most cases, they will at best be able to work back towards EBITDA2 by using the
depreciation and amortisation data that must be included in the notes or in the cash
flow statement.
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1/Sales

Sales trends are an essential factor in all financial analysis and company assess-
ments. A company whose business activities are expanding rapidly, stagnating,
growing slowly, turning lower or depressed will encounter different problems. An
examination of sales trends sets the scene for an entire financial analysis.
Sales growth forms the cornerstone for all financial analysis. Sales growth needs to
be analysed in terms of volume (quantities sold) and price trends, organic and
acquisition-led growth.

Before sales volumes can be analysed, acquisition-led growth needs to be separated
from the company’s organic growth, so that like can be compared with like. This
means analysing the company’s performance (in terms of its volumes and prices) on
a comparable structure basis and then assessing additions to and withdrawals from
the scope of consolidation. In practice, most groups publish pro forma accounts in
the notes to their accounts showing the income statements for the relevant and
previous periods based on the same scope of consolidation and using the same
consolidation methods.

If a company is experiencing very brisk growth, analysts will need to look
closely at the growth in operating costs and the financial requirements generated
by this growth.

A company experiencing a period of stagnation will have to scale down its
operating costs and financial requirements. As we will see later in this chapter,
production factors do not have the same flexibility profile when sales are growing
as when sales are declining.

Where a company sells a single product, volume growth can easily be
calculated as the difference between the overall increase in sales and that in the
selling price of its product. Where it sells a variety of different products or services,
analysts face a trickier task. In such circumstances, they have the option of either
working along the same lines by studying the company’s main products or
calculating an average price increase, based on which the average growth in
volumes can be estimated.

An analysis of price increases provides valuable insight into the extent to which
overall growth in sales is attributable to inflation. This can be carried out by
comparing trends in the company’s prices with those in the general price index
for its sector of activity. Account also needs to be taken of currency fluctuations
and changes in the product mix, which may sometimes significantly affect sales,
especially in consolidated accounts.

In turn, this process helps to shed light on the company’s strategy; that is:

. whether its prices have increased through efforts to sell higher value-added
products;

. whether they have been hiked owing to a lack of control on administrative
overheads, which will gradually erode its sales performance;

. whether the company has lowered its prices in a bid to pass on efficiency gains
to customers and thus to strengthen its market position;

. etc.
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In the retail sector, the sales density ratio (i.e., sales per m2 calculated as sales/sales
space) measures the company’s performance and is a key strategic indicator.
Consequently, the sale density ratio obviously needs to be calculated, measured
and its annual fluctuations need to be accounted for.

Key points and indicators:
. The rate of growth in sales is the key indicator that needs to be analysed.
. It should be broken down into volume and price trends, as well as into product

and regional trends.
. These different rates of growth should then be compared with those for the

market at large and (general and sectoral) price indices. Currency effects
should be taken into account.

. The impact of changes in the scope of consolidation on sales needs to be
studied.

2/Production

Sales represent what the company has been able to sell to its customers. Production
represents what the company has produced during the year and is computed as
follows:

Production sold; i.e., sales
þ Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress at cost price;
þ Production for own use, reflecting the work performed by the company for itself and

carried at cost
¼ Production

First and foremost, production provides a way of establishing a relationship
between the materials used during a given period and the corresponding sales
generated. As a result, it is particularly important where the company carries
high levels of inventories or work in progress. Unfortunately, production is not
entirely consistent insofar as it lumps together:

. production sold (sales), shown at the selling price;

. changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress and production
for own use, stated at cost price.

Consequently, production is primarily an accounting concept that depends on the
methods used to value the company’s inventories of finished goods and work in
progress.

A faster rate of growth in production than in sales may be the result of serious
problems:

. overproduction, which the company will have to absorb in the following year by
curbing its activities, bringing additional costs;

. overstatement of inventories’ value, which will gradually reduce the margins
posted by the company in future periods.
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Production for own use does not constitute a problem unless its size seems
relatively large. From a tax standpoint, it is good practice to maximise the
amount of capital expenditure that can be expensed, in which case production
for own use is kept to a minimum. An unusually high amount may conceal
problems and an effort by management to boost book profit superficially.

Key points and indicators:
. The growth rate in production and the production/sales ratio are the two key

indicators.
. They naturally require an analysis of production volumes and inventory

valuation methods.

3/Gross trading profit

Gross trading profit is the difference between the selling price of goods for resale and
their purchase cost. It is useful only in the retail and wholesale sectors, where it is a
crucial indicator, and it helps to shed light on a company’s strategy. It is usually
more stable than its components (i.e., sales and the cost of goods for resale sold).

4/Raw materials used and other operating costs

This is another arena in which price and volume effects are at work, but it is almost
impossible to separate them out because of the variety of items involved. At this
general level, it is very hard to calculate productivity ratios for raw materials.
Consequently, analysts may have to make do with a comparison between the
rate of growth in cost of sales and that in net sales (for by-function income
statements) or the rate of growth of raw material and other operating costs and
that in production (by-nature income statements). A sustained difference between
these figures may be attributable to changes in the products manufactured by the
company or improvements (deterioration) in the production process.

Conversely, internal analysts may be able to calculate productivity ratios based
on actual raw material costs used in the operating cycle since they have access to
the company’s management accounts.

Key points and indicators:
. What are the main components of this item (raw materials, transportation

costs, energy, advertising, etc.), and to what extent have they changed and
are they forecast to change?

. Have there been any major changes in the price of each of these components?

5/Value added

This represents the value added by the company to goods and services purchased
from third parties through its activities. It is equivalent to the sum of gross trading
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profit and profit on raw materials used, less other goods and services purchased
from third parties.

It may thus be calculated as follows for by-nature income statements:

Gross trading profit
þ Profit on raw materials used
� Other operating costs
¼ Value added

Other operating costs comprise outsourcing costs, property or equipment rental
charges, the cost of raw materials and supplies that cannot be held in inventory
(i.e., water, energy, small items of equipment, maintenance-related items, adminis-
trative supplies, etc.), maintenance and repair work, insurance premiums, studies
and research costs, external personnel charges, fees payable to intermediaries and
professional costs, advertising costs, transportation charges, travel costs, the cost of
meetings and receptions, postal charges and bank charges (i.e., not interest on bank
loans, which is booked under interest expense).

For by-function income statements, value added may be calculated as follows:

Operating profit (EBIT)
þ Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses on fixed assets
þ Personnel costs
þ Tax other than corporate income tax
¼ Value added

At company level, value added is of interest only insofar as it provides valuable insight

regarding the degree of a company’s integration within its sector. It is not uncommon
for an analyst to say that average value added in sector X stands at A, as opposed
to B in sector Y . But such comparisons may be seriously flawed, especially if a
company relies heavily on outsourcing.

Besides that, we do not regard the concept of value added as being very useful.
In our view, it is not very helpful to make a distinction between what a company
adds to a product or service internally and what it buys in from the outside. This is
because all a company’s decisions are tailored to the various markets in which it
operates; i.e., the markets for labour, raw materials, capital and capital goods, to
cite but a few. Against this backdrop, a company formulates a specific value
creation strategy; i.e., a way of differentiating its offering from that of its rivals
in order to generate a revenue stream.

This is what really matters – not the internal/external distinction.
In addition, value added is only useful where a market-based relationship exists

between the company and its suppliers in the broad sense of the term – e.g.,
suppliers of raw materials, capital providers, and suppliers of labour. In the food
sector, food processing companies usually establish special relationships with the
farming industry. As a result, a company with a workforce of 1,000 may actually
keep 10,000 farmers in work. This raises the issue of what such a company’s real
value added is.

Where a company has established special contractual ties with its supplier base,
the concept of value added loses its meaning.
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Value added is a useful concept only where a market-based relationship exists
between a company and its suppliers.

6/Personnel cost

This is a very important item, because it is often high in relative terms and because
it is usually very inert. Although personnel cost is theoretically a variable cost par
excellence, it actually represents a genuinely fixed cost item from a short-term
perspective.

A financial analysis should focus both on volume and price effects (measured

by the
Personnel expense

Average headcount
ratio) as well as the employee productivity ratio, which is

measured by the following ratios:3

Sales

Average headcount
;

Production

Average headcount
or

Value added

Average headcount

Since external analysts are unable to make more accurate calculations, they have to
make a rough approximation of the actual situation. In general, productivity gains
are limited and are thinly spread across most income statement items, making them
hard to isolate.

Analysts should not neglect the inertia of personnel cost, either as regards
increases or decreases in the headcount. If 100 additional staff are hired throughout
the year, this means that only 50% of their salary costs will appear in the first year,
with the full amount showing up in the following period. The same applies if
employees are laid off.

Key points and indicators:

Personnel cost should be analysed in terms of:
. productivity – sales/average headcount, value added/average headcount and

production/average headcount;
. cost control – personnel cost/average headcount;
. growth.

7/An analysis of the EBITDA margin forms a natural

conclusion to the points considered so far

As we saw in Chapter 3, EBITDA is a key concept in the analysis of income
statements. The concepts we have just examined – i.e., value added and production
– have more to do with macroeconomics, whereas EBITDA belongs firmly to the
field of microeconomics.
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We cannot stress more heavily the importance of EBITDA in income statement
analysis.

EBITDA represents the difference between operating revenues and cash operating
charges. Consequently, it is computed as follows:

Operating profit (EBIT)
þ Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses on fixed assets
¼ EBITDA

Alternatively, for by-nature income statements, EBITDA can be computed as
follows:

Value added
� Taxes other than on income
� Personnel cost and payroll charges
� Impairment losses on current assets and additions to provisions for operating

liabilities and charges
þ Other operating revenues
� Other operating cost
¼ EBITDA

Other operating cost comprises charges that are not used up as part of the
production process and include items such as redundancy payments, recurring
restructuring charges payments relating to patents, licences, concessions, repre-
sentation agreements and directors’ fees. Other operating revenues include
payments received in respect of patents, licences, concessions, representation
agreements, directors’ fees, operating subsidies received, etc.

Impairment losses on current assets include impairment losses related to
receivables (doubtful receivables), inventories, work in progress and various
other receivables related to the current or previous periods. Additions to provisions
for operating liabilities and charges primarily include provisions for retirement
benefit costs, litigation, major repairs and deferred costs, statutory leave,
redundancy or pre-redundancy payments, early retirement, future underactivity,
relocation, etc., provided that they relate to the company’s normal business
activities. In fact, these provisions represent losses for the company and should
be deducted from its EBITDA.

Personnel expense and payroll charges also include employee incentive
payments, stock options and profit-sharing.

Since it is unaffected by noncash charges – i.e., depreciation, amortisation,
impairment charges and provisions, which may leave analysts rather blind-
sighted – trends in the EBITDA/sales ratio, commonly known as the EBITDA

margin, form a central part of a financial analysis. All the points we have dealt
with so far in this section should enable a financial analyst to explain why a group’s
EBITDA margin expanded or contracted by X points between one period and the
next. The EBITDA margin change can be attributable to an overrun on production
costs, to personnel cost, to the price effect on sales or to a combination of all these
factors.
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Our experience tells us that competitive pressures are making it increasingly
hard for companies to keep their EBITDA margin moving in the right direction!

The following table shows trends in the EBITDA margins posted by various
different sectors in Europe over the 1995–2005 period.

EBITDA MARGIN IN % OF SALES FOR LEADING LISTED EUROPEAN COMPANIES

Sector 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005e 2006e

Aerospace and defence 7.8 9.1 5.6 10.1 10.0 10.8 9.7 9.8 11.2 11.0 11.0

Automotive 8.1 9.1 9.6 9.3 8.8 8.0 8.3 8.1 8.8 9.0 9.6

Beverages 15.6 18.4 19.1 20.1 20.5 20.5 21.3 21.4 21.2 21.6 22.1

Building materials 13.1 13.2 14.3 16.8 15.5 15.7 15.7 15.4 15.6 16.0 16.2

Capital goods 9.3 8.9 9.6 8.3 8.7 6.8 7.8 7.7 9.7 10.8 11.1

Chemicals 17.1 17.2 17.9 16.9 17.3 16.3 16.8 16.2 17.9 18.1 17.9

Consumer goods 9.5 9.7 9.8 10.6 10.9 10.0 10.8 10.7 10.4 10.5 10.9

Food and home care 12.8 12.9 13.7 14.5 15.2 14.5 14.9 16.3 16.0 16.5 16.8

Food retail 5.8 6.1 6.1 6.0 6.1 6.1 6.4 6.2 6.2 6.5 6.6

General retail 5.8 7.2 9.8 10.1 10.4 10.8 11.4 11.5 12.1 13.3 13.4

IT hardware 10.2 12.7 10.8 12.6 13.6 6.1 9.3 12.9 16.3 16.1 15.4

IT services 10.6 11.5 12.9 12.8 12.7 10.8 7.7 7.7 7.4 8.6 9.5

Leisure and hotels 8.9 10.5 10.0 11.7 11.5 11.8 10.2 9.7 11.0 11.5 10.6

Luxury goods 24.0 22.6 20.4 21.7 21.1 17.3 19.1 21.9 22.4 23.6 24.5

Media 12.6 13.6 16.2 16.1 17.0 16.4 16.9 20.1 21.9 23.0 23.6

Metals and mining 14.6 9.3 11.8 13.8 15.7 13.2 12.9 13.3 18.0 20.0 19.1

Oil and gas 16.7 16.8 18.1 16.7 19.2 18.2 14.8 15.6 16.9 15.7 15.6

Personal care 14.4 14.6 14.8 14.8 15.6 15.1 15.8 16.4 17.7 18.0 18.6

Pharmaceuticals 25.2 23.6 26.6 26.5 27.5 29.0 30.6 30.3 29.3 32.0 32.5

Software 27.6 28.7 24.5 19.7 17.5 20.9 23.7 26.1 27.6 27.4 28.0

Support services 9.5 9.0 8.6 10.0 9.4 8.2 7.6 7.6 7.4 7.6 7.7

Telecom operators and ISPs 39.2 34.3 40.4 37.9 31.1 30.7 32.0 34.9 35.1 35.4 35.7

Transport 18.2 12.9 13.1 14.6 16.6 13.5 17.7 16.4 15.9 16.8 16.8

Utilities 16.1 18.8 18.5 16.4 14.9 15.0 19.0 19.3 19.9 19.5 20.4

Source: Exane BNP Paribas.

It clearly shows, among other things, the tiny but stable EBITDA margin of food
retailers, the ever-increasing and very high EBITDA margin of pharmaceutical
groups and the large impact of the Internet bubble blowout for telecom operators
in 2000–2002.
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8/Depreciation, amortisation

In a given period, this income statement item is relatively independent of the
operating cycle. Aside from accounting policies, it depends on the company’s
investment policy, which we examine in greater detail in Chapter 11.

Now we arrive at operating profit (EBIT), an indicator whose stock has risen
substantially of late. Analysts usually refer to the operating profit/sales ratio as the
operating margin, trends in which must also be explained.

9/Operating profit or EBIT

Operating profit is EBITDA less noncash operating costs. It may thus be calculated
as follows:

EBITDA
� Depreciation and amortisation
þ Writebacks of depreciation and amortisation
¼ Operating profit or EBIT

Impairment losses on fixed assets relate to operating assets (i.e., brands, purchased
goodwill, etc.) are normally included with depreciation and amortisation by
accountants. We beg to differ, as impairment losses are normally nonrecurring
items and as such should be excluded by the analyst from the operating profit
and relegated to the bottom of the income statement.

As we saw in Chapter 3, the by-function format directly reaches operating
profit without passing through EBITDA:

Sales
� Cost of sales
� Selling, general and administrative costs
� Research and development costs
þ=�Other operating income and cost
¼ Operating profit (or EBIT)

The emphasis placed by analysts on operating performance over the past decade or
so has led many companies to attempt to boost their operating profit artificially by
excluding charges that should logically be included. These charges are usually to be
found on the separate Other income and cost line, below operating profit, and are,
of course, normally negative . . . as companies want to boost their EBIT.

Other companies publish an operating profit figure and a separate EBIT figure,
presented as being more significant than operating profit. Naturally, it is always
higher, too . . .

For instance, we have seen foreign currency losses of a debt-free company,4

recurring provisions for length-of-service awards or environmental liabilities, costs
related to underactivity and anticipated losses on contracts excluded from
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operating profit. In other cases, capital gains on asset disposals have been included
in EBIT.

We believe it is vital for readers to avoid preconceptions and to analyse precisely
what is included and what is not included in operating profit. In our opinion, the
broader the operating profit definition, the better!

The following table shows trends in the operating margin posted by various
different sectors over the 1995–2005 period.

OPERATING PROFIT IN % OF SALES FOR LEADING LISTED EUROPEAN COMPANIES

Sector 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005e 2006e

Aerospace and defence 4.8 6.2 6.6 7.1 5.6 7.3 6.3 6.3 7.8 7.7 7.8

Automotive 3.0 3.9 4.8 4.7 4.0 2.9 3.7 3.3 4.0 4.2 4.9

Beverages 11.3 14.4 14.6 15.6 15.7 16.1 16.9 16.9 16.4 16.9 17.4

Building materials 8.0 8.7 9.5 11.3 10.4 10.4 10.4 10.2 10.8 11.1 11.5

Capital goods 5.3 4.9 4.9 4.2 5.1 1.6 3.7 3.9 5.8 7.1 7.5

Chemicals 9.9 10.9 10.6 9.6 10.4 8.7 9.5 9.0 11.0 11.3 11.2

Consumer goods 5.4 5.8 6.1 7.0 7.5 6.6 7.5 7.5 7.2 7.2 7.7

Food and home care 9.3 9.5 10.4 11.0 12.0 11.6 11.8 13.3 13.0 13.3 13.5

Food retail 3.7 3.9 3.9 3.8 3.8 3.9 4.0 4.0 3.9 4.2 4.3

General retail 4.2 5.6 7.4 7.6 7.8 8.3 8.9 8.9 9.4 10.5 10.7

IT hardware 5.4 7.5 5.4 7.8 8.8 0.0 2.3 5.9 10.2 10.1 9.8

IT services 7.7 8.8 10.4 10.8 10.3 8.0 5.3 5.2 5.3 6.5 7.4

Leisure and hotels 3.2 4.9 5.8 7.1 7.1 7.4 5.6 4.8 6.3 6.9 6.5

Luxury goods 20.4 18.3 16.6 17.7 17.3 13.4 15.1 17.1 18.3 19.2 20.2

Media 7.2 8.2 10.7 10.5 11.1 10.6 10.6 14.3 16.3 17.4 18.1

Metals and mining 7.1 2.0 4.1 7.2 9.7 6.8 6.8 7.6 13.1 15.4 14.3

Oil and gas 10.4 10.8 9.4 10.1 13.8 12.8 9.0 10.0 12.1 11.7 11.0

Personal care 11.1 11.4 11,7 11.6 12.1 11.7 12.2 12.9 14.1 14.4 14.9

Pharmaceuticals 20.0 19.1 21.2 21.3 22.5 23.9 25.0 24.6 25.6 26.5 27.2

Software 22.5 25.6 21.5 17.0 14.8 18.4 21.2 23.4 25.0 25.0 25.7

Support services 7.0 6.8 6.6 8.0 7.4 6.4 5.6 5.6 5.4 5.6 5.8

Telecom operators and ISPs 19.2 13.8 19.9 19.3 14.8 13.6 15.1 19.3 20.0 20.7 21.5

Transport 11.2 6.5 6.5 6.0 8.0 4.3 7.9 6.7 6.8 7.9 8.5

Utilities 9.9 10.7 10.9 9.3 8.2 8.7 11.2 11.8 12.6 12.7 13.1

Source: Exane BNP Paribas.
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The reader may notice, for example, how cyclical are the automotive and capital
goods sectors in stark contrast to the beverage or food and home care businesses.

Section 9.2

How operating profit is allocated

1/Net financial expense/income

It may seem strange to talk about net financial income for an industrial or service
company whose activities are not primarily geared towards generating financial
income. Since finance is merely supposed to be a form of financing a company’s
operating assets, financial items should normally show a negative balance, and this
is generally the case. That said, some companies, particularly large groups generat-
ing substantial negative working capital (like big retailers, for instance), have
financial aspirations and generate net financial income, to which their financial
income makes a significant contribution.

Net financial expense thus equates to financial expense less financial income.
Where financial income is greater than financial expense, we naturally refer to it as
net financial income.

Financial income includes:

. income from other securities and from loans recorded as fixed assets. This
covers all income received from investments other than participating
interests – i.e., dividends and interest on loans;

. other interest and related income – i.e., income from commercial and other
loans, income from marketable securities, discounts obtained from suppliers,
other financial income;

. writebacks of certain provisions and charges transferred – i.e., writebacks of
provisions for financial liabilities and charges, of impairment losses on
financial items and, lastly, writebacks of financial charges transferred;

. foreign exchange gains on debt;

. net income on the disposal of marketable securities – i.e., capital gains on the
disposal of marketable securities.

Financial expense includes:

. interest and related charges;

. foreign exchange losses on debt;

. net expense on the disposal of marketable securities – i.e., capital losses on the
disposal of marketable securities;

. amortisation of bond redemption premiums;

. additions to provisions for financial liabilities and charges and impairment
losses on investments.

Where a company uses sophisticated financial liabilities and treasury management
techniques, we advise readers to analyse its net financial income/(expense)
carefully.
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Net financial expense is not directly related to the operating cycle but, instead,
reflects the size of the company’s debt burden and the level of interest rates.
There is no volume or price effect to be seen at this level. Chapter 12, which is
devoted to the issue of how companies are financed, covers the analysis of net
financial expense in much greater detail.

Profit before tax and nonrecurring items or profit on ordinary activities is the
difference between operating profit and financial expense net of financial income.

2/ Income from associates, minority interests, income tax

Depending on its size, the share of net profits (losses) of associates5 deserves special
attention. Where these profits or losses account for a significant part of net income,
either they should be separated out into operating, financial and nonrecurring items
to provide greater insight into the contribution made by the equity-accounted
associates, or a separate financial analysis should be carried out of the relevant
associate.

Minority interests6 are always an interesting subject and beg the following
questions: Where do they come from? Which subsidiaries do they relate to? Do
the minority investors finance losses or do they grab a large share of the profits? An
analysis of minority interests often proves to be a useful way of working out which
subsidiary(ies) generate(s) the group’s profits.

Last comes the corporate income tax line, which can be difficult to analyse
owing to the effects of deferred taxation, the impact of foreign subsidiaries and tax
loss carryforwards. Analysts usually calculate the group’s effective tax rate
(i.e., corporate income tax divided by profit before tax), which they monitor over
time to assess how well the company has managed its tax affairs.

3/Nonrecurring items

Nonrecurring items are not an accounting entry but a category of items defined on
a case-by-case basis by the analyst and include some exceptional items, extraor-
dinary items, impairment losses on fixed assets and results from discontinuing
operations. It makes no sense to assess the current level of nonrecurring items
from the perspective of the company’s profitability or to predict their future
trends. Analysts should limit themselves to understanding their origin and why,
for example, the company needed to write down the goodwill.

Section 9.3

Financial assessment

1/The scissors effect

The scissors effect is first and foremost the product of a simple phenomenon.
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The scissors effect is what takes place when revenues and costs move in different
or diverging directions. It accounts for trends in profits.

If revenues are growing by 5% p.a. and certain costs are growing at a faster rate,
earnings naturally decrease. If this trend continues, earnings will decline further
each year and, ultimately, the company will sink into the red. This is what is known
as the scissors effect.

DIFFERENT EXAMPLES OF THE SCISSORS EFFECT
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Whether or not a scissors effect is identified matters little. What really counts is
establishing the causes of the phenomenon. A scissors effect may occur for all kinds
of reasons (regulatory developments, intense competition, mismanagement in a
sector, etc.) that reflect the higher or lower quality of the company’s strategic position
in its market. If it has a strong position, it will be able to pass on any increase in its
costs to its customers by raising its selling prices and thus gradually widening its
margins.

A scissors effect may arise in different situations, some examples of which are
given on the previous page.

Where it reduces profits, the scissors effect may be attributable to:

. a statutory freeze on selling prices, making it impossible to pass on the rising
cost of production factors;

. psychological reluctance to put up prices. During the 1970s, the impact of
higher interest rates was very slow to be reflected in selling prices in certain
debt-laden sectors;

. poor cost control – e.g., where a company does not have a tight grip on its cost
base and may not be able to pass rising costs on in full to its selling prices. As a
result, the company no longer grows, but its cost base continues to expand.

The impact of trends in the cost of production factors is especially important
because these factors represent a key component of the cost price of products.

In such cases, analysts have to try to estimate the likely impact of a delayed
adjustment in prices. This depends primarily on how the company and its rivals
behave and on their relative strength within the marketplace.

But the scissors effect may also work to the company’s benefit, as shown by the
last two charts.

A company’s accounts are littered with potential pitfalls, which must be
sidestepped to avoid errors of interpretation during an analysis. The main types
of potential traps are as follows.

2/The stability principle (which prevents any simplistic

reasoning)

This principle holds that a company’s earnings are much more stable than we
would expect. Net income is frequently a modest amount that remains when
charges are offset against revenues. Net income represents an equilibrium that is
not necessarily upset by external factors. Let’s consider, for instance, a supermarket
chain, whose net income is roughly equal to its net financial income. It would be a
mistake to say that if interest rates decline the company’s earnings will be wiped
out. The key issue here is whether the company will be able to slightly raise its
prices to offset the impact of lower interest rates, without eroding its competitive-
ness. It probably will be able to do so if all its rivals are in the same boat. But the
company may be doomed to fail if more efficient distribution channels exist.

The situation is very similar for champagne houses. A poor harvest drives up
the cost of grapes and pushes up the selling price of champagne bottles. Here the
key issue is when prices should be increased in view of the competition from
sparkling wines, the likely emergence of an alternative product at some point in

Chapter 9 Margin analysis: Structure 169



the future and consumers’ ability to make do without champagne, if it is too
expensive.

It is important not to repeat the common mistake of establishing a direct link
between two parameters and explaining one by trends in the other.

A company’s margins also depend to a great extent on those of its rivals. The
purpose of financial analysis is to understand why they are above or below those
of its rivals.

This said, there are limits to the stability principle.

3/Regulatory changes

These are controls imposed on a company by an authority (usually the govern-
ment) that generally restricts the ‘‘natural’’ direction in which the company is
moving. For instance, an aggressive devaluation, the introduction of a shorter
working week or measures to reduce the opening hours of shops.

4/External factors

Like regulatory changes, these are imposed on the company. This said, they are
more common and are specific to the company’s sector of activity; e.g., pressures in
a market, arrival (or sudden reawakening) of a very powerful competitor or
changes to a collective bargaining agreement.

5/Pre-emptive action

Pre-emptive action is where a company immediately reflects expectations of an
increase in the cost of a production factor by charging higher selling prices. This
occurs in the champagne sector where the buildup of pressure in the raw materials
market following a poor grape harvest very soon leads to an increase in prices per
bottle. Such action is taken even though it will be another 2 or 3 years before the
champagne comes onto the marketplace.

Pre-emptive action is particularly rapid where no alternative products exist in the
short to medium term and competition in the sector is not very intense. It leads to
gains or losses on inventories that can be established by valuing them only at their
replacement cost.

6/ Inertia effects

Inertia effects are much more common than those we have just described, and they
work in the opposite direction. Owing to inertia, a company may struggle to pass
on fluctuations in the cost of its production factors immediately by upping its
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selling prices. For instance, in a sector that is as competitive and has such low
barriers to entry as the road haulage business, there is usually a delay before an
increase in diesel fuel prices is passed on to customers in the form of higher
shipping charges.

7/ Inflation effects

Particularly when it is high (e.g., during the 1970s and the early 1980s), inflation
distorts company earnings because it acts as an incentive for them to overinvest and
overproduce. Should a company planning to expand the capacity of a plant around
4 years in the future decide to build it immediately, it would save 30–40% of its cost
in nominal terms, giving it a competitive advantage in terms of accounting costs.
Building up excess inventories is another temptation in high-inflation environments
because time increases the value of inventories, thereby offsetting the financial
expense involved in carrying them and giving rise to inflation gains in the accounts.

Inflation gives rise to a whole series of similar temptations of artificial gains,
and any players opting for a more cautious approach during such periods of
madness may find themselves steamrollered out of existence. By refusing to build
up their inventories to an excessively high level and missing out on inflation gains,
they are unable to pass on a portion of them to consumers, as their competitors do.
Consequently, during periods of inflation:

. depreciation and amortisation are in most cases insufficient to cover the
replacement cost of an investment, the price of which has risen;

. inventories yield especially large nominal inflation gains where they are slow-
moving.

Deflation leads to the opposite results.

8/Capital expenditure and restructuring

It is fairly common for major investments (e.g., the construction of a new plant) to
depress operating performance and even lead to operating losses during the first
few years after they enter service.

For instance, the construction of a new plant generally leads to:

. additional general and administrative costs, such as R&D and launch costs,
professional fees, etc;

. financial charges that are not matched by any corresponding operating
revenues until the investment comes on stream (this is a common phenomenon
in the hotel sector given the length of the payback periods on investments). In
certain cases, they may be capitalised and added to the cost of fixed assets, but
this is even more dangerous;

. additional personnel cost deriving from the early recruitment of line staff and
managers, who have to be in place by the time the new plant enters service;

. lower productivity owing both to the time it takes to get the new plant and
equipment running and the inexperience of staff at the new production
facilities.
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As a result of these factors, some of the investment spending finds its way onto the
income statement, which is thus weighed down considerably by the implications of
the investment programme.

Conversely, a company may deliberately decide to pursue a policy of under-
investment to enhance its bottom line (so as to be sold at an inflated price) and to
maximise the profitability of investments it carried out some time ago. But this type
of strategy of maximising margins jeopardises its scope for value creation in the
future (it will not create any new products, it will not train sufficient staff to prepare
for changes in its business, etc.).

Section 9.4

Pro forma income statements (individual and

consolidated accounts)

The tables on the next two pages show two model income statements, the first of
which has been adapted to the needs of individual company accounts and is based
on the by-nature format. The second model income statement is based on the
by-function format as used in Ericsson Group’s consolidated accounts.

The line items shown in blue are specific to consolidated accounts.

Section 9.5

Case study: Ericsson

In just two years (from 1998 to 2000) Ericsson’s net sales increased by 49% on the
back of ever-increasing orders from incumbent phone operators and from new
players which secured cheap financing thanks to the Internet bubble. When the
bubble burst, some of Ericsson’s customers went bankrupt or nearly bankrupt
(WorldCom, Mobilcom, KPN) and others dramatically reduced their capital
expenditure. Consequently, Ericsson’s net sales collapsed by 50% in just 3 years
(from 2001 to 2003) and went back to where they were in 1995.

Operating margins plummeted from 8.1% to �13.6% before creeping back to
�9.3% as Ericsson fell victim to a scissors effect and an unfavourable mix of fixed
and variable costs (as we will see in Chapter 10). During this period many of
Ericsson’s customers merged (MCI–Worldcom, Vodafone–Manesmann, France
Télécom–Orange, etc.), reducing the number of potential customers. No large
telecom equipment suppliers made the same strategic move.7 This naturally
weakened their bargaining power vis-à-vis their customers.

As a result, Ericsson was not able to reduce its cost of sales as fast as sales
collapsed. Costs worryingly increased from 58.4% to 71.4% of sales before falling
to a slightly healthier 62.9%. On a more positive note, Ericsson does not seem to
have been obliged to cut its R&D spending too far. This is an important point
because maintaining R&D is vital for future sales in a sector marked by constant
advances in technology.
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BY-NATURE INCOME STATEMENT – INDIVIDUAL COMPANY ACCOUNTS

Periods 2005 2006 2007

NET SALES

þ Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress
þ Production for own use

¼ PRODUCTION

� Raw materials used
� Cost of goods for resale sold
¼ Profit on raw materials used/goods for resale sold
� Other purchases and external charges

¼ VALUE ADDED

� Personnel cost (incl. employee profit-sharing and incentives)
� Taxes other than on income
þ Operating subsidies
� Change in operating provisions8

þ Other operating income and cost

¼ EBITDA

� Depreciation and amortisation

¼ EBIT (OPERATING PROFIT) (A)

Financial expense
� Financial income
� Net capital gains/(losses) on the disposal of marketable

securities
þ Change in financial provisions

¼ NET FINANCIAL EXPENSE (B)

(A) � (B) ¼ PROFIT BEFORE TAX AND NON RECURRING ITEMS

þ=�Nonrecurring items including impairment losses on fixed assets
� Corporate income tax

¼ NET INCOME (net profit)

8 Impairment
losses on current
assets and
provisions for
operating
liabilities and
charges.
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BY-FUNCTION INCOME STATEMENT – CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

C¼m % C¼m % C¼m % C¼m % C¼m %

NET SALES 23,516 100 24,191 100 25,310 100 15,914 100 12,853 100
� Cost of sales 13,742 58.4 13,168 54.4 18,074 71.4 10,768 67.7 8,091 62.9
¼ GROSS MARGIN 9,773 41.6 11,023 45.6 7,236 28.6 5,146 32.3 4,763 37.1
� Selling and marketing 3,276 13.9 2,900 12.0 3,367 13.3 2,229 14.0 1,306 10.2

costs
� General and 1,231 5.2 1,310 5.4 1,355 5.4 1,015 6.4 687 5.3

administrative costs
� Research and 3,616 15.4 3,815 15.8 4,705 18.6 2,881 18.1 2,377 18.5

development costs
þ=�Other operating income 243 1.0 247 1.0 917 3.6 118 0.7 206 1.6

and expense
� Restructuring costs — 0.0 873 3.6 1,638 6.5 1,306 8.2 1,797 14.0

¼ OPERATING PROFIT 1,893 8.1 2,371 9.8 �2,911 11.5 �2,167 �13.6 �1,199 �9.3

� Financial expense 324 1.4 534 2.2 719 2.8 632 4.0 530 4.1
þ Financial income 248 1.1 404 1.7 526 2.1 464 2.9 436 3.4
¼ PROFIT BEFORE TAX 1,817 7.7 2,241 9.3 �3,105 12.3 �2,335 �14.7 �1,294 �10.1

AND NONRECURRING
ITEMS

þ Income from associates 27 0.1 �1,756 �7.3 �78 0.3 �158 �1.0 �28 �0.2
� Corporate income tax 519 2.2 983 4.1 531 2.1 418 2.6 183 1.4
� Minority interests 44 0.2 68 0.3 101 0.4 37 0.2 22 0.2

NET PROFIT BEFORE 1,281 5.4 �567 2.3 �3,815 �15.1 �2,949 �18.5 �1,526 �11.9
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON
FIXED ASSETS AND
NONRECURRING ITEMS

� Impairment losses on — 0.0 — 0.0 — 0.0 — 0.0 — 0.0
fixed assets

þ Nonrecurrent items — 0.0 2,751 11.4 — 0.0 — 0.0 — 0.0
net of tax

¼ PUBLISHED NET PROFIT 1,281 5.4 2,184 9.0 �3,815 �15.1 �2,949 �18.5 �1,526 �11.9
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The first step in any financial analysis is to analyse a company’s margins. This is abso-
lutely vital because a company that fails to sell its products or services to its customers at
above their cost is doomed.

An analysis of margins and of their level relative to those of a company’s competitors
reveals a good deal about the strength of company’s strategic position in its sector.

Operating profit, which reflects the profits generated by the operating cycle, is a central
figure in income statement analysis. First of all, we look at how the figure is formed based
on the following factors:

. sales, which are broken down to show the rate of growth in volumes and prices, with
trends being compared with growth rates in the market or the sector;

. production, which leads to an examination of the level of unsold products and the
accounting method used to value inventories, with overproduction possibly heralding
a serious crisis;

. raw materials used and other external charges, which need to be broken down into
their main components (i.e., raw materials, transportation, distribution costs, adver-
tising, etc.) and analysed in terms of their quantities and costs;

. personnel cost, which can be used to assess the workforce’s productivity (sales/
average headcount, value added/average headcount) and the company’s grip on
costs (personnel cost/average headcount);

. depreciation and amortisation, which reflect the company’s investment policy.

Further down the income statement, operating profit is allocated as follows:

. net financial expense, which reflects the company’s financial policy. Heavy financial
expense is not sufficient to account for a company’s problems, it merely indicates
that its profitability is not sufficient to cover the risks it has taken;

. nonrecurring items (extraordinary items, some exceptional items and results from
discontinuing operations) and the items specific to consolidated accounts (income or
losses from associates, minority interests and impairment losses on fixed assets);

. corporate income tax.

Diverging trends in revenues and charges produce a scissors effect, which may be
attributable to failures in the market in which the company operates; e.g., economic
rents, monopolies, regulatory changes, pre-emptive action, inertia. Identifying the
cause of a scissors effect provides valuable insight into the economic forces at work
and the strength of the company’s strategic position in its sector. We are able to under-
stand why the company generates a profit, and get clues about its future prospects.

1/Why can a direct link not be drawn between an increase in production costs and the
corresponding drop in profits?

2/What steps can be taken to help offset the impact of a negative scissors effect?
3/Using the pro forma income statement, carry out a study on the impact that a high

rate of inflation will have on earnings. Assume that the quantities sold by the
company do not increase, but that sales prices and cash operating charges rise at
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the rate of inflation. Perform a careful study of financial expense and depreciation
and amortisation, which will lead you to a thorough analysis of EBITDA, EBIT, profit
before tax and nonrecurring items and net income.

4/Of the following companies, which would you define as making ‘‘a margin between
the end market and an upstream market’’:
e temporary employment agency;
e storage company (warehouse);
e slaughterhouse;
e furniture manufacturer;
e supermarket.

5/What does the stability of a company’s net profits depend on?
6/Van Breda NV has positive EBITDA and growth, but negative operating profit. State

your views.
7/What is your view of a company which has seen a huge increase in sales due to a

significant drop in prices and a strong volume effect?
8/Why analyse minority interests on the consolidated income statement?
9/Why break down contributions made by associate companies into operating, financial

and nonrecurring items?

1/Identify the sector to which each of the following types of company belongs: elec-
tricity producer, supermarket, temporary employment agency, specialised retailer,
building and public infrastructure.

Company 1 2 3 4 5

Sales 100 100 100 100 100
Production 100 100 104 99 0
Trading profit 23.0 24.8 0 0 0
Raw materials used 0 0 46.6 23.6 0
Other external charges 7.8 7.0 46.9 14.1}
Personnel cost 9.3 11.7 21.5 24.1 88.2
EBITDA 6.8 6.7 28.1 3.7 4.6
Depreciation and amortisation 2.6 0.9 14.4 1.2 0.7
Operating income 4.2 5.8 7.1 2.9 3.1

2/Identify the sector to which each of the following types of company belongs: cement,
luxury products, travel agency, stationery, telecom equipment.

Company 1 2 3 4 5

Sales 100 100 100 100 100
Cost of sales 35.9 84.0 67.7 44.3 52.2
Marketing and selling costs 37.0 4.4 14.0 23.1 21.8
Administrative costs 11.1 10.0 6.6 10.7 9.3
R&D costs 0 0 20.1 6.6 2.1
Operating income 16.0 1.6 �8.3 15.3 14.6
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Questions

1/Because of the very complex issues at work which will require further study.
2/Be flexible: outsource, bring in temporary staff.
3/EBITDA keeps pace with inflation, operating income rises faster due to undervalua-

tion of depreciation and amortisation, net income, possibly fictitious (because of
understatement of depreciation and amortisation), look acceptable as a result of
low financial expense.

4/Temporary employment agency: margin between the direct employment market and
the temporary employment market. Warehouse: fixed costs although margins are
linked to volumes of business. Slaughterhouse: margin between downstream and
upstream. Manufacturer of furniture: margin between raw material, the wood and the
sales price. Supermarket: fixed costs, although margins are linked to volumes of
business.

5/On the cyclical nature of sales, the flexibility of the company ( fixed/variable cost
split) and the margin in absolute value.

6/Analyse the investments and amortisation policy, along with impairment losses on
fixed assets.

7/What is the impact on EBITDA?
8/ In order to find out which of the group’s entities is making profits.
9/To obtain a clearer view of the entirety of the income statement, especially operating

income.

Exercises

1/Electricity production: 3 (large amount booked under depreciation and amortisation);
supermarkets: 1 (lowest trading profits, it is a low-margins business); temporary
employment agency: 5 (high personnel cost); specialised retail: 2 (highest trading
profits); building and public infrastructure: 4 (high outsourcing costs).

2/Luxury products group: 1 (high operating income margin and high marketing costs.
Travel agency: 2 (very low operating income, very high cost of sales, no R&D).
Telecom equipment supplier: 3 (high R&D costs). Stationery products group: 4
(high marketing costs but lower than for the luxury products group). Cement
group: 5 (the last one! Some R&D).
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Chapter 10
Margin analysis: Risks

Costs are not like problems, people do not like them to be fixed.

In Chapter 9 we compared the respective growth rates of revenues and costs. In this
chapter, we will compare all company revenues, charges, key profit indicators as a
percentage of its business – i.e., sales in most cases – and production for companies
that experience major swings in their inventories of finished goods and work in
progress.

The purpose of this analysis is to avoid extrapolating into the future the rate of
earnings growth recorded in the past. Just because profits grew by 30% p.a. for two
years as a result of a number of factors, they will not necessarily keep growing at
the same pace going forward.

Earnings and sales may not grow at the same pace owing to the following
factors:

. structural changes in production;

. the scissors effect (see Chapter 9); or

. simply a cyclical effect accentuated by the company’s cost structure. This is what

we will be examining in more detail in this chapter.

Section 10.1

How operating leverage works

Operating leverage links variation in activity (measured by sales) with variations in
result (either operating profit or net income). Operating leverage depends on the
level and nature of the breakeven point.

1/Definition

Breakeven is the point at which total revenues cover total charges. With business
running at this level, earnings are thus zero.

Put another way:

. if the company does not reach breakeven (i.e., insufficient sales), the company
posts losses;



. if sales are exactly equal to the breakeven point, profits are zero;

. if the company exceeds its breakeven point, it generates a profit.

A company’s breakeven point depends on its cost structure.

2/Calculating breakeven point

Before breakeven point can be calculated, it is vital for costs to be divided up into
fixed and variable. This classification depends on the period under consideration.
For instance, it is legitimate to say that:

. in the long term, all costs are variable, irrespective of their nature. If a
company is unable to adjust its cost base, it is not a viable company;

. in the very short term (less than 3 months), almost all costs are fixed, with the
exception of certain direct costs (i.e., some raw materials);

. from a medium-term perspective, certain costs can be considered variable
(e.g., indirect personnel cost, etc.).

Breakeven point cannot be defined in absolute terms. It depends first and foremost
on the length of the period under consideration. It usually decreases as the period
in question increases.

Before starting to calculate a company’s breakeven point, it is wise to define which
type of breakeven point is needed. This obvious step is all too commonly forgotten.

For instance, we may want to assess:

. the projected change in the company’s earnings in the event of a partial
recession with or without a reduction in the company’s output;

. the sensitivity of earnings to particularly strong business levels at the end of the
year;

. the breakeven point implied by a strategic plan, particularly that resulting from
the launch of a new business venture.

Breakeven point can also be presented graphically:
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This chart is fairly basic since fixed costs cannot be considered as such whatever the
level of sales, but should be regarded as being fixed only for a certain activity range
and increasing or decreasing in steps above or below this range.

Breakeven point is the level of sales at which fixed costs are equal to the
contribution margin, which is defined as the difference between sales and variable
costs. At the breakeven point, the following equation therefore holds true:

Contribution margin ¼ Fixed costs

or m � Sales0 ¼ Fixed costs

i.e., Sales0 ¼ Fixed costs

m

with m ¼ Sales � Variable costs

Sales

where Sales0 is the level of sales at the breakeven point and m is the contribution
margin expressed as a percentage of sales.

Example A company has sales of C¼150m, fixed costs of C¼90m and variable costs
of C¼50m.

Its contribution margin is thus 150 � 50 ¼ 100; i.e., 100=150 ¼ 66:67% when
expressed as a percentage of sales.

Breakeven point thus lies at: 90=0:6667 ¼ C¼135m. In this example, the
company is 11.1% above its breakeven point.

At the beginning of 2003, McKinsey1 estimated that the typical economics of an
S & P 1500 company with a revenue of $100 was $19.2 fixed costs, $68.3 variable
costs and an operating profit of $12.5. Accordingly, a decrease of 1% in turnover
results in a decrease of 2.5% in operating profit.

3/Three different breakeven points

Breakeven point may be calculated before or after payments to the company’s
providers of funds. As a result, three different breakeven points may be calculated:

. operating breakeven, which is a function of the company’s fixed and variable
production costs that determine the stability of operating profit;

. financial breakeven, which takes into account the interest costs incurred by the
company that determine the stability of profit before tax and nonrecurring
items;

. total breakeven, which takes into account all the returns required by the
company’s lenders and shareholders.

Operating breakeven is a dangerous concept because it disregards any returns on
capital invested in the company, while financial breakeven understates the actual
breakeven point because it does not reflect any return on equity, which is the basis
of all value creation.

Consequently, we recommend that readers calculate the breakeven point at
which the company is able to generate not a zero net income but a positive net
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income high enough to provide shareholders with the return they required. To this
end, we need to adjust the company’s cost base by the profit before tax expected by
shareholders. Below this breakeven point, the company may generate a profit, but
will not (totally) satisfy the profitability requirements of its shareholders.

Interest charges represent a fixed cost at a given level of sales (and thus capital
requirement). A company that experiences significant volatility in its operating
profit may thus compensate partially for this instability through modest financial
expense; i.e., by pursuing a strategy of limited debt. In any event, earnings instabil-
ity is greater for a highly indebted company owing to its financial expense, which
represents a fixed cost.

To illustrate these concepts in concrete terms, we have prepared the following
table calculating the various breakeven points for Ericsson:2

BREAKEVEN POINTS (e.g., Ericsson)

C¼m 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Sales 23,516 24,191 25,310 15,914 12,853
Operating fixed costs FC 4,604 5,751 6,781 5,084 4,655
Financial fixed costs FiC 76 130 193 168 94
Variable costs VC 17,018 16,068 21,441 12,937 9,397
Contribution margin as a % of sales m ¼ Sales � VC

Sales
27.6% 33.6% 15.3% 18.3% 26.9%

Operating breakeven Salesop ¼ FC

m
16,681 17,116 44,310 27,781 17,305

Position of the company relative to
operating breakeven as a %

Sales

Salesop

� 1 þ41% þ41% �43% �43% �26%

Financial breakeven Salesf ¼ ðFC þ FiCÞ
m

16,957 17,503 45,588 28,699 17,654

Position of the company relative to
Sales

Salesf
� 1 þ39% þ38% �44% �44% �27%

financial breakeven

Total breakevenð1Þ Salest ¼ FC þ FiC þ PBT

m
19,703 20,622 54,248 37,890 23,156

Position of the company relative to
Sales

Salest

� 1 þ19% þ17% �53% �58% �45%
total breakeven

(1): PBT : profit before tax expected by shareholders, assumed to be C¼1,577 m in this analysis for 2003.

Based on these considerations, we see that operating leverage depends on four key
parameters:

. the three factors determining the stability of operating profit – i.e., the stability
of sales, the structure of production costs and the company’s position relative
to its breakeven point;

. the level of interest expense, which is itself a function of the debt policy pursued
by the company.
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We saw from our experience up to the late 1990s that, in practice, a company is in
an unstable position when its sales are less than 10% above its financial breakeven
point. Sales 20% above financial breakeven point reflected a relatively stable situa-
tion and sales over 20% above financial breakeven point for a given business
structure indicated an exceptional and comfortable situation.

In the highly competitive and unstable conditions that we are currently
experiencing, these figures may not be high enough as Ericsson illustrates.

Section 10.2

A more refined analysis provides greater insight

1/Analysis of past situations

Breakeven analysis (also known as cost–volume–profit analysis) may be used for
three different purposes:

. to analyse earnings stability taking into account the characteristics of the
market and the structure of production costs;

. to assess a company’s real earnings power;

. to analyse the difference between forecasts and actual performance.

(a) Analysis of earnings stability

Here the level of the breakeven point in absolute terms matters much less than the
company’s position relative to its breakeven point.

The closer a company is to its breakeven point, the higher its earnings instability.

When a company is close to its breakeven point, a small change in sales triggers a
steep change in its net income, so a strong rate of earnings growth may simply
reflect a company’s proximity to its breakeven point. This is the real problem
affecting Japanese industry, the profitability of which is weak compared with
that of industrial sectors in other countries.

Consider a company with the following manufacturing and sales characteris-
tics:

Total fixed costs ¼ C¼200,000
Variable costs per unit ¼ C¼50
Unit selling price ¼ C¼100

Its breakeven point stands at 4,000 units. To make a profit, the company therefore
has to sell at least 4,000 units.

The following table shows a comparison of the relative increases (or reduc-
tions) in sales and earnings at five different sales volumes:
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Sales volumes Net income Sensitivity

Number of % increase compared Amount % increase compared ðAÞ=ðBÞ
units sold with previous level ðAÞ with previous level ðBÞ

4,000 0
5,000 25% 50,000 Infinite Infinite
6,000 20% 100,000 100% 5
7,200 20% 160,000 60% 3
8,640 20% 232,000 45% 2.25

This table clearly shows that the closer the breakeven point, the higher the
sensitivity of a company’s earnings to changes in sales volumes. This phenomenon
holds true both above and below the breakeven point.

We should be wary when profits are increasing much faster than sales for a
company with low margins since this phenomenon may be attributable to the
operating leverage.

Consequently, breakeven analysis helps put into perspective a very strong rate of
earnings growth during a good year. Rather than getting carried away with one
good performance, analysts should attempt to assess the risks of subsequent
downturns in reported profits.

For instance, BMW and Volkswagen posted similar sales trends, but com-
pletely different earnings trends during 2003 because their proximity to breakeven
point was very different. BMW was clearly farther from its breakeven point than
Volkswagen as can be seen by comparing operating margins: 8.1% vs. 2.9%.

Sales Operating income

BMW C¼41,525m C¼3,353m
(�2%) (�4%)

Volkswagen C¼87,153m C¼2,491m
(�2%) (�48%)

Likewise, the sensitivity of a company’s earnings to changes in sales depends to a
great extent on its cost structure. The higher a company’s fixed costs, the greater
the volatility of its earnings as illustrated by the following example.

Sales Net income

Tesco C¼20,646m C¼808m
(þ18%) (þ22%)

Roche C¼21,000m C¼2,691m
(þ11%) (þ24%)

Heidelberg Cement C¼6,908m C¼334m
(þ9%) (þ215%)

Tesco, the UK food retailer, has the lowest fixed costs of the three and Heidelberg
Cement the highest. An increase in the turnover of 9% of the cement producer
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pushes up its earnings by 215%, whereas an increase in sales double that percentage
(18%) only increased Tesco’s net income by 22%. Roche, the Swiss pharmaceutical
group whose fixed costs are in between those of Tesco and Heidelberg Cement,
registers about the same increase in net income as Tesco (þ24%) prompted by an
increase in sales of 11%, similar to that of Heidelberg Cement.

(b) Assessment of normal earnings power

Operating leverage, which accelerates the pace of growth or contraction in a
company’s earnings triggered by changes in its sales performance, means that
the significance of income-statement-based margin analysis should be kept in
perspective.

The reason for this is that an exceptionally high level of profits may be
attributable to exceptionally good conditions that will not last. In such conditions
good performance does not necessarily indicate a high level of structural
profitability. This held true for a large number of companies during 2000.

Consequently, an assessment of a company’s earnings power deriving from its
structural profitability drivers needs to take account of the operating leverage and
cyclical trends; i.e.: Are we currently in an expansion phase of the cycle?

We have been struck by the fact that certain analysts have described as growth
companies groups (such as commercial TV groups) whose earnings have posted
very strong increases owing to exceptionally supportive conditions to a much
greater extent than structural growth.

(c) Variance analysis

Breakeven analysis helps analysts account for differences between the budgeted and
actual performance of a company over a given period.

The following table helps illustrate this phenomenon:

Value in absolute terms Structure

Budget Actual ðAÞ Change % difference Actual sales ðBÞ/ % difference
Budgeted margin ðAÞ � ðBÞ

Sales 240 180 �60 �25% 180 —
Variable costs 200 155 �45 �22.5% 150 þ5%
Contribution margin 40 25 �15 �37.5% 30 �5%
Margin 16.66% 13.9% 16.66%
Fixed costs 20 25 þ5 þ25% 20 þ5%

Earnings 20 0 �20 �100% 10 �10%

This table shows the collapse in the company’s earnings of 20 is attributable to
both:

. the fall in sales (�25%);

. the surge in fixed costs (þ25%);

. the surge in variable costs as a proportion of sales from 83.33% to 86.1%.
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The cost structure effect accounts for 50% of the earnings decline (5 in higher fixed
costs and 5 in higher variable costs), with the impact of the sales contraction

accounting for the remaining 50% of the decline (10 lost in contribution margin).

2/Strategic analysis

(a) Industrial strategy

A company’s breakeven point is influenced by its industrial strategy.

A large number of companies operating in cyclical sectors made a mistake by
raising their breakeven point through heavy investment. In fact, they should
have been seeking to achieve the lowest possible breakeven point and, above all,
the most flexible possible cost structure to curb the effects of major swings in
business levels on their profitability.

For instance, integration has often turned out to be a costly mistake in the
construction sector. Only companies that have maintained a lean cost structure
through a strategy of outsourcing have been able to survive the successive cycles of
boom and bust in the sector.

In highly capital-intensive sectors and those with high fixed costs (pulp, metal
tubing, cement, etc.), it is in companies’ interests to use equity financing. Such
financing does not accentuate the impact of ups and downs in their sales on their
bottom line through the leverage effect of debt, but in fact attenuates their impact
on earnings.

A breakeven analysis provides a link between financial and industrial strategy.

When a company finds itself in a tight spot, its best financial strategy is to reduce its
financial breakeven point by raising fresh equity rather than debt capital, since the
latter actually increases its breakeven point, as we have seen.

If the outlook for its market points to strong sales growth in the long term, a
company may decide to pick up the gauntlet and invest. In doing so, it raises its
breakeven point, while retaining substantial room for manoeuvre. It may thus
decide to take on additional debt.

As we will see in Chapter 36, the only real difference in terms of cost between
debt and equity financing can be analysed in terms of a company’s breakeven point.

(b) Restructuring

When a company falls below its breakeven point, it sinks into the red. It can return
to the black only by increasing its sales, lowering its breakeven point or boosting its
margins.

Increasing its sales is only a possibility if the company has real strategic clout in
its marketplace. Otherwise, it is merely delaying the inevitable: sales will grow at the
expense of the company’s profitability, thereby creating an illusion of improvement
for a while, but inevitably precipitating cash problems.
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Lowering the breakeven point entails restructuring industrial and commer-
cial operations; e.g., modernisation, reductions in production capacity, cuts in
overheads. The danger with this approach is that management may fall into the
trap of believing that it is reducing only the company’s breakeven point when it is
actually shrinking its business. In many cases, a vicious circle sets in, as the measures

taken to lower breakeven trigger a major business contraction, obliging the company

to lower its breakeven point further, thereby sparking another business contraction,

etc.

Boosting margins means improving management, enhancing the competitive-
ness of products, eliminating low- or zero-margin products, and consolidating
operations around their existing strengths.

(c) Analysis of cyclical risks

As we stated earlier, there is no such thing as an absolute breakeven point, but
there are as many breakeven points as there are periods of analysis. But, first and
foremost, the breakeven point is a dynamic rather than static concept. If sales fall
by 5%, the mathematical formulae will suggest that earnings may decline by 20%,
30% or more, depending on the exact circumstances. In fact, experience shows that
earnings usually fall much further than breakeven analysis predicts.

A contraction in market volumes is often accompanied by a price war, leading
to a decline in the contribution margin. In this situation, fixed costs may increase,
as customers are slower to pay; inventories build up leading to higher interest
costs and higher operating provisions. All these factors may trigger a larger
reduction in earnings than that implied by the mathematical formulae of breakeven
analysis.

During cyclical downturns, contribution margins tend to decline, while fixed costs
are often higher than expected.

Consequently, breakeven point increases while sales decline as many recent
examples show. Any serious forecasting thus requires modelling based on a thor-
ough analysis of the situation.

During the German property slump mid-1990 (after the reunification boom),
a mere slowdown in growth halted the speculators in their tracks. Crippled by
their interest expense, they were obliged to lower prices, which led to speculation
of a fall in the market (purchases were delayed in expectation of an additional fall
in prices).

Businesses such as telecoms and paper production, which require substantial
production capacity that takes time to set up, periodically experience production
gluts or shortages. As readers are aware, if supply is inflexible, a volume glut (or
shortage) of just 5% may be sufficient to trigger far larger price reductions (or
hikes) (i.e., 30%, 50% and sometimes even more).

Here, again, an analysis of competition (its strength, patterns and financial
structure) is a key factor when assessing the scale of a crisis.
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Section 10.3

From analysis to forecasting: the concept of

normative margin

Nowadays, a great deal of the analysis of financial statements for past periods is
carried out for the purpose of preparing financial projections. These forecasts are
based on the company’s past and the decisions taken by management. This section
contains some advice about how best to go about this type of exercise.

All too often, it is not sufficient merely to set up a spreadsheet, click on the
main income statement items determining EBITDA3 (or operating profit if
depreciation and amortisation are also to be forecast) and then apply to all of
these items a fixed rate of growth, which may be reasonable in itself, but implies
unreasonable assumptions when applied systematically. Growth is not a process
that can continue endlessly!

Instead, readers should:

. gain a full understanding of the company and especially its key drivers and
margins;

. build growth scenarios, as well as possible reactions by the competition, the
environment, international economic conditions, etc.;

. draw up projections and analyse the coherence of the company’s economic
(is its investment sufficient? etc.) and strategic policy.

To this end, financial analysts have developed the concept of normalised earnings;
i.e., a given company in a given sector should achieve an operating margin of x%
(i.e., operating profit/sales).

This type of approach is entirely consistent with financial theory, which states
that in each sector profitability should be commensurate with the sector’s risks and
that, sooner or later, these margins will be achieved, even though adjustments may
take some considerable time (i.e., 5 years or even more); in any case, much longer
than they do in the financial markets.

What factors influence the size of these margins? This question can be answered
only in qualitative terms and by performing an analysis of the strategic strengths
and weaknesses of a company, which are all related to the concept of barriers to
entry:

. the degree of maturity of the business;

. the strength of competition and quality of other market players;

. the importance of commercial factors, such as market share, brands, dis-
tribution networks, etc.;

. the type of industrial process and incremental productivity gains, etc.

This approach is helpful because it takes into consideration the economic
underpinnings of margins. Its drawback lies in the fact that analysts may be
tempted to overlook the company’s actual margin and concentrate more on its
future, theoretical margins.

We cannot overemphasise the importance of explicitly stating and verifying the
significance of all forecasts.
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Section 10.4

Case study
4
: Ericsson

Most of the time the information provided by listed companies is not enough for an
external analyst to be able to compute precisely the breakeven point.

Nonetheless, a rough estimate may be made using linear regression of each cost
against net sales to approximate the breakdown between fixed and variable costs.
This is what we have done for Ericsson to fill in the table on p. 181.

As expected, Ericsson went from a comfortable position (41% above the
operating breakeven point in 1999) to an uneasy one in 2001 (43% below break-
even). As the group had hardly any net financial costs, its financial breakeven point
was not substantially different from its operating one.

To escape bankruptcy, Ericsson drastically reduced its fixed costs (�25% in
2002, and �8% again in 2003) and pushed its 2003 contribution margin back to its
1999’s level: around 27% of sales. To achieve that result, Ericsson has had to spend
C¼5.6bn in restructuring costs since 2001 and lay off 54% of its employees . . . In
2003, fixed costs were back at 1999 levels, but sales were still down 45% on that
year, which explains why the group was still posting heavy losses.

To be able to move back into profit, Ericsson would need either to increase its
sales by 35% with no further fixed costs or to reduce its fixed costs by 26% while
keeping the same level of net sales.

A daunting challenge!

Breakeven point is the level of business activity, measured in terms of production, sales
or the quantity of goods sold, at which total revenues cover total charges. At this level of
sales, a company makes zero profit.

Breakeven point is not an absolute level – it depends on the length of period being
considered because the distinction between fixed and variable costs can be justified
only by a set of assumptions and, sooner or later, any fixed cost can be made variable.

Three different breakeven points may be calculated:

. operating breakeven, which is a function of the company’s fixed and variable
production costs. It determines the stability of operating activities, but may lead to
financing costs being overlooked;

. financial breakeven, which takes into account the interest expense incurred by the
company, but not its cost of equity;

. total breakeven, which takes into account both interest expense and the net profit
required by shareholders. As a result, it takes into account all the returns required by
all the company’s providers of funds.

Operating breakeven is calculated by dividing a company’s fixed costs by its contribution
margin ((Sales � Variable costs)/Sales). Financial breakeven is calculated by adding
interest expense to the fixed costs in the previous formula. Total breakeven is computed
by adding the net income required to cover the cost of equity to fixed operating costs and
interest costs.
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The calculation and a static analysis of a company’s breakeven point can be used to
assess the stability of its earnings, its normal earnings power and the actual importance
of the differences between budgeted and actual performance. The further away a
company lies from its breakeven point, the more stable its earnings and the more
significant its earnings trends are. The higher its fixed costs as a share of total costs
are, the higher the breakeven point and the greater the operating leverage and the
volatility of its earnings are.

An analysis of trends in the operating leverage over time reveals a good deal about the
company’s industrial strategy. An attempt to harness economies of scale will raise the
breakeven point and thus make a company more sensitive to economic trends. Efforts to
make its industrial base more flexible will lower its breakeven point, but may also reduce
its potential earnings power.

1/A company’s net income, which was 0.2% of sales in year 1, leaps by 40% in year 2.
State your views.

2/Would it be better for an oil refinery to finance its needs using equity or debt?

3/Would it be better for an Internet startup company to finance its needs using equity
or debt?

4/You are appointed financial director of a cement group which has no debt. What
should you be concerned about?

5/You are appointed financial director of a cement group which has a fairly substantial
amount of debts. What should you be concerned about?

6/Is personnel cost a variable or a fixed cost?

7/A major investment bank announces the best half-year results it has ever achieved.
State your views.

1/Below are the income statements of four companies with the same level of sales, but
with different production costs and financial structures.

A B C D

Sales 100 100 100 100
Variable costs 65 55 36 30
Fixed costs 25 29 50 55

EBITDA 10 16 14 15
Depreciation and amortisation 2 8 4 6

EBIT5 8 8 10 9
Financial expense 2 6 1.5 6

Profit before tax and nonrecurring items 6 2 8.5 3

For each company, calculate the breakeven point, before and after financial costs,
and the company’s position relative to its breakeven point.
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2/Below are the income statements for the Spanish Hoyos Group. The company asks
you to analyse these statements and answer the following questions:

(a) What is your opinion of the company?
(b) Is the company moving closer towards or further away from breakeven point?
(c) In your view, is the company in a period of heavy capital expenditures?
(d) What choices are made with regard to cost control?
(e) Explain the rise in financial expense.

Grupo Hoyos 1 2 3

Sales 82,000 92,000 97,000

Change in finished goods and in-progress inventory 500 1,400 2,800

Operating revenues 82,500 93,400 99,800

Purchases of raw materials and goods for resale 24,800 27,400 29,900

Change in inventories �1,700 �500 �1,600

Other external charges 20,200 23,000 23,500

Taxes 1,200 1,400 1,500

Personnel cost 29,000 33,000 37,000

Depreciation and amortisation 5,200 4,900 4,800

Provisions 100 200 —

Operating charges 78,800 89,400 95,100

Operating income 3,700 4,000 4,700

Interest, dividends and other financial income 300 400 300

Interest and other finance charges 2,300 2,900 3,900

Financial income �2,000 �2,500 �3,600

Nonrecurring income �100 �100 þ100

Tax 800 700 600

Net income 800 700 600

3/In January of year 0, the Swiss group Schmidheiny published the following projected
figures:

Projected 0 1 2 3

Production 70.2 106 132 161

Raw materials used 29.4 35.4 44.3 53.8

Personnel cost 22.2 29.4 36.7 41.1

Taxes 0.5 0.7 0.7 0.8

Other external services 13.7 19.8 24.6 30.5

Outsourcing 2.5 8.9 11.2 11.3

Depreciation and amortisation 1.4 2.7 3.6 5

(a) Calculate the breakeven point for each year. The cost structure is as follows:
e variable costs: raw materials used, outsourcing, 50% of other external

services;
e fixed costs: all other costs.
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(b) Schmidheiny is planning a capital expenditure programme which should
increase its production capacity threefold. This programme, which is spread
over years 0 to 1, includes the construction of four factories and the launch of
new products. The income statements for years 1, 2 and 3 factor in these
investments. State your views.

(c) The company will need to raise around C¼30m to finance this capital expenditure
programme. Financial expense before this capital expenditure programme
amounts to C¼1.6m, and Schmidheiny is planning to finance its new require-
ments using debt exclusively (average cost of debt: 10% before tax).

What is your view of the debt policy the company intends to pursue?

Questions

1/Low profit levels mean that any improvement in the economic situation will very
quickly lead to higher profits (company close to breakeven point).

2/A company with a very cyclical activity: financing with equity.
3/Shareholders’ equity.
4/Turn a maximum of costs into variable costs, and bring down fixed costs.
5/The same concerns as question 4, and get rid of your debts!
6/ It depends on whether the staff are permanent or temporary and on the breakdown

of salaries between fixed salary and commissions/bonuses and on whether local
rules allow you to fire people rapidly (as in UK) or not (as in Germany or France).

7/How much of this improvement can be attributed to an improvement in the economy,
and how much to structural improvements?

Exercises

1/
A B C D

Sales 100 100 100 100

Contribution 35 45 64 70

Contribution in % of sales 35% 45% 64% 7%

Breakeven point before financial expense6 77 82 84 87

Sales/breakeven 129.6% 121.6% 118.5% 114.8%

Breakeven point after financial expense 83 96 87 96

Sales/breakeven 120.7% 104.7% 115.3% 104.5%

2/ (a) Personnel cost will increasingly eat into EBITDA. Given the steep rise in financial
expense, profit before tax and nonrecurring items decreases in both absolute
and relative value. The company is becoming less and less profitable, and
accumulating more and more debts. One-quarter of increased production is
artificial, as it is tied up in inventories and finished products. The company is
producing more but cannot shift its products.
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(b) With stable margins on purchases and an increase in other costs, the company is
clearly approaching its breakeven point.

(c) With depreciation and amortisation down in absolute value, we can conclude
that the company is not overinvesting in fixed assets.

(d) The management of Grupo Hoyos keeps tight control over raw materials,
probably a reflection of a sound procurement policy. External charges are also
well-managed. Personnel cost is, however, out of control.

(e) The company is not investing, and the explanation for the increase in financial
expense probably lies in the rise in working capital (increase in inventories).

3/ (a) Economic breakeven point

Schmidheiny 0 1 2 3

Production 70.2 106 132 161

Variable costs 38.75 54.2 67.8 80.35

Contribution 31.45 51.8 64.2 80.65

Contribution as a % of sales 44.80 48.87 48.64 50.09

Fixed costs 30.95 42.7 53.3 62.15

Breakeven 69.08 87.38 109.59 124.07

(b) A good investment: improvement in earnings with fixed costs rising at a slower
rate than production. The company is moving further away from its breakeven
point. Trebling production capacity only results in a doubling of fixed costs.
Improvement in production or overoptimistic projections?

(c) Breakeven point after financial expense with the envisaged level of debt.

1 2 3

Breakeven point after financial expense 96.8 119.0 133.3

Debt capital significantly increases breakeven point and accordingly, the risk.

G. Buccino, K. McKinley, The importance of operating leverage in a turnaround, Secured Lender,

64–68, Sept./Oct. 1997.

M. Marn, E. Roegner, C. Zawada, The power of pricing, McKinsey Quarterly, 1, 27–36, 2003.
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Chapter 11
Working capital and

capital expenditures

The company’s lifeblood . . .

As we saw in the standard financial analysis, all value creation requires investment.
In finance, investment means creating either new fixed assets or working capital.
The latter, often high in continental Europe, merits some explanation.

Section 11.1

The nature of working capital

Every analyst intuitively tries to establish a percentage relationship between the
working capital of a company and one or more of the measures of the volume of its
business activities. In most cases, the chosen measure is annual turnover or sales
(excl. VAT).

The ratio
Operating working capital

Annual sales (excl. VAT)

reflects the fact that the operating cycle generates an operating working capital that
includes:

. capital ‘‘frozen’’ in the form of inventories, representing procurement and
production costs that have not yet resulted in the sale of the company’s
products;

. funds ‘‘frozen’’ in customer receivables, representing sales that customers have
not yet paid for;

. accounts payable that the company owes to suppliers.

The balance of these three items represents the net amount of money tied up in the
operating cycle of the company. In other words, if the working capital turnover
ratio is 25% (which is high), this means that 25% of the company’s annual sales
volume is ‘‘frozen’’ in inventories and customer receivables not financed by supplier
credit. This also means that, at any moment, the company needs to have on hand
funds equal to a quarter of its annual sales to pay suppliers and employee salaries



for materials and work performed on products or services that have not yet been
manufactured, sold or paid for by customers.

The following table shows trends in the working capital turnover ratio by
various sectors over the 1995–2005 period.

WORKING CAPITAL IN % OF SALES FOR LEADING LISTED EUROPEAN COMPANIES

Sector 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005e 2006e

Aerospace and defence 3 3 �1 1 �5 �1 �6 �2 �6 �3 �3

Automotive 3 12 11 13 16 16 17 17 15 15 14

Beverages 8 7 10 9 11 13 10 8 7 9 9

Building materials 10 10 9 8 7 6 6 6 6 6 6

Capital goods 17 17 18 8 9 4 4 5 4 5 5

Chemicals 16 16 17 18 19 18 18 18 16 17 17

Consumer goods 20 20 20 18 19 16 12 12 12 12 12

Food and home care 9 6 6 6 5 4 1 2 1 1 1

Food retail �6 �6 �4 �5 �5 �5 �5 �6 �6 �6 �6

General retail 3 4 12 10 8 6 5 4 4 4 3

IT hardware 18 17 20 17 18 16 11 10 10 11 12

IT services 10 4 2 4 9 8 6 6 5 4 5

Leisure and hotels 3 7 3 �9 �1 �2 �1 �4 �6 �6 �2

Luxury goods 34 26 32 39 35 36 29 31 30 30 29

Media �1 �3 �5 �2 �12 �9 �8 �10 �11 �11 �10

Metals and mining 17 14 14 21 19 19 18 16 14 14 15

Oil and gas 4 1 0 3 0 1 1 1 1 1 1

Personal care 14 14 13 13 16 15 13 12 12 12 12

Pharmaceuticals 19 19 22 21 15 14 17 18 17 17 18

Software �4 25 3 �1 5 5 2 1 �2 �2 �2

Support services 0 1 0 1 0 �2 �3 �2 �2 �2 �2

Telecom operators and ISPs �7 �11 �6 �4 �8 �7 �9 �11 �10 �10 �9

Transport �17 �7 �7 �11 �11 �12 �13 �14 �10 �10 �9

Utilities 3 9 10 3 4 2 2 �1 �3 �3 �3

Source: Exane BNP Paribas.

In the economy, working capital is clearly down over the last 10 years from 9% in
average of sales to 5% in 2005. Some sectors benefit from negative working capital:
transport (you buy your airline ticket in advance), media (subscription to pay TV
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or magazine), food retail. Others are less fortunate: chemicals, luxury goods, metals
and mining with high working capital due to the weight of inventories.

As we will see in Section 11.2, working capital is often expressed as a number of
days of sales. This figure is arrived at by multiplying a percentage ratio by 365. In
our example, a ratio of 25% indicates that working capital totals around 90 days of
the company’s sales.

1/Steady business, permanent working capital

Calculated from the balance sheet, a company’s working capital is the balance of
the accounts directly related to the operating cycle. According to traditional
financial theory, these amounts are very liquid; that is, they will either be collected
or paid within a very short period of time. But, in fact, although it is liquid, working

capital also reflects a permanent requirement.

No matter when the books are closed, the balance sheet always shows working
capital, although the amount changes depending on the statement date. The only
exceptions are the rare companies whose operating cycle actually generates cash
rather than absorbs it.

There is an apparent contradiction between the essentially liquid nature of working
capital on the one hand and its permanence on the other hand.

Working capital is liquid in the sense that every element of it disappears in the
ordinary course of business. Raw materials and inventories are consumed in the
manufacturing process. Work in progress is gradually transformed into finished
products. Finished products are (usually) sold. Receivables are (ordinarily)
collected and become cash, bank balances, etc. Similarly, debts to suppliers
become outflows of cash when they are paid.

As a result, if the production cycle is less than a year (which is usually the case)
all of the components of working capital at the statement date will disappear in the
course of the following year. But, at the next statement date, other operating assets
will have taken their place. This is why we view working capital as a permanent

requirement.

Even if each component of working capital has a relatively short lifetime, the
operating cycles are such that the contents of each are replaced by new contents. As
a result, if the level of business activity is held constant, the various working capital
accounts remain at a constant level.

In sum, at any given point in time, a company’s working capital is indeed
liquid. It represents the difference between some current assets and some current
liabilities. But thinking in terms of a ‘‘permanent working capital’’ introduces a
radically different concept. It suggests that if business is stable, current (liquid)
operating assets and current operating liabilities will be renewed and new funds
will be tied up, constituting a permanent capital requirement as surely as fixed
assets are a permanent capital requirement.

Working capital is two-sided. From the point of view of balance sheet value, it is
liquid. From a going concern point of view, it is permanent.
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2/Seasonal business activity, partly seasonal requirement

When a business is seasonal, purchases, production and sales do not take place
evenly throughout the year. As a result, working capital also varies during the
course of the year, expanding, then contracting.

The following graphs show that the working capital of a seasonal business
never falls to zero. Whether the company sells canned vegetables or raincoats, a
minimum level of inventories is always needed to carry the company over to the
next production cycle.

MONTHLY CHANGE IN WORKING CAPITAL (WC)

Question 10 at the end of this chapter will ask you to take a closer look at these
graphs.

In our experience, companies in seasonal businesses often pay too much attention
to the seasonal aspect of their working capital and ignore that a significant part of it
is permanent. As some costs are fixed, so are some parts of the working capital.

We have observed, for example, that in some very seasonal businesses, such as
toys, the peak working capital is only twice the minimum. This means that half of
the working capital is permanent, the other half seasonal.
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3/Conclusion: permanent working capital and the company’s

ongoing needs

An external analyst risks confusing the working capital on the balance sheet with
the permanent working capital.

About 30% of all companies close their books at a date other than 31 December.
Bordeaux vineyards close on 30 September, Caribbean car rental companies on 30
April. They choose these dates because that is when the working capital require-
ment shown on their balance sheets is lowest. This is pure window-dressing.

A company in trouble uses trade credit to the maximum possible extent. In this
case, you must restate working capital by eliminating trade credit that is in excess of
normal levels. Similarly, if inventory is unusually high at the end of the year
because the company speculated that raw material prices would rise, then the
excess over normal levels should be eliminated in the calculation of permanent
working capital. Lastly, to avoid giving the impression that the company is too
cash-rich, some companies make an extra effort to pay their suppliers before the
end of the year. This is more akin to investing cash balances than to managing
working capital.

It may be rash to say that the working capital at fiscal year-end is the company’s
permanent working capital.

Although the working capital on the balance sheet at year-end cannot be used as an
indicator of the company’s permanent requirement, its year-to-year change can still
be informative. Calculated at the same date every year, there should be no seasonal
impact. Analysing how the requirement has changed from year-end to year-end can
shed light on whether the company’s operations are improving or deteriorating.

The year-end working capital is informative only if compared with the working
capital at other year-end dates.

You are therefore faced with a choice:

. if the company publishes quarterly financial statements, you can take the
permanent working capital to be the lowest of the quarterly balances;

. if the company publishes only year-end statements, you must reason in terms
of year-to-year trends and comparisons with competitors.1

Section 11.2

Working capital turnover ratios

As financial analysis consists of uncovering hidden realities, let’s simulate reality to
help us understand the analytical tools.

Working capital accounts are composed of uncollected sales, unsold produc-
tion and unpaid-for purchases. In other words, the business activities that took
place during the days preceding the statement date. Specifically:
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. if customers pay in 15 days, receivables represent the last 15 days of sales;

. if the company pays suppliers in 30 days, accounts payable represent the last 30
days of purchases;

. if the company stores raw materials for 3 weeks before consuming them in
production, the inventory of raw materials represents the last 3 weeks of
purchases.

These are the principles. Naturally, the reality is more complex, because:

. payment periods can change;

. business is often seasonal, so the year-end balance sheet may not be a real
picture of the company;

. payment terms are not the same for all suppliers or all customers;

. manufacturing process is not the same for all products.

Nevertheless, working capital turnover ratios calculated on the basis of accounting
balances represent an attempt to see the reality behind the figures.

1/The menu of ratios

(a) Days/receivables

The days/receivables ratio measures the average payment terms the company
grants to its customers (or the average actual payment period). It is calculated
by dividing the receivables balance by the company’s average daily sales, as follows:

Receivables

Annual sales (incl. VAT)
� 365 ¼ Days sales outstanding

As the receivables on the balance sheet are shown inclusive of VAT, for
consistency, sales must be shown on the same basis. But the sales shown on the
profit and loss statement are exclusive of VAT. You must therefore increase it by
the applicable VAT rate for the products the company sells or by an average rate if
it sells products taxed at different rates.

VAT RATES ACROSS EUROPE, JAPAN AND THE USA

Reduced rate Normal rate

France 2.1 or 5.5% 19.6%
Germany 7% 16%
Italy 4–10% 20%
Japan — 5%
Netherlands 6% 19%
Poland 0–7% 22%
Russia 10% 18%
Spain 4–7% 16%
Sweden 6–12% 25%
Switzerland 2.4–3.6% 7.6%
United Kingdom 0–5% 17.5%
United States of America* — —

* VAT does not exist in the USA. A sale tax is paid. Its rate varies across states.
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Receivables are calculated as follows:

Customer receivables and related accounts
þ Outstanding bills discounted
� Advances and deposits on orders being processed
¼ Total receivables

(b) Days/payables

The days/payables ratio measures the average payment terms granted to the
company by its suppliers (or the average actual payment period). It is calculated
by dividing accounts payable by average daily purchases, as follows:

Accounts payable

Annual purchases (incl. VAT)
� 365 ¼ Number of days of payables

Accounts payable are calculated as follows:

Accounts payable and related accounts
� Advances and deposits paid on orders
¼ Total accounts payable

To ensure consistency, purchases are valued inclusive of VAT. They are calculated
as follows:

Purchase of goods held for resale (incl. VAT)
þ Purchase of raw materials (incl. VAT)
þ Other external costs (incl. VAT)

The amounts shown on the profit and loss statement must be increased by the
appropriate VAT rate.

When the figure for annual purchases is not available (mainly when the income
statement is published in the by-function format), the days/payables ratio is
approximated as:

Accounts payable

Sales (incl. VAT)
� 365 ¼ Payables in number of days of sales

(c) Days’ inventory

The significance of the inventory turnover ratios depends on the quality of the
available accounting information. If it is detailed enough, you can calculate true
turnover ratios. If not, you will have to settle for approximations that compare
dissimilar data.

You can start by calculating an overall turnover ratio, not meaningful in an
absolute sense, but useful in analysing trends:

Inventories and work in progress

Annual sales (excl. VAT)
� 365

¼ Approximate in number of days of inventory
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Depending on the available accounting information, you can also calculate the
turnover of each component of inventory – in particular, raw material and goods
held for resale – and distil the following turnover ratios:

? Days of raw material, reflecting the number of days of purchases the inventory
represents or, viewed the other way round, the number of days necessary for
raw material on the balance sheet to be consumed:

Inventory of raw material

Annual purchases of raw material (excl. VAT)
� 365

¼ Number of days of purchase

? Days of goods held for resale, reflecting the period between the time the
company purchases goods and the time it resells them:

Inventory of goods held for resale

Annual purchases of goods held for resale (excl. VAT)
� 365

¼ Number of days of goods held for resale

? Days of finished goods inventory, reflecting the time it takes the company to sell
the products it manufactures, and calculated with respect to cost of goods sold:

Inventory of finished goods

Annual cost of goods sold
� 365

¼ Number of days of finished goods inventory

If cost of goods sold is unavailable, it is calculated with respect to the sales
price:

Finished goods inventory

Annual sales (excl. VAT)
� 365

? Days of work in progress, reflecting the time required for work in progress
and semi-finished goods to be completed – in other words, the length of the
production cycle:

(Work in progress) þ (Semi-finished products)

Annual cost of goods sold
� 365

¼ Length of production cycle

For companies that present their profit and loss statement by-nature, this last ratio
can be calculated only from internal sources as cost of goods sold does not appear
as such on the P&L. The calculation is therefore easier for companies that use the
by-function presentation for their profit and loss statement.

2/The limits of ratio analysis

Remember that, in calculating the foregoing ratios, you must follow two rules:

. make sure the base of comparison is the same: sales price or production cost,
inclusive or exclusive of VAT;

. compare outstandings in the balance sheet with their corresponding cash flows.
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Turnover ratios have their limitations:

. they can be completely misleading if the business of the company is seasonal. In
this case, the calculated figures will be irrelevant. To take an extreme example,
imagine a company that realises all of its sales in a single month. If it grants
payment terms of 1 month, its number of days/receivables at the end of that
month will be 365;

. they provide no breakdown – unless more detailed information is available – of
the turnover of the components of each asset (or liability) item related to the
operating cycle. For example, receivables might include receivables from
private sector customers, receivables from international customers and
receivables from government agencies. These three categories can have very
different collection periods (governments agencies, for instance, are known to
pay late).

You must ask yourself what degree of precision you want to achieve in your
analysis of the company. If a general idea is enough, you might be satisfied with
average ratios, as calculated above after verifying that:

. the business is not too seasonal;

. if it is seasonal, that the available data refer to the same point in time during
the year. If this is your case, we advise you to express the ratios in terms of a
percentage (receivables/sales), which do not imply a direct link with actual
conditions.

If you need a more detailed analysis, you will have to look at the actual business
volumes in the period just prior to the statement date. In this case, the daily sales
figure will not be the annual sales divided by 365, but the last quarter’s sales divided
by 90, the last 2 months divided by 60, etc.

If you must perform an in-depth audit of outstandings in the balance sheet,
averages are not enough. You must compare outstandings with the transactions
that gave rise to them.

Section 11.3

Reading between the lines of working capital

Evaluating working capital is an important part of an analyst’s job in continental
Europe, because intercompany financing plays a prominent role in the economy. In
Anglo-Saxon countries this analysis is less important, because commercial practice
is stricter.

1/Growth of the company

In principle, the ratio of working capital to annual sales should remain stable.
If the permanent requirement equals 25% of annual sales and sales grow from

C¼100m to C¼140m, working capital requirement should grow by C¼10m
(C¼40m � 25%).
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Growth in business volume causes an increase in working capital. This increase
appears, either implicitly or explicitly, in the cash flow statement.

Growth in the company’s business tends to increase the amount of working capital.
This increase represents an additional need that a business plan must take into
account.

We might be tempted to think that working capital does not grow as fast as sales,
because certain items, such as minimum inventory levels, are not necessarily
proportional to the level of business volume. Experience shows, however, that
growth very often causes a sharp, sometimes poorly controlled, increase in working
capital at least equal to the growth in the company’s sales volume.

In fact, a growing company is often confronted with working capital that grows

faster than sales, for various reasons:

. management sometimes neglects to manage working capital rigorously,
concentrating instead on strategy and on increasing sales;

. management often tends to integrate vertically, both upstream and down-
stream. Consequently, structural changes to working capital are introduced
as it starts growing much more rapidly than sales.

When a company is growing, the increase in working capital constitutes a real use
of funds, just as surely as capital expenditures do. For this reason, increases in
working capital must be analysed and projected with equal care.

Efficient companies are characterised by controlled growth in working capital.
Indeed, successful expansion often depends on the following two conditions:

. ensuring that the growth in working capital tracks the growth in sales rather
than zooms ahead of it;

. creating a corporate culture that strives to contain working capital. If working
capital grows unchecked, sooner or later it will lead to serious financial
difficulties and compromise the company’s independence.

Today, companies faced with slower growth in business manage working capital
strictly through just-in-time inventory management, greater use of outsourcing, etc.

Note that, in inflationary periods, working capital increases even if the quantities
the company produces do not. This increase is primarily due to the rise in prices,
which, at constant payment terms, increases production costs and receivables.

The foregoing analysis sheds light on two models of growth. A company can:

. Grow without changing its production cycle and its relative working capital.

. Grow on the basis of:

e a change in its manufacturing processes related, for example, to diversifica-
tion into new products;

e a change in the composition of the customer base, leading to a change in
overall payment terms granted to customers. For example, if a growing part
of sales is realised with international companies, receivables will take longer
to collect.

In the first case, growth in sales will lead to proportional growth in working capital.

Financial analysis and forecasting202



For example, imagine the company’s sales rise from C¼100m to C¼140m and
working capital is 72 days of sales. In absolute terms, working capital rises from
C¼20m to C¼28m, or by 40%, the same as the percentage rise in sales. The company
will have to finance an increase in working capital of C¼8m as a result of increasing
its sales by C¼40m.

In the second case, growth in sales can lead to a more-than-proportional
increase in permanent working capital.

Using the figures from the same example, we suppose receivables used to
represent 62 days of sales on average. Now suppose the 40% increase in sales
results primarily from an increase in exports, to customers who are granted more
generous payment terms. Receivables rise by 18 days to 80 days of sales on average.
Because sales have increased, permanent working capital rises to 90 days (72 þ 18)
of sales, or 140 � 90=365 ¼ C¼35m, representing an increase of 75% from its initial
volume of C¼20m.

Consequently, the company will have to finance an additional working capital
of C¼15m and will be confronted with a much bigger financing problem than the
company in the first example.

2/Recession

By analysing the working capital of a company facing a sudden drop in its sales, we
can see that working capital reacts in stages.

Initially, the company does not adjust its production levels. Instead, it tries
other ways to shore up sales. The recession also leads to difficulty in controlling
accounts receivable, because customers start having financial difficulties and stretch
out their payments over time. The company’s cash situation deteriorates, and it has
trouble honouring its commercial obligations, so it obtains more favourable
payment terms from its suppliers. At the end of this first phase, working capital,
the balance between the various items affected by divergent forces, stabilises at a
higher level.

In the second phase, the company begins to adopt measures to adjust its
operating cycle to its new level of sales. It cuts back on production, trims raw
material inventories and ratchets customer payment terms down to normal
levels. By limiting purchases, accounts payable also decline. These measures,
salutary in the short term, have the paradoxical effect of inflating working capital
because certain items remain stubbornly high while accounts payable decline.

As a result, the company produces (and sells) below capacity, causing unit costs
to rise and the bottom line to deteriorate.

Finally, in the third phase, the company returns to a sound footing:

. sales surpass production;

. the cap on purchases has stabilised raw material inventories. When purchases
return to their normal level, the company again benefits from a ‘‘normal’’ level
of supplier credit.

Against this background, working capital stabilises at a low level that is once again
proportional to sales, but only after a crisis that might last as long as a year.
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It is important to recognise that any contraction strategy, regardless of
the method chosen, requires a certain period of psychological adjustment.
Management must be convinced that the company is moving from a period of
expansion to a period of recession. This psychological change may take several
weeks but, once it is accomplished, the company can:

. decrease purchases;

. adjust production to actual sales;

. reduce supplier credit which the company had tried to maximise. Of course,
this slows down reduction in working capital.

We have rarely seen a company take less than 9 months to significantly reduce its
working capital and improve the bottom line (unless it liquidates inventories at fire
sale prices).

During a recession, working capital has a paradoxical tendency to grow; then,
despite restructuring measures, it still doesn’t budge. It is only towards the end
of the recession that working capital subsides and the company gains breathing
space.

3/Company strategy and its impact on working capital

Companies that expand vertically by acquiring suppliers or distributors lengthen
their production cycle. In so doing, they increase their value added. But this very
process also increases their working capital because the increased value added is
incorporated in the various line items that make up working capital, notably
receivables and finished goods inventories. Conversely, accounts payable reflect
purchases made further upstream and therefore contain less value added. So they
become proportionately lower.

4/Negative working capital

The operating cycles of companies with negative working capital are such that,
thanks to a favourable timing mismatch, they collect funds prior to disbursing
certain payments. There are two basic scenarios:

. supplier credit is much greater than inventory turnover while, at the same time,
customers pay quickly, in some cases in cash;

. customers pay in advance. This is the case for companies that work on military
contracts, collective catering companies, companies that sell subscriptions, etc.
Nevertheless, these companies are sometimes required to lock up their excess
cash so long as the customer has not yet ‘‘consumed’’ the corresponding
service. In this case, negative working capital offers a way of earning significant
investment income rather than presenting a source of funding that can be freely
used by the firm to finance its operations.
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The companies in the examples below receive the proceeds of their sales before
paying for all of their production costs; in particular, their suppliers of raw
materials or merchandise intended for resale. They are few in number and are
concentrated in the following sectors:

. supermarkets;

. retailing of goods under special terms, such as consignment sales stores, which
enjoy high supplier credit;

. companies that receive advance payments on work in progress, such as
aerospace and telecoms contractors working for public entities, and certain
companies operating in the public works sector;

. collective catering companies;

. mail order companies or online retailers, when the customer pays upon
ordering;

. certain newspaper and magazine publishers or pay TV channels, since a large
part of their sales volume derives from subscriptions;

. companies whose suppliers are in a position of such weakness – printers or
hauliers that face stiff competition, for example – that they are forced to offer
inordinately long payment terms to their customers.

A low or negative working capital is a boon to a company looking to expand

without recourse to external capital. Efficient companies – in particular, in mass-
market retailing – all benefit from low or negative working capital. Put another
way, certain companies are adept at using intercompany credit to their best
advantage.

The presence of negative working capital can however lead to management
errors. We once saw an industrial group that was loath to sell a loss-making
division because it had a negative working capital. Selling the division would
have shored up the group’s profitability but would also have created a serious
cash management problem, because the negative working capital of the unprofi-
table division was financing the working capital of the profitable divisions. Short-
sightedness blinded the company to everything but the cash management problem
it would have had immediately after the disposal.

5/Working capital as an expression of balance of power

Economists have tried to understand the theoretical justification for intercompany
credit, as represented by working capital. To begin with, they have found that there
are certain minimum technical turnaround times. For example, a customer must
verify that the delivery corresponds to his order and that the invoice is correct.
Some time is also necessary to actually effect the payment.

But this explains only a small portion of intercompany credit, which varies
greatly from one country to another:
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PROPORTION OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE IN TOTAL ASSETS OF
INDUSTRIAL COMPANIES

Source: Bulletin de la Banque de France, 132, December 2004.

PROPORTION OF ACCOUNTS PAYABLE IN TOTAL ASSETS OF INDUSTRIAL COMPANIES

Source: Bulletin de la Banque de France, 132, December 2004.

Several factors can explain the disparity:

. cultural differences. In Germanic countries, the law stipulates that title does
not pass to the buyer until the seller is paid. This makes generous payment
terms much less attractive for the buyer, because as long as his supplier is not
paid, he cannot process the raw material;

. historical factors in France, Italy and Spain, where for a long time bank credit
was restricted. Companies whose businesses were not subject to credit
restrictions (building, exports, energy, etc.) used their bank-borrowing capacity
to support companies subject to the restrictions by granting them generous
payment terms. Tweaking payment terms was also a way of circumventing
price controls in Mediterranean countries;

. technical factors in the USA where suppliers often offer two-part trade credit,
in which a substantial discount is offered for relatively early payment, such as a
2% discount for payment made within 10 days. Most buyers take this discount.
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This discount explains the low level of accounts payable in US groups’ balance
sheets. As a byproduct, failure of a buyer to take this discount could serve as a
very strong and early signal of financial distress.

There are numerous theories that provide explanations for the provision of trade
credit by suppliers.

Mian and Smith suggested that credit provisions will be more likely in
circumstances where it is easy to resell the product being sold, since this will
allow the seller to seize and resell the product if the buyer defaults.

Cunat argued that the provision of trade credit ties customers to particular
suppliers, thereby increasing the scope for punishment of nonpayment.

Some industries may require trade credit as a guarantee for product quality.2

Certainly some products – for example, high-tech or newly developed products –
need more quality assurance for their inputs than others, such as commodities.

Furthermore, Dietsch has shown that supplier credit acts as a financial shock
absorber for companies in difficulty. For commercial reasons, suppliers feel
obligated to support companies whose collateral or standing is insufficient (or
has become insufficient) to borrow from banks. Suppliers know that they will
not have complete control over payment terms. They have unwittingly become
bankers, and, like bankers, they attempt to limit payment terms on the basis of
the backup represented by the customer’s assets and capital.

This said, it is unhealthy for companies to offer overly generous payment terms
to their customers. In so doing, they run a credit risk. Even though the corporate
credit manager function is more and more prevalent, even in small companies,
credit managers are not in the best position to appreciate and manage this risk.
Moreover, intercompany credit is one of the causes of the domino effect in
corporate bankruptcies.

In conclusion, we reiterate that intercompany credit is one of the most visible
manifestations of the balance of power between customers and suppliers. The size
of the intercompany credit serves as an indication of the strength of the company’s
strategic position vis-à-vis its customers and suppliers. How else can we explain why
the industrial gases group Air Liquide enjoys working capital that is at worst zero
and the rest of the time negative?

Section 11.4

Analysing capital expenditures

The following three questions should guide your analysis of the company’s
investments:

. What is the state of the company’s plant and equipment?

. What is the company’s capital expenditure policy?

. What are the cash flows generated by these investments?
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1/Analysing the company’s current production capacity

The current state of the company’s fixed assets is measured by the ratio:

Net fixed assets

Gross fixed assets
:3

A very low ratio (less than 25%) indicates that the company’s plant and equipment
are probably worn out. In the near term, the company will be able to generate
robust margins because depreciation charges will be minimal. But don’t be fooled,
this situation cannot last for ever. In all likelihood, the company will soon have
trouble because its manufacturing costs will be higher than those of its competitors,
who have modernised their production facilities or innovated. Such a company will
soon lose market share and its profitability will decline.

If the ratio is close to 100%, the company’s fixed assets are recent, and it will
probably be able to reduce its capital expenditure in the next few years.

2/Analysing the company’s investment policy

Through the production process, fixed assets are used up. The annual depreciation
charge is supposed to reflect this wearing out. By comparing capital expenditure
with depreciation charges, you can determine whether the company is:

. expanding its industrial base by increasing production capacity. In this case,
capital expenditure is higher than depreciation as the company invests more
than to simply compensate for the annual wearing out of fixed assets;

. maintaining its industrial base, replacing production capacity as necessary. In
this case, capital expenditure approximately equals depreciation as the
company invests just to compensate for the annual wearing out of fixed assets;

. underinvesting or divesting (capital expenditure below depreciation). This
situation can only be temporary or the company’s future will be in danger,
unless the objective is to liquidate the company.

Comparing capital expenditure with net fixed assets at the beginning of the period
gives you an idea of the size of the investment programme with respect to the
company’s existing production facilities. A company that invests an amount
equal to 50% of its existing net fixed assets is building new facilities worth half
what it has at the beginning of the year. This strategy carries certain risks:

. risk that economic conditions will take a turn for the worse;

. risk that production costs will be difficult to control (productivity deteriorates);

. technology risks, etc.

3/Analysing the cash flows generated by investments

The theoretical relationship between capital expenditures, on the one hand, and the
cash flow from operating activities, on the other hand, is not simple. New fixed
assets are combined with those already on the balance sheet and, together, they
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generate the cash flow of the period. Consequently, there is no direct link between
operating cash flow and the capital expenditure of the period.

Comparing cash flow from operating activities with capital expenditure makes
sense only in the context of overall profitability and the dynamic equilibrium
between sources and uses of funds.

The only reason to invest in fixed assets is to generate profits; i.e., positive cash
flows. Any other objective turns finance on its head. You must therefore be very
careful when comparing the trends in capital expenditure, cash flow and cash
flow from operating activities. This analysis can be done by examining the cash
flow statement.

Any investment strategy must sooner or later result in an increase in cash flow

from operating activities. If it doesn’t, then the investments are not profitable
enough. The company is heading for trouble or, more likely, is already in trouble.

Be on the lookout for companies that, for reasons of hubris, grossly overinvest,
whereas their cash flow from operating activities is not growing at the same rate as
their investments. Management has lost sight of the all-important criterion that is
profitability.

All the above said does not mean that capital expenditure should be financed
by internal sources only. Our point is simply that a good investment policy grows
cash flow at the same rate as capital expenditure and leads to a virtuous circle of
growth, a necessary condition for the company’s financial equilibrium, as shown in
graph A below.

EXAMPLE OF INVESTMENT POLICY ANALYSIS

Graphs B, C and D illustrate other corporate situations. In D, investment is far
below the company’s cash flow from operations. You must compare investment
with depreciation charges so as to answer the following questions:

. Is the company living off the assets it has already acquired (profit generated by
existing fixed assets)?

. Is the company’s production equipment ageing?

. Are the company’s current capital expenditures appropriate, given the rate of
technological innovation in the sector?
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Naturally, the risk in this situation is that the company is ‘‘resting on its laurels’’,
and that its technology is falling behind that of its competitors. This will eat into
the company’s profitability and, as a result, into its cash flow from operating
activities at the very moment it will need cash the most in order to make the
investments necessary to close the gap vis-à-vis its rivals.

The most important piece of information to be gleaned from a cash flow statement
is the relationship between capital expenditure and cash flow from operating
activities and their respective growth rates.

Generally speaking, you must understand that there are certain logical inferences
that can be made by looking at the company’s investment policy. If its capital
expenditure is very high, the company is embarking on a project to create
significant new value rather than simply growing. Accordingly, future cash flow
from operating activities will depend on the profitability of these new investments
and is thus highly uncertain.

Lastly, ask yourself the following questions about the company’s divestments.
Do they represent recurrent transactions, such as the gradual replacement of a
rental car company’s fleet of vehicles? Or, are they one-off disposals? In the
latter case, is the company’s insufficient cash flow forcing the company to divest?
Or, is the company selling old, outdated assets in order to turn itself into a
dynamic, strategically rejuvenated company?

Section 11.5

Case study
4
: Ericsson

1/Working capital analysis

As the average VAT rate of Ericsson is not made public, and as it is difficult to
estimate it since the group’s activities span over several continents, working capital
ratios has been computed without taking VAT into account:

In days of net sales 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Operating working capital

Net sales
� 365 77 109 60 60 35

Inventories and work in progress

Net sales
� 365 52 76 47 45 44

Receivables

Net sales
� 365 136 171 119 132 118

Payables

Net sales
� 365 111 138 105 117 127

By the end of year 2000, the operating working capital of Ericsson was no longer
under control (42% increase in days of net sales!). Clearly, after the Internet bubble
burst in mid-2000, some customers had financial difficulties and were given
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extended payment terms by Ericsson. The Swedish group itself adapted slowly to
the collapse in its orders as illustrated by the huge increase in inventories and work
in progress (from 52 days in 1999 to 76 days in 2000!).

One year later, the situation was back under control with Ericsson striving
successfully to further reduce its operating working capital: 2003 inventories and
receivables were well below their relative level of 1999, while payables were above.
In 3 years, Ericsson has been able to reduce its relative operating working capital
by half and by four in absolute terms.

As usual, nonoperating working capital is difficult to explain. It was mainly
made up of loans provided on favourable terms to customers on condition they buy
equipment from Ericsson, which does not suggest that the Swedish group was in a
strong bargaining position! Nonoperating working capital also includes warranty
commitments and restructuring costs.

2/Capital expenditure analysis

From 1999 to 2001, Ericsson invested moderately in new fixed assets (capital
expenditure for those years are 6% higher than the corresponding depreciation),
but seems to have divested a lot of old ones for C¼1.9bn in value. With the collapse
in its market, Ericsson rightly decided practically to stop spending money on
capital expenditure: in 2002 and in 2003, C¼754m was spent in capex,5 only 46%
of the depreciation cost for these years, and Ericsson divested tangible assets worth
C¼490m.

It goes without saying that this is a nice move from a cash flow point of view
but it cannot last for long as it jeopardises Ericsson’s medium-term ability to
produce at competitive costs: net tangible assets represented 47% of gross tangible
assets at the beginning of 2000 and only 26% at the end of 2003.

A company’s working capital is the balance of the accounts directly related to its operating
cycle (essentially customer receivables, accounts payable and inventories). Calculated at
the year-end closing date, it is not necessarily representative of the company’s permanent
requirement. Therefore, you must look at how it has evolved over time.

All of the components of working capital at a given point in time disappear shortly
thereafter. Inventories are consumed, suppliers are paid and receivables are collected.
But, even if these components are being consumed, paid and collected, they are being
replaced by others. Working capital is therefore both liquid and permanent.

Working capital turnover ratios measure the average proportion of funds tied up in the
operating cycle. The principal ratios are:

. days/receivables: Accounts receivable/Sales (incl. VAT) � 365;

. days/payables: Accounts payable/Purchases (incl. VAT) � 365;

. days’ inventory: Inventories and work in progress/Sales (excl. VAT) � 365;

. working capital turnover: Working capital/Sales (excl. VAT) � 365.
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When a company grows, its working capital has a tendency to grow, because inventories
and accounts receivable (via payment terms) increase faster than sales. Paradoxically,
during periods of recession, working capital continues to grow because restrictive
measures do not immediately deliver their desired effect. It is only at the end of the
recession that working capital subsides and cash flow problems ease.

A low or negative working capital is a boon to a company looking to expand.

The level of working capital is an indication of the strength of the company’s strategic
position, because it reflects the balance of power between the company and its customers
and suppliers.

We evaluate a company’s investment policy by looking at the following three criteria:

. the extent to which production facilities are worn out, as measured by the net fixed
assets/gross fixed assets ratio;

. the purpose of capital expenditure – build up fixed assets, maintain them or let them
run down – determined by whether capital expenditure is greater than, equal to or
less than depreciation;

. analysis of the cash flow generated by investments.

1/Can it be said that the working capital calculated on the balance sheet is repre-
sentative of the company’s permanent needs?

2/If income is recorded on a company’s books on the day it is received (and not on the
invoice date) and costs on the date of payment, would this generate working capital?
If so, how would this working capital differ from the working capital as calculated
today?

3/Is the permanent part of working capital liquid?

4/Explain why, during a recession, working capital will decline at a slower pace than
sales.

5/How does working capital behave in an inflationary period?

6/The financial director of a company makes the following comments: ‘‘The company
performed remarkably well this year. You be the judge – our depreciation policy
enabled us to generate 50% more EBITDA6 than last year. Our working capital has
increased sharply, due to a more generous customer credit policy (3 months instead
of 2) and to a significant increase in our inventories.’’ What is your response? What
advice would you give?

7/The perfume division of Unilever has decided to launch a new perfume. During the
first weeks following the launch, sales to retailers are high. Can the new perfume be
considered to be a success?

8/An aeronautics group has substantial inventories of unfinished goods. What
consequences will this have? What measures would you suggest to improve this
situation?

9/Is calculating the ratio of nonoperating working capital/sales a worthwhile exercise?

10/Explain the two graphs on p. 196.
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1/The Belgian Van de Putte Group has the following operating structure: sales ¼ 100,
raw materials used in the business ¼ 30, direct production costs ¼ 40, administrative
costs ¼ 20. Operating cycle – raw materials inventories: 15 days, length of production
cycle: 1 month, inventories of finished products: 15 days. Payment terms – suppliers
2 months, customers 1 month, other costs paid in cash.

Assuming zero VAT, calculate working capital in days of sales. The production cycle
lasts 1 month, which means that in-progress inventories represent 1 month of raw
materials and 15 days of production costs.

2/The operating details for Spalton plc are as follows:

e permanent working capital equal to 25% of sales;
e sales rise from 100 million to 120 million in year 2;
e EBITDA rises to 15% of sales in year 2.

Calculate operating cash flow (before financial expense and tax) in year 2.

3/Calculation of turnover ratios.

Working capital for Moretti Spa over the last 5 years (at 31 December) was as follows:

(in C¼m) 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

Inventories of finished goods 6.1 7.4 9.1 13 15.4
Trade and notes receivable 6.4 8.9 10.5 11.1 11.6
Trade and notes payable 2.1 3.5 3.5 3.8 3.4

The income statement includes the following data:

(in C¼m) 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

Sales (excl. VAT) 32.8 44.7 49.4 48.9 50
Sales (incl. VAT) 38.9 52.6 58.1 57.4 57.2
Purchases (incl. VAT) 12.5 19.2 19.6 20.9 20.4

Calculate the different turnover ratios for working capital.

4/Below are the operating terms and conditions of a trading company:

e goods held for resale rotate four times a year;
e cost of goods sold is equal to 60% of sales (excl. tax);
e customers pay at 45 days month-end;
e suppliers are paid at 30 days;
e salaries, which amount to 10% of pre-tax sales, are paid at the end of every

month;
e payroll taxes, which amount to 50% of salaries, are paid on the 15th of the

following month;
e operating charges other than purchases of goods for resale and staff costs are

paid in cash;
e VAT is payable at 19.6% on sales and purchases. VAT payable for month n, equal

to the difference between VAT collected on sales in month n and VAT recover-
able on sales in month n, is paid at the latest on the 25th of the month (n þ 1).

Using the above data, calculate the working capital of the company in days of sales
(excl. VAT).
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5/Below are details of a distribution company’s operating terms and conditions: days of
goods held for resale: 24 days; supplier credit: 90 days; customer credit: 10 days;
purchases: 75% of sales; no VAT. Calculate normal working capital as a percentage of
sales.

6/Give your views of Air Liquide’s investment policy since 1990, as represented in the
following graph (data in C¼m):

Source: Annual report.

Questions

1/No, because of the seasonality of most business.
2/Yes, it would, as working capital depends primarily on the time difference between

payment to suppliers and payment from customers which would not be substantially
modified by a change in accounting rules; with an adjustment of working capital and
shareholders’ equity.

3/Yes, because each item of working capital is sold, paid by the company or its
suppliers.

4/As a result of inertia.
5/ It tends to increase even if the number of products sold stays constant.
6/This is not borne out by an analysis of the information. A depreciation charge does

not affect EBITDA (as EBITDA is computed before depreciation charge). Working
capital has increased considerably. Note the change in net debt.

7/No, the retailers are getting in stock, but not necessarily selling any!
8/Very high working capital. Downpayments by customers, prefinancing of series by

state authorities, pass on to subcontractors, etc.
9/Not really, given that nonoperating working capital is such a catch-all category.

10/Sales in the raincoat business are linked to two weather-related peaks – in early
autumn and early spring, but with delivery periods to supermarkets, the peaks in
sales figures will occur 3 months later (July, October). The rate of production would
appear to be constant throughout the year. Most of the vegetable canning factory’s
production is completed during the summer (3 months) and then sold over the rest of
the year, especially in winter.
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Exercises

1/
Working capital % of sales Time taken to shift goods Value in

component or payment period days of sales

Raw materials inventories 30% 15 days 4.5 days

þ Work in progress 30% � 30 days þ 40% � 15 days 15.0 days

þ Inventories of finished 90% 15 days 13.5 days
products

þ Trade receivables 100% 30 days 30.0 days

� Trade payables 30% 60 days 18.0 days

¼ Total 45.0 days

2/Operating cash flow (before taxes and financial expense) ¼ EBITDA �DWC ¼ 15% �
120 � 25% � (120 � 100) ¼ C¼13m.

3/
1 2 3 4 5

Working capital (WC) 10,400 12,800 16,100 20,300 23,600

WC in days of sales (excl. VAT) 116 105 119 152 172

Outstanding receivables in days of 60 62 66 71 74
sales (including VAT)

Days of inventories 68 60 67 97 112

Days of payables in days of 61 67 65 66 61
purchase (including tax)

The economy is in recession and the company has not yet adjusted production and is
keeping sales up by offering customers better payment terms.

4/
Working capital % of sales Time taken to shift goods Value in

component or payment period days of sales

Inventories of goods for 60% 90 days 54.0 days
resale

þ Trade receivables 119.60% 30/2 þ 45 ¼ 60 days 71.8 days

� Accounts payable �71.76% 30 days 21.5 days

� Personnel cost 10% 15 days 1.5 days

� Social security 5% 30/2 þ 15 ¼ 30 days 1.5 days
contributions payable

� VAT payable (19.6 � 19.6 30/2 +25 = 40 days 3.1 days
�60% ¼
7.84%)

¼ Total 98.1 days
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5/

Working capital % of sales Time taken to shift goods Value in
component or payment period days of sales

Inventories of goods for 75% 24.3 days 18.2 days
resale

þ Trade receivables 100% 10 days 10.0 days

� Accounts payable 75% 90 days 67.5 days

¼ Total �39.2 days

6/Until 1995, Air Liquide reaps the benefits of capital expenditure prior to 1990 and
generates cash flow which is stagnant but much higher than its capital expenditure.
Between 1996 and 2000, seeking to achieve the growth it had previously recorded,
Air Liquide lays out large amounts on capital expenditure, resulting in an increase in
cash flow. After making these capital expenditures, Air Liquide can reduce the
amount of its capital expenditure for a few years (1999–2003) and reap large
amounts of cash from operating activities. When cash from operating activities
starts to stagnate (2002–2004), Air Liquide increases again its capital expenditure
(2004). It is a never-ending story of low capex and high cash flows or high capex and
low cash flows, capex being increased when cash flows are decreasing, and capex
being reduced when past capex results in higher cash flows.
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Chapter 12
Financing

Tell me how you’re financed and I’ll tell you who you are

When you evaluate how a company is financed, you must perform both dynamic
and static analyses.

. When it is founded, a company makes two types of investments. First, it invests
to acquire land, buildings, equipment, etc. Second, it makes operating
investments; specifically, startup costs and building up working capital.

To finance these investments, the company must raise either equity or debt
financing. The investments, which initially generate negative cash flows, must
generate positive cash flows over time. After subtracting returns to the providers
of the company’s financing (interest and dividends), as well as taxes, these cash
flows must enable the company to repay its borrowings.

If the circle is a virtuous one – i.e., if the cash flows generated are enough to meet
interest and dividend payments and repay debt – the company will gradually be
able to grow and, as it repays its debt, it will be able to borrow more (the origin of
the illusion that companies never repay their loans).

Conversely, the circle becomes a vicious one if the company’s resources are
constantly tied up in new investments or if cash flow from operating activities is
chronically low. The company systematically needs to borrow to finance capital
expenditure, and it may never be able to pay off its debt, not to mention pay
dividends.

This is the dynamic approach.

? In parallel with the dynamic approach, you must look at the current state of
the company’s finances with two questions in mind:

e Given the proportion of the company’s assets financed by bank and other
financial debt and the free cash flow generated by the company, can the
company repay its debt?

e Given the term structure of the company’s debt, is the company running a
high risk of illiquidity?

This is the static approach.



Section 12.1

A dynamic analysis of the company’s financing

To perform this analysis you will rely on the cash flow statement.

1/The fundamental concept of cash flow from

operating activities

The cash flow statement (see Chapter 5) is designed to separate operating activities
from investing and financing activities. Accordingly, it shows cash flows from
operating and investing activities and investments on the one hand and from
financing activities on the other hand. This breakdown will also be very useful to
you in valuing the company and in examining investment decisions.

The concept of cash flow from operating activities, as shown by the cash flow
statement, is of utmost importance. It depends on three fundamental parameters:

. the rate of growth in the company’s business;

. the amount and nature of operating margins;

. the amount and nature of working capital.

An analysis of the cash flow statement is therefore the logical extension of the
analysis of the company’s margins and the changes in working capital.

Several problems can be dealt with using the concept of cash flow.
By dissociating industrial and financial policy, the cash flow statement

emphasises the cash flow from operating activities. Cash flow from operating
activities constitutes a fundamental aspect of the company’s profitability, especially
in an economy where the value of assets on the balance sheet is low. There is no
way round the following basic truth: to be profitable, a company must sooner or
later generate cash in excess of what it spends. In other words, it must generate a
net positive cash flow from operating activities.

Analysing the cash flow statement means analysing the profitability of the
company from the point of view of its operating dynamics, rather than the value
of its assets.

We once analysed a fast-growing company with a high working capital. Its
cash flow from operating activities was insufficient, but its inventories increased in
value every year. We found that the company was turning a handsome net income,
but its return on capital employed was poor, as most of its profit was made on
capital gains on the value of its inventories. Because of this, the company was very
vulnerable to any recession in its sector.

In this case, we analysed the cash flow statement and were able to show that the
company’s trade activity was not profitable and that the capital gains just barely
covered its operating losses. It also became apparent that the company’s growth
process led to huge borrowings, making the company even more vulnerable in the
event of a recession.
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2/How is the company financed?

As an analyst, you must understand how the company finances its growth over the
period in question. New equity capital? New debt? Reinvesting cash flow from
operating activities? Asset disposals can contribute additional financial resources.
The cash flow statement will enable you to understand the origin of the company’s
financial resources over the period.

Did the company issue new equity capital during the period, and, if so, for
what purpose? To pay down debt or to finance a large investment programme?

As we will see in Chapter 38, the company’s dividend policy is also an
important aspect of its financial policy. It is a valuable piece of information
when evaluating the company’s strategy during periods of growth or recession:

. Is the company’s dividend policy out of step with its growth strategy?

. Is the company’s cash flow reinvestment policy in line with its capital
expenditure programme?

You must compare the amount of dividends with the investments and cash flows
from operating activities of the period. For a family-owned company, we would
also advise increasing dividends by repayment of shareholders loans, and any other
unusual operating costs or payments that could be substitutes for dividend
payments. You could also look at the company’s payout ratio (see p. 541).

Analysing the net increase or decrease in the company’s debt burden is a
question of financial structure:

. If the company is paying down debt, is it doing so in order to improve its
financial structure? Has it run out of growth opportunities? Is it to pay back
loans that were contracted when interest rates were high?

. If the company is increasing its debt burden, is it taking advantage of unutilised
debt capacity? Or, is it financing a huge investment project or reducing its
shareholders’ equity and upsetting its financial equilibrium in the process?

In conclusion, it is imperative that you analyse the cash flow statement to
understand the dynamics of the company’s cash flows.

In Section III, we will examine the more complex reasoning processes that go
into determining investment and financing strategies. For the moment, keep in
mind that analysis of the financial statements alone can only result in elementary,
common sense rules.

As you will see later, we stand firmly against the following ‘‘principles’’:

. the amount of capital expenditure must be limited to the cash flow from
operating activities. No! After reading Section III you will understand that
the company should continue to invest in new projects until their marginal
profitability is equal to the required rate of return. If it invests less, it is under-
investing; if it invests more, it is overinvesting, even if it has the cash to do so;

. the company can achieve equilibrium by having the ‘‘cash cow’’ divisions
finance the ‘‘glamour’’ divisions. No! With the development of financial
markets, every division whose profitability is commensurate with its risk
must be able to finance itself. A ‘‘cash cow’’ division should pay the cash
flow it generates over to its providers of capital.
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Studying the equilibrium between the company’s various cash flows in order to set
rules is tantamount to considering the company as a world unto itself. This
approach is diametrically opposed to financial theory. It goes without saying,
however, that you must determine the investment cycle that the company’s
financing cycle can support. In particular, debt repayment ability remains
paramount. We warned you about that already in Chapter 2!

Section 12.2

A static analysis of the company’s financing

Focusing on a multi-year period, we have examined how the company’s margins,
working capital and capital expenditure programmes determine its various cash
flows. We can now turn our attention to the company’s absolute level of debt at a
given point in time and to its capacity to meet its commitments while avoiding
liquidity crises.

1/Can the company repay its debts?

The best way to answer this simple, fundamental question is to take the company’s
business plan and project future cash flow statements. These statements will show
you whether the company generates enough cash flow from operating activities
such that, after financing its capital expenditure, it has enough left over to meet
its debt repayment obligations without asking shareholders to reach into their
pockets. If the company must indeed solicit additional equity capital, you must
evaluate the market’s appetite for such a capital increase. This will depend on who
the current shareholders are. A company with a core shareholder will have an easier
time than one whose shares are widely held. It will also depend on the value of
equity capital (if it is near zero, maybe only a vulture fund

1 will be interested).
Naturally, this assumes that you have access to the company’s business plan, or

that you can construct your own from scenarios of business growth, margins,
changes in working capital and likely levels of capital expenditure. We will take
a closer look at this approach in Chapter 40.

Analysts have in the meantime adopted a ‘‘quick-and-dirty’’ way to appreciate
the company’s ability to repay its debt: the ratio of net debt to EBITDA.2

This highly empirical measure is nonetheless considered useful, because
EBITDA is very close to cash flow from operating activities, give or take changes
in working capital corporate and income tax. A value of 4 is considered a critical
level, below which the company should generally be able to meet its repayment
obligations.

If we were to oversimplify, we would say that a value of 3 signifies that the debt
could be repaid in 3 years provided the company halted all capital expenditure and
didn’t pay corporate income tax during that period. Of course, no one would ask
the company to pay off all its debt in the span of 3 years, but the idea is that if it
had to, it could.

Conversely, bank and other financial borrowings equal to more than 4 times
EBITDA is considered a heavy debt load, and gives rise to serious doubts about the
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company’s ability to meet its repayment commitments as scheduled. As we will see
in Chapter 44, LBOs display this type of ratio. When the value of the ratio exceeds
5 or 6, the debt becomes ‘‘high-yield’’, the politically correct euphemism for ‘‘junk
bonds’’.

Bankers are more willing to lend money to sectors with stable and highly
predictable cash flows (food retail, utilities, reference books, etc.), even on the
basis of high net debt to EBITDA ratio, than to others where cash flows are
more volatile (media, capital goods, etc.).

The following table shows trends in the net debt/EBITDA ratio posted by
various sectors in Europe over 1995–2005.

NET DEBT/EBITDA RATIO FOR LEADING LISTED EUROPEAN COMPANIES (%)

Sector 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005e 2006e

Aerospace and defence NM* NM NM 37 87 104 83 83 44 54 54

Automotive 7 NM NM NM 38 62 37 24 9 NM NM

Beverages 119 124 171 178 187 202 231 185 165 143 114

Building materials 165 174 174 246 262 305 279 251 213 190 159

Capital goods NM 48 26 121 130 235 140 117 55 20 NM

Chemicals 65 87 97 130 186 154 129 136 93 73 51

Consumer goods 140 139 140 102 115 83 36 27 42 28 2

Food and home care 92 15 67 43 189 230 167 154 121 98 76

Food retail 67 104 151 195 246 217 208 186 173 159 146

General retail 171 109 144 116 144 149 150 117 104 77 47

IT hardware 77 31 NM 5 21 84 NM NM NM NM NM

IT services 123 32 NM NM NM NM 51 50 22 4 NM

Leisure and hotels 896 795 588 509 602 565 636 631 527 453 151

Luxury goods 119 162 242 317 243 325 224 165 121 82 39

Media 170 115 161 261 236 277 244 170 107 69 39

Metals and mining 161 328 258 189 172 217 197 152 77 44 27

Oil and gas 48 64 86 110 40 52 85 70 44 35 30

Personal care 49 40 27 52 88 65 39 10 44 9 NM

Support services 151 140 156 218 271 258 273 243 215 183 151

Telecom operators and ISPs 116 165 157 178 301 260 237 165 145 131 105

Transport 335 272 270 327 304 399 251 252 282 259 248

Utilities 146 101 126 221 261 244 304 239 229 221 262

Source: Exane BNP Paribas. Figures for the pharmaceutical and software sectors are missing as they are not meaningful (negative net debt).

* NM ¼ Not meaningful (i.e., negative net debt).
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Leisure/hotels and transport sectors are the most highly leveraged sectors. One
explanation is naturally their capital intensity, which is strong. Another one is
the willingness of lenders to lend money to these sectors as they own real estate
assets with a value independent from the business (a film theatre can be redeveloped
into a commercial area) or with a strong secondary market (like for planes).
Similarly, analysts look at the debt service ratio (or debt service coverage) – i.e.,
the ratio of EBIT3 to net interest expense. A ratio of 3 : 1 is considered the critical
level. Below this level, there are serious doubts as to the company’s ability to meet
its obligations as scheduled, as for the transport sector post-9/11. Above it, the
company’s lenders can sleep more easily at night!

The following table shows trends in the net debt service coverage ratio posted
by various different sectors in Europe over 1995–2005.

DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE RATIO FOR LEADING LISTED EUROPEAN COMPANIES

Sector 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005e 2006e

Aerospace and defence �14.1 �19.0 �3.2 2.2 2.1 5.2 6.3 5.7 7.2 8.5 �9.5

Automotive �12.6 �13.9 �19.1 �191 18.7 4.4 5.2 3.0 5.1 7.6 �9.2

Beverages 5.7 6.2 6.3 6.5 5.8 7.1 6.2 6.4 8.1 9.0 �10.1

Building materials 5.3 5.9 6.0 5.0 3.9 3.5 4.0 4.2 5.1 5.6 �6.5

Capital goods 1563 9.9 9.8 �6.4 �4.6 2.7 9.4 5.9 13.2 29.9 �104

Chemicals 15.9 13.8 11.5 8.0 6.2 4.7 6.9 6.9 9.1 10.7 �15.4

Consumer goods 5.0 5.1 7.0 8.2 7.8 7.4 20.8 22.0 17.1 18.7 �28.1

Food and home care 7.7 10.5 12.8 13.9 10.6 6.7 8.2 9.6 10.4 13.4 �16.3

Food retail 22.8 18.5 7.7 6.2 4.2 4.3 4.2 4.4 4.7 5.2 �5.7

General retail 18.1 85.5 18.0 23.4 12.0 10.4 10.5 13.5 12.4 15.9 �19.5

IT hardware 6.6 12.9 9.1 25.6 22.1 �0.0 1.0 15.2 �43.5 367 509

IT services 8.6 16.3 101 �138 �305 408 12.2 9.7 8.6 15.0 �23.9

Leisure and hotels 0.6 0.9 2.0 2.5 2.6 2.5 1.9 1.9 2.3 2.8 �6.8

Luxury goods 26.1 19.3 8.7 15.3 7.0 4.6 7.7 12.1 15.6 18.6 �26.1

Media 6.7 8.7 18.8 8.8 5.7 3.8 2.2 5.6 8.8 12.3 �36.0

Metals and mining 8.4 2.1 3.2 4.3 5.9 3.9 5.9 7.6 12.8 26.7 �36.0

Oil and gas 17.4 14.1 9.4 10.1 19.1 23.2 17.4 64.0 37.7 56.4 �63.5

Personal care 10.9 9.8 20.7 20.4 15.9 14.5 27.3 38.0 28.7 �32.4 21.6

Pharmaceuticals �26.1 �20.1 �16.4 �27.5 �16.8 �31.6 �196 NM* 43.6 153 608

Software �8.3 �24.6 �46.8 �26.1 �3.8 �140.1 112 �49.3 �52.9 �44.8 44.4

Support services 11.5 12.0 7.6 7.9 5.7 5.1 4.5 5.1 5.8 6.6 �7.4

Telecom operators and ISPs 6.2 4.3 4.8 5.3 2.8 2.1 2.8 4.4 5.4 6.2 �7.9

Transport 4.7 3.8 3.2 2.2 4.0 1.8 3.5 3.7 4.0 7.0 �7.7

Utilities 5.0 4.3 4.7 4.8 3.1 3.0 3.1 3.3 3.5 3.6 �4.8

Source: Exane BNP Paribas.

* NM ¼ Not meaningful.
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Negative figures mean that, globally, the sector has a net cash position (as for
pharmaceuticals firms). Unsurprisingly, debt service coverage ratios show that
the leisure/hotels and transport sectors as largely in debt (see the above debt/
EBITDA ratios).

Until around 15 years ago, the company’s ability to repay its loans was
evaluated on the basis of its debt-to-equity ratio, or gearing, with a 1 : 1 ratio
considered the critical point.

Certain companies can support bank and other financial debt in excess of
shareholders’ equity; specifically, companies that generate high operating cash
flow. KPN, the Dutch telecom operator, which generates robust cash flows from
its fixed line telephony business, is an example. Conversely, other companies would
be unable to support debt equivalent to more than 30% of their equity, because
their margins are very thin. For example, the operating profit of Thomas Cook, the
travel company, is at best only 1% of its sales revenue.

We advise against using the debt-to-equity ratio as a measure of the company’s
repayment capacity: shareholders’ equity capital serves to repay loans only in the
event of bankruptcy, not in the ordinary course of the business.

2/ Is the company running a risk of illiquidity?

To understand the notion of liquidity, look at the company in the following
manner: at a given point in time, the balance sheet shows the company’s assets
and commitments. This is what the company has done in the past. Without
planning for liquidation, we nevertheless attempt to classify the assets and
commitments based on how quickly they are transformed into cash. When will a
particular commitment result in a cash disbursement? When will a particular asset
translate into a cash receipt?

A company is illiquid when it can no longer meet its scheduled commitments.

To meet its commitments, either the company has assets it can liquidate or it must
contract new loans. Of course, new loans only postpone the day of reckoning until
the new repayment date. By that time, the company will have to find new resources.

Illiquidity comes about when the maturity of the assets is greater than that of
the liabilities. Suppose you took out a loan, to be repaid in 6 months, to buy a
machine with a useful life of 5 years. The useful life of the machine is out of step
with the scheduled repayment of the loan and the interest expenses on it.
Consequently, there is a risk of illiquidity in the event the investment is not very
profitable. Similarly, at the current asset level, if you borrow 3-month funds to
finance inventories that turn over in more than 3 months, you are running the same
risk.

The risk of illiquidity is the risk that assets will become liquid at a slower pace
than the rate at which the liabilities will have to be paid, because the maturity of
assets is longer. In a sense, liquidity measures the speed at which assets turn over
compared with liabilities.
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An illiquid company is not necessarily required to declare bankruptcy, but it
must find new resources to bridge the gap. In so doing, it forfeits some of its
independence, because it will be obliged to devote a portion of its new resources
to past uses. In times of recession, it may have trouble doing so and indeed be
forced into bankruptcy.

Analysing liquidity means analysing the risk the company will have to ‘‘borrow
from Peter to pay Paul’’. For each maturity, you must compare the company’s cash
needs with the resources it will have at its disposal.

We say that a balance sheet is liquid when, for each maturity, there are more

assets being converted into cash (inventories sold, receivables paid, etc.) than there are

liabilities coming due.

This graph shows, for each maturity, the cumulative amount of assets and
liabilities coming due on or before that date.

LIQUIDITY

If, for a given maturity, cumulative assets are less than cumulative liabilities, the
company will be unable to meet its obligations unless it finds a new source of funds.
The company shown in this graph is not in this situation.

What we are measuring is the company’s maturity mismatch, similar to that of a
financial institution that borrows short-term funds to finance long-term assets.

(a) Liquidity ratios

To measure liquidity, then, we must compare the maturity of the company’s assets
with that of its liabilities. This rule gives rise to the following ratios, commonly used
in loan covenants. They enable banks to monitor the risk of their borrowers.

. Current ratio:

Current assets (less than 1 year)

Current liabilities (due in less than 1 year)

This ratio measures whether the assets to be converted into cash in less than 1 year
exceed the debts to be paid in less than 1 year.

. The quick ratio is another measure of the company’s liquidity. It is the same as
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the current ratio, except that inventories are excluded from the calculation.
Using the quick ratio is a way of recognising that a portion of inventories
corresponds to the minimum the company requires for its ongoing activity.
As such, they are tantamount to fixed assets. It also recognises that the
company may not be able to liquidate the inventories it has on hand quickly
enough in the event of an urgent cash need. Certain inventory items have value
only to the extent they are used in the production process.

The quick ratio (also called acid test ratio) is calculated as follows:

Current assets (less than 1 year) excluding inventories

Current liabilities (due in less than 1 year)

. Finally, the cash ratio completes the set:

Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities (due in less than 1 year)

The cash ratio is generally very low. Its fluctuations often do not lend themselves to
easy interpretation.

(b) More on the current ratio

Traditional financial analysis relies on the following rule:

A company must maintain a buffer between sources and uses of funds maturing in
less than 1 year to cover risks inherent in its business (loss of inventory value,
deadbeat customers, decline in sales, business interruption costs that suddenly
reduce shareholders’ equity capital), because liabilities are not subject to such
losses in value.

By maintaining a current ratio above 1 (more current assets than current liabilities),
the company protects its creditors from uncertainties in the ‘‘gradual liquidation’’
of its current assets; namely, in the sale of its inventories and the collection of its
receivables. These uncertainties could otherwise prevent the company from
honouring its obligations, such as paying its suppliers, servicing bank loans or
paying taxes.

If we look at the long-term portion of the balance sheet, a current ratio above 1
means that sources of funds due in more than 1 year, deemed stable,4 are greater
than fixed assets – i.e., uses of funds ‘‘maturing’’ in more than 1 year. If the current
ratio is below 1, then fixed assets are being financed partially by short-term
borrowings or by a negative working capital. This situation can be dangerous.
These sources of funds are liabilities that will very shortly become due, whereas
fixed assets ‘‘liquidate’’ only gradually on the long term.

The current ratio was the cornerstone of any financial analysis years ago. This
was clearly excessive. The current ratio reflects the choice between short-term and
long-term financing. In our view, this was a problem typical of the credit-based
economy, as it existed in the 1970s in continental Europe. Today, the choice is more
between shareholders’ equity capital and banking or financial debt, whatever its
maturity. This said, we still think it is unhealthy to finance a permanent working
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capital with very short-term resources. The company that does so will be defenceless in

the event of a liquidity crisis, which could push it into bankruptcy.

(c) Financing working capital

To the extent that working capital represents a permanent need, logic dictates that
permanent financing should finance it. Since it remains constant for a constant
business volume, we are even tempted to say that it should be financed by
shareholders’ equity. Indeed, companies with a high working capital are often
largely funded with shareholders’ equity. This is the case, for example, with big
champagne companies, which often turn to the capital markets for equity funding.

Nevertheless, most companies would be in an unfavourable cash position if
they had to finance their working capital strictly with long-term debt or share-
holders’ equity. Instead, they use the mechanism of revolving credits, which we
will discuss in Chapter 27. For that matter, the fact that the components of working
capital are self-renewing encourages companies to use revolving credit facilities in
which customer receivables and inventories often collateralise the borrowings.

By their nature, revolving credit facilities are always in effect, and their risk is
often tied directly to underlying transactions or collateralised by them (bill
discounting, factoring, securitisation, etc.).

Full and permanent use of short-term revolving credit facilities can often be
dangerous, because it:

. exhausts borrowing capacity;

. inflates interest expense unnecessarily;

. increases the volume of relatively inflexible commitments, which will restrict
the company’s ability to stabilise or restructure its activity.

Working capital is not only a question of financing. It can carry an operational risk
as well. Financing through short-term borrowing solves the immediate cash
management problem, but makes the company very vulnerable to any changes in
its trade and financial environment. Such financing has provoked some spectacular
bankruptcies or quasi-bankruptcies (i.e., Vivendi Universal). Short-term borrowing
does not exempt the company from strategic analysis of how its operating needs
will change over time. This is a prerequisite to any financing strategy.

Companies that export a high proportion of their sales or that participate in
construction and public works projects are risky inasmuch as they often have
insufficient shareholders’ equity compared with their total working capital. The
difference is often financed by ‘‘revolving loans’’ resources, until one day, when
the going gets rough. . . .

In sum, you must pay attention to the true nature of working capital, and
understand that a short-term loan that finances a permanent working capital
cannot be repaid by the operating cycle except by squeezing that cycle down, or,
in other words, by beginning to liquidate the company.

(d) Companies with negative working capital

Companies with a negative working capital raise a fundamental question for the
financial analyst. Should they be allowed to reduce their shareholders’ equity on the
strength of their robust, positive cash position?
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Can a company with a negative working capital maintain a financial structure
with relatively little shareholders’ equity? This would seem to be an anomaly in
financial theory. On the practical level, we can make two observations.

First, under normal operating conditions, the company’s overall financing
structure is more important and more telling than the absolute value of its negative
working capital.

Let’s look at companies A and B, whose balance sheets are as follows:

Company A Company B

Fixed assets 900 Shareholders’ equity 800 Fixed assets 125 Shareholders’ equity 100
Working capital 1,000 Net debt 1,100 Cash & cash equiv. 105 Neg. working capital 130

Most of company A’s assets – in particular, its working capital – are financed by
debt. As a result, the company is much more vulnerable than company B, whose
working capital is well into negative territory and whose fixed assets are mostly
financed by shareholders’ equity.

Second, a company with a negative working capital reacts much more quickly
in times of crisis, such as recession. Inertia, which hinders positive working capital
companies, is not as great.

Nevertheless, a negative working capital company runs two risks:

. The payment terms granted by its suppliers may suddenly change. This is a
function of the balance of power between the company and its supplier, and,
unless there is an outside event, such as a change in the legislative environment,
such risk is minimal. On the contrary, when a company with a negative
working capital grows, its position vis-à-vis its suppliers tends to improve.

. A contraction in the company’s business volume can put a serious dent in its
financial structure.

Section 12.3

Case study
5
: Ericsson

2003 was clearly a turning year for Ericsson as it was able to register its first positive
cash flow from operating activities since 1999. From 2000 to 2002, cumulated cash
flow from operating activities reached � C¼2.9bn. This was mainly due to a collapse
in margins and to restructuring costs (C¼3.8bn!) which were tending to become
recurrent. Ericsson has been able to partially compensate this cash flow deficit
by drastically reducing its working capital from C¼4.4bn at the beginning of 1999
down to C¼2.2bn at the end of 2002, freeing up in the process C¼2.2bn of cash. Sales
of investments more than covered capital expenditures, so Ericsson finds itself in
the nice but nonrecurring situation of getting cash from investing activities: C¼2.8bn
from 2000 to 2002.

Even though Ericsson had stopped paying a dividend since 2002, it had to rely
on external sources of financing to fill in the gap: first, financial and banking debt
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and, then, a share issue of C¼3.2bn used to build up equity on the balance sheet
depleted by losses and restructuring costs.

This share issue was prompted by a rating downgrade below investment grade6

to BB by rating agencies which made it almost impossible for Ericsson to raise new
debt, except on very expensive terms. With negative EBITDA in 2001 (� C¼533m)
and net debt of C¼2.4bn, lenders were clearly wary about lending more money to
Ericsson.

Even after the equity injection, 2002 EBITDA having worsened (�C¼1.5bn),
Ericsson was not a safe play for lenders despite net cash of C¼0.5bn on the balance
sheet.

The situation was much better in 2003 thanks to C¼2.7bn of cashflow from
operating activities, explained by a new reduction in working capital (C¼3.4bn)
despite a negative cash flow (� C¼0.7bn) sharply reduced compared to 2002
(� C¼2.7bn). As capital expenditures were capped at a minimum (C¼0.5bn) and
partly financed through assets disposal, net cash (negative net debt) could be
increased by C¼2.3bn.

Does Ericsson have liquidity problems? After having raised C¼3.2bn of fresh
equity at the end of 2002, Ericsson has C¼8bn in cash and marketable securities and
only C¼1bn in short-term financial debt. It should be able to pay off financial debts
when they mature, cover losses and restructuring costs and pay for capital
expenditure in 2004 and 2005, provided there is not a further collapse in its
markets. So it is reasonable to say that Ericsson has no liquidity problems.

Analysing how a company is financed can be performed either by looking at several fiscal
years, or on the basis of the latest available balance sheet.

In the dynamic approach, your main analytical tool will be the cash flow statement. Cash
flow from operating activities is the key metric.

Cash flow from operating activities depends on the growth rate of the business and on the
size and nature of working capital. Cash flow from operating activities must cover capital
expenditure, loan repayment and dividends. Otherwise, the company will have to borrow
more to pay for its past use of funds.

The company uses shareholders’ equity and bank or financial debts to finance its invest-
ments. These investments must gradually generate enough positive cash flow to repay
debt and provide a return to shareholders.

In the static approach, analysis tries to answer the following two questions:

. Can the company repay its debts as scheduled? To answer this question, you must
build projected cash flow statements, based on assumed rates of growth in sales,
margins, working capital and capital expenditure. To perform a simplified analysis,
you can calculate the net debt/EBITDA ratio. If the company is to have an acceptable
capacity to meet its repayment commitments as scheduled, the ratio should not be in
excess of 4. Similarly, the EBIT/debt service ratio should be at least equal to 3.

. Is the company running the risk of being illiquid? To answer this question, you must
compare the dates at which the company’s liabilities will come due and the dates at
which its assets will be liquidated. Assets should mature before liabilities. If they do,
the company will remain liquid.
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1/Why is it imperative to analyse the cash flow statement?

2/Does capital expenditure depend on cash flow from operating activities?

3/Your marketing manager suggests that you launch a marketing drive, giving some
customers discounts and advantageous payment terms. State your views.

4/Is financial expense included in cash flow from operating activities?

5/Is a company with negative working capital illiquid?

6/In your view, should short-term debt be separated out from medium- to long-term
debt on the cash flow statement? Why?

7/Short-term interest rates are currently very low and you are offered a 3-month loan.
State your views.

8/The debt-to-equity ratio of Allied Domecq plc (spirits group) was 2.1 mid-2004. State
your views.

1/Below are the key figures for company Ivankovic over the last 5 years.

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

Fixed assets 100 110 120 130 140
Working capital 200 225 250 280 315
EBITDA 38 40 44 48 52
Depreciation and amortisation 10 10 11 12 13
Financial expense 14 15 17 19 22
Income tax expense 7 7.5 8 8 8.5
Dividends 5 5 5 6 6

Draw up the cash flow statement for years 2002 to 2005.
State your views.

2/Analyse and compare the summary cash flow statements of companies A, B and C.

A B C

Cash flow from operating activities �100 50 �50
Capital expenditure �150 �30 250
Capital increase 250 0 0
Dividends paid 0 �15 0

Decrease in net debt 0 5 200

3/What is your view of Ringkvist AB?

Ringkvist AB 2003 2004 2005

Cash flow from operating activities 400 700 1,600
Capital expenditure 1,000 1,300 1,400
Asset disposals 0 0 0
Capital increase 300 300 0
Dividends paid 0 100 200

Decrease in net debt �300 �400 0
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4/What is your view of Moser srl?

Moser srl 2003 2004 2005

Cash flow from operating activities 400 300 �200
Capital expenditure 1,000 1,100 300
Asset disposals 0 0 300
Capital increase 300 0 600
Dividends 0 0 0

Decrease in net debt �300 �800 400

5/What is your view of the liquidity of this company?

7-year fixed assets 200 Shareholders’ equity 100
3-year fixed assets 200 5-year debts 200
3-month inventories 300 1-year debts 300
2-month receivables 100 1-month debts 400
1-day liquidities 200

Total 1,000 Total 1,000

Questions

1/ In order to emphasise the dynamic of returns on investments.
2/No, because financing can always be found for an investment that will bring returns,

but sooner or later these returns must generate cash flows.
3/This will have a double impact on cash flow from operating activities (drop in margins

and increase in working capital).
4/Yes, see Chapter 5.
5/Normally no, as negative working capital provides the company with cash, solving

any liquidity problem it may have. Nevertheless, if the company has invested this
cash in fixed assets and the business is contracting, change in working capital will
become a cash drain and the company may face a liquidity crisis.

6/No, net decrease in debt provides more information (see Chapter 5).
7/How would you pay off a loan in 3 months? You run the risk of not being able to raise

new funds when your cheap loan matures.
8/This level of debt can only be evaluated in relation to Allied Domecq’s capacity to

generate substantial cash flow. Most of the time spirits companies generate high
cash flows.

Exercises

1/Cash flow statement

2002 2003 2004 2005

Cash flow 17.5 19 21 21.5
Change in working capital 25 25 30 35
Cash flow from operating activities �7.5 �6 �9 �13.5
Capital expenditures 20 21 22 23
Dividends paid 5 5 5 6
Decrease in net debt �32.5 �32 �36 �42.5
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The company Ivankovic is in a high-growth and high-capital-expenditure phase.
Ivankovic is unable to control working capital; hence, a large cash deficit. This
deficit is covered by debt, leading to a sharp rise in financial expense. The financial
situation of Ivankovic is worsening and in case of a slump in the economy, Ivankovic
might face bankruptcy.

2/Company A is probably a newly formed company – its cash flow from operating
activities is still negative. It will have to make huge capital expenditures. Given the
high level of risk, it finances its needs using equity exclusively. Company B has
reached maturity, its operating activities generate more cash than is needed to
cover its capital expenditure. The company will be able to reduce its debt.
Company C is clearly in trouble. Its operations generate a large cash deficit, the
company is no longer investing but is shedding assets in order to reduce debt.

3/Ringkvist AB is in a virtuous circle of growth. The company is investing, the
investments are generating inflows, cash from operating activities thus increases
every year, and the company does not need to borrow much. In period 3, Ringkvist
AB generates enough cash through operating activities to finance its capital
expenditures, pay dividends and stabilise its debt level.

4/Moser srl is in a vicious circle. Cash flow from operating activities declines from year
to year. Moser srl thus has to borrow heavily in year 2 to finance its capital
expenditure. In year 3, the company experiences serious cash shortfalls, since cash
generated by operating activities is negative. The company is forced to call on its
shareholders to bail it out. It also launches a programme to refocus on its core
business, which leads to asset disposals. Net capital expenditures are thus nil.
Moser srl must reduce its debt.

5/There is no guarantee of liquidity in 1 month (shortfall of 400 � 200 ¼ 200), nor in 1
year (shortfall of 700 � 600 ¼ 100) nor in 5 years (shortfall of 900 � 800 ¼ 100). The
company will have to restructure its debt quickly in order to postpone payment of
instalments due.

R. Elsas, M. Flannery, J. Garfinkel, Major Investments, Firm Financing Decisions, and Long Term

Performance, working paper, EFA 2004 Maastricht meetings, May 2004,

A. Hackethal, R. Schmidt, Financing Patterns: Measurement Concepts and Empirical Results,

University of Frankfurt, working paper 125, Department of Finance, 2004.
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Chapter 13
Return on capital employed and

return on equity

The leverage effect is much ado about nothing

So far we have analysed:

. how a company can create wealth (margins’ analysis);

. what kind of investment is required to create wealth: capital expenditure and
increase in working capital;

. how those investments are financed through debt or equity.

We now have everything we need to carry out an assessment of the company’s
efficiency – i.e., its profitability.

A company that delivers returns that are at least equal to those required by its
shareholders and lenders will not experience financing problems in the long term,
since it will be able to repay its debts and create value for its shareholders.

Hence the importance of this chapter, in which we attempt to measure the
book profitability of companies.

Section 13.1

Analysis of corporate profitability

We can measure profitability only by studying returns in relation to the invested
capital. If no capital is invested, there is no profitability to speak of.

Book profitability is the ratio of the wealth created (i.e., earnings) to the capital
invested. Profitability should not be confused with margins. Margins represent the
ratio of earnings to business volumes (i.e., sales or production), while profitability is
the ratio of profits to the capital that had to be invested to generate the profits.

Above all, analysts should focus on the profitability of capital employed by
studying the ratio of operating profit to capital employed, which is called Return
On Capital Employed (ROCE):

Return on capital employed (ROCE) ¼ Operating profit after tax

Capital employed

Return on capital employed can also be considered as the return on equity if net debt

is zero.



The operating profit figure that should be used is the one we presented in
Chapter 9 – i.e., after employee profit-sharing, incentive payments and all the
other revenues and charges that are assigned to the operating cycle.

Much ink has been spilled over the issue of whether opening or closing capital
employed1 or an average of the two figures should be used. We will leave it up to
readers to decide for themselves. This said, they should take care not to change the
method they decide to use as they go along so that comparisons over longer periods
are not skewed.

Return on capital employed can be calculated by combining a margin and
turnover rate as follows:

Operating profit after tax

Capital employed
¼ Operating profit after tax

Sales
� Sales

Capital employed

The first ratio – i.e., Operating profit after tax/Sales – corresponds to the operating
margin generated by the company, while the second – Sales/Capital employed –
reflects asset turnover or capital turn (the inverse of capital intensity), which
indicates the amount of capital (capital employed) required to generate a given
level of sales. Consequently, a ‘‘normal’’ return on capital employed may result
from weak margins, but high asset turnover (and thus weak capital intensity) –
e.g., in mass retailing. It may also stem from high margins, but low asset turnover
(i.e., high capital intensity) – e.g., whisky producers.

The following table shows the ROCE and its components achieved by some
leading European groups during 2004:

Return on capital Operating profit Sales/
2004 data employed ¼ after � Capital employed

after tax tax/Sales (asset turnover)

Nokia 77.9% 12.2% 6.4
Sap 53.6% 17.9% 3.0
Mobistar 38.7% 15.4% 2.5
Zara (Inditex) 27.6% 10.8% 2.6
Swatch 18.7% 13.5% 1.4
Nestlé 17.6% 10.0% 1.8
Ryanair 17.4% 24.8% 0.7
L’Oréal 16.6% 9.6% 1.7
Bulgari 15.6% 13.3% 1.2
BMW 14.8% 5.5% 2.7
Wolters Kluwer 12.3% 11.2% 1.1
KPN 12.1% 12.5% 1.0
Marks & Spencer 11.6% 4.8% 2.3
Tesco 11.3% 4.8% 2.3
Benetton 10.2% 9.1% 1.1
Siemens 9.7% 4.0% 2.4
Repsol YPF 8.9% 3.9% 2.3
Carlsberg 8.8% 5.2% 1.7
Rio Tinto 8.8% 15.3% 0.6
Lafarge 8.2% 11.6% 0.7
Bayer 7.6% 6.3% 1.2
Volvo 4.3% 3.9% 1.1
Tiscali �10.7% �8.4% 1.3

Source: Exane BNP Paribas
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The first ratio derives from the various margins that we defined during our earnings
statement analysis, while the second ratio reflects the asset turnover, which is a
function of the sector’s capital intensity and the size of the company’s working
capital.

Although Ryanair and Nestlé generate a similar return on capital employed,
their operating margins and asset turnover are entirely different. Ryanair has a
strong operating margin (25%), but a weak asset turnover of 0.7 (because it is very
capital intensive) while Nestlé has a smaller operating margin (10%) but a higher
asset turnover of 1.8.

These figures are calculated after tax, which means that we calculate return on
capital employed after tax at the normal rate.

Analysts will have to decide for themselves whether, as we suggest here, they work
on an after-tax basis. If so, they will have to calculate operating profit after
theoretical tax (calculated based on the company’s normalised tax rate), which is
called NOPAT (Net Operating Profit After Tax).

Second, we can calculate the Return On Equity (ROE), which is the ratio of net
income to shareholders’ equity:

Return on equity ¼ Net income

Shareholders’ equity

In practice, most financial analysts take goodwill amortisation or impairment losses
and nonrecurring items out of net income before calculating return on equity.

Section 13.2

Leverage effect

1/The principle

The leverage effect explains a company’s return on equity in terms of its return on
capital employed and cost of debt.

In our approach, we considered the total amount of capital employed, includ-
ing both equity and debt. This capital is invested in assets that form the company’s
capital employed and that are intended to generate earnings, as follows:

HOW THE WEALTH CREATED IS APPORTIONED
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All the capital provided by lenders and shareholders is used to finance all the uses of
funds – i.e., the company’s capital employed. These uses of funds generate operating
profit, which itself is apportioned between net financial expense (returns paid to
debtholders) and net income attributable to shareholders.

If we compare a company’s return on equity with its return on capital
employed (after tax to remain consistent), we note that the difference is due only
to its financial structure, aside from nonrecurring items and items specific to
consolidated accounts, which we will deal with later on.

By definition, the leverage effect is the difference between return on equity and
return on capital employed.

The leverage effect explains how it is possible for a company to deliver a return on
equity exceeding the rate of return on all the capital invested in the business; i.e., its
return on capital employed.

Readers should pause for a second to contemplate this corporate nirvana,
which apparently consists in making more money than actually generated by a
company’s industrial and commercial activities.

But, before getting too carried away, readers should note that the leverage effect
works both ways. Although it can lift a company’s return on equity above return on
capital employed, it can also depress it, turning the dream into a nightmare.

The leverage effect works as follows. When a company raises debt and invests the
funds it has borrowed in its industrial and commercial activities, it generates
operating profit that normally exceeds the interest expense due on its borrowings.
If this is not the case, it is not worth investing, as we will see at the beginning of
Section II of this book. So, the company generates a surplus consisting of the
difference between the return on capital employed and the cost of debt related to
the borrowing. This surplus is attributable to shareholders and is added to share-
holders’ equity. The leverage effect of debt thus increases the return on equity.
Hence its name.

Let’s consider a company with capital employed of 100, which generates a
return of 10% after tax, which is financed entirely by equity. Its return on capital
employed and return on equity both stand at 10%.

If the same company finances 30 of its capital employed with debt at an interest
rate of 4% after tax and the remainder with equity, its return on equity is:

Operating profit after tax: 10% � 100 ¼ 10
� Interest expense after tax: 4% � 30 ¼ 1.2
¼ Net income after tax: ¼ 8.8

When divided by shareholders’ equity of 70 (100 � 30), this yields a return on
equity after tax of 12.6% (8.8/70), while the after-tax return on capital employed
stands at 10%.

The borrowing of 30 that is invested in capital employed generates operating
profit after tax of 3 which, after post-tax interest expense (1.2), is fully attributable
for an amount of 1.8 to shareholders. This surplus amount (1.8) is added to
operating profit generated by equity-financed investments (70 � 10% ¼ 7) to
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give net income of 7 þ 1.8 ¼ 8.8. The company’s return on equity now stands at
8.8/70 ¼ 12.6%.

The leverage effect of debt thus increases the company’s return on equity
by 2.6%, or the surplus generated (1.8) divided by shareholders’ equity
(1.8/70 ¼ 2.6%).

Debt can thus be used to boost a company’s return on equity without any change in
return on capital employed.

But readers will surely have noticed the prerequisite for the return on equity to
increase when the company raises additional debt – i.e., its ROCE must be higher

than its cost of debt. Otherwise, the company borrows at a higher rate than the
returns it generates by investing the borrowed funds in its capital employed, giving
rise to a deficit that reduces the rate of return generated by the company’s equity.
Its earnings decline, and the return on equity dips below its ROCE.

Let’s go back to our company and assume that its return on capital employed
falls to 3% after tax. In this scenario, its return on equity is as follows:

Operating profit after tax: 100 � 3% ¼ 3
� Interest expense after tax: 30 � 4% ¼ 1.2
¼ Net income after tax: ¼ 1.8

When divided by shareholders’ equity of 70, this yields a return on equity after tax
of 2.6% (1.8/70).

The borrowing of 30 generates, once invested in tangible assets or working
capital, an operating profit after tax of 0.9, which, after deducting the 1.2 in interest
charges, produces a deficit of 0.3 on the borrowed funds. This shortfall is thus
deducted from net income, which will drop to 70 � 3% � 0.3 ¼ 1.8.

The original return on capital employed of 3% is thus reduced by
0.3/70 ¼ 0.4% to give a return on equity of 2.6% after tax.

When the return on capital employed falls below the cost of debt, the leverage
effect of debt shifts into reverse and reduces the return on equity, which in turn
falls below return on capital employed.

2/Formulating an equation

Before we go any further, we need to clarify the impact of tax on this line of
reasoning.

Tax reduces earnings. All revenues give rise to taxation and all charges serve to
reduce the tax bite (provided that the company is profitable). Consequently, each
line of the income statement can thus be regarded as giving rise to either tax
expense or a theoretical tax credit, with the actual tax charge payable being the
net amount of the tax expense and credits. We can thus calculate an operating
profit figure net of tax, by simply multiplying the operating profit before tax by a
factor of (1 � rate of corporate income tax).

As a result, we can ensure the consistency of our calculations. Throughout this
chapter, we have worked on an after-tax basis for all the key profit indicators –
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i.e., operating profit, net financial expense and net income (note that our reasoning
would have been identical had we worked on a pre-tax basis).

Let’s now formulate an equation encapsulating our conclusions. Net income is
equal to the return on capital employed multiplied by shareholders’ equity plus a
surplus (or deficit) arising on net debt, which is equal to the net debt multiplied by
the difference between the after-tax return on capital employed and the after-tax
cost of debt.

Translating this formula into a profitability – rather than an earnings-based
equation – we arrive at the following:

Return on
equity

¼
Return on

capital employed
(after tax)

þ
Return on

capital employed
(after tax)

�
After-tax
cost of

debt

0

@

1

A � Net debt

Shareholder’s equity

or:
ROE ¼ ROCE þ ðROCE � iÞ � D

E

Readers should not let themselves get bogged down by this equation, which is
based on an accounting tautology. The leverage effect is merely a straightforward
factor that is used to account for return on equity, and nothing more.

The ratio of net debt to shareholders’ equity is called financial leverage or gearing.
The leverage effect can thus be expressed as follows:

Net debt

Shareholders’ equity
�

�
Return on

capital employed
� After-tax cost

of debt

�

Return on equity is thus equal to the return on capital employed plus the leverage
effect.

Note that:

. the higher the company’s return on capital employed relative to the cost of debt
(e.g., if ROCE increases to 16% in our example, return on equity rises to
16% þ 5.1% ¼ 21.1%), or

. the higher the company’s debt burden,

the higher the leverage effect.
Naturally, the leverage effect goes into reverse once:

. return on capital employed falls below the cost of debt;

. the cost of debt was poorly forecast or suddenly soars because the company’s
debt carries a variable rate and interest rates are on the rise.

The leverage effect, which is underpinned by an accounting tautology, applies even
when a company has negative net debt – i.e., when its short-term financial
investments exceed the value of its debt. In such cases, return on equity equates
to the average of return on equity and return on short-term investments weighted
by shareholders’ equity and short-term investments. The leverage effect can thus be
calculated in exactly the same way, with i corresponding instead to the after-tax
rate of return on short-term financial investments and D showing a negative value
because net debt is negative.
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For instance, let’s consider the case of Nokia in 2004. Its shareholders’ equity
stood at C¼14,406m and its net debt was a negative C¼11,308m, while its short-term
financial investments yielded 2.5% after tax. Its return on capital employed after
applying an average tax rate of 30.5% stood at 97% based on its operating profit of
C¼4,330m.2 Return on equity thus stands at:

97% þ ð97% � 2:5%Þ � �11,308

14,406
; i.e. 22.8%

The reason for Nokia’s ROE being lower than its ROCE is clearly not that the
group’s cost of debt is higher than its return on capital employed! To put things
simply, Nokia is unable to secure returns on the financial markets for its surplus
cash on a par with those generated by its manufacturing facilities. Consequently, it
has to invest the funds at a rate below its return on capital employed, thus
depressing its return on equity.

The following tables shows trends in ROE and ROCE posted by various
different sectors in Europe over the 1995–2005 period.

ROE FOR LEADING LISTED EUROPEAN COMPANIES (%)

Sector 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005e 2006e

Aerospace and defence 12 16 9 8 3 9 6 8 10 10 11

Automotive 16 15 13 10 9 7 10 7 10 10 12

Beverages 14 23 20 19 22 20 22 21 19 18 19

Building materials 10 13 13 13 13 12 13 12 14 14 15

Capital goods 15 14 11 14 28 10 9 4 11 13 14

Chemicals 12 14 14 11 12 10 10 8 12 13 13

Consumer goods 11 12 13 15 17 15 21 19 18 17 18

Food and home care 19 20 24 23 23 25 27 28 27 24 24

Food retail 14 14 15 15 15 14 12 15 14 14 14

General retail 16 19 15 15 15 18 17 17 17 18 18

IT hardware 10 13 8 14 16 �3 �3 6 14 13 13

IT services 9 15 16 16 13 12 10 9 9 13 14

Leisure and hotels �11 �10 6 8 9 10 3 5 8 10 13

Luxury goods 12 13 11 11 12 10 14 15 16 17 19

Media 18 18 22 18 4 6 8 11 15 16 17

Metals and mining 5 �3 2 8 7 7 7 11 22 24 18

Oil and gas 12 13 11 13 23 20 16 17 22 22 20

Personal care 15 14 15 15 17 17 19 20 17 16 16

Pharmaceuticals 21 25 23 23 25 24 25 24 18 19 18

Software 24 29 29 28 23 31 42 25 24 23 22

Support services 19 30 30 41 22 20 19 20 19 20 21

Telecom operators and ISPs 12 6 12 4 2 2 7 11 13 14 17

Transport 14 11 10 6 11 3 10 7 8 10 11

Utilities 11 11 11 13 11 13 14 14 14 14 16

Source: Exane BNP Paribas.
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ROCE FOR LEADING LISTED EUROPEAN COMPANIES (%)

Sector 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005e 2006e

Aerospace and defence 9 13 11 8 6 8 7 7 11 10 10

Automotive 8 6 8 7 6 4 5 4 6 6 7

Beverages 10 16 13 13 13 12 12 13 12 12 13

Building materials 8 8 9 8 8 7 8 8 9 9 10

Capital goods 7 6 6 6 7 2 6 7 12 14 15

Chemicals 9 9 9 7 7 6 7 6 8 9 9

Consumer goods 8 7 9 11 12 11 15 15 14 13 13

Food and home care 9 10 11 11 8 8 10 11 11 11 11

Food retail 10 10 9 8 7 8 9 9 9 9 9

General retail 10 12 10 10 11 13 12 13 14 15 16

IT hardware 8 11 8 11 13 0 3 8 16 16 16

IT services 8 12 18 17 15 12 8 6 10 10 11

Leisure and hotels 2 3 4 5 5 5 3 5 7 8 14

Luxury goods 11 10 6 8 8 6 8 9 10 11 12

Media 9 10 10 7 5 6 7 7 9 9 10

Metals and mining 4 2 3 5 8 6 6 8 14 17 15

Oil and gas 9 10 6 9 17 14 9 11 16 16 14

Personal care 12 13 14 14 13 13 15 16 14 15 16

Pharmaceuticals 21 18 20 16 18 20 21 21 14 16 17

Software 65 34 58 55 36 38 50 40 52 56 63

Support services 10 13 14 15 9 9 8 8 8 9 9

Telecom operators and ISPs 11 7 10 6 4 4 5 8 9 9 9

Transport 8 7 7 5 6 3 6 5 7 8 8

Utilities 6 7 7 6 6 7 6 7 10 10 10

Source: Exane BNP Paribas.

The reader may notice, among other things, the global improvement in ROCE over
the period, with stellar performances from the software industry because most of its
assets are not in the balance sheet (people). Aerospace/defence and leisure/hotels
have similar ROE at around 12% but very dissimilar ROCE (10% and 5%,
respectively). The explanation lies in the level of debt, generally very high in the
hotel and leisure business as it is a capital intensive sector, and very limited in
the aerospace business. The quality of aerospace sector ROE is much better than
in the leisure/hotel sector. In this sector ROCE would be worryingly low if
companies in this sector were not able to regularly sell some real estate assets at
profit (not included in the computation of ROCE).
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3/Calculating the leverage effect

(a) Presentation

To calculate the leverage effect and the return on equity, we recommend using the
table that starts at the bottom of this page. The items needed for these calculations
are listed below. We strongly recommend that readers should use the data shown in
the tables on pp. 54 and 174.

. On the income statement:

e sales (S);
e profit before tax and nonrecurring items (PBT );
e financial expense net of financial income (FE );
e operating profit (EBIT ).

. On the balance sheet:

e fixed assets (FA);
e working capital (WC ) comprising both operating and nonoperating

working capital;
e capital employed – i.e., the sum of the two previous lines, as well as the

sum of the two following lines, since capital employed is financed by
shareholders’ equity and debt (CE );

e shareholders’ equity (E );
e net debt encompassing all short-, medium- and long-term bank borrowings

and debt less marketable securities, cash and equivalents (D).

Corporate income tax is abbreviated to Tc.

LEVERAGE EFFECT (e.g., Ericsson)

Basic data
C¼m 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Sales ðSÞ 23,516 24,191 25,310 15,914 12,853

Profit before tax and nonrecurring items ðPBTÞ 1,817 2,241 �3,105 �2,335 �1,294
þ Financial expense net of financial income ðFEÞ 76 130 193 168 94
¼ Operating profit ðEBITÞ 1,893 2,371 �2,911 �2,167 �1,199

Fixed assets ðFAÞ 4,337 4,420 3,924 2,909 2,305
þ Working capital ðWCÞ 4,999 6,768 4,273 2,207 �1,193
¼ CAPITAL EMPLOYED ðCEÞ 9,336 11,188 8,197 5,116 1,113

Shareholders’ equity ðEÞ 7,551 9,934 5,822 5,762 3,942
þ Net debt ðDÞ 1,785 1,254 2,375 �510 �2,830
¼ CAPITAL INVESTED ¼ CAPITAL EMPLOYED ðCEÞ 9,336 11,188 8,197 5,116 1,113

Corporate income tax ðTcÞ 28.6% 43.9% �33.5% �17.7% �14.1%

Financial analysis and forecasting240

@
download



Calculations
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

i After tax cost of debt ¼ FE � ð1 � TcÞ
D

3.0% 5.8% 10.8% �38.8% �3.8%

ROCE Return on capital employed (after tax) ¼ 14.5% 11.9% �47.4% �49.9% �122.9%

EBIT � ð1 � TcÞ or NOPAT

CE

ROCE � i Return on capital employed (after tax) � 11.5% 6.1% �58.2% �11.1% �119.1%
After-tax cost of debt

D=E Gearing 0.24 0.13 0.41 �0.09 �0.72

Leverage effect ¼ ðROCE � iÞ � D

E
2.7% 0.7% �23.9% 1.0% 85.5%

ROE Return on equity ¼ PBT � ð1 � TcÞ
E

17.2% 12.6% �71.3% �48.9% �37.4%

or ROCE þ ðROCE � iÞ � D

E
17.2% 12.6% �71.3% �48.9% �37.4%

Results
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Operating margin after tax ðEBIT � ð1 � TcÞ=SÞ 5.7% 5.5% �15.4% �16.0% �10.6%
� Asset turnover ðS=CEÞ 2.5 2.2 3.1 3.1 11.5
¼ Return on capital employed (after tax) ðAÞ 14.5% 11.9% �47.4% �49.9% �122.9%

Return on capital employed 11.5% 6.1% �58.2% �11.1% �119.1%
� After-tax cost of debt ðROCE � iÞ

� Gearing ðD=EÞ 0.24 0.13 0.41 �0.09 �0.72
¼ Leverage effect ðBÞ 2.7% 0.7% �23.9% 1.0% �85.5%

¼ Return On Equity ðA þ BÞ 17.2% 12.6% �71.3% �48.9% �37.4%

(b) Practical problems

We recommend that readers use the balance sheets and income statements prepared
during Chapters 4 and 9 as a starting point when filling in the previous table.

We cannot overemphasise the importance of the two following accounting
equations:

Capital employed ¼ Shareholders’ equity þ Net debt

Operating profit after tax ¼ Net income þ Net financial expense after tax.

Consequently, readers will arrive at the same return on equity figure whichever way
they calculate it. It is worth remembering that using profit before tax and
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nonrecurring items rather than net income eliminates the impact of nonrecurring
items.

Besides breaking down quasi-equity between debt or shareholders’ equity,
provisions for liabilities and charges between working capital or debt, etc., which
we dealt with in Chapter 7, only two concrete problems arise when we calculate the
leverage effect in consolidated financial statements: how to treat goodwill and
associate companies.

The way goodwill is treated (see Chapter 6) has a significant impact on the
results obtained. Setting off the entire amount of goodwill against shareholders’
equity using the pooling of interests method caused a large chunk of capital
employed and shareholders’ equity to disappear from the balance sheet. As a
result, the nominal returns on equity and on capital employed may look deceptively
high when this type of merger accounting was used. Just because whole chunks of
capital appeared to have vanished into thin air from a balance sheet perspective,
this does not mean that shareholders will give up their normal rate of return
requirements on the capital that has done a perfectly legitimate disappearing act
under certain accounting standards. The recent abolition of the pooling of interests
method in IAS3 and US accounting standards is gradually eliminating this
problem.

Likewise, goodwill amortisation when it was compulsory or impairment losses
artificially reduce the capital that appears to be invested in the business. Conse-
quently, we recommend that readers should, wherever possible, work with gross

goodwill figures and add back to shareholders’ equity the difference between gross
and net goodwill to keep the balance sheet in equilibrium. Likewise, we would
advise working on the basis of operating profit and net profit before goodwill
amortisation or impairment losses.

By doing so, readers will be able to conduct a rigorous assessment of a
company’s profitability. This area is explored further in Exercise 4 at the end of
this chapter.

Consolidated accounts present another problem, which is how income from

associates
4

should be treated. Should income from associates be considered as
financial income or as a component of operating profit, bearing in mind that the
latter approach implies adding an income after financial expense and tax to an
operating profit (which is before tax)?

. The rationale for considering income from associates as financial income is that
it equates to the dividend that the group would receive if the associate company
paid out 100% of its earnings. This first approach seems to fit a financial group
that may sell one or other investments to reduce its debt.

. The rationale for considering income from associates as part of the operating
profit is that income from associates derives from investments included in
capital employed. This latter approach is geared more to an industrial
group, for which such situations should be exceptional and temporary because
the majority of industrial groups intend to control more than 50% of their
subsidiaries.

This said, in a bid to improve the presentation of their accounts, certain groups
park their least profitable assets and substantial debts in associate companies in
which they own less than 40% and which are thus accounted for under the equity
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method. For instance, Coca-Cola boasted a headline return on capital employed of
23% in 2004. Note, however, that vital (bottling) assets worth $45bn are housed in
less than 40%-owned associate companies, together with $26bn in bank and other
borrowings. The return on capital employed generated by these assets stands at just
6% since internal transfer pricing keeps most of the profits within the parent
company. In such situations where the letter of accounting standards is abided
by, but in our opinion not the spirit, analysts would be advised to examine the
profitability of the parent and associate companies separately before forming an
overall assessment. Adjusted for this accounting ‘‘trick’’, the group’s return on
capital employed comes to 11.5%.5

Lastly, the tax rate may be affected by various deferred tax assets and liabilities
arising from the restatement of individual financial statements for consolidation
purposes. In practice, we recommend that readers choose an effective tax rate based
on the company’s average tax rate.

4/Companies with negative capital employed

Companies with negative capital employed usually have high negative working
capital exceeding the size of their net fixed assets. This phenomenon is prevalent
in certain specific sectors (contract catering, retailing, etc.) and this type of
company typically posts a very high return on equity.

Of the two roles played by shareholders’ equity – i.e., financing capital expenditure
and acting as a guarantee for lenders – the former is not required by such com-
panies. Only the latter role remains.

Consequently, return on capital employed needs to be calculated taking into
account income from short-term financial investments (included in earnings) and
the size of these investments (included in capital employed):

ROCE ¼ ðEBIT þ Financial incomeÞ � ð1 � TcÞ
Capital employed þ Short-term financial investments

As a matter of fact, companies in this situation factor their financial income into
the selling price of their products and services. Consequently, it would not make
sense to calculate capital employed without taking short-term financial investments
into account.

Section 13.3

Uses and limitations of the leverage effect

1/Limitations of book profitability indicators

Book-based return on capital employed figures are naturally of great interest to
financial analysts and managers alike. This said, they have much more limited
appeal from a financial standpoint. The leverage effect equation always stands
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up to analysis, although sometimes some anomalous results are produced. For
instance, the cost of debt calculated as the ratio of financial expense net of financial
income to balance sheet debt may be plainly too high or too low. This simply means
that the net debt shown on the balance sheet does not reflect average debt over the
year, that the company is in reality much more (or less) indebted or that its debt is
subject to seasonal fluctuations.

Attempts may be made to overcome this type of problem by using average or
restated figures, particularly for fixed assets and shareholders’ equity. But this
approach is really feasible only for internal analysts with sufficient data at their
disposal.

It is thus important not to set too much store by implicit interest rates or the
corresponding leverage effect when they are clearly anomalous.

For managers of a business or a profit centre, return on capital employed is one of
the key performance and profitability indicators; particularly, with the emergence
of economic profit indicators, which compare the return on capital employed with
the weighted average cost of capital (see Chapter 19).

From a financial standpoint, however, book-based returns on capital employed
and returns on equity hold very limited appeal. Since book returns are prepared
from the accounts, they do not reflect risks. As such, book returns should not be
used in isolation as an objective for the company because this will prompt
managers to take extremely unwise decisions.

As we have seen, it is easy to boost book returns on equity by gearing up the
balance sheet and harnessing the leverage effect. The risk of the company is also
increased without being reflected in the accounting-based formula.

Return on capital employed and return on equity are accounting indicators used for
historical analysis. In no circumstances whatsoever should they be used to project
the future rates of return required by shareholders or all providers of funds.

If a company’s book profitability is very high, shareholders require a lot less and
will already have adjusted their valuation of shareholders’ equity, whose market
value is thus much higher than its book value. If a company’s book profitability is
very low, shareholders want much more and will already have marked down the
market value of shareholders’ equity to well below its book value.6

It is therefore essential to note that the book return on equity, return on capital
employed and cost of debt do not reflect the rates of return required by share-
holders, providers of funds or creditors, respectively. These returns cannot be
considered as financial performance indicators because they do not take into
account the two key concepts of risk and valuation. Instead, they belong to the
domains of financial analysis and control. We refer readers to Chapter 19 for a
more detailed analysis.

Some analysts attempt to calculate return on capital employed by using the
ratio of operating profit to market capitalisation plus the market value of debt. In
our view, the theoretical basis for this type of approach is very shaky because an
accounting profit indicator from the past is used in conjunction with an asset
valuation based on expectations of future profits.
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2/Uses of the leverage effect

The leverage effect sheds light on the origins of return on equity: whether it flows
from operating performance (i.e., a good return on capital employed) or from a
favourable financing structure harnessing the leverage effect. Our experience tells us
that, in the long term, only an increasing return on capital employed guarantees a

steady rise in a company’s return on equity.

The main point of the leverage effect is thus to show how return on equity breaks
down between the profitability of a company’s industrial and commercial
operations and its capital structure (i.e., the leverage effect).

Consider the profitability of the following groups:

RETURN ON EQUITY (%)

2002 2003 2004 2005

Group A 15 16 18 20
Group B 15 15 15 15
Group C 40 40 40 40

RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED (AFTER TAX) (%)

2002 2003 2004 2005

Group A 10 8 7 7
Group B 15 15 15 15
Group C 10 10 10 10

A superficial analysis may suggest that group C is a star performer owing to its
stunningly high return on equity (40%), that group A is improving and that group
B is rather disappointing by comparison.

But this analysis does not even scratch the surface of the reality! C generates its
very high returns through the unbridled use of the leverage effect that weakens the
whole company, while its return on capital employed is average. B has no debt and
carries the least risk, while its return on capital employed is the highest. A’s
improvement is merely a mirage because it is attributable entirely to a stronger
and stronger leverage effect, while its return on capital employed is steadily
declining, and so A is actually exposed to the greatest risks.

As we will see in Section III of this book, the leverage effect is not very useful in
finance because it does not create any value except in two very special cases:

. in times of rising inflation, real interest rates (i.e., after inflation) are negative,
thereby eroding the wealth of a company’s creditors, who are repaid in a
lender’s depreciating currency to the great benefit of the shareholders;

. when companies have a very heavy debt burden (e.g., following an LBO,7 see
Chapter 44), which obliges management to ensure that they perform well so
that the cash flows generated are sufficient to cover the heavy debt-servicing
costs. In this type of situation, the leverage effect gives management a very
strong incentive to do well, because the price of failure would be very high.
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Section 13.4

Case study
8
: Ericsson

Needless to say the Ericsson figures are frightening: since 2001, return on capital
employed and return on equity have both been negative: between �40% and
�120%. It means that Ericsson would have lost 95% of its equity in 3 years if it
had not been for the end of 2002 share issue which probably saved the group from
bankruptcy!

The reader would have noticed that in the table on p. 241 corporate income tax
is negative in 2001, 2002 and 2003 and that the after-tax cost of debt is negative in
2002 and in 2003. This is not a mistake on our part, or undue generosity from the
tax department or banks, but the result of strict application of formulas. You do
not have to correct them. If you were to, there would no longer be any equality
between the two formulas used to compute ROE as they are based on the
fundamental accounting equation: Assets ¼ Liabilities þ Equity.

Those apparent errors have an explanation. In 2002, the after-tax cost of debt
is negative because Ericsson raised new equity at the end of year which put its net
debt into negative territory and time was too short for this cash to yield significant
interest income to compensate for interest expense incurred over the rest of the
year. Negative corporate income tax is due to the fact that accounts are con-
solidated on a worldwide basis but that tax is paid on a country-by-country-
basis. Let us assume Ericsson is profitable in the USA. It will pay corporate
income tax there even if those US profits are not enough to put the whole group
in the black given its losses in other countries. Net income will be negative and the
corporate income tax rate will appear to be negative on a consolidated basis.

Return On Capital Employed (ROCE) is the book return generated by a company’s
operations. It is calculated as operating profit after normalised tax divided by capital
employed or as the NOPAT margin (Net Operating Profit After Tax/sales) multiplied by
asset turnover (sales/capital employed). Return On Equity (ROE) is the ratio of net profit
to shareholders’ equity.

The leverage effect of debt is the difference between return on equity and return on
capital employed. It derives from the difference between return on capital employed
and the after-tax cost of debt and is influenced by the relative size of debt and equity
on the balance sheet. From a mathematical standpoint, the leverage effect leads to the
following accounting tautology:

ROE ¼ ROCE þ ðROCE � iÞ � D

E

The leverage effect works both ways. Although it may boost return on equity to above the
level of return on capital employed, it may also dilute it to a weaker level when the return
on capital employed falls below the cost of debt.

Book return on capital employed, return on equity and cost of debt do not reflect the
returns required by shareholders, providers of funds and creditors. These figures cannot
be regarded as financial indicators because they do not take into account risk or
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valuation, two key parameters in finance. Instead, they reflect the historical book returns
achieved and belong to the realms of financial analysis and control.

The leverage effect helps to identify the source of a good return on equity, which may
come from either a healthy return on capital employed or merely from a company’s capital
structure – i.e., the leverage effect. This is its only real point.

In the long run, only a healthy return on capital employed will ensure a decent return on
equity. As we will see, the leverage effect does not create any value. Although it may
boost return on equity, it leads to an increase in risk that is proportional to the additional
profit.

1/Why is capital employed equal to invested capital?

2/What is the leverage effect?

3/How is the leverage effect calculated?

4/Why is the leverage effect equation an accounting tautology?

5/According to the leverage effect equation, for the same after-tax ROCE of 10%, an
increase in debt (costing 4% after tax) could improve the return on equity. State your
views.

6/Why is goodwill a problem when calculating ROCE?

7/What is the basic purpose of the leverage effect?

8/Your financial director suggests that you increase debt to increase ROE. State your
views.

9/What is the main problem with accounting profitability indicators such as ROE or
ROCE?

10/Over a given period, interest rates are low, corporation tax rates are high and the
economy is doing well. What consequences will this have on the financial structure of
companies?

1/Prove the leverage effect equation.

2/A businessman is hoping to get a 20% return on equity after tax. The business
generates a 3% sales margin (after-tax). Provide two possible combinations of
financial structure, profitability and capital employed that could lead to the
generation of a 20% return on equity (the cost of borrowing is 5% before tax, the
tax rate is 40% and the company’s capital employed is 1,000).

Chapter 13 Return on capital employed and return on equity 247

QUESTIONS

@
quiz

EXERCISES



3/Calculate the leverage effect for each year. What are your conclusions?

C¼m 1 2 3 4 5

Shareholders’ equity 100 115 320 300 240
Long- and medium-term debt 123 180 540 640 680
Financial expense before tax 11 18.5 29 63 83
Net income 14 16 (20) (60) (40)

Tax rate 35% 35% 35% 35% 35%

4/Calculate the ROCE and the ROE of Adidas Salomon. Include provisions for liabilities
and charges when calculating working capital. Gross goodwill is C¼868m.

Consolidated income statement for Adidas Salomon (C¼m) 2003

NET SALES 6,267
� Cost of sales (3,453)
¼ GROSS PROFIT (2,814)
� Selling, general and administrative costs (2,228)
¼ EBITDA 586
� Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses (96)

¼ OPERATING INCOME 490

� Interest and other finance charges (49)
þ Interest, dividends and other financial income 42

¼ PROFIT BEFORE TAX AND NONRECURRING ITEMS 483

þ Nonrecurring items 0
þ Income from associates 0
� Income tax (167)

¼ NET INCOME 316

� Goodwill amortisation (45)
� Income attributable to minority interests (11)
¼ PUBLISHED NET PROFIT (group share) 260
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Consolidated balance sheet for Adidas Salomon (C¼m) 2003

Goodwill 592
þ Fixed tangibles and intangibles 448
þ Equity in associated companies 0
þ Other investments 193

¼ FIXED ASSETS 1,233

Total inventories 1,163
þ Total receivables 1,075
þ Other operating receivables 259
� Trade payables 592
� Other operating payables 751

¼ WORKING CAPITAL 1,154

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY, GROUP SHARE 1,356

Minority interests 57

Contingency and loss provisions 28

Medium- and long-term bank debts 1,225
þ Bank overdrafts and short-term borrowings 0
� Marketable securities 0
� Cash and equivalents 279

= NET DEBT 946

Questions

1/Because accounts are balanced!
2/The difference between return on equity and ROCE after tax.

3/Leverage effect ¼ ðROCE � iÞ � D

E
.

4/As it is based on total assets being exactly equal to total liabilities and equity.
5/That is true, but it also increases the risk to the shareholder.
6/Because if it had been impaired, reducing capital employed (see Chapter 6), it would

have artificially increased book returns. Our advice is to look at the gross rather than
the net figures (before impairment losses on this goodwill).

7/ It helps to identify the source of a good return on equity.
8/ Is ROCE higher than the cost of debt? What is the risk for shareholders?
9/They do not factor in risk.

10/An increase in the leverage effect. However, see Section III of this book.
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Exercises

1/Where:

NI ¼ Net income

EBIT ¼ Operating profit

Tc ¼ Tax rate

i ¼ Cost of debt after tax

ROE ¼ NI

E
¼ EBIT � ð1 � TcÞ � i � D

E
¼ EBIT � ð1 � TcÞ

CP
� i � D

E

¼ EBIT � ð1 � TcÞ � ðE þ DÞ
E � ðE þ DÞ � i � D

E

¼ EBIT � ð1 � TcÞ
E þ D

þ EBIT � ð1 � TcÞ
E þ D

� D

E
� i � D

EP

whereas:

ROCE ¼ EBIT � ð1 � TcÞ
E þ D

and so ROE ¼ ROCE þ ðROCE � iÞ � D

E

2/Using the leverage effect equation the following can be determined:

Solution 1 Solution 2

Capital employed 1,000 1,000

Net borrowings 750 0

Shareholders’ equity 250 1,000

Sales 1,666.7 6,666.7

Operating profit 120.8 333

Financial expense 37.5 0

Corporate income tax 33.3 133

Net income 50 200

3/
1 2 3 4 5

ROCE after tax 9.5% 9.5% 0.7% 0.2% 3.0%

Leverage 1.23 1.57 1.69 2.13 2.83

Net cost of debt* 5.8% 6.7% 4.8% 9.7% 10.0%

Leverage effect 4.5% 4.4% �6.9% �20.2% �19.7%

ROE 14% 13.9% �6.2% �20% �16.7%

* Tax savings have only had a partial impact in the last 3 years.

When ROCE is above the after-tax cost of debt, debt boosts ROE and depresses it
when ROCE is lower than the after-tax cost of debt. This company is on the verge of
bankruptcy.
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4/There is no one right answer. It is however important to be consistent when
calculating. Special attention should be paid:

When calculating ROCE:

e Our advice is to take operating income before impairment losses/amortisation
on goodwill, and to use capital employed including gross goodwill (and not
goodwill after impairment losses or amortisation).

e If capital employed includes long-term investments and investments in
associates, operating income should be restated to include income on these
assets. This information was not provided, which will not have any
consequences, since long-term investments represent only 16% of total fixed
assets.

When calculating ROE:

e ROE (group share) can be calculated by dividing net profits (group share) by
shareholders’ equity (group share). However, if the numerator includes
minorities’ shares, it will have to be divided by total shareholders’ equity
(including minority interests).

Capital employed 1,233 � 592 þ 868 þ 1,154 � 28 ¼ 2,635
(with gross goodwill)

Operating income before goodwill amortisation 490
Tax at 34% 167
Return on capital employed after tax 12.3%

Shareholders’ equity, group share 1,356 þ 868 � 592 ¼ 1,632
Net earnings, group share 260
Return on equity, group share 15.9%

Adidas Salomon has a satisfactory ROCE (12% is clearly above cost of capital) and a
stronger ROE (16%) because the company relies on debt (leverage of 0.67) taking
advantage of a low after-tax cost of debt (2.6%).
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Chapter 14
Conclusion of financial analysis

As one journey ends, another probably starts

By the time they complete a financial analysis, readers must be able to answer the
two following questions that served as the starting point for their investigations:

. Will the company be solvent? That is, will it be able to repay any loans it
raised?

. Will it generate a higher rate of return than that required by those that have
provided it with funds? That is, will it be able to create value?

Section 14.1

Solvency

Here we return to the concept that we first introduced in Chapter 4.

A company is solvent when it is able to honour all its commitments by liquidating all
of its assets; i.e., if it ceases its operations and puts all its assets up for sale.

Since, by definition, a company does not undertake to repay its shareholders, its
equity represents a kind of life raft that will help keep it above water in the event of
liquidation by absorbing any capital losses on assets and extraordinary losses.

Solvency thus depends on:

. the breakup value of a company’s assets;

. the size of its debts.

Do assets have a value that is independent of a company’s operations? The answer
is probably yes for the showroom of a carmaker on the Unter den Linden Avenue
in Berlin and probably no as far as the tools and equipment at a heavy engineering
plant are concerned.

Is there a secondary market for such assets? Here, the answer is affirmative for
the fleet of cars owned by a car rental company, but probably negative for the
technical installations of a foundry. To put things another way: Will a company’s
assets fetch their book value or less? The second of these situations is the most
common. It implies capital losses on top of liquidation costs (redundancy costs,



etc.) that will eat into shareholders’ equity and frequently push it into negative
territory. In this case, lenders will be able to lay their hands on only a portion of
what they are owed. As a result, they suffer a capital loss.

The solvency of a company thus depends on the level of shareholders’ equity
restated from a liquidation standpoint relative to the company’s commitments and
the nature of its business risks.

If a company posts a loss, its solvency deteriorates significantly owing to the
resulting reduction in shareholders’ equity and cumulative effects.

A loss-making company no longer benefits from the tax shield provided by debt.1

As a result, it has to bear the full brunt of financial expense, which thus makes
losses even greater. Very frequently, companies raise additional debt to offset the
decrease in their equity. Additional debt then increases financial expense and
exacerbates losses, giving rise to the cumulative effects we referred to above.

If we measure solvency using the debt/equity ratio, we note that a company’s
solvency deteriorates very rapidly in the event of a crisis.

Let’s consider a company with debt equal to its shareholders’ equity. The
market value of its debt and shareholders’ equity is equal to their book value
because its return on capital employed is the same as its cost of capital of 10%.

As a result of a crisis, the return on capital employed declines, leading to the
following situation:

Year 0 1 2 3 4 5

Book value of capital employed 100 100 100 100 100 100
¼ Book value of equity ¼50 ¼50 ¼47 ¼34 ¼25 ¼25
þ Net debt (costing 6%) þ50 þ50 þ53 þ66 þ75 þ75

Return on capital employed 10% 0% �10% �5% 5% 10%

Operating profit after tax 10 0 �10 �5 5 10
� After-tax interest expense �2 �3 �3 �4 �5 �5

(tax rate of 35%)
¼ Net income ¼82 ¼�3 ¼�13 ¼�9 ¼0 ¼5

Market value of capital employed3 100 85 55 68 85 100
¼ Market value of equity ¼50 ¼38 ¼15 ¼18 ¼25 ¼30
þ Market value of net debt þ50 þ47 þ40 þ50 þ60 þ70

The company’s evolution does not come as a surprise. The market value of capital
employed falls by 45% at its lowest point because the previously normal return on
capital employed turns negative. The market value of debt declines (from 100% to
75% of its nominal value) since the risk of nonrepayment increases with the decline
in return on capital employed and the growing size of its debt. Lastly, the market
value of shareholders’ equity collapses (by 70%).

Each year, the company has to increase its debt to cover the loss recorded in
the previous year to keep its capital employed at the same level. From 1 at the start
of our model, gearing soars to 3 by the end of year 5. In this scenario, its equity gets
smaller and smaller, and its lenders will be very lucky to get their hands on the
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original amounts that they invested. This scenario shows how debt can spiral in the
event of a crisis! Some restructuring of equity and liabilities or, worse still, bank-
ruptcy is bound to ensue with the additional losses caused by the disruption.

Had the same company been debt-free when the crisis began, its financial
performance would have been entirely different, as shown by the following table:

Year 0 1 2 3 4 5

Book value of capital employed 100 100 100 100 100 100
¼ Book value of equity ¼100 ¼100 ¼100 ¼90 ¼84 ¼88
þ Net debt þ0 þ0 þ0 þ10 þ16 þ12

Return on capital employed 10% 0% �10% �5% 5% 10%

Operating profit after tax 10 0 �10 �5 5 10
� After tax interest expense �0 �0 �0 �1 �1 �1

(tax rate of 35%)
¼ Net income ¼104 ¼0 ¼�10 ¼�6 ¼4 ¼9

Market value of capital employed5 100 85 55 68 85 100
¼ Market value of equity ¼100 ¼85 ¼55 ¼58 ¼68 ¼87
þ Market value of net debt þ0 þ0 þ0 þ10 þ17 þ13

At the end of year 4, the company returns to profit and its shareholders’ equity has
hardly been dented by the crisis.

Consequently, the first company, which is comparable with the second in all
respects from an economic perspective, will not be able to secure financing and is
thus probably doomed to failure as an independent economic entity.

For a long time, net assets – i.e., the difference between assets and total
liabilities or assets net of debt – was the focal point for financial analysis. Net
assets are thus an indicator that corresponds to shareholders’ equity and is analysed
by comparison with the company’s total commitments.

Some financial analysts calculate net assets by subtracting goodwill (or even all
intangible fixed assets), adding back unrealised capital gains (which may not be
accounted for owing to the conservatism principle), with inventories possibly being
valued at their replacement cost.

Broadly speaking, calculating net assets is an even trickier task with consoli-
dated accounts owing to minority interests (which group assets do they own?) and
goodwill (what assets does it relate to and what value, if any, does it have?).
Consequently, we recommend that readers should work using the individual
accounts of the various entities forming the group and then consolidate the net
asset figures using the proportional method.

Section 14.2

Value creation

A company will be able to create value during a given period if the return on capital
employed (after tax) that it generates exceeds the cost of the capital (i.e., equity and
net debt) that it has raised to finance capital employed.
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4 To keep things
simple, it is
assumed that the
entire amount of
net income is paid
out as a dividend.

5 Market value is
observed rather
than calculated.



Readers will have to remain patient for a little while yet because we still have to
explain how the rate of return required by shareholders and lenders can be
measured. This subject is dealt with in Section II of this book. Chapter 32 covers
the concept of value creation in greater depth, while Chapter 19 illustrates how it
can be measured.

Section 14.3

Financial analysis without the relevant

accounting documents

When a company’s accounting documents are not available in due time (less than
3 months after year-end), it is a sign that the business is in trouble. In many cases,
the role of an analyst will then be to assess the scale of a company’s losses to see
whether it can be turned around or whether their size will doom it to failure.

In this case, the analysts will attempt to establish what proportion of
company’s loans the lenders can hope to recover. We saw in Chapter 5 that cash
flow statements establish a vital link between net income and the net decrease in
debt.

It may perhaps surprise some readers to see that we have often used cash flow
statements in reverse; i.e., to gauge the level of earnings by working back from the
net decrease in debt.

It is essential to bear in mind the long period of time that may elapse before
accounting information becomes available for companies in difficulty. In addition
to the usual time lag, the information systems of struggling companies may be
deficient and take even longer to produce accounting statements, which are
obsolete by the time they are published because the company’s difficulties have
aggravated in the meantime.

Consequently, the cash flow statement is a particularly useful tool for making
rapid and timely assessments about the scale of a company’s losses, which is the
crux of the matter.

It is very easy to calculate the company’s net debt. The components of working
capital are easily determined (receivables and payables can be estimated from the
balances of customer and supplier accounts, and inventories can be estimated based
on a stock count). Capital expenditure, capital increases in cash and asset disposals
can also be established very rapidly, even in a subpar accounting system. We can
thus prepare the cash flow statement in reverse to give an estimate of earnings.

A reverse cash flow statement can be used to provide a very rough estimate of a

company’s earnings, even before they have been reported.

In certain sectors, cash is probably a better profitability indicator than earnings.

When cash starts declining and the fall is not attributable to either heavy capital
expenditure that is not financed by debt capital or a capital increase, to the
repayment of borrowings, to an exceptional dividend distribution or to a change
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in the business environment, the company is operating at a loss, whether or not this
is concealed by overstating inventories, reducing customer payment periods, etc.

If the decrease in cash cannot be accounted for by investing or financing activities,
it can only come from a deterioration in the company’s profitability.

Section 14.4

Case study
6
: Ericsson

Is Ericsson solvent at the end of 2003? Yes, as it has equity of C¼3.9bn and
intangible assets and goodwill (the value of which is open to question given the
losses Ericsson has incurred) of only C¼1.2bn. Will it stay solvent? It will depend on
the level of future losses and the willingness of shareholders to plough more money
into the business if need be.

Does Ericsson create value? Clearly not! It is destroying value on a massive
scale. Take as a reference the average stock price of 1997, 2 years before the
beginning of the Internet bubble: SEK 27. Its March 2005 share price7 at SEK
21 is down 22% whereas the EuroStoxx 50 index is up 32%.

Will it create value in the future? It would need to post an after-tax net income
of around C¼1.6bn taking into account equity in the balance sheet of C¼12bn8 and a
cost of equity9 of around 13%. That will certainly be a challenge.

By the end of a financial analysis, readers must be able to answer the two following
questions that served as the starting point for their investigations:

. Is the company solvent? Will it be able to repay all its creditors in full?

. Is the company creating any value for its shareholders?

A company is solvent when it is able to honour all its commitments by liquidating all of its
assets; i.e., if it ceases its operations and puts all its assets up for sale. Net assets – i.e.,
the difference between assets and total liabilities – are the traditional measure of a
company’s solvency.

A company creates value if the return on capital employed (after tax) that it generates
exceeds the cost of the capital (i.e., equity and net debt) that served to finance capital
employed.

Lastly, we recommend that readers who need to carry out a rapid assessment of an ailing
company and whose accounts are not yet available build a cash flow statement in reverse.
This reverse approach starts with reduction in net debt and works back towards net
income, thus gauging the scale of losses that put the company’s solvency and very
survival in jeopardy.
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7 For B shares,
the most actively
traded shares.

8 C¼3.7bn of
equity, group
share end of 2003
plus accumulated
losses of C¼8.3bn
which have
reduced equity
from an
accounting point
of view. But,
from a financial
point of view,
shareholders have
entrusted this
equity with the
Ericsson
management and
they are asking
for a return on it,
whether it is still
shown on the
balance sheet or
not.

9 See Chapter 22.

SUMMARY

@
download



1/What risks do lenders run? How can lenders protect themselves against these risks?

2/What is the ultimate guarantee that the lenders will be repaid?

3/What is solvency?

4/Is an insolvent company necessarily required to declare itself bankrupt?

5/A company goes into debt with a 1-day maturity in order to buy fixed rate bonds. Is it
running a liquidity risk? And a solvency risk? In what way does the risk manifest
itself? What move in interest rates does this company expect?

6/Is a company with negative net assets illiquid? Insolvent?

7/It has been said that a solid financial structure was a guarantee of freedom and
independence for a company. Is this true?

8/Why is it difficult to determine the exact value of net assets in consolidated financial
statements?

9/Why is the concept of net book value useful?

1/What is your view of the solvency of the following companies?

Groups S N A

Intangibles 2,239 28,320 3,102
Tangibles 10,635 17,439 9,283
Working capital �809 5,606 �532
Shareholders’ equity 726 41,800 458
Net bank and other borrowings 11,041 9,743 5,763
Sales 8,136 90,333 51,044
Operating profit 94 11,202 1,394

Questions

1/The risk of default on payment. Request guarantees or ensure a high level of
solvency.

2/The value of shareholders’ equity.
3/The ability to repay its debts in full, even in the event of bankruptcy.
4/Sooner or later it will probably have to do so.
5/Yes; yes; inability to obtain further loans, capital losses; decline in interest rates.
6/Possibly; yes.
7/Yes, except when the share price is undervalued, in which case there is a risk of

takeover (see Chapter 42).
8/Because of minority interests.
9/Because it shows the book value of all assets and liabilities.
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Exercise

1/S: disastrous, lenders will only get back part of what they’re owed and shareholders
lose everything. These are the figures for Swissair in mid-2001, before it filed for
bankruptcy in 2002.

N: very good situation: operating profit covers net debt, shareholder’s equity even
after deducting 100% of intangible assets is still largely positive. These are the
figures for Nestlé, one of the rare AAA corporate borrower.

A: weak situation: equity seems very limited compared with debt and intangibles.
These are the figures for Ahold, the Dutch supermarket group, after it discovered
accounting frauds within several of its subsidiaries.

Financial analysis and forecasting258



Section II
Investment analysis





Part One

Investment decision rules





Chapter 15
The financial markets

A ship in a harbour is safe but is not what ships are built for

The introduction to this book discussed the role of financial securities in a market
economy. This section will analyse the behaviour of the investor who buys those
instruments that the financial manager is trying to sell. An investor is free to buy a
security or not and, if he decides to buy it, he is then free to hold it or resell it in the
secondary market.

The financial investor seeks two types of returns: the risk-free interest rate
(which we call the time value of money) and a reward for risk-taking. This section
looks at these two types of returns in detail, but, first, here are some general
observations about capital markets.

Section 15.1

The rise of capital markets

The primary role of a financial system is to bring together economic agents with
surplus financial resources, such as households, and those with net financial needs,
such as companies and governments. This relationship is illustrated below:

To use the terminology of John Gurley and Edward Shaw (1960), the parties can be
brought together directly or indirectly.

In the first case, known as direct finance, the parties with excess financial
resources directly finance those with financial needs. The financial system serves
as a broker, matching the supply of funds with the corresponding demand. This is
what happens when a small shareholder subscribes to a listed company’s capital
increase or when a bank places a corporate bond issue with individual investors.

In the second case, or indirect finance, financial intermediaries, such as banks,
buy ‘‘securities’’ – i.e., loans – issued by companies. The banks in turn collect funds,
in the form of demand or savings deposits, or issue their own securities that they



place with investors. In this model, the financial system serves as a gatekeeper
between suppliers and users of capital and performs the function of intermediation.

When you deposit money in a bank, the bank uses your money to make loans
to companies. Similarly, when you buy bonds issued by a financial institution, you
enable the institution to finance the needs of other industrial and commercial
enterprises through loans. Lastly, when you buy an insurance policy, you and
other investors pay premiums that the insurance company uses to invest in the
bond market, the property market, etc. This activity is called ‘‘intermediation’’, and
is very different from the role of a mere broker in the direct finance model.

With direct finance, the amounts that pass through the broker’s hands do not
appear on its balance sheet, because all the broker does is to put the investor and
issuer in direct contact with each other. Only brokerage fees and commissions
appear on a brokerage firm’s profit and loss, or income, statement.

With intermediation, the situation is very different. The intermediary shows all
resources on the liabilities side of its balance sheet, regardless of their nature, from
deposits to bonds to shareholders’ equity. Capital serves as the creditors’ ultimate
guarantee. On the assets side, the intermediary shows all uses of funds, regardless of
their nature: loans, investments, etc. The intermediary earns a return on the funds it
employs and pays interest on the resources. These cash flows appear in its income
statement in the form of revenues and expenses. The difference, or spread, between
the two constitutes the intermediary’s earnings.

The intermediary’s balance sheet and income statement thus function as hold-
ing tanks for both parties – those who have surplus capital and those who need it:

BANK BALANCE SHEET AND INCOME STATEMENT

Financial systems are experiencing disintermediation, a general tendency charac-
terised by the following phenomena:

. more companies are obtaining financing directly from capital markets; and

. more companies and individuals are investing directly in capital markets.
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When capital markets (primary and secondary) are underdeveloped, an economy
functions primarily on debt financing. Conversely, when capital markets are
sufficiently well-developed, companies are no longer restricted to debt, and they
can then choose to increase their equity financing. Taking a page from John Hicks
(1975), it is possible to speak of bank-based economies and market-based economies.

In a bank-based economy, the capital market is underdeveloped and only a
small portion of corporate financing needs are met through the issuance of
securities. Therefore, bank financing predominates. Companies borrow heavily
from banks, whose refinancing needs are mainly covered by the central bank.

The central bank tends to have a strong influence on the level of investment
and, consequently, on overall economic growth. In this scenario, interest rates
represent the level desired by the government, for reasons of economic policy,
rather than an equilibrium point between supply and demand for loans.

A bank-based economy is viable only in an inflationary environment. When
inflation is high, companies readily take on debt because they will repay their loans
with devalued currency. In the meantime, after adjustments are made for inflation,
companies pay real interest rates that are zero or negative. A company takes on
considerable risk when it relies exclusively on debt; however, inflation mitigates this
risk. Inflation makes it possible to run this risk and, indeed, it encourages
companies to take on more debt. The bank-based (or credit-based) economy and
inflation are inextricably linked, but the system is flawed because the real return to
investors is zero or negative. Their savings are insufficiently rewarded, particularly
if they have invested in fixed-income vehicles.

The savings rate in a credit-based economy is frequently low. The savings that
do exist typically flow into tangible assets and real property (purchase of houses,
land, etc.) that are reputed to offer protection against inflation. In this context,
savings do not flow towards corporate needs. Lacking sufficient supply, the capital
markets therefore remain embryonic. As a result, companies can finance their needs
only by borrowing from banks, which in turn refinance themselves at the central
bank.

The lender’s risk is that the corporate borrower will not generate enough cash
flow to service the debt and repay the principal, or amount of the loan. Even if the
borrower’s financial condition is weak, the bank will not be required to book a
provision against the loan so long as payments are made without incident.

In an economy with no secondary market, the investor’s financial risk lies with the
cash flows generated by the assets he holds and their liquidity.

In a market-based economy, companies cover most of their financing needs by
issuing financial securities (shares, bonds, commercial paper, etc.) directly to
investors. A capital market economy is characterised by direct solicitation of
investors’ funds. Economic agents with surplus resources invest a large portion
of their funds directly in the capital markets by buying companies’ shares,
bonds, commercial paper or other short-term negotiable debt. They do this
either directly or through mutual funds. Intermediation gives way to the brokerage
function, and the business model of financial institutions evolves towards the
placement of companies’ securities directly with investors.
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In this economic model, bank loans are extended primarily to households in
the form of consumer credit, mortgage loans, etc., as well as to small- and medium-
sized enterprises that do not have access to the capital markets.

BANK AND CAPITAL MARKET FINANCING

Source: McKinsey & Co., 2005.

According to Zingales and Rajan (2003), European financial markets have become
more market-oriented in the last two decades. In Chapter 1, the financial manager
was described as a seller of financial securities. This is the result of European
economies becoming capital market economies. ‘‘Arm’s length’’ financing, today
prevalent in the USA, delivers superior results when firms are bigger, when there is
stronger legal enforcement and transparency, and when innovation tends to be
more dynamic. In recent decades, the globalisation of capital markets has:

. increased the need for huge amounts of capital to manage global competition;

. developed mimicry behaviour among capital markets regarding legal
enforcement and transparency;

. ‘‘unified’’ the sources of financing of innovation.

In light of these developments, a higher degree of market orientation in Europe
would clearly be a good thing.

The growing disintermediation has forced banks and other financial intermediaries
to align their rates (which are the rates that they offer on deposits or charge on
loans) with market rates. Slowly but surely, market forces tend to pervade all types
of financial instruments.

For example, with the rise of the commercial paper market, banks regularly
index short-term loans on money market rates. Medium-term and long-term
lending has seen similar trends. Meanwhile, on the liabilities side, banks have
seen some of their traditional, fixed rate resources dry up. Consequently, the
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